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UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

 FORM 10-K
(Mark One)

☑ ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the Fiscal Year Ended December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024



or

☐ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For The Transition Period From                      To the transition period from                      to                     

Commission file number 001-41755

WK Kellogg Co
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware   92-1243173

(State or other jurisdiction of Incorporation incorporation

or organization)  

(I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

 

 One Kellogg Square
Battle Creek, Michigan 49016-3599

(Address of principal executive offices)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (269) 401-3000
 
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class: Trading symbol(s) Symbol(s): Name of each exchange on which registered:

Common Stock par value, $.0001 per share KLG New York Stock Exchange

 

 Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None
 

 Indicate by a check e-check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.    Yes   ☐    No  ☑

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15 (d) of the Act.    Yes ☐   No  ☑ 

Note — Checking the box above will not relieve any registrant required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act from their obligations under those Sections.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter

period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.    Yes  ☑    No  ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§ 232.405 of this chapter) during the

preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files).    Yes  ☑    No  ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of “large
accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company,” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer ☐☑ Accelerated filer ☐

Non-accelerated filer ☑☐ Smaller reporting company ☐

Emerging growth company ☐
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    If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided

pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management’s assessment of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public accounting firm that prepared or issued its audit report. ☐☑

If securities are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act, indicate by check mark whether the financial statements of the registrant included in the filing reflect the correction of an error to previously issued

financial statements. ☑☐

Indicate by check mark whether any of those error corrections are restatements that required a recovery analysis of incentive-based compensation received by any of the registrant’s executive officers during the

relevant recovery period pursuant to §240.10D-1(b).  ☐   

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act).    Yes  ☐    No  ☑

As of June 30, 2023, the last business day of the registrant's most recently completed second fiscal quarter, the registrant's common stock was not publicly traded. As of October 2, 2023, the date on which the
registrant's common stock began “regular-way” trading on the New York Stock Exchange, the The aggregate market value of the registrant’s voting common stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant (assuming
for purposes of this computation only that the W.K. Kellogg Foundation Trust, directors and executive officers may be affiliates) as of the close of business of June 28, 2024 was approximately $957 million. $1.4
billion based on the closing price of $16.14 for one share of common stock, as reported by the New York Stock Exchange on June 28, 2024.

As of February 28, 2024 February 14, 2025, 85,817,581 86,196,959 shares of the common stock of the registrant were outstanding.

Parts of the registrant’s definitive proxy statement for the registrant’s 2024 2025 Annual Meeting of Shareowners are incorporated by reference into Part III of this Annual Report On on Form 10-K. The proxy
statement will be filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year to which this report relates.
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Unless otherwise specified or indicated by the context, references to the “Company,” “we,” “us” and “our” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Annual Report”) refer to
WK Kellogg Co and its subsidiaries.
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Forward-Looking Statements. This Annual Report contains a number of “forward-looking statements” with expectations concerning, among other things, the results of
the Spin-Off (as defined below); our strategy, financial principles, and plans; initiatives, improvements and growth; sales, margins, advertising, promotion, merchandising,
brand building, operating profit, and earnings per share; innovation; investments; capital expenditures; asset write-offs and expenditures and costs related to productivity
or efficiency initiatives; the impact of accounting changes and significant accounting estimates; the impact of new or increased tariffs; the expected outcome and cost of
the restructuring plan associated with our supply chain modernization initiative; our ability to meet interest and debt principal repayment obligations; minimum contractual
obligations; future common stock repurchases or debt reduction; effective income tax rate; cash flow and core working capital improvements; interest expense;
commodity and energy prices; environmental, social, and governance (“ESG”) performance; and employee benefit plan costs and funding. Forward-looking statements
include predictions of future results or activities and may contain the words “expect,” “believe,” “will,” “can,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “project,” “should,” or words or
phrases of similar meaning. For example, forward-looking statements are found in Part 1, Item 1, Business, and in several sections of Part II, Item 7. Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. Our actual results or activities may differ materially from these predictions.

Our future results could be affected by a variety of other factors, including a decline in demand for ready-to-eat cereals; the timing, magnitude and duration of new or
increased tariffs imposed on imports from and exports to Canada and Mexico; supply chain disruptions, and increases in costs and/or shortages of raw materials, labor,
fuels and utilities as a result of geopolitical, economic,  trade policies and regulations and market conditions; consumers’ perception of our brands or company; business
disruptions; our ability to drive our growth targets to increase revenue and profit; our failure to achieve our targeted cost savings and efficiencies from cost reduction
initiatives; strategic acquisitions, alliances, divestitures or joint ventures or organic growth opportunities we may pursue in the future; material disruptions at one of our
facilities; our ability to attract, develop and retain the highly skilled people we need to support our business; a shortage of labor, our failure to successfully negotiate
collectively bargained agreements, or other general inflationary pressures or changes in applicable laws and regulations that could increase labor costs; an increase in
our post-retirement benefit-related costs and funding requirements caused by, among other things, volatility in the financial markets, changes in interest rates and
actuarial assumptions; our inability to obtain sufficient capital to grow our business and to increase our revenues; an impairment of the carrying value of goodwill or other
acquired intangibles; increases in the price of raw materials, including agricultural commodities, packaging, fuel and labor; increases in transportation costs and reduced
availability of, or increases in, the price of oil or other fuels; competition, including with respect to retail and shelf space; the changing retail environment and the growing
presence of alternative retail channels; the successful development of new products and processes; adverse changes in the global climate or extreme weather
conditions; adverse financial and other impacts as a result of a product liability, consumer fraud or similar case; and other risks and uncertainties described in Part I, Item
1A, Risk Factors. Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this Annual Report, and we undertake no obligation to publicly update them except as
required by law.
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Our Company. WK Kellogg Co is an iconic North American food company with a differentiated portfolio of brands that have delighted our consumers for over a century.
As a leading manufacturer, marketer and distributor of branded ready-to-eat cereal, we endeavor to provide consumers with high-quality products while promoting
consumer health and well being. Our products are manufactured by us in the United States, Mexico, and Canada and marketed in the United States, Canada and the
Caribbean. Kellogg Company (now known as Kellanova), formally founded in 1906 as a mission-led and family-oriented company, sprang to life when W. K. Kellogg
changed breakfast forever by creating Corn Flakes in Battle Creek, Michigan. We have since upheld W. K. Kellogg’s passion and commitment to wellness by producing
nutritious, high quality and delicious cereal.

We believe our business' long-standing success is attributable to the strength of our brands, our category expertise and over a century of institutional knowledge, all of
which have created a diverse portfolio of cereals that are intended to enhance the lives of our consumers. Our product offerings are well diversified across the cereal
sub-categories of taste, wellness and balance, with strong consumer appeal across the spectrum of ages and demographics. Iconic brands used in our business include
Frosted Flakes, Special K, Froot Loops, Raisin Bran, Frosted Mini-Wheats, Rice Krispies, Kashi, Corn Flakes and Apple Jacks, among many others. We believe these
brands also derive a differentiated advantage from the beloved brand characters which have been developed over time, starting in the 1950s with the introduction of
Tony the Tiger, Toucan Sam and Snap, Crackle and Pop, which have since been joined by many other brand characters.

In September 2023, the board of directors of Kellanova approved a series of internal transactions resulting in the separation of the North America cereal business from
Kellanova’s business (the “Internal Reorganization”) through the contribution by Kellanova of assets, liabilities and operations associated with the cereal business to WK
Kellogg Co in exchange for the consideration described in the Separation and Distribution Agreement (the “Contribution”) and the distribution of shares of WK Kellogg
Co common stock to Kellanova’s share owners (the “Distribution,” and together with the Internal Reorganization, the “Spin-Off”). On October 2, 2023, the Spin-Off was
completed through Kellanova's distribution of one share of WK Kellogg Co common stock for every four shares of Kellanova common stock to Kellanova’s share owners
as of the close of business on the record date of September 21, 2023. On October 2, 2023, WK Kellogg Co began “regular-way” trading as an independent publicly
traded company under the stock symbol "KLG" on the New York Stock Exchange.

In July of 2024, the Board of Directors approved a reorganization plan in connection with the Company's strategic priority to modernize its supply chain. Under this
reorganization plan, herein referred to as the restructuring plan, the Company will consolidate its manufacturing network by closing its Omaha, Nebraska plant, with a
phased reduction in production beginning in late 2025 and full closure targeted by the end of 2026, and scaling back production (which includes a reduction in the
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number of manufacturing platforms) at its Memphis, Tennessee facility, commencing in late 2025. The restructuring plan was communicated to impacted employees on
August 6, 2024 and remains subject to the satisfaction of certain collective bargaining obligations. The actions under the restructuring plan are expected to be completed
by the end of fiscal year 2026.

Agreements with Kellanova. In connection with the Spin Off, Spin-Off, we entered into a Separation and Distribution Agreement and certain other agreements with
Kellanova that provide a framework for our relationship with Kellanova after the Spin Off. Spin-Off. The following summarizes the terms of these agreements, forms of
which are filed with the SEC as exhibits this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 30, 2023. Report. The summaries of each of these agreements
set forth below are qualified in their entirety by reference to the full text of the applicable agreements.

• Separation and Distribution Agreement: We entered into a Separation and Distribution Agreement with Kellanova that outlined the terms and conditions of the
Spin Off. Spin-Off. The Separation and Distribution Agreement provides for the principal actions taken by WK Kellogg and Kellanova in connection with the Spin
Off Spin-Off and identified the assets transferred to, and the liabilities to be assumed by, WK Kellogg associated with the Spin Off. Spin-Off.

• Transition Services Agreement: We entered into a Transition Services Agreement with Kellanova which terminates on October 2. 2025, pursuant to which
Kellanova provides specified services to WK Kellogg and its subsidiaries, and WK Kellogg provides certain limited services to Kellanova, on a transitional basis
to help ensure an orderly transition following the Spin Off. Spin-Off. These services include information technology,

procurement, distribution, logistics and order to delivery, research and development, accounting, finance, compliance and administrative activities.

• Supply Agreement: WK Kellogg entered into a Supply Agreement with Kellanova pursuant to which Kellanova will manufacture and supply to WK Kellogg certain
cereal products that were manufactured at Kellanova facilities that were not to be transferred to WK Kellogg pursuant to the terms of the Separation and
Distribution Agreement.

4

• Management Services Agreement: WK Kellogg entered into a Management Services Agreement with Kellanova pursuant to which Kellanova has granted WK
Kellogg and its subsidiaries the right to use Kellanova's pilot plant located in Battle Creek, Michigan for a specified number of days each year in order for WK
Kellogg to conduct research and development and product trials on specified equipment.

• Tax Matters Agreement: The Tax Matters Agreement between WK Kellogg and Kellanova governs the respective rights, responsibilities and obligations of
Kellanova and WK Kellogg after the Spin Off Spin-Off with respect to tax liabilities and benefits, tax attributes, tax contests and other tax sharing regarding U.S.
federal, state, local and foreign income taxes, other tax matters and related tax returns.

• Employee Matters Agreement: The Employee Matters Agreement addresses certain post-Spin Off post-Spin-Off employee matters issues between Kellanova
and WK Kellogg, including transitions of employment for employees; allocation of and reimbursement and indemnification for employment-related liabilities;
collective bargaining agreement matters; termination and severance benefits; employee benefits matters, including participation in benefit plans, assumption of
certain employee benefit plans by WK Kellogg, service recognition, health and welfare and retirement plan matters; employee compensation matters, including
equity and cash-based incentive compensation, retention and non-qualified deferred compensation matters; payroll reporting and withholding; access to
employees; employee records; employment transition matters; mutual one-year salaried employee no-hire and two-year employee non-solicitation provisions
(with customary exceptions); and other related employee matters.

• Intellectual Property Agreements: In connection with the Spin Off, Spin-Off, we entered into the following Intellectual Property Agreements with Kellanova that
provide for intellectual property use and selling rights: (A) Master Ownership and License Agreement Regarding Trademarks and Certain Related Intellectual
Property and (B) Master Ownership and License Agreement Regarding Patents, Trade Secrets and Certain Related Intellectual Property.

Principal Products. Our principal products are cereals that are split across taste, wellness and balance sub-categories, and serve a diverse set of occasions and
demographics.They demographics. They are sold to retailers primarily through a direct sales force, and supplemented by brokers and distributors. Our leading taste
brands include Frosted Flakes, Froot Loops, and Apple Jacks. Our wellness brands include Special K, Kashi, and Bear Naked. Our balance brands include Special K,
Frosted Mini-Wheats, Raisin Bran, and Corn Flakes. Most of our products are also marketed under the “Kellogg’s” name.

Raw Materials. Agricultural commodities, including corn, wheat, rice, vegetable oils, sugar, cocoa, fruits and nuts are the principal raw materials used in our products.
Carton board, corrugate, and flexible packaging are the principal packaging materials. We continually monitor world supplies and prices of such commodities and
packaging materials, as well as government trade policies. The cost of such commodities and packaging materials may fluctuate widely due to government policy and
regulation including new or retaliatory tariffs imposed by the U.S. or other countries where our products are manufactured, specifically Canada and Mexico, changing
weather patterns and conditions, climate change, and other supply and/or demand impacting events such as global health events (like the COVID-19 pandemic),
geopolitical events, or other unforeseen circumstances. Continuous efforts are made to maintain and improve the quality and supply of such commodities and materials
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for purposes of our short-term and long-term requirements. While most of these ingredients are purchased from sources in the United States, some materials are
imported due to regional availability and specification requirements.

We enter into long-term contracts for these materials and purchase these items in the open market, depending on our assessment of possible price fluctuations, supply
levels and our relative negotiating power. Despite our ability to source materials necessary to meet increased demand for our products, the availability of certain
ingredients, packaging and other goods and services has been adversely impacted as a result of geopolitical,economic, regulatory and market conditions, including
inflation and supply chain constraints. See “Item 1A, Risk Factors—

Risks Related to Our Business—Supply chain disruptions and increases in costs and/or shortages of raw materials, labor, fuels and utilities as a result of geopolitical,
economic and market conditions could adversely impact our profitability.” As further discussed in this Annual Report in Part II, Item 7A, “Quantitative and Qualitative
Disclosures about Market Risk,” we also use derivative financial and commodity instruments to hedge against commodity price risks.

Natural gas and propane are the primary sources of energy used to power processing equipment at our production facilities, although certain locations may use
electricity, oil or solar cells as needed. In addition, considerable amounts of diesel fuel are used in connection with the distribution of our products. We In the past, we
have experienced supply chain disruptions including bottlenecks and shortages of materials, labor and freight that have led to increasing prices of raw materials,
packaging and labor as well as limitations on shipping capacity.

5

Trademarks and Intellectual Property. The principal trademarks used in our business are house marks, brand names, slogans, and designs related to cereals and
various other foods manufactured and marketed by us. These trademarks include, among others, Kellogg’s, All-Bran, Apple Jacks, Bear Naked, Cocoa Krispies,
Kellogg’s Corn Flakes, Corn Pops, Cracklin’ Oat Bran, Crispix, Froot Loops, Kashi, Kellogg’s Frosted Flakes, Krave, Frosted Krispies, Frosted Mini-Wheats, Mueslix,
Kellogg’s Raisin Bran, Raisin Bran Crunch, Rice Krispies, Smacks/Honey Smacks, Special K, Smart Start, Vector and Two Scoops.

Additional trademarks used in our business include logos and depictions of certain animated characters that can be used in conjunction with our branded products,
including the characters Snap, Crackle and Pop, Tony the Tiger, Toucan Sam, Dig ‘Em, Sunny, Coco the Monkey, Cornelius, and Melvin the Elephant. The slogans The
Original & Best, They’re Gr-r-reat! and Follow Your Nose also are used in our products.

The trademarks listed above, among others, individually and when taken as a whole, are important to our business. Registrations of trademarks can also generally be
renewed indefinitely as long as the trademarks are in use and otherwise properly maintained.

We also rely on several patents in connection with our business. While our patent portfolio as a whole is material to our business, no one patent or group of related
patents is material to our business. In addition, we rely on proprietary trade secrets, technology, know-how, processes and other intellectual property rights of Kellanova
that are not registered. Kellanova relies on a combination of trademark law, copyright law, trade secrets, non-disclosure and confidentiality agreements, other contractual
provisions and other measures to establish and protect such proprietary rights to products, packaging, processes and intellectual property that we use in our business.

Certain of our trademarks and intellectual property rights are subject to the Intellectual Property Agreements described in Agreements with Kellanova above. See “Item
1A, Risk Factors--Certain of our rights to intellectual property used in our business are limited to those of a licensee under the Intellectual Property Agreements” for more
detail around risks pertaining to these agreements.

Seasonality. Demand for our products is generally level throughout the year, although demand is stronger for some of our convenience foods in the second half of the
year due to events and holidays. year.

Working Capital. A description of our working capital is included in the Liquidity and Capital Resources section within Part II, Item 7, Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, of this Annual Report.

Customers. We sell our products primarily to supermarket chains, wholesalers, supercenters, club stores, mass merchandisers, distributors, convenience stores, drug
stores, gasoline stations, value stores, online channels and other retail food outlets in the United States, Canada and the Caribbean. Our largest customer, Wal-Mart
Stores, Inc., accounted for approximately 26% 29% of combined consolidated net sales during 2023, 2024, comprised principally of sales within the United States. No
other customer accounted for more than 10% of combined consolidated net sales in 2023. 2024. During 2023, 2024, our top five customers, collectively, including Wal-
Mart Stores, Inc., accounted for approximately 47% 52% of our combined consolidated net sales. There has been significant consolidation in the North American grocery
industry, and we believe that this trend is likely to continue. Although the loss of any large customer for an extended length of time could negatively impact our sales and
profits, we do not currently anticipate that this will occur due to the consumer demand for our products and our relationships with our customers. Our products have been
generally sold through our own sales forces and through broker and distributor arrangements and have been generally resold to consumers in retail stores, restaurants,
and other establishments, such as schools and hotels.
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Backlog. For the most part, orders are filled within a few days of receipt and are subject to cancellation at any time prior to shipment. The backlog of any unfilled orders
at December 30, 2023 was not material.


Competition. We have experienced, and expect to continue to experience, intense competition for sales of all of our products. Our products compete with advertised
and branded products of a similar nature as well as unadvertised and private label products, which are typically distributed at lower prices, and generally with other food
products. Principal methods and factors of competition include new product introductions, product quality, taste, convenience, nutritional value, price, advertising and
promotion. We believe we compete favorably with our competitors on the basis of these factors due to our diversified portfolio of beloved iconic brands and characters,
our leading market position with significant scale in the North American cereal industry, our heritage of innovation and marketing and our investment in our brands.

6

Research and Development. Research to support and expand the use of our existing products and to develop new food products is performed in Battle Creek,
Michigan, including at the W. K. Kellogg Institute for Food and Nutrition Research, which we utilize pursuant to the terms of a Management Services Agreement entered
into with Kellanova in connection with the Spin-Off. Our expenditures for research and development were approximately $25 million $24 million for the year ended
December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024. Information concerning our research and development expense is in Note 2, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies”

within the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

Regulation. Our activities in the United States are subject to regulation by various government agencies, including the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, the U.S.
Federal Trade Commission (the "FTC") and the U.S. Departments of Agriculture, Commerce and Labor, as well as voluntary regulation by other bodies. Various state
and local agencies also regulate our activities. Other agencies and bodies outside of the United States, including those of various countries, states, provinces and
municipalities, also regulate our activities. To appropriately address these obligations, we maintain internal controls and management processes that govern our actions
and are intended to mitigate the risk of non-compliance.

While there are no current regulatory matters that we expect to be material to our results of operations, financial position, or cash flows, there can be no assurances that
existing or future laws, regulations and standards applicable to our operations or products will not lead to a material adverse impact on our results of operations, financial
position or cash flows. Due to the rapidly evolving nature of these laws, and regulations,  executive orders and geopolitical considerations, there can be no assurance
that current expenditures will be adequate or that violations will not occur. Any violations could result in fines, penalties or customer disengagements that may have a
material impact on our financial performance.

Further, our activities inside and outside of the United States are subject to tariff regulations, duties and tax requirements. The degree to which any new tariffs would
affect our business and results of operations will depend on their timing, duration and magnitude. Due to the rapidly evolving geopolitical landscape and uncertain global
trade environment there can be no assurance that the imposition of new or increased tariffs or other trade restrictions would not have an adverse impact on our future
operations, financial position or results of operations.

See “Item 1A, Risk Factors” for more detail around risks pertaining to compliance with laws and regulations.

Environmental Matters. Our facilities are subject to various U.S. and foreign, federal, state and local laws and regulations regarding the release of material into the
environment and the protection of the environment in other ways. We are not a party to any material proceedings arising under these regulations. We In 2024,
compliance with existing environmental laws and regulations applicable to us did not have a material effect on our capital expenditures, earnings, or competitive position
nor do we believe that compliance with existing environmental laws and regulations will not materially affect our financial condition or our competitive position. position in
2025.

Human Capital Resources. On December 30, 2023December 28, 2024, we had approximately 3,150 3,280 employees. We are party to numerous collective bargaining
agreements. Our human capital objectives include attracting, developing, engaging, rewarding and retaining our employees, which include the following:

• We foster employee engagement by communicating with our employees frequently and transparently through a variety of engagement vehicles. We engage in
two-way conversations with employees via an externally managed global opinion survey and a number of internal communications events and channels. We
also provide a wide array of opportunities for employees to volunteer in the communities where they work and live.

• We focus on ‘Bringing Out the Best in Each Other’, striving for a culture of equity, diversity, inclusion belonging and belonging one that values differences in the
workplace. This includes an office focused We focus on supporting employees, creating awareness and fostering a positive work environment.

• We provide total rewards to our employees including market-based competitive compensation through our salary, annual incentive and long-term incentive
programs and a benefits package that promotes a culture of employee well-being across all aspects of their lives, including physical, financial, social and
emotional well-being. We sponsor a number of benefit plans for eligible employees in the United States, Canada and

Mexico, including defined benefit pension plans, defined contribution retirement plans, retiree health and welfare, medical care plans, severance and other post-
employment benefits. We continually review and implement new programs to meet the evolving needs of our employees, including, but not limited to benefit
programs for same sex partners competitive paid time off and progressive leave benefits (e.g., paternity/ paternity / maternity and active military). We also offer
flexible work arrangements across our population focused on fostering work / life integration.
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• We aim to cultivate a health and well-being culture where all colleagues feel supported and valued. We continue to evolve our programs to meet our colleagues’
total well-being needs, which we believe are essential to attract and retain employees of the highest caliber, and we offer a competitive benefits package.

• We invest in training and development, including ongoing leadership and technical capability development programs.

Financial Information About Geographic Areas. Information on geographic areas is located in Note 14 15 “Segment Reporting” within Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements in Part II, Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

7

Information About Our Executive Officers. The names, ages, and positions of our executive officers (as of March 8, 2024 February 25, 2025) are listed below,
together with their business experience. Executive officers are elected annually by the Board.

Gary Pilnick 59 60

Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board

Mr. Pilnick was appointed as Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board effective upon the completion of the Spin-Off. Prior to the completion of the Spin-Off, Mr.

Pilnick served as a director of WK Kellogg Co when it existed as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Kellanova. Prior to joining WK Kellogg Co, Mr. Pilnick served as Vice

Chairman, Corporate Development and Chief Legal Officer of Kellanova, beginning in January 2016. In August 2003, he was appointed Senior Vice President, General
Counsel and Secretary of Kellanova and assumed responsibility for Corporate Development in June 2004. He joined Kellanova as Vice President, Deputy General
Counsel and Assistant Secretary in September 2000 and served in that position until August 2003. Before joining Kellanova, he served as Vice President and Chief
Counsel of Sara Lee Branded Apparel, now Hanesbrands, an apparel company, and as Vice President and Chief Counsel, Corporate Development and Finance at Sara
Lee Corporation, formerly a consumer goods corporation now held by Kohlberg & Company after being acquired by Tyson Foods.

Norma Barnes-Euresti 56 

Chief Legal Officer and Secretary

Ms. Barnes-Euresti has served as Chief Legal Officer and Secretary of WK Kellogg Co since October 2, 2023.Prior to joining WK Kellogg Co, Ms. Barnes-Euresti served

as Vice President and Chief Counsel, Employment, Labor, Ethics & Compliance of Kellanova beginning in January 2012. Ms. Barnes-Euresti joined Keebler Company, a
cookie manufacturer, in November 1999 and subsequently joined Kellanova as part of its acquisition of Keebler in 2001.

Sherry Brice 47 48 

Chief Supply Chain Officer

Ms. Brice has served as Chief Supply Chain Officer of WK Kellogg Co since October 2, 2023. Prior to joining WK Kellogg Co, Ms. Brice served at Kellanova as Vice

President, Global Quality and Food Safety beginning in January 2020. Additionally, Ms. Brice served as Senior Director, Supply Chain Category Lead of Frozen Foods
and Canada from January 2019 to January 2020 and as Plant Director from July 2017 to January 2019. Throughout her nearly 11 years at Kellanova, Ms. Brice held
various leadership roles spanning manufacturing, category operations and quality and compliance. Ms. Brice joined Kellanova as part of its acquisition of the Pringles
business from Procter & Gamble, a consumer goods company, where she served in a variety of supply chain roles for nearly 14 years.

Bruce Brown 59 60 

Chief Customer Officer

Mr. Brown has served as Chief Customer Officer of WK Kellogg Co since October 2, 2023. Prior to joining WK Kellogg Co, Mr. Brown served as Vice President,

Customer Strategy and Planning of Kellanova beginning in January 2019. Additionally, Mr. Brown served at Kellanova as Vice President, Customer Marketing from
January 2014 to December 2018. Throughout his nearly 25 years at Kellanova, Mr. Brown held a variety of leadership roles across sales and customer marketing in both
the cereal and snacks businesses, including as Senior Vice President, Western Customer Teams and Senior Vice President, National Customer Teams. Prior to
Kellanova, Mr. Brown held sales roles at Mott’s USA, a manufacturer of apple products, and The Dial Corporation, now Henkel Corporation, a manufacturer of personal
care and household cleaning products.
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David McKinstray 39 40 

Chief Financial Officer

8

Mr. McKinstray has served as Chief Financial Officer of WK Kellogg Co since October 2, 2023. Prior to joining WK Kellogg Co, Mr. McKinstray served as Vice President,

Integrated Business Planning of Kellanova beginning in April 2020. Additionally, Mr. McKinstray held multiple finance roles throughout his nearly 15 years at Kellanova,
having served as Vice President, Finance, U.S. Commercial & Business Management from January 2019 to April 2020, Vice President, Finance, and Chief Financial
Officer of Kellanova's U.S. snacks business from April 2018 to March 2019 and Vice President, Finance, Corporate Financial Planning & Accounting and Strategy from
September 2016 to April 2018. He played a leading role in several strategic initiatives at Kellanova and has significant experience in global roles across risk
management, treasury and corporate and financial planning. His roles prior to Kellanova included positions in commodity risk management and trading.

Doug VanDeVelde 58 59 

Chief Growth Officer

Mr. VanDeVelde has served as Chief Growth Officer of WK Kellogg Co since October 2, 2023. Prior to joining WK Kellogg Co, Mr. VanDeVelde served as the General

Manager of Kellanova’s U.S. cereal business beginning in January 2019. Additionally, Mr. VanDeVelde served at Kellanova as Senior Vice President, Global Breakfast
Category from November 2013 to January 2019. Throughout his 25 years at Kellanova, Mr. VanDeVelde held various leadership roles in marketing, including as Senior
Vice President, Marketing and Innovation for U.S. Morning Foods and Senior Vice President, Marketing for U.S. Snacks. Prior to joining Kellanova in December 1997,
Mr. VanDeVelde was a Marketing Director at Proctor & Gamble.

Availability of Reports; Corporate Website Access; Other Information.  Our internet address is http://www.wkkelloggco.com. The information contained on, or
accessible through, our website is not part of or incorporated into this Annual Report. All annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information
required to be filed or furnished by us with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) are available to the public free of charge on the SEC’s website at
www.sec.gov and are also accessible as soon as reasonably practicable after we file or furnished furnish them to the SEC through the Investors section of our website.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
In addition to the factors discussed elsewhere in this Annual Report, the following risks and uncertainties could materially or adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to

us or that we currently deem immaterial may also materially or adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Risk Factors Summary
The material risks summarized in further detail below include those relating to:

Risks Related to Our Business
• a decline in demand for ready-to-eat cereals;

• supply chain disruptions, and increases in costs and/or shortages of raw materials, labor, fuels and utilities as a result of geopolitical, economic,  trade policies

and regulations and market conditions;

• consumers’ perception of our brands or company;

• business disruptions;

• our ability to drive our growth targets to increase revenue and profit;

• our failure to achieve our targeted cost savings and efficiencies from our restructuring plan associated with our supply chain modernization initiatives and other
cost reduction initiatives;

• strategic acquisitions, alliances, divestitures or joint ventures or organic growth opportunities we may pursue in the future;

Risks Related to Our Operations
• material disruptions at one of our facilities;

• our ability to attract, develop and retain the skilled people we need to support our business;

• a shortage of labor, our failure to successfully negotiate collectively bargained agreements, or other general inflationary pressures or changes in applicable laws

and regulations that could increase labor costs;
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• an increase in our post-retirement benefit-related costs and funding requirements caused by, among other things, volatility in the financial markets, changes in

interest rates and actuarial assumptions;

• our inability to obtain sufficient capital to grow our business and to increase our revenues;

• an impairment of the carrying value of goodwill or other acquired intangibles;

Risks Related to Our Industry
• increases in the price of raw materials, including agricultural commodities, packaging, fuel and labor;including as a result of geopolitical, economic, trade policies

and regulations, and market conditions;
• increases in transportation costs and reduced availability of, or increases in, the price of oil or other fuels;

• competition, including with respect to retail and shelf space;

• the changing retail environment and the growing presence of alternative retail channels;

• the successful development of new products and processes;

• adverse changes in the global climate or extreme weather conditions;

Risks Related to Regulations and Litigation
• risks related to tax matters, including changes in tax rates, disagreements with taxing authorities and imposition of new taxes;

• the risk that our food products become adulterated, misbranded or mislabeled, recall and potential resulting product liability if consumers are injured or damaged

as a result;

• our inability or failure to comply with new and evolving tax, advertising, environmental, licensing, labeling, trade, food quality and safety or other regulations or

with existing regulations and laws;

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property and Technology
• technology failures, cyber-attacks, privacy breaches or data breaches;

• our inability to protect our intellectual property rights;

• limitations with respect to certain of our rights to intellectual property used in our business under the Intellectual Property Agreements;

Risks Related to the Spin-Off
• the risk that the Contribution and the Distribution fail to qualify for non-recognition treatment for U.S. federal income tax purposes or that the Canadian aspects of

the Internal Reorganization fail to qualify for tax-deferred treatment for Canadian federal and provincial income tax purposes;

• our indemnification obligation to Kellanova if the transactions we have undertaken in connection with the Spin-Off do not qualify for non-recognition treatment;

• our failure to follow certain restrictions to preserve the non-recognition treatment of the Spin-Off, as well as the impact those restrictions may have on our

strategic and operating flexibility;

• our inability to achieve some or all of the benefits that we expect from the Spin-Off;

• our dependence on Kellanova to perform certain functions for us on a transitional basis and our ability to make the changes necessary to operate establish the
necessary systems and services to perform such functions ourselves as an independent company;

• the fact that our historical financial statements for periods prior to the Spin-Off may not necessarily be representative of the results we would have achieved as

an independent, publicly traded company and may not be a reliable indicator of our future results;

• Kellanova’s ability to compete against us;

• certain of our directors and officers may have actual or potential conflicts of interest because of their Kellanova equity ownership or their former Kellanova

positions;

Risks Related to Our Common Stock
• potential declines in the market price of our common stock caused by future sales;


• the potential anti-takeover effects of certain provisions in our corporate organizational documents and Delaware law;

• certain limitations on our share owners’ shareowners’ ability to obtain a preferred judicial forum for disputes with us;

• dilution risk due to future issuances of equity securities and equity-based compensation awards granted under our long-term incentive plan;

• the ranking of our common stock being junior to our existing and future indebtedness and any future preferred stock issuances;
10
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• the risk that the Board will not declare dividends in the future; future or at a lower rate than the dividends we have historically paid;

General Risk Factors
• risks related to our indebtedness;

• increases in our debt or raises of additional capital in the future on terms favorable to us or our share owners, which could affect our financial health and may

decrease our profitability;

• obligations associated with being a public company requiring significant resources and management;

• if we fail to maintain effective internal controls, we may not be able to report our financial results accurately or timely or to prevent or detect fraud;

• risks generally associated with companies that operate in certain international markets;

• general economic, political and social conditions and taxation policies;

• potential liabilities and costs from litigation;

• there can be no assurance that the adequacy of our insurance is adequate; insurance; and

• foreign currency exchange rate exposure.

Risks Related to Our Business

A decline in demand for ready-to-eat cereals could adversely affect our financial performance. We focus primarily on producing and selling ready-to-eat cereal
products. We expect to continue this primary focus. Because of our product concentration, any decline in consumer demand or preferences, including diet-driven
changes or nutrition trends, for ready-to-eat cereals or processed foods more generally or any other factor that adversely affects the ready-to-eat cereal market could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. We could also be adversely affected if consumers lose confidence in the
healthfulness, safety, quality or taste of ready-to-eat cereals, processed foods or certain ingredients. Adverse publicity or consumer perception about these types of
concerns, whether or not valid, as well as public health response, may discourage consumers from buying our products or cause production and delivery disruptions. In
addition, significant changes in consumer demand or the loss or disruption of manufacturing, distribution or supply capabilities with respect to one or more of our
products or ingredients could negatively impact our business or results of operations.

Supply chain disruptions, and increases in costs and/or shortages of raw materials, labor, fuels and utilities as a result of geopolitical, economic,  trade
policies and regulations, and market conditions could adversely impact our profitability. Raw materials, such as corn, wheat, rice, vegetable oils, sugar, cocoa,
fruits and nuts, which are used in our products, are subject to price fluctuations. The cost of these inputs may fluctuate widely due to foreign and domestic government
trade policies and regulations including new or retaliatory tariffs imposed by the U.S. or other countries where our products are manufactured, specifically Canada and
Mexico, inflation, weather conditions (including any potential effects of climate change), domestic and international demand, availability due to supply chain conditions,
military conflict and the financial and economic sanctions and other measures imposed in response thereto, volatility and instability in the geopolitical environment or
other unforeseen circumstances. We In the past, we have experienced supply chain disruptions including bottlenecks and shortages of materials, labor and freight that
have led to increasing prices of raw materials, packaging and labor as well as limitations on shipping capacity.

On February 1, 2025, the current U.S. presidential administration announced the imposition of significant new tariffs that will be imposed on imports from Canada,
Mexico and China, which may negatively impact international trade relations, result in retaliatory actions and cause inflationary pressures and higher costs. On February
3, 2025, the prospective tariffs on Canada and Mexico were deferred for 30 days; however, the implementation of these tariffs following the current short-term reprieve
remains a possibility, and there is no guarantee that they will not be implemented before such date. As we have significant manufacturing operations in Mexico and
Canada, the imposition of such tariffs could have a significant adverse impact on our results of operations, financial position, or cash flows, depending on their timing,
degree and magnitude. Further, we may be required to raise prices for our products to offset the additional costs. Increased price of our products could reduce demand
and result in the loss of customers. Additionally, tariffs may harm our competitive position in key markets, as we may be at a disadvantage as compared to our
competitors who operate in countries that are not subject to tariffs.

The global economy has been negatively impacted by the military conflict between Russia and Ukraine. The Russia-Ukraine conflict is fast-moving and remains
uncertain. Global grain markets have exhibited increased continue to experience volatility as due to sanctions have been imposed on Russia by the United States, the
United Kingdom, the European Union and others in response to Russia’s invasion of Ukraine. Changes in global grain and commodity flows could impact the markets in
which we operate, which may in turn negatively impact our business, results of operations, supply chain and financial condition. Any substantial change in the prices or
availability of raw materials may have an adverse impact on our profitability. We may enter into forward purchase agreements and other derivative financial instruments
from time to time to manage the impact of such volatility in raw materials prices; however, these strategies may not be adequate to overcome increases in market prices
or availability or to fully cover supply and may significantly affect our earnings.

In addition, we are dependent upon natural gas, propane and electricity for operating our manufacturing facilities. The independent distributors and third-party
transportation companies are dependent upon gasoline and diesel for their vehicles. The cost of these fuels may fluctuate widely due to economic and political
conditions, government policy and regulation, war or other conflicts (including the current conflicts in Ukraine and the Middle East), or other unforeseen circumstances.
Substantial future increases in prices for, or shortages of, these fuels could have a material adverse effect on our profitability, financial condition or results of operations.
There can be no assurance that we can cover these potential cost increases through future pricing actions. Also, as a result of these pricing actions, consumers could
purchase less or move from purchasing higher-margin products to purchasing lower-margin products.
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Inflation has and may continue to adversely affect us by increasing our costs of production, materials and labor. In an inflationary environment, such as the current
economic environment, depending on the market conditions of the food industry and interest rate actions by the U.S. Federal Reserve, we may be unable to raise the
prices of our products enough to keep up with the rate of inflation, which would reduce our profit margins, and continued inflationary pressures could impact our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

Similarly, shortages of truck drivers and railroad workers have contributed to increased freight costs, which has had a material and adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Our results may be negatively impacted if consumers do not maintain their favorable perception of our brands or company. Brand value is primarily based on
consumer perceptions. Successful promotion and brand value enhancement depends in large part on our ability and the ability of our suppliers and licensors (including
Kellanova) to provide high-quality products. Brand value could diminish significantly due to a number of factors, including consumer perception that we or Kellanova, or
any of our employees or agents, have acted in an irresponsible manner; adverse publicity about our labor relations (whether or not valid) or our products or Kellanova’s
products (whether or not valid); our failure to maintain the quality of our products; the failure of our suppliers and licensors (including Kellanova) to maintain the quality of
their products; the failure of our products to deliver consistently positive consumer experiences; our products becoming unavailable to consumers; or the failure to meet
the nutrition expectations of our products or particular ingredients in our products (whether or not valid), including the perception of the healthfulness of our products or
their ingredients. In addition, due to our varied and geographically diverse consumer base, we must be responsive to local consumers, including with respect to when
and how consumers consume food products and their desire for premium or value offerings, and provide an array of products that satisfy the broad spectrum of
consumer preferences. Accordingly, we might fail to anticipate consumer preferences with respect to dietary trends or purchasing behaviors, invest sufficiently in
maintaining, extending and expanding our brand image or achieve the desired effects of our marketing efforts or use data-driven marketing and advertising to reach
consumers at the right time with the right message. The growing use of social and digital media platforms by consumers, us and third parties increases the speed and
extent that information or misinformation and opinions can be shared. Negative posts or comments about us, our brands, our products, or Kellanova, its brands
(including any that are Shared Use Trademarks (as defined below)), or its products (which may be sold under Shared Use Trademarks), our labor relations or any of our
employees or agents on social or digital media platforms could seriously damage our brands, corporate reputation and brand loyalty, regardless of the information’s
accuracy.

Placement of our advertisements in digital media may also result in damage to our brands if any such media experiences negative publicity. The harm may be
immediate, and we may not be afforded an opportunity for redress or correction. Brand recognition and loyalty can also be impacted by the effectiveness of our
advertising campaigns, marketing programs, influencers and sponsorships, as well as our use of social media. Further, our brand perception and customer loyalty could
be adversely impacted by a supplier’s or licensor’s improper practices or failure to comply with our requirements for environmentally, socially or legally responsible
practices, including human rights and materials sourcing. If we do not maintain the favorable perception of our brands, our results could be negatively impacted.

For a more detailed discussion of risks related to our Shared Use Trademarks, see “—Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property and Technology—Certain of our rights
to intellectual property used in our business are limited to those of a licensee under the Intellectual Property Agreements.”

Business disruptions have had and could in the future have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. We manufacture
products in the United States, Canada and Mexico, and we source products and materials globally. We have a complex network of suppliers, manufacturing locations,
including contract manufacturer locations, warehousing and distribution networks and information systems that support our ability to provide our products to our
customers consistently. Factors that are hard to predict or beyond our control, such as product or raw material scarcity, material disruptions at one of our facilities or
involving any of our equipment within such facilities, the availability of replacement parts for the equipment we rely on for production, workforce disruptions, weather
(including any potential effects of climate change), natural disasters, water availability and regulation, fires or explosions, terrorism, political unrest, government
restrictions, mandates or shutdowns, tariffs and other trade restrictions, cybersecurity breaches, global health events (such as the COVID-19 pandemic), disruptions in
logistics, loss or impairment of key manufacturing sites, supplier capacity constraints, or strikes, could damage or disrupt our operations or our suppliers’, their suppliers’
or our contract manufacturers’ operations. For instance, our fiscal year 2021 results were negatively impacted by the strike of approximately 1,400 union employees
across our U.S. plants, which began in early October and ended in late December of 2021. Additionally, we were adversely impacted by a fire at one of our U.S. plants
with operational and financial impacts extending beyond the end of 2021. Both the fire and the strike severely disrupted our supply and product availability
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in the second half of 2021 and into the first quarter of 2022 and, as a result of the strike, we had to suspend a number of capital projects, all of which had an adverse
impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If we do not effectively prepare for and respond to disruptions in our operations, for example, by finding alternative suppliers or replacing capacity at key manufacturing
or distribution locations, or cannot quickly repair damage to our information, technology, equipment, production or supply systems, we may be late in delivering or unable
to deliver products to our customers. If that occurs, we may lose our customers’ confidence, and long-term consumer demand for our products could decline. In addition,
insurance policies that may provide coverage with regard to such events may not cover any or all of the resulting financial losses. These events could adversely affect
our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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In addition, we may be unable to meet the demand for our products during certain business disruptions. For instance, we experienced increased demand for many of our
products during the COVID-19 pandemic and were, at times, unable to fill all customer orders. Short term or sustained increases in consumer demand at our retail
customers may exceed our production capacity or otherwise strain our supply chain. We may face additional production disruptions in the future, which may place
constraints on our ability to produce products in a timely manner or may increase our costs. Our failure to meet the demand for our products could adversely affect our
business and results of operations.

Further, while we have not had any material interruptions or breaches of our systems due to cyberattacks or cyber incidents, we have experienced computer virus and
malware activity and have been the target of various other forms of cyberattacks, including social engineering attacks, unauthorized access attempts, password theft,
physical breaches and phishing-attacks. For a more detailed discussion of our cybersecurity risks, see "Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property and Technology-
Technology failures, cyber-attacks, privacy breaches or data breaches could disrupt our operations or reputation and negatively impact our business.”

We may not achieve our growth targets, including revenue and profit growth targets and cash targets, and we may not realize the benefits we expect from
revenue growth management. Our success depends upon our ability to drive our growth targets to increase revenue and profit. In order to achieve our targeted growth
objectives, we utilize formal revenue growth management practices to help us realize price in a more effective way. This data-driven approach addresses price strategy,
price-pack architecture, promotion strategy, mix management and trade strategies. Revenue growth management involves changes to the way we do business and may
not always be accepted by our customers, consumers or third-party providers causing us not to realize the anticipated benefits. In addition, the complexity of execution
requires a substantial amount of management and operational resources. These and related demands on our resources may divert the organization’s attention from
other business issues

and have adverse effects on existing business relationships with suppliers and customers. Any failure to execute revenue growth management in accordance with our
plans, including as a result of our revenue growth management process, could adversely affect our business or financial condition.

We may not achieve our targeted cost savings and efficiencies from our restructuring plan associated with our supply chain initiative or other cost reduction
initiatives. Our success depends in part on our ability to be an efficient producer in a highly competitive industry. We have invested and will continue to invest a
significant amount in capital expenditures to improve our operational facilities. For example, in August 2024, we announced our plans to spend up to $500 million on

supply chain modernization efforts, including capital expenditures of up to $390 million and one-time cash restructuring and non-restructuring costs of $110 million.Our

ability to achieve the cost savings and efficiencies from the supply chain modernization restructuring as well as other cost reduction initiatives is subject to many
estimates and assumptions. Implementation of the supply chain modernization initiatives include actions to close one plant and scale back product at another and a
reduction in headcount, which could have a negative effect on labor relations and employee morale at the impacted plants or our other production facilities. Ongoing
operational issues are more likely to occur when carrying out major production, procurement, manufacturing or logistical changes and these, as well as any failure by us
to achieve our planned cost savings and efficiencies, could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial position and on the results of our operations and
profitability. Disruptions Further, potential disruptions and uncertainties related to adverse macroeconomic conditions or other factors outside of our control, including
rising elevated levels of inflation and economic slowdowns or recessions, for a sustained period of time could result in delays or modifications to our strategic plans and
other initiatives and hinder our ability to achieve our growth targets and cost savings and productivity initiatives on the same timelines. For a more detailed discussion,
see “—Risks Related to the Spin-Off—We may be unable to achieve some or all of the benefits that we expect to achieve from the Spin-Off.”

When pursuing strategic acquisitions, alliances, divestitures or joint ventures ventures or seeking organic growth opportunities, we may not be able to
successfully consummate favorable transactions, integrate acquired businesses or achieve the anticipated benefits of organic growth investments. We
believe attractive acquisition and organic growth opportunities may present themselves in complementary categories that will further enhance our scale and increase our
presence at key retailers. Accordingly, from time to time, we may evaluate potential acquisitions, alliances, divestitures or joint ventures that would further our strategic
objectives, or we may undertake efforts to grow organically through internal innovation across our product offerings. We may be unable to identify suitable strategic
transactions in the future or may not be able to enter into such transactions at favorable
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prices or on terms that are favorable to us, or we may not be able to achieve the benefits anticipated from investments in our organic growth on the anticipated timeline
or at all. In addition, our total leverage and the terms of our financing arrangements may limit our ability to obtain additional financing in the future to pursue and
consummate acquisitions and other strategic transactions or invest in organic growth opportunities.

With respect to acquisitions, we may not be able to identify suitable targets, consummate a transaction on terms that are favorable to us, integrate the acquired business
into our existing operations in a timely and cost-efficient manner, including implementation of enterprise-resource planning systems, or achieve expected returns,
expected synergies and other benefits as a result of integration or other challenges, or may not achieve those objectives on a timely basis. Furthermore, we may be
restricted from pursuing certain of these transactions under the terms of the Tax Matters Agreement (as defined below). For a more detailed discussion, see “—Risks
Related to the Spin-Off—We have agreed or are subject to numerous restrictions to preserve the non-recognition treatment of the Spin-Off, which may reduce our
strategic and operating flexibility.” Future acquisitions of foreign companies or new foreign ventures would subject us to local laws and regulations and could potentially
lead to risks related to, among other things, increased exposure to foreign exchange rate changes, government price control, repatriation of profits and liabilities relating
to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act.
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Our corporate development activities also may present financial and operational risks, including diversion of management attention from existing core businesses,
integrating or separating personnel and financial and other systems, and adverse effects on existing business relationships with suppliers and customers. Evaluating
potential transactions requires additional expenditures (including legal, accounting and due diligence expenses, higher administrative costs to support any acquired
entities and information technology, personnel and other integration expenses) and may divert the attention of our management from ordinary operating matters. Future
acquisitions could also result in potentially dilutive issuances of equity securities, the incurrence of debt, contingent liabilities and amortization expenses related to certain
intangible assets and increased operating expenses, which could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.

The successful integration of acquisitions and other strategic transactions, including through organic growth, depends upon our ability to manage the operations and
personnel of the acquired businesses. Integrating operations is complex and requires significant efforts and expenses on the part of both us and the acquired
businesses. Potential difficulties we may encounter as part of the integration process include, but are not limited to, the following:

• employees may voluntarily or involuntarily separate employment from us or the acquired businesses because of the acquisitions;

• our management may have its attention diverted from core business activities while trying to integrate the acquired businesses;

• we may encounter obstacles when incorporating the acquired businesses into our operations and management, including integrating or separating personnel,
financial systems, operating procedures, regulatory compliance programs, technology, networks and other assets in a seamless manner that minimizes any
adverse impact on customers, suppliers, employees and other constituencies;

• differences in business backgrounds, corporate cultures and management philosophies;

• integration may be more costly, time-consuming or complex or less effective than anticipated;

• inability to maintain uniform standards, controls and procedures; and

• we may discover previously undetected operational or other issues, such as fraud.

Any of these factors could adversely affect our and the acquired businesses’ ability to maintain relationships with customers, suppliers, employees and other
constituencies. In addition, the success of these acquired businesses will depend, in part, upon our ability to realize the anticipated growth opportunities and cost
synergies through the successful integration of the businesses we acquire with our existing businesses. Even if we are successful in integrating acquired businesses, we
cannot assure you that these integrations will result in the realization of the full benefit of any anticipated growth opportunities or cost synergies or that these benefits will
be realized within the expected time frames. In addition, acquired businesses may have unanticipated liabilities or contingencies.

14

In the future, we also expect to seek organic growth opportunities. The availability and success of such organic growth opportunities depends upon a number of factors,
including our ability to innovate and develop new product offerings, expand into adjacencies and respond timely to changing consumer demands and preferences.
Additionally, if we fail to evaluate and execute new business opportunities properly, we may not achieve anticipated benefits and may incur increased costs. Continued
organic growth, if achieved, may place a strain on our operational infrastructure, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

Risks Related to Our Operations

Material disruptions at one of our facilities could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition. A material
disruption at our corporate headquarters or one of our manufacturing or distribution facilities, or involving any of our equipment within such facilities, could prevent us
from meeting customer demand, reduce our sales and increase our costs, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations. Our manufacturing facilities, and our equipment within such facilities, have and may in the future cease operations unexpectedly due to a number of events,
including:

• an equipment failure or damage to any of our equipment;

• the inability to find replacement parts for any of our equipment;

• food safety disruptions;

• unscheduled maintenance outages;

• fires, floods, earthquakes, hurricanes or other catastrophes;

• the effect of a drought or reduced rainfall on its water supply;

• the effect of severe weather conditions on equipment and facilities;
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• disruption in the supply of raw materials or other manufacturing inputs;

• information system disruptions or failures due to any number of causes, including cyber-attacks;
• changing laws and regulations applicable to our business; business including the imposition of new and retaliatory tariffs and increased trade regulations;

• prolonged power failures;

• the release of pollutants or hazardous substances;

• damage or disruptions caused by third parties operating on or adjacent to one of our manufacturing facilities;

• disruptions in the transportation infrastructure, including roads, bridges, railroad tracks and tunnels;

• a widespread outbreak of an illness or any other communicable disease or any other public health crisis;

• failure of our third-party service providers to satisfactorily fulfill their commitments and responsibilities in a timely manner and in accordance with agreed upon
terms;

• labor difficulties and disruptions; and

• other operational problems.

In addition, capital expenditures for expansion or replacement of existing facilities or equipment or to comply with future changes in applicable laws and regulations may
be substantial. We cannot guarantee that the key pieces of equipment in our various manufacturing facilities will not need to be repaired or replaced or that we will not
incur significant additional costs associated with regulatory compliance. If we are unable to repair key pieces of equipment that are utilized in connection with producing
our products, we may need to turn to new technology. We cannot assure you that such new technology will not impact the quality or taste of our products. The costs of
repairing or replacing such equipment and the associated downtime of the affected production line could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations. If for any reason we are unable to provide for our operating needs, capital expenditures, and other cash requirements on
economically
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favorable terms, we could experience a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We may not be able to attract, develop and retain the skilled people we need to support our business. We depend on the skills and continued service of key
personnel, including our experienced management team. In addition, our ability to achieve our strategic and operating goals depends on our ability to identify, recruit,
hire, train and retain qualified individuals, including, for example, individuals with e-commerce, digital marketing and data analytics capabilities and skilled labor in our
manufacturing facilities. We compete with other companies both within and outside of our industry for talented personnel, and we may lose key personnel or fail to
attract, recruit, train, develop and retain other talented personnel. In addition, we may experience higher than expected employee turnover and difficulty attracting new
employees as a result of uncertainty from organizational and operational changes related to the Spin-Off. Similarly, as a result of the Spin-Off, we became a smaller
company than Kellanova, and we have a smaller employee base to assist in the day-to-day operation of our business. Any such loss, failure or negative perception with
respect to these individuals may adversely affect our business or financial results. In addition, activities related to identifying, recruiting, hiring and integrating qualified
individuals may require significant time and expense. We may not be able to locate suitable replacements for any key employees who terminate their employment, or
offer employment to potential replacements on reasonable terms, each of which may adversely affect our business and financial results. Additionally, changes in regional
preferences and immigration laws and policies could also make it more difficult for us to recruit or relocate skilled employees.

A shortage in the labor pool, failure to successfully negotiate collectively bargained agreements, or other general inflationary pressures or changes in
applicable laws and regulations could increase labor cost, which could have a material adverse effect on our operating results or financial condition. Our
labor costs include the cost of providing benefits for employees. We sponsor a number of benefit plans for employees in the United States, Canada, and Mexico,
including pension, retiree health and welfare, medical care, severance and other post-employment benefits. Our major pension plans and U.S. collectively bargained
retiree health and welfare plans are funded with trust assets invested in a diversified portfolio of securities. The annual cost of benefits can vary significantly from year to
year and is materially affected by such factors as changes in the assumed or actual rate of return on major plan assets, a change in the weighted-average discount rate
used to measure obligations, the rate or trend of health care cost inflation, and the outcome of collectively bargained wage and benefit agreements. Many of our
employees are covered by collectively bargained agreements and other employees may seek to be covered by collectively bargained agreements. Strikes or work
stoppages and interruptions have occurred and could occur in the future, which could adversely impact our operating results. The terms and

conditions of such agreements could also increase our costs or otherwise affect our ability to fully implement future operational changes to enhance our efficiency.
Furthermore, we rely on access to competitive, local labor supply, including skilled and unskilled positions, to operate our business consistently and reliably. We may
encounter difficulty recruiting sufficient numbers of personnel at acceptable wage and benefit levels due to the competitive labor market. Our inability to attract, develop
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and retain the personnel necessary for the efficient operation of our business could result in higher costs and decreased productivity and efficiency, which may have a
material adverse effect on our performance.

Our post-retirement benefit-related costs and funding requirements could increase as a result of volatility in the financial markets, changes in interest rates
and actuarial assumptions. Increases in the costs of post-retirement medical and pension benefits may continue and could negatively affect our business as a result of
increased usage of medical benefits by retired employees and medical cost inflation, an increase in participants enrolled, the effect of potential declines in the stock and
bond markets on the performance of our pension and post-retirement plan assets, potential reductions in the discount rate used to determine the present value of our
benefit obligations, and changes to our investment strategy that may impact our expected return on pension and post-retirement plan assets assumptions. U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles require that we calculate income or expense for the plans using actuarial valuations. These valuations reflect assumptions about financial
markets and interest rates, which may change based on economic conditions. Our accounting policy for defined benefit plans may subject earnings to volatility due to the
recognition of actuarial gains and losses, particularly those due to the change in the fair value of pension and post-retirement plan assets and interest rates. In addition,
funding requirements for our plans may become more significant. However, the ultimate amounts to be contributed are dependent upon, among other things, interest
rates, underlying asset returns, and the impact of legislative or regulatory changes related to pension and post-retirement funding obligations.

Our inability to obtain sufficient capital would constrain our ability to grow our business and to increase our revenues. Our business is capital intensive,
including our anticipated supply chain investments, and we have
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used and may continue to employ leverage to finance our operations. Accordingly, our ability to successfully execute our business strategy, including through organic
growth, and maintain our operations depends on the availability and cost of debt and equity capital. Our indebtedness is not rated, and if it was rated we believe it would
have a non-investment grade rating. Such rating would likely make it more difficult or more expensive for us to obtain additional debt financing, if we determine such
financing is necessary, to support expected growth of our business, or if we decide to pursue strategic transactions or organic growth opportunities. We can give no
assurance that the capital we need will be available to us on favorable terms, or at all. Our inability to obtain sufficient capital, or to renew or expand our existing debt
instruments, could result in increased funding costs and would limit our ability to, among other things:

• meet the terms and maturities of our existing and future debt instruments;

• purchase new assets or refinance existing assets;

• fund our working capital needs and maintain adequate liquidity;

• finance other growth initiatives; and

• pursue strategic transactions.

An impairment of the carrying value of goodwill or other acquired intangibles could negatively affect our operating results and net worth. The carrying value
of goodwill represents the fair value of acquired businesses in excess of identifiable assets and liabilities as of the acquisition date. The carrying value of other
intangibles represents the fair value of trademarks, trade names, and other acquired intangibles as of the acquisition date. Goodwill and other acquired intangibles
expected to contribute indefinitely to our cash flows are not amortized but must be evaluated by management at least annually for impairment. If carrying value exceeds
current fair value, the intangible is considered impaired and is reduced to fair value via a charge to earnings. Factors which could result in an impairment include, but are
not limited to: (i) reduced demand for our products; (ii) higher commodity prices; (iii) lower prices for our products or increased marketing as a result of increased
competition; and (iv) significant disruptions to our operations as a result of both internal and external events. Should the value of one or more of the acquired intangibles
become impaired, our financial condition and results of operations may be materially adversely affected. Any significant sustained adverse change in consumer
purchasing behaviors, government restrictions, financial results or macroeconomic conditions could result in future impairment.

As of December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024, the carrying value of intangible assets totaled approximately $110 million, of which $53 million was goodwill and $57
million represented trademarks and trade names, compared to total assets of $1.9 billion $2 billion and total WK Kellogg Co equity of $300 million $317 million.

Risks Related to Our Industry

Our results may be materially and adversely impacted as a result of increases in the price of raw materials, including agricultural commodities, packaging,
fuel and labor. labor including as a result of geopolitical, economic, trade policies and regulations and market conditions. Agricultural commodities, including
corn, wheat, rice, vegetable oils, sugar, cocoa, fruits and nuts are the principal raw materials used in our products. Carton board, corrugated, and flexible packaging are
the principal packaging materials used by us. The cost of such commodities may fluctuate widely due to government policy, regulation, and/or shutdown, import and
export requirements (including tariffs) new or retaliatory tariffs imposed by the U.S. or other countries where our products are manufactured, specifically Canada and
Mexico), global geopolitical conditions (including war, such as the wars in Ukraine and the Middle East), general economic conditions (including heightened inflation),
sanctions, drought and other weather conditions (including the potential effects of climate change), a global health crisis (such as the COVID-19 pandemic),
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environmental or other sustainability regulation, or other unforeseen circumstances. Specifically, certain ingredients, packaging and other goods and services have been
impacted by inflationary pressures, and although we are unable to predict the impact to our ability to source such materials and services in the future, we expect these
supply pressures and market disruptions to continue throughout 2024. continue. Further, on February 1, 2025, the current U.S. presidential administration announced the
imposition of significant new tariffs that will be imposed on imports from Canada, Mexico and China, which may negatively impact international trade relations, result in
retaliatory actions and cause inflationary pressures and higher costs. On February 3, 2025, the prospective tariffs on Canada and Mexico were deferred for 30 days;
however, although the implementation of these tariffs following the current short-term reprieve remains a possibility, and there is no guarantee that they will not be
implemented before such date. To the extent that any of the foregoing factors affect the prices of such commodities and we are unable to increase our prices or
adequately hedge against such changes in prices in a manner that offsets such changes, the results of our operations could be materially and adversely affected. In
addition, we use derivatives to hedge price risk associated with forecasted purchases of raw materials. Our hedged price could exceed the spot price on the date of
purchase, resulting in an unfavorable impact on both gross margin and net earnings. Also, sustained price increases may lead to declines in volume as consumers may
decide not to pay the higher prices or may forego some purchases altogether during an economic downturn, which could lead to sales declines and loss of market share.
Food processing equipment at our facilities are regularly fueled by electricity, oil, natural gas or propane, which are obtained from local utilities or other local suppliers.
Short-term stand-by propane and/or oil storage exists at several plants for use in case of interruption in
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natural gas supplies. In addition, considerable amounts of diesel fuel are used in connection with the distribution of our products. The cost of fuel may fluctuate widely
due to economic and political conditions, government policy, trade tensions; regulation and/or shutdown, war, or other unforeseen circumstances, which could have a
material adverse effect on our operating results or financial condition.

Our results may be adversely affected by increases in transportation costs and reduced availability of or increases in the price of oil or other fuels. We rely
on trucking and railroad operators to deliver incoming ingredients to our manufacturing locations and to deliver finished products to our customers. Shortages of truck
drivers and railroad workers have contributed to increased freight costs, which has had a material and adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations. Transportation costs are further increasing as a result of high levels of long-haul driver turnover and increased railroad traffic and service issues. Additionally,
energy and fuel costs can fluctuate dramatically and, at times, have resulted in significant cost increases, particularly for the price of oil and gasoline.

We operate in the highly competitive food industry, including with respect to retail and shelf space. We face competition from other companies that have varying
abilities to withstand changes in market conditions. The principal aspects of our business where we face competition include, but are not limited to, brand recognition,
taste, nutritional value, price, promotion, innovation, shelf space, navigating the growing e-commerce marketplace, convenient ordering and delivery to the consumer
and customer service. Most of our competitors have substantial financial, marketing, sales and other resources, and some of our competitors may spend more on
advertising and promotional activities than we do. Additionally, some of our competitors sell products that we no longer offer post- Spin-Off, such as cereal bars. Further,
our mutual non-competition obligations to Kellanova pursuant to the Separation and Distribution Agreement may impact our ability to expand into new product categories
or markets during the non-competition period. Our competition with other companies in our market could cause us to reduce prices, increase capital, marketing or other
expenditures, or lose category share, any of which could have a material

adverse effect on our business and financial results. Our ability to compete also depends upon our ability to predict, identify, and interpret the tastes and dietary habits of
consumers and to offer products that appeal to those preferences, which is particularly important to us given our primary focus on producing and selling ready-to-eat
cereal products. Due to our product concentration, any decline in consumer demand or change in preferences could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition or results of operations. There are inherent marketplace risks associated with new product or packaging introductions, including uncertainties about
trade and consumer acceptance. If we do not succeed in offering products that consumers want to buy, our sales and market share will decrease, resulting in reduced
profitability. If we are unable to accurately predict which shifts in consumer preferences will be long-lasting, or are unable to introduce new and improved products to
satisfy those preferences, our sales will decline. In addition, given the variety of backgrounds and identities of consumers in our consumer base, we must offer a
sufficient array of products to satisfy the broad spectrum of consumer preferences.

In some cases, our competitors may be able to respond to changing business and economic conditions or consumer preferences more quickly than us. Category share
and growth could also be adversely impacted if we are not successful in introducing new products, anticipating changes in consumer preferences with respect to dietary
trends or purchasing behaviors or in effectively assessing, changing and setting pricing.

In addition, we compete against branded products as well as private label products. Our products must provide higher value and/or quality to our consumers than
alternatives, particularly during periods of economic uncertainty. Consumers may not buy our products if relative differences in value and/or quality between our products
and private label products change in favor of competitors’ products or if consumers perceive this type of change. If consumers prefer private label products, which are
typically sold at lower prices, then we could lose category share or sales volumes or shift our product mix to lower margin offerings, which could have a material effect on
our business and financial position and on the results of our operations and profitability.

Further, our ability to compete may be limited by an inability to secure new retailers or maintain or add shelf and/or retail space for our products. There can be no
assurance that retailers will provide sufficient, or any, shelf space, nor that online retailers will provide online access to, or adequate product visibility on, their platform.
Unattractive placement or pricing may put our products at a disadvantage compared to those of our competitors. Even if we obtain shelf space or preferable shelf
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placement, our new and existing products may fail to achieve the sales expectations set by our retailers, potentially causing these retailers to remove our products from
their shelves.

The changing retail environment and the growing presence of alternative retail channels could negatively impact our sales and profits. Our businesses are
largely concentrated in the traditional retail grocery trade. Our largest customer,Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., accounted for approximately 26% 29% of combined consolidated
net sales during 2023,
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2024, comprised principally of sales within the United States. No other customer accounted for more than 10% of combined consolidated net sales in 2023. 2024. During
2023, 2024, our top five customers, collectively, including Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., accounted for approximately 47% 52% of our combined consolidated net sales. There
can be no assurances that our largest customers will continue to purchase our products in the same mix or quantities or on the same terms as in the past. As the retail
grocery trade continues to consolidate and retailers become larger, our large retail customers have sought, and may continue to seek in the future, to use their position
to improve their profitability through improved efficiency, lower pricing, increased promotional programs funded by their suppliers and more favorable terms. Such
consolidation can continue to adversely impact our smaller customers’ ability to compete effectively, resulting in an inability on their part to pay for our products or
reduced or canceled orders of our products. In addition, larger retailers have the scale to develop supply chains that permit them to operate with reduced inventories or
to develop and market their own private label products. If we are unable to use our scale, marketing expertise, product innovation and leadership positions to respond,
our profitability or volume growth could be negatively affected. As a result of the consolidated nature of the retail environment, which is also significant in Canada, the
loss of any large customer or severe adverse impact on the business operations of any large customer for an extended length of time could negatively impact our sales
and profits.

Additionally, alternative retail channels, such as e-commerce retailers (including as a result of the integration of traditional and digital operations at key retailers),
subscription services, discount and dollar stores, direct-to-consumer brands, drug stores and club stores, have continued to grow. This trend away from traditional retail
grocery, and towards such channels, is expected to continue in the future. If we are not successful in expanding sales in alternative retail channels, our business or
financial results may be negatively impacted. In particular, substantial growth in e-commerce has encouraged the entry of new competitors and business models,
intensifying competition by simplifying distribution and lowering barriers to entry. The expanding presence of e-commerce retailers has impacted, and may continue to
impact, consumer preferences and market dynamics, which in turn may negatively affect our sales or profits. In addition, these alternative retail channels may create
consumer price deflation, affecting our large retail and wholesale customer relationships and presenting additional challenges to increasing prices in response to
commodity or other cost increases. Also, if these alternative retail channels, such as e-commerce retailers, were to take significant share away from traditional retailers
that could have a flow over effect on our business and our financial results could be negatively impacted.

Our financial results and demand for our products are dependent on the successful development of new products and processes. There are a number of
trends in consumer preferences which may impact us and the industry as a whole. These include changing consumer dietary trends and the availability of substitute
products. Our success is dependent on anticipating changes in consumer preferences and on successful new product and process development and product relaunches
in response to such changes, which is particularly important to us given our primary focus on producing and selling ready-to-eat cereal products. Because of our product
concentration, any decline in consumer demand or change in preferences could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of
operations. Trends within the food industry change often, and failure to identify and react to changes in these trends could lead to, among other things, reduced loyalty,
reduced demand or price reductions for our brands and products. We aim to introduce products or new or improved production processes on a timely basis in order to
counteract obsolescence and decreases in sales of existing products. While we devote significant focus to the development of new products and to the research,
development and technology process functions of our business, we may not be successful in developing new products or our new products may not be commercially
successful. In addition, if sales generated by new products cause a decline in sales of our existing products, our financial condition and results of operations could be
materially adversely affected. Our future results and our ability to maintain or improve our competitive position will depend on our capacity to gauge the direction of our
key markets and upon our ability to successfully identify, develop, manufacture, market and sell new or improved products in these changing markets, including through
the expansion into complementary product categories.

Adverse changes in the global climate or extreme weather conditions could adversely affect our business or operations. Climate change could adversely affect
the long-term health and viability of the ingredients used in our products. As set forth in the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change Fifth Assessment Report, there
is continuing scientific evidence, as well as concern from members of the general public, that emissions of greenhouse gases and contributing human activities have
caused and will continue to cause significant changes in global temperatures and weather patterns and increase the frequency or severity of weather events, wildfires
and flooding. As the pressures from climate change and global population growth lead to increased demand, the food system and global supply chain is becoming
increasingly vulnerable to acute shocks, leading to increased prices and volatility, especially in the energy and commodity markets. Adverse changes such as these
could (i) unfavorably
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impact the cost or availability of raw or packaging materials, especially if such events have a negative impact on agricultural productivity or on the supply of water, (ii)
disrupt production schedules and our ability, or the ability of our suppliers or contract manufacturers, to manufacture or distribute our products, (iii) reduce crop size or
quality, (iv) disrupt the retail operations of our customers, or (v) unfavorably impact the demand for, or the consumer’s ability to purchase, our products.

There Climate change is an increased focus by a significant topic of discussion among foreign, federal, state and local regulatory and legislative bodies regarding and
regulatory activity and environmental policies relating to climate change has generated and may continue to generate regulatory responses, including laws regulating
greenhouse gas emissions, energy policies water consumption, the security of certain chemicals, and sustainability, including single use plastics. This new or increased
focus may result in new or increased laws and regulations that could cause significant increases in our costs of operation and delivery. In particular, increasing regulation
of fuel emissions could substantially increase the distribution and supply chain costs associated with our products. Lastly, consumers and customers may put an
increased priority on purchasing products that are sustainably grown and made, requiring us to incur increased costs for additional transparency, due diligence and
reporting. As a result, climate change as well as actions taken to mitigate  the adverse effects of climate change could negatively affect our business and operations.

Risks Related to Regulations and Litigation

We face risks related to tax matters, including changes in tax rates, disagreements with taxing authorities and imposition of new taxes. We are subject to
taxes in the United States and certain foreign jurisdictions where our subsidiaries are organized. Due to economic and political conditions (including shifts in the
geopolitical landscape), tax rates in the United States and various foreign jurisdictions have been and may be subject to significant change. The Our future effective tax
rate could be affected by changes in mix of earnings in countries with differing statutory tax rates, changes in valuation of deferred tax assets and liabilities, or changes
in tax laws or their interpretation which includes the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act and contemplated changes in other countries of long-standing tax principles if finalized and
adopted

could have a material impact on our income tax expense and deferred tax balances. We are also subject to regular reviews, examinations and audits by the U.S. Internal
Revenue Service (the "IRS") and other taxing authorities with respect to taxes inside and outside of the United States. Although we believe our tax estimates are
reasonable, if a taxing authority disagrees with the positions we have taken, we could face additional tax liability, including interest and penalties. There can be no
assurance that payment of such additional amounts upon final adjudication of any disputes will not have a material impact on our results of operations and financial
position. We also need to comply with new, evolving or revised tax laws and regulations. The enactment of or increases in tariffs, including value added tax, or other
changes in the application of existing taxes, in markets in which we are currently active, or may be active in the future, or on specific products that we sell or with which
our products compete, may have an adverse effect on our business or on our results of operations.

If our food products become adulterated, misbranded or mislabeled, we might need to recall those items and may experience product liability if consumers
are injured or damaged as a result. result and we face litigation challenges and potential regulatory challenges to how we formulate our foods. Selling food
products involves a number of legal, regulatory and other risks, including product contamination, food borne illnesses, spoilage, product tampering, allergens, or other
adulteration, which could result in product liability claims. We may need to recall some of our products if they become adulterated or misbranded. We may also be liable
if the consumption of any of our products causes injury, illness or death. A widespread product recall or market withdrawal could result in significant losses due to their
costs, the destruction of product inventory, and lost sales due to the unavailability of product for a period of time. We could also suffer losses from a significant product
liability judgment against us. In addition, we could be the target of claims of consumer fraud or that our advertising is false or deceptive under U.S. federal and state laws
as well as foreign laws, including consumer protection statutes of some states. We are currently a defendant in a lawsuit alleging that we and other food companies sell
food that has caused chronic disease. The lawsuit includes claims against us for negligence, fraudulent misrepresentation and other claims and seeks an unspecified
amount of compensatory and punitive damages.

Allegations The results of consumer fraud any such claims or lawsuits cannot be predicted with any certainty and may result in substantial monetary damages or fines,
settlements, litigation expenses and litigation expenses. undesirable changes to our products or business practices. Defending lawsuits may also be costly and impose a
significant burden on management and our employees. A product recall, product liability or consumer fraud case involving our business or the businesses of Kellanova
(from whom we license certain brands used in our business under certain Intellectual Property Agreements) could also result in adverse publicity, damage to our
reputation, and a loss of consumer confidence in our food products, which could have a material adverse effect on our business results and the value of the brands used
in our business.

Moreover, even if a product liability, or consumer fraud  or similar claim is without merit, does not prevail or is not pursued, the negative publicity surrounding assertions
against us or Kellanova and our or their products or processes could adversely affect our reputation or brands. We could also be adversely affected if consumers lose
confidence in the safety and quality of certain food products or ingredients, or the food safety system generally. If another company recalls or experiences negative
publicity related to cereal products, consumers might reduce their overall
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consumption of such products. Adverse publicity about these types of concerns, whether or not valid, may decrease overall demand for ready-to-eat cereals, discourage
consumers from buying our products, subject us to new regulations, or cause production and delivery disruptions.
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Evolving New and evolving tax, advertising, environmental, licensing, labeling, trade, food quality and safety or other regulations or our inability or failure to
comply with new and existing regulations and laws could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition. Our activities and products, including our
operation of our manufacturing facilities, both in and outside of the United States, are subject to regulation by various federal, state, provincial and local laws, regulations
and government agencies, including the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, the FTC, the U.S. Departments of Agriculture, Commerce and Labor, as well as similar and
other authorities outside of the United States, International Accords and Treaties and others, including voluntary regulation by other bodies. Legal and regulatory
systems can change quickly. In addition, legal and regulatory systems in emerging and developing markets may be less developed, and less certain. These laws and
regulations and interpretations thereof may change, sometimes dramatically, as a result of a variety of factors, including political, economic, regulatory or social events.
In addition, the enforcement of remedies in certain foreign jurisdictions may be less certain, resulting in varying abilities to enforce intellectual property and contractual
rights.

The manufacturing, marketing and distribution of food products are subject to governmental regulations that impose additional regulatory requirements. Those
regulations control such matters as food quality and safety (including the condition and operation of our manufacturing facilities where food is processed), use of certain
ingredients,

advertising, product or production requirements, labeling, sustainability of packaging (including plastics), import or export of our products or ingredients, relations with
distributors and retailers, health and safety, the environment, and restrictions on the use of government programs, such as Supplemental Nutritional Assistance Program
and the Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants and Children, to purchase certain of our products.

The marketing of food products has come under increased regulatory scrutiny in recent years, and the food industry has been subject to an increasing number of
proceedings and claims relating to alleged false or deceptive labeling and marketing under federal, state and foreign laws or regulations. For example, in 2009,
Kellanova reached a consent agreement with the FTC to resolve an investigation relating to marketing and advertising claims regarding Frosted Mini-Wheats products
and its effects on kids’ attentiveness. Although we are not a direct party to the consent agreement, certain of its terms apply to us as successor to the North American
cereal business following the Spin-Off. The consent agreement requires, among other things, that we refrain from making misleading advertising statements regarding
the Frosted Mini-Wheats products and its effects on children’s attentiveness, and refrain from representing in any manner that Frosted Mini-Wheats or any other morning
food or snack food have benefits, improve performance or increase the efficacy of cognitive function, cognitive processes, or other cognitive health, among other things.
We may be subject to future investigations and legal proceedings by the FTC or other regulators. It is possible that a regulatory inquiry might result in changes to our
advertising methods, policies or business practices. Violation of existing or future regulatory orders or consent decrees could subject us to substantial monetary fines
and other penalties that could negatively affect our financial condition and operating results. In addition, it is possible that future orders issued by, or enforcement actions
initiated by, regulatory authorities could cause us to incur substantial costs or require us to change our business practices in a manner materially adverse to our
business, including damage to our reputation and the value of the brands used in our business.

We are also regulated with respect to matters such as licensing requirements, trade and pricing practices, tax, anti-corruption standards, advertising and claims, and
environmental matters. The need to comply with new, evolving or revised tax, environmental, food quality and safety, labeling or other laws or regulations, or new,
evolving or changed interpretations or enforcement of existing laws or regulations, may have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.
Governmental and administrative bodies within the United States are considering a variety of trade and other regulatory reforms. Changes in legal or regulatory
requirements (such as new food safety requirements and revised nutrition facts labeling, including front of pack labeling, and serving size regulations), or evolving
interpretations of existing legal or regulatory requirements, may result in increased compliance costs, capital expenditures and other financial obligations that could
adversely affect our business or financial results. If we are found to be out of compliance with applicable laws and regulations in these areas, we could be subject to civil
remedies, including fines, injunctions, termination of necessary licenses or permits, or recalls, as well as potential criminal sanctions, any of which could have a material
adverse effect on our business. Even if regulatory review does not result in these types of determinations, it could potentially create negative publicity or perceptions,
which could harm our business or reputation.

Modifications to international trade policy, including the ratification possible withdrawal or termination of the United States-Mexico-Canada Agreement, the trade
agreement between the named parties entered into force on July 1, 2020, or the imposition of increased or new tariffs, quotas or trade barriers on key commodities with
other countries could have a negative impact on us or the industries we serve, including as a result of related uncertainty, and could materially and adversely impact our
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business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. Higher duties on existing tariffs or additional tariffs imposed by the United States on a broader range
of imports, or including the prospective tariffs on Canada and Mexico proposed by the current U.S. presidential administration, further retaliatory trade measures taken by
China or those other countries in response, or the implementation of other tariffs following the short-term reprieve by the current U.S. presidential administration, could
result in an increase in supply chain costs that we are not able to offset.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property and Technology

Technology failures, cyber-attacks, privacy breaches or data breaches could disrupt our operations or reputation and negatively impact our business. We
increasingly rely on information technology systems and third-party service providers, including through the internet, to process, transmit, and store electronic
information. For example, our production and distribution facilities and inventory management utilize information technology to increase efficiencies and limit costs.
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Information technology systems are also integral to the reporting of our results of operations. Furthermore, a significant portion of the communications between, and
storage of personal data of, our personnel, customers,

consumers and suppliers depends on information technology. Our information technology systems, and the systems of the parties we communicate and collaborate with,
may be vulnerable to a variety of interruptions, as a result of many of our employees working remotely, updating our enterprise platform or due to events beyond our or
their control, including, but not limited to, network or hardware failures, malicious or disruptive software, unintentional or malicious actions of employees or contractors,
cyber-attacks by common hackers, criminal groups or nation-state organizations or social-activist (hacktivist) organizations, geopolitical events, natural disasters, global
health events (such as the COVID-19 pandemic), failures or impairments of telecommunications networks, or other catastrophic events.

Moreover, our computer systems have been, and will likely continue to be, subjected to computer viruses, malware, malicious codes, social engineering attacks,
unauthorized access attempts, password theft, physical breaches, employee or inside error, malfeasance and cyber- or phishing-attacks. Cyber threats are constantly
evolving, are becoming more sophisticated and are being made by groups and individuals with a wide range of expertise and motives, and this increases the difficulty of
detecting and successfully defending against them. We may also face increased risk of state-sponsored or geopolitical-related cybersecurity incidents due to geopolitical
tensions or incidents, such as the Russian invasion of Ukraine. These events could compromise our confidential information, impede or interrupt our business
operations, and may result in other negative consequences, including remediation costs, loss of revenue, litigation and reputational damage. Furthermore, if a breach or
other breakdown results in disclosure of confidential or personal information, we may suffer reputational, competitive and/or business harm. We intend to clone and
replicate an existing integrated enterprise resource planning ("ERP") system before the conclusion of the Transition Services Agreement. We may not be able to
successfully implement the ERP system without experiencing delays, increased costs and other difficulties. If we do not effectively implement the ERP system as
planned or the ERP system does not operate as intended, the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting could be adversely affected or our ability to
design and implement effective internal control over financial reporting could be delayed. We may be more susceptible to cyber-attacks while we work to implement such
enterprise resource planning system. To date, we have not experienced a material breach of cybersecurity. As a standalone company, we will implement physical,
administrative and technical controls and take other preventive actions, such as the maintenance of an information security program that will include updating our
technology and security policies, insurance, employee training, and monitoring and routinely testing our information technology systems to reduce the risk of cyber
incidents and protect our information technology; however, these measures may be insufficient to prevent physical and electronic break-ins, cyber-attacks or other
security breaches to our computer systems.

We offer promotions, rebates and other programs through which it may receive personal information, and it or its vendors could experience cyber-attacks, privacy
breaches, data breaches or other incidents that result in unauthorized disclosure of consumer, customer, employee or other Company information. We must also
successfully integrate the technology systems of acquired companies into our existing and future technology systems. In addition, we must comply with increasingly
complex and rigorous regulatory standards enacted to protect business and personal information in the United States and other jurisdictions, including Canada,
regarding privacy, data protection and data security, including those related to the collection, storage, handling, use, disclosure, transfer and security of personal
information.

There is significant uncertainty with respect to compliance with such privacy and data protection laws and regulations, including with respect to the California Consumer
Privacy Act of 2018 (the “CCPA”), which went into effect on January 1, 2020 (which imposes additional obligations on companies regarding the handling of personal
information and provides certain individual privacy rights to persons whose information is collected), because they
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are continuously evolving and developing and may be interpreted and applied differently from jurisdiction to jurisdiction and may create inconsistent or conflicting
requirements. In addition, regulations to implement portions of the CCPA have not been finalized and could significantly impact CCPA compliance measures. For
example, the California Privacy Rights Act (the “CPRA”), which was approved by California voters as a ballot initiative in November 2020, modified the CCPA
significantly and the resulting new regulations became effective on January 1, 2023. Several other states and foreign jurisdictions have introduced or passed similar
legislation to the CCPA and CPRA, which may impose varying standards and requirements on our data collection, use and processing activities. Our efforts to comply
with privacy and data protection laws in the United States, including the CCPA and CPRA, and other foreign jurisdictions may impose significant costs and challenges
that are likely to increase over time.

If we suffer a loss as a result of a breach or other breakdown in its technology, including such cyber-attacks, privacy breaches, data breaches, issues with or errors in
system maintenance or security, migration of applications to the cloud, power outages, hardware or software failures, denial of service, telecommunication or other
incident involving one of our vendors, that result in unauthorized disclosure or significant unavailability of business, financial, personal or stakeholder information, we
may suffer reputational, competitive and/or business harm and may be exposed to legal liability and government investigations, which may adversely affect our results of
operations and/or financial condition.

The misuse, leakage or falsification of information could result in violations of data privacy laws and we may become subject to legal action and increased regulatory
oversight. We could also be required to spend significant financial and other resources to remedy the damage caused by a security breach or to repair or replace
networks and information systems. In addition, if our suppliers or customers experience such a breach or unauthorized disclosure or system failure, their businesses
could be disrupted or otherwise negatively affected, which may result in a disruption in our supply chain or reduced customer orders, which would adversely affect our
business and results of operations. We have also outsourced several information technology support services and administrative functions to third-party service
providers, including cloud-based service providers, and may outsource other functions in the future to achieve cost savings and efficiencies. In addition, we rely on
Kellanova to perform numerous information technology services, including information systems security, under the terms of the Transition Services Agreement. If these
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service providers and Kellanova do not perform effectively due to breach or system failure, we may not be able to achieve the expected benefits and our business may
be disrupted.

Our intellectual property rights are valuable, and any inability to protect them could reduce the value of our products and brands. Our intellectual property
rights are a significant and valuable aspect of our business and include trademarks, patents, trade secrets, and copyrights to be owned or licensed under certain
licensing agreements. Our failure to obtain or adequately protect our intellectual property rights may diminish our competitiveness and could materially harm our
business. Similarly, changes in applicable laws or other changes that serve to lessen or remove the current legal protections of our intellectual property may also
diminish our competitiveness and could materially harm our business. We may be unaware of intellectual property rights of others that may cover some of our
technology, brands or products or operations. In addition, if, in the course of developing new products or improving the quality of existing products, we are found to have
infringed the intellectual property rights of others (including any intellectual property licensed from Kellanova under the Intellectual Property Agreements), directly or
indirectly, such finding could have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition or results of operations and may limit our ability to introduce new products or
improve the quality of existing products. Any litigation regarding intellectual property rights could be costly and time-consuming and could divert the attention of our
management and key personnel from our business operations. Third party claims of intellectual property infringement might also require us to enter into costly license
agreements. We also may be subject to significant damages or injunctions against the development and sale of certain products.

Certain of our rights to intellectual property used in our business are limited to those of a licensee under the Intellectual Property Agreements. In connection
with the Spin-Off, we entered into Intellectual Property Agreements with Kellanova that provide for ownership, use and selling rights to facilitate both Kellanova’s and our
ongoing use of certain intellectual property rights. The Intellectual Property Agreements contain limitations on how we are able to leverage the brands and other non-
brand related intellectual property that are used in connection with our business.

The Intellectual Property Agreements provide for ownership, use and selling rights with respect to certain trademarks and other non-brand related intellectual property
currently owned by Kellanova. Since we do not own all brands and other intellectual property used in our business, our success depends, in part, on (i) the maintenance
of our ongoing relationship with Kellanova, (ii) our performance of our obligations under such agreements, and (iii) Kellanova’s performance of its obligations under such
agreements, including Kellanova’s maintenance of the quality
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of products and services it sells under trademarks we use co-extensively with Kellanova (such trademarks, “Shared Use Trademarks”), and Kellanova’s adequate
maintenance of any Shared Use Trademarks and other intellectual property that we license from Kellanova. Improper maintenance of the quality of products or services
that Kellanova sells under any Shared Use Trademarks or general inadequate maintenance of any Shared Use Trademarks or other intellectual property of Kellanova
could also result in adverse publicity, damage to our reputation, and a loss of consumer confidence in our food products, which could have a material adverse effect on
our business results and the value of the brands used in our business.

If we (i) fail to comply with our obligations under any of the Intellectual Property Agreements, (ii) use the licensed intellectual property in an unauthorized manner, (iii) are
subject to bankruptcy-related proceedings or (iv) otherwise materially breach any of these agreements, the terms of the license granted from Kellanova to us may be
materially modified. Generally, the loss or termination of our rights under the Intellectual Property Agreements, or any other licenses we may acquire in the future, may
materially and adversely affect our profitability and our revenues could decrease.

Risks Related to the Spin-Off

If the Contribution and the Distribution were to fail to qualify for non-recognition treatment for U.S. federal income tax purposes, then we could be subject to
significant tax liability. In connection with the Distribution, Kellanova received a private letter ruling from the IRS and an opinion of tax counsel (the “Tax Opinion”),
each to the effect that, subject to the accuracy of and compliance with certain representations, assumptions and covenants and the adherence by Kellanova and us to
certain restrictions on our future actions contained in the Tax Matters Agreement, the Contribution and the Distribution will qualify for non-recognition of gain or loss to
Kellanova and Kellanova’s share owners pursuant to Sections 368 and 355 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), except to the extent of
cash received in lieu of fractional shares.

Notwithstanding the receipt of the private letter ruling and the Tax Opinion, the IRS could determine that the Contribution and the Distribution should be treated as one or
more taxable transactions if it determines that any of the representations, assumptions or covenants on which the private letter ruling is based are untrue or have been
violated. Furthermore, as part of the IRS’s policy, the IRS will not determine whether the Contribution and the Distribution satisfies certain conditions that are necessary
to qualify for non-recognition treatment. Rather, the private letter ruling is based on representations by Kellanova and us that these conditions have been satisfied. The
Tax Opinion addressed the satisfaction of these conditions.

The Tax Opinion is not binding on the IRS or the courts, and there is no assurance that the IRS or a court will not take a contrary position. In addition, the Tax Opinion
relied on certain representations and covenants to be delivered by Kellanova and us.

If the IRS ultimately determines that the Contribution and the Distribution are taxable, the Distribution could be treated as a taxable dividend or capital gain to share
owners for U.S. federal income tax purposes, and share owners could incur significant U.S. federal income tax liabilities. In addition, if the IRS ultimately determines that
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the Contribution and the Distribution are taxable, Kellanova could incur significant U.S. federal income tax liabilities, and we could have an indemnification obligation to
Kellanova under the Tax Matters Agreement (as defined below). For a more detailed discussion, see "—Risks Related to the Spin-Off—We could have an
indemnification obligation to Kellanova if the transactions we have undertaken in connection with the Spin-Off do not qualify for non-recognition treatment, which could
materially adversely affect our financial condition."

If the Canadian aspects of the Internal Reorganization were to fail to qualify for tax-deferred treatment for Canadian federal and provincial income tax
purposes, then Kellanova’s and/or our Canadian subsidiaries could be subject to significant tax liability. The Internal Reorganization included steps to separate
the assets and liabilities in Canada held in connection with the Kellanova business from the assets and liabilities in Canada held in connection with our business.

Kellanova’s Canadian subsidiary received an advance income tax ruling from the Canada Revenue Agency (“CRA”), to the effect that, subject to the accuracy of and
compliance with certain representations, assumptions and covenants and based on the current provisions of the Canadian Tax Act, the Internal Reorganization will be
treated for purposes of the Canadian Tax Act as resulting in a “butterfly” reorganization transaction with no material Canadian federal income tax payable by Kellanova’s
Canadian subsidiary, our Canadian subsidiary or their respective share owners.
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Notwithstanding the receipt of the advance income tax ruling, the CRA could determine that the Internal Reorganization should be treated as a taxable transaction if it
determines that any of the representations, assumptions or covenants on which the advance income tax ruling is based are untrue or have been violated. If the CRA
ultimately determines that the Internal Reorganization is taxable, our Canadian subsidiary could incur significant Canadian federal and provincial income tax liabilities
and we could be responsible for indemnifying Kellanova for any Canadian federal and provincial income tax liabilities that its Canadian subsidiary may incur. For a more
detailed discussion, see “—Risks Related to the Spin-Off—" We could have an indemnification obligation to Kellanova if the transactions we have undertaken in
connection with the Spin-Off do not qualify for non-recognition treatment, which could materially adversely affect our financial condition.

We could have an indemnification obligation to Kellanova if the transactions we have undertaken in connection with the Spin-Off do not qualify for non-
recognition treatment, which could materially adversely affect our financial condition. Generally, taxes resulting from the failure of the Spin-Off to qualify for non-
recognition treatment for U.S. federal income tax purposes would be imposed on Kellanova or Kellanova’s share owners and, under the Tax Matters Agreement,
Kellanova will generally be obligated to indemnify us against such taxes. However, under the Tax Matters Agreement (as defined below), we could be required, under
certain

circumstances, to indemnify Kellanova and its affiliates against all tax-related liabilities caused by those failures, to the extent those liabilities result from an action we or
our affiliates take or from any breach of our or our affiliates’ representations, covenants or obligations under the Tax Matters Agreement or any other agreement we
entered into in connection with the Spin-Off. Events triggering an indemnification obligation under the Tax Matters Agreement include events occurring after the
Distribution that cause Kellanova to recognize a gain under Section 355(e) of the Code.

Generally, taxes resulting from the failure of the Canadian steps of the Internal Reorganization to qualify for tax-deferred treatment for Canadian federal and provincial
income tax purposes could be imposed on Kellanova’s Canadian subsidiary, our Canadian subsidiary or both. The Tax Matters Agreement provides for an allocation of
the responsibility for these liabilities.

We have agreed or are subject to numerous restrictions to preserve the non-recognition treatment of the Spin-Off, which may reduce our strategic and
operating flexibility. The U.S. federal income tax laws that apply to spin-offs generally create a presumption that the Distribution would be taxable to Kellanova (but not
to Kellanova share owners) if we engage in, or enter into an agreement to engage in, a transaction that would result in a 50% or greater change by vote or by value in
our stock ownership during the four-year period beginning on the date that begins two years before October 2, 2023 (the "Distribution Date"), unless it is established that
the transaction is not pursuant to a plan or series or transactions related to the Distribution. U.S. Treasury regulations currently in effect generally provide that whether an
acquisition transaction and a distribution are part of a plan is determined based on all of the facts and circumstances, including specific factors listed in the U.S. Treasury
regulations. In addition, these U.S. Treasury regulations provide several “safe harbors” for acquisition transactions that are not considered to be part of a plan that
includes a distribution.

There are other restrictions imposed on us under current U.S. federal income tax laws with which we will need to comply in order for the Spin-Off to qualify as a
transaction that is tax-free under Sections 355 and 368(a)(1)(D) of the Code. For example, we are generally required to continue to own and manage our business, and
there are limitations on issuances, redemptions and sales of our stock for cash or other property, except in connection with certain stock-for-stock acquisitions and other
permitted transactions. If these restrictions are not followed, the Distribution could be taxable to Kellanova and its share owners.

In connection with the Spin-Off, we entered into a Tax Matters Agreement with Kellanova under which we allocate, between Kellanova and ourselves, responsibility for
U.S. federal, state and local and non-U.S. income and other taxes relating to taxable periods before and after the Spin-Off and provide for computing and apportioning
tax liabilities and tax benefits between the parties (the "Tax Matters Agreement"). In the Tax Matters Agreement, we agree that, among other things, we may not take, or
fail to take, any action following the Distribution if such action, or failure to act: would be inconsistent with or prohibit the Spin-Off and certain restructuring transactions
related to the Spin-Off from qualifying as a tax-free transaction under Sections 355 and 368(a)(1)(D) and related provisions of the Code to Kellanova and its share
owners (except with respect to the receipt of cash in lieu of fractional shares of our stock); or would be inconsistent with, or cause to be untrue, any representation,
statement, information or covenant made in connection with the IRS ruling, the Tax Opinion or the Tax Matters Agreement relating to the qualification of the Spin-Off as a
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tax-free transaction under Sections 355 and Section 368(a)(1)(D) and related provisions of the Code. We agreed to indemnify Kellanova for certain tax liabilities resulting
from any such action.

25

In addition, we have agreed that we may not, among other things, during the two-year period following the Spin-Off, except under certain specified circumstances
(including certain open market repurchases of our stock to the extent permitted under the Tax Matters Agreement), issue, sell or redeem our stock or other securities (or
those of certain of our subsidiaries); liquidate, merge or consolidate with another person; sell or dispose of assets outside the ordinary course of business or materially
change the manner of operating our business; or enter into any agreement, understanding or arrangement, or engage in any substantial negotiations with respect to any
transaction or series of transactions which would cause us to undergo a 35% or greater change in our stock ownership by value or voting power. These restrictions could
limit our strategic and operational flexibility, including our ability to finance our operations by issuing equity securities, make acquisitions using equity securities,
repurchase our equity securities (as described above), raise capital by selling assets or enter into business combination transactions. We have also agreed to indemnify
Kellanova for certain tax liabilities resulting from any such transactions. Further, as it relates to Section 355(e) and/or other requirements for a tax-free distribution under
the Code, our share owners may consider these covenants and indemnity obligations unfavorable as they might discourage, delay or prevent a change of control.

We may be unable to achieve some or all of the benefits that we expect to achieve from the Spin-Off. We believe that, as an independent, publicly traded
company, we will be able to, among other matters, better focus our financial and operational resources on our specific business, growth profile and strategic priorities,
design and implement corporate strategies and policies targeted to our operational focus and strategic priorities, streamline our processes and infrastructure to focus on
our core strengths and implement and maintain a capital structure designed to meet our specific needs and more effectively respond to industry dynamics. However, we
may be unable to achieve some or all of these benefits. For example, we are undertaking a series of strategic, structural and process realignment and restructuring
actions within our operations, including a supply chain modernization restructuring and other cost-reduction initiatives. These actions may not provide the cost benefits
we currently expect, and could lead to disruption of our operations, loss of, or inability to recruit, key personnel needed to operate and grow our businesses, weakening
of our internal standards, controls or procedures and impairment of our key customer and supplier relationships. In addition, activities that will be required of us as a
stand-alone public company will continue to require significant amounts of management’s time and effort, which may divert management’s attention from operating and
growing our businesses. Further, our business is less diversified than Kellanova’s business, and as a result, our business has also experienced a loss of scale and
access to certain financial, managerial and professional resources with some customers from which our business has benefited in the past. We may also experience
reduced access to capital and strategic flexibility because, for instance, we are no longer able to use cash flow from Kellanova to fund investments and our business
operations. Additionally, we may be more susceptible to market fluctuations and other adverse events than our business would have been were we still a part of
Kellanova. If we fail to achieve some or all of the benefits that we expect to achieve as an independent company, or do not achieve them in the time we expect, our
business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

We are dependent on Kellanova to perform certain functions for us on a transitional basis and may be unable to make, establish, on a timely or cost-effective
basis, the changes necessary systems and services to operate perform such functions ourselves as an independent company. Prior to the Spin-Off, Kellanova
supported our business and provided various corporate functions. In connection with the Spin-Off, we entered into a Transition Services Agreement with Kellanova has
no obligation pursuant to which Kellanova continued to provide us with assistance other than the transition and certain other services pursuant to the Transition Services
Agreement, the Supply Agreement and the Management Services Agreement (each as defined below). These services may not include every service our business has
received from Kellanova in the past, and Kellanova is only obligated to provide the transition services for limited periods following the Distribution Date. on a transitional
basis. Accordingly, when the Transition Services Agreement the Supply Agreement and the Management Services Agreement expire, expires, we will need to provide
internally or obtain from unaffiliated third parties the systems and services we currently receive from provided by Kellanova. The services under these agreements
currently include information technology, procurement, distribution, logistics, and order to delivery, research and development, accounting, finance, compliance and
administrative activities, the effective and appropriate performance of which is we currently view as critical to our operations. We may be unable to replace these services
or to implement the necessary systems to perform such services ourselves in a timely manner or on terms and conditions as favorable as those we receive from
Kellanova. In particular, Kellanova’s information technology networks and systems are complex, and duplicating these networks and systems will be challenging. We
may face information technology disruptions as certain data, software, information technology hardware and other information technology assets and systems are
transitioned or re-allocated between us and Kellanova, or as we implement new systems or upgrades in connection with such transition. In addition, the efforts related to
the separation of the information technology environment will require significant resources that could impact our ability to keep pace with ongoing advancement of
information technology needs of the business.

Our ability to effectively manage and operate our business depends significantly on information technology systems, and any failure, disruption, interruption, malfunction
or other issue with respect to such systems could have a
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material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. Because our business previously operated as part of the wider Kellanova organization, we may be
unable to successfully establish the infrastructure or implement the changes necessary to operate independently, or we may incur additional costs that could adversely
affect our business. Kellanova may not successfully perform its obligations during under the transition period Transition Services Agreement or we may have to expend
significant efforts or costs materially in excess of those estimated incurred under the Transition Services Agreement. If we fail to obtain the quality of administrative
services necessary to operate effectively or incur greater costs in obtaining these services, our profitability, financial condition and results of operations may be materially
and adversely affected. Further, one-time costs relating to the separation implementation of these systems and perform these services ourselves may be material and
may adversely affect our profitability. Performing our obligations under the Transition Services Agreement may require significant time and resources and may divert
management’s attention from our business operations. Kellanova may not successfully perform its obligations during the transition period, or we may have to expend
significant efforts or costs materially in excess of those estimated under the Transition Services Agreement. Any interruption in these services could have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

We intend to clone and replicate a fully integrated enterprise resource planning system before the conclusion of the Transition Services Agreement. This implementation
could result in a major disruption to our business controls and procedures, and any disruption could have a negative effect on our business, operating results, financial
condition and ability to timely and accurately report our financial results. In addition, implementing a an enterprise resource planning system may require significant
resources and refinement to fully realize the expected benefits of the system.

In addition, we entered into a Supply Agreement, pursuant to which Kellanova manufactures and supplies to us certain products of our business currently manufactured
at Kellanova facilities that were not transferred to us in connection with the Spin-Off (the "Supply Agreement"), and a Management Services Agreement, pursuant to
which Kellanova granted us the right to use its pilot plant located in Battle Creek, Michigan, to conduct research and development and product trials (the "Management
Services Agreement"). If Kellanova does not successfully perform its obligations under these agreements, we may face production disruptions or be unable to innovate
effectively, or we may not be able to procure substitute products from another manufacturer in a timely manner or at all, any of which could have a material adverse
effect on our business.

Our historical financial statements for periods prior to the Spin-Off are not necessarily representative of the results we would have achieved as an
independent, publicly traded company and may not be a reliable indicator of future results. We derived the historical combined financial statements information
included in this Annual Report for all periods prior to the Spin-Off from Kellanova’s combined consolidated financial statements and this information does is not
necessarily reflect reflective of the results of operations, financial position and cash flows we would have achieved as an independent, publicly traded company during
the periods presented, or those a reliable indicator of results of operations, financial position and cash flows that we will achieve in the future. This is primarily because of
the following factors:

• Prior to the Spin-Off, we operated as part of Kellanova’s broader corporate organization, rather than as an independent company. Kellanova performed various
corporate functions for us, including information technology, research and development, finance, legal, internal audit, insurance, compliance and human
resources activities. Our historical financial statements reflect allocations of corporate expenses from Kellanova for these and similar functions. These
allocations may not reflect the costs we will incur to perform similar services in the future as an independent company.

• We have entered into transactions with Kellanova that did not exist prior to the Spin-Off.

• Prior to the Spin-Off, our working capital requirements and capital expenditures historically were satisfied as part of Kellanova’s corporate-wide cash
management and centralized funding programs, and our cost of debt and other capital may significantly differ from that which is reflected in our historical
financial statements.

• Our historical financial statements do not reflect changes that we expect to experience in the future as a result of the Spin-Off, including changes in our cost
structure, personnel needs, tax structure, financing and business operations. As part of Kellanova, our business enjoyed certain benefits from Kellanova’s
operating diversity, size, purchasing power and available capital for investments, and we have lost some, and may lose more or all of these benefits after the
Spin-Off.

• As an independent and smaller entity, we may be unable to purchase goods, services and technologies, such as insurance and health care benefits and
computer software licenses, on terms as favorable to us as those Kellanova obtained for our business prior to the Spin-Off. In addition, our cost of debt and
other capital may significantly differ from that which is reflected in our historical financial statements.
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• We are solely responsible for the additional costs associated with being an independent, publicly traded company, including costs related to corporate
governance, investor and public relations and public reporting. Therefore, our historical financial statements may not be indicative of our future performance as

an independent company. While our businesswas profitable as part of Kellanova, we cannot assure you that our profits will continue at a similar level as a stand-

alone company. For additional information about our past financial performance and the basis of presentation of our financial statements, see Part II, Item 7,
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, and Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, in this
Annual Report.
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While we do not believe that Kellanova has any plan or intention to engage in, or own and operate, a business that competes with our business, Kellanova
has a significant understanding of our business and, notwithstanding the non-competition agreement we entered into with Kellanova, there may be
opportunities for Kellanova to compete against us. Many of Kellanova’s officers, directors and employees have participated in the development and execution of our
business strategy and the management of our day-to-day operations. Kellanova has significant knowledge of our products, operations, strengths, weaknesses and
strategies, and is a licensor of trademarks and other intellectual property rights used in our business. Based on Kellanova’s knowledge of our business strategy and the
management of our day-to-day operations, and its cereal-based products and snacks sold outside of the United States, Canada and the Caribbean, some of which may
compete against our products. Although in connection with the Intellectual Property Agreements, Kellanova generally does not have rights to use trademarks used in our
business or other existing intellectual property used in our business (such as processing know-how and formulations) to sell cereal in the United States, Canada and the
Caribbean, it will not be restricted, beyond a brief and limited mutual non-competition period, from developing new brands, new products using new technology and
formulations in the same product categories as our business and marketing such products under trademarks other than the trademarks of our business in the United
States, Canada and the Caribbean. Because of Kellanova’s competitive insight into our operations, and the cereal category in general, competition from Kellanova may
materially and adversely affect our future product sales, financial condition and results of operations.

Certain of our directors and officers may have actual or potential conflicts of interest because of their Kellanova equity ownership or their former Kellanova
positions. Certain of our executive officers and directors have been Kellanova officers, directors or employees and thus have professional relationships with Kellanova’s
executive officers, directors or employees. In addition, because of their former Kellanova positions, certain of our directors and executive officers may own Kellanova
common stock or options to acquire shares of Kellanova common stock, and their individual holdings may be significant for some of these individuals compared to their
total assets and net worth. These relationships and financial interests may create, or may create the appearance of, conflicts of interest when these directors and officers
are faced with decisions that could have different implications for Kellanova and us. For example, potential conflicts of interest could arise in connection with the
resolution of any dispute that may arise between Kellanova and us regarding the terms of the agreements entered into connection with the Spin-Off, the enforcement of
our rights under those agreements, and the ongoing relationship commercial relationships between the companies.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

A large number of our shares are eligible for future sale, which may cause the market price of our common stock to decline. As of December 30, 2023, we had
outstanding an aggregate of 85,812,883 shares of our common stock. All of those shares (other than those held by our “affiliates”) are freely tradable without restriction
or registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”). Shares held by our affiliates, which include our directors and executive officers, can
be sold subject to volume, manner of sale and notice provisions of Rule 144 under the Securities Act. Our directors and executive officers, who may be considered
“affiliates” for purposes of Rule 144 under the Securities Act, beneficially own approximately 734,976 shares of our common stock as of December 30, 2023. We are
unable to predict whether large amounts of our common stock will be sold in the open market following the Spin-Off. We are also unable to predict whether a sufficient
number of buyers will be in the market at that time. In addition, other Kellanova share owners may sell the shares of our common stock they receive in the Spin-Off for
various reasons. For example, such share owners may not believe our business profile or level of market capitalization as an independent company fits their investment
objectives.

Provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws and certain provisions of Delaware law could delay or
prevent a change in control of WK Kellogg Co. The
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existence of certain provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws and Delaware law could discourage, delay or
prevent a change in control of WK Kellogg Co that a share owner may consider favorable. We believe these provisions will protect our share owners from coercive or

otherwise unfair takeover tactics by requiring potential acquirers to work with our Board and by providing our Board with the time to assess any acquisition proposal.
These include provisions:

• providing the right to our Board to issue one or more classes or series of preferred stock and to determine the price and other terms of those shares, including
preferences and voting rights, without share owner approval;

• authorizing a large number of shares of stock that are not yet issued, which could be used to dilute the stock ownership of persons seeking to obtain control of
us;

• permitting the Board to amend our amended and restated bylaws, which may allow the Board to take additional actions to prevent an unsolicited takeover and
inhibit the ability of an acquirer to amend the bylaws to facilitate an unsolicited takeover attempt;

• prohibiting share owners from taking action by written consent; and
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• establishing advance notice and other requirements for nominations of candidates for election to our Board or for proposing matters that can be acted on by
share owner at the annual share owner meetings.

These provisions are not intended to prevent or discourage takeovers. However, these provisions apply even if a takeover offer may be considered beneficial by some
share owners and could delay or prevent an acquisition that our Board determines is not in our and our share owners’ best interests. These provisions could also have
the effect of depriving share owners of an opportunity to sell their shares at a premium over prevailing market prices by discouraging third parties from seeking to obtain
control of our business in a tender offer or similar transaction.

Our Board will be classified for the first two until our 2026 annual meetings meeting of share owners following the Spin-Off. owners. With our classified Board, at least two
annual meetings of our share owners will generally be required in order to effect a change in a majority of our directors. Our classified Board can discourage proxy
contests for the election of directors and purchases of substantial blocks of our shares by making it more difficult for a potential acquirer to gain control of our Board of
Directors in a relatively short period of time.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation designates Delaware as the exclusive forum for certain litigation that may be initiated by our share
owners, which could limit our share owners’ ability to obtain a preferred judicial forum for disputes with us and limit the market price of our common stock.
Pursuant to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the

State of Delaware shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be the sole and exclusive forum for (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf; (ii) any
action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty by, or other wrongdoing by, any of our current or former directors, officers or share owners to us or our share
owners, or a claim of aiding and abetting any such breach of fiduciary duty; (iii) any action asserting a claim against us or any of our directors, officers or share owners
arising pursuant to any provision of the Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL”) or our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or amended and
restated bylaws; (iv) any action to interpret, apply, enforce or determine the validity of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or amended and restated
bylaws; (v) any action asserting a claim against us or any of our directors, officers or share owners that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine; or (vi) any action
asserting an “internal corporate claim” as that term is defined in Section 115 of the DGCL. These exclusive forum provisions apply to all covered actions, including any
covered action in which the plaintiff chooses to assert a claim or claims under federal law in addition to a claim or claims under Delaware law. These exclusive forum
provisions, however, do not apply to actions asserting claims under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended as (the "Securities Act") or the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act") or any other claim for which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction, regardless of whether the Court of Chancery of the
State of Delaware has jurisdiction over those claims. The forum selection clause in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation may limit our share owners’
ability to obtain a preferred judicial forum for disputes with us and limit the market price of our common stock. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation also
provides that unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the federal district courts of the United States shall be the sole and exclusive forum for
the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act against us or any of our directors, officers, employees or agents.
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The choice of forum provision may result in increased costs for investors to bring a claim. Further, the choice of forum provision may limit a share owner’s ability to bring
a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers, other employees, or share owners, which may discourage such lawsuits
against us and our directors, officers, other employees, or share owners. However, there is uncertainty as to whether a court would enforce a choice of forum provision,
and the enforceability of similar forum provisions in other companies’ organizational documents has been challenged in legal proceedings. If a court were to find the
exclusive choice of forum provision contained in our certificate of incorporation to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated
with resolving such action in other jurisdictions, which could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition. Furthermore, investors cannot waive
compliance with the federal securities laws and regulations thereunder.

Shareowners’ percentage ownership may be diluted in the future. Our share owners’ percentage ownership may be diluted because of future equity issuances for
acquisitions or other strategic transactions, including equity-based compensation awards that we grant to our directors, officers, and employees under our long-term
incentive plan.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation authorizes us to issue, without the approval of our common share owners, one or more classes or series of
preferred stock having such designations, powers, preferences and relative, participating, optional and other rights, and such qualifications, limitations or restrictions as
the Board generally may determine. As a result, the terms of one or more classes or series of preferred stock could dilute the voting power or reduce the value of our
common stock. For example, we could grant holders of preferred stock the right to elect some number of our directors in all events or on the happening of specified
events or the right to veto specified transactions. Similarly, the repurchase or redemption rights or dividend, distribution or liquidation preferences we could assign to
holders of preferred stock could affect the residual value of the common stock.

Our common stock is and will be subordinate to all of our existing and future indebtedness and any preferred stock, and effectively subordinated to all
indebtedness and preferred equity claims against our subsidiaries. Shares of our common stock are common equity interests in us and, as such, rank junior to all
of our existing and future indebtedness and other liabilities. Additionally, holders of our common stock may become subject to the preferred dividend and liquidation
rights of future holders of one or more classes or series of preferred stock that the Board may designate and issue without any approval on the part of the holders of our
common stock. Furthermore, our right to participate in a distribution of assets upon any of our subsidiaries’ liquidation or reorganization is subject to the prior claims of
any of that subsidiary’s creditors and preferred share owners.
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We cannot assure share owners that the Board will continue to declare dividends in the future. The timing, declaration of, and amount paid for, any dividends to
holders of our common stock will be at the discretion of the Board and will depend upon many factors, including our financial condition, earnings, cash flows, capital
requirements of our business, restrictive and financial covenants set forth in the agreements governing our existing and future debt instruments, legal requirements,
regulatory constraints, industry practice and any other factors the Board deems relevant in its discretion. We may incur expenses or liabilities or be subject to other
circumstances in the future that reduce or eliminate the amount of cash that we have available for distribution as dividends, including as a result of the other risks
described herein. herein.We cannot guarantee that we will continue to pay dividends on our common stock in the future, or that the amount of any such dividends will not
be reduced relative to the dividends that we have historically paid.

General Risk Factors

We face risks related to our indebtedness, and our leverage may materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Prior to the Spin-Off, our business historically relied upon Kellanova for working capital requirements on a short-term basis and for other financial support functions. As a
result of the Spin-Off, we are no longer able to rely on Kellanova’s earnings or assets to generate cash flow, and we are responsible for generating sufficient cash flow to
service our debt obligations and maintaining sufficient levels of working capital. In connection with the Spin-Off, we entered into a Credit Agreement (the “Credit

Agreement”), consisting of a $500 million term loan (the “Term Loan”), a $250 million delayed draw term loan and a $350 million equivalent multicurrency revolving credit

facility (collectively, the “Credit Facility”). As of December 28, 2024, outstanding borrowings under the Credit Agreement were $536 million, comprised of the $488 million
term loan and $48 million revolving credit facility. See Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8, Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data, included elsewhere in this Annual Report. Such indebtedness could have important consequences, including (i) impairing the ability to access
global capital markets to obtain additional financing for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions or general corporate purposes, particularly if the ratings
assigned to our debt securities by rating organizations were revised downward or if a rating organization announces that our ratings are under review for a potential
downgrade, (ii) restricting our flexibility in responding to
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changing market conditions or making us more vulnerable in the event of a general downturn in economic conditions or our business, (iii) requiring a substantial portion
of the cash flow from operations to be dedicated to the payment of principal and interest on our debt, reducing the funds available to us for other purposes such as
expansion through acquisitions, paying dividends, repurchasing shares, marketing and

other spending and expansion of our product offerings and (iv) and causing us to be more leveraged than some of our competitors, which may place us at a competitive

disadvantage. disadvantage. In addition, our indebtedness has a non-investment grade rating, which may likely make it more difficult or more expensive for us to obtain

additional debt financing.

Our ability to make payments on and to refinance our existing indebtedness, as well as any future debt that we may incur, will depend on our ability to generate cash in
the future from operations, financings or asset sales. Our ability to generate cash is subject to general economic, financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory and other
factors that are beyond our control. In particular, in a historically heightened interest rate environment and challenging macroeconomic environment characterized by
volatile credit and debt capital markets, debt financing may be more expensive and may have higher transactional and servicing costs. The potential inability to obtain
adequate funding from debt sources in the future as a result of high interest rates could force us to self-fund strategic initiatives or forego certain opportunities, which in
turn could materially adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations. We may not generate sufficient funds to service our debt and meet our business
needs, such as funding working capital or the expansion of our operations. If we are not able to repay or refinance our debt as it becomes due, we may be forced to take
disadvantageous actions, including reducing spending on marketing, retail trade incentives, advertising and new product innovation, reducing financing in the future for
working capital, capital expenditures and general corporate purposes, selling assets or dedicating an unsustainable level of our cash flow from operations to the payment
of principal and interest on our indebtedness. In addition, our ability to withstand competitive pressures and to react to changes in the food industry could be impaired.
Future financing arrangements, including any potential credit facilities, may contain restrictions, covenants and events of default that, among other things, could limit our
ability to respond to market conditions, provide for capital investment needs or take advantage of business opportunities by restricting our ability to incur or guarantee
additional indebtedness or requiring us to offer to repurchase such indebtedness in the event of a change of control or a change of control triggering event; pay
dividends or make distributions; make investments or acquisitions; sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of certain assets; create liens; consolidate or merge; enter into
transactions with affiliates; and prepay and repurchase or redeem certain indebtedness. The lenders who hold our debt could also accelerate amounts due in the event
that we default, which could potentially trigger a default or acceleration of the maturity of our other debt.

In addition, our leverage could put us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that are less leveraged. These competitors could have greater financial
flexibility to pursue strategic acquisitions and secure additional financing for their operations. Our substantial leverage could also impede our ability to withstand
downturns in our industry or the economy in general as well as our ability to expand into complementary categories.

We may be unable to increase our debt or raise additional capital in the future on terms favorable to us or our share owners, which could affect our financial
health and may decrease our profitability. We may increase our debt or raise additional capital in the future, subject to restrictions in the Credit Agreement. Also, the
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provisions in the Tax Matters Agreement may limit our ability to issue equity securities. If our cash flow from operations is less than we anticipate, or if our cash
requirements are more than we expect, we may require more capital. However, debt or equity financing may not be available to us on terms we find acceptable, if at all.
If we incur additional debt or raise equity through the issuance of our preferred stock, the terms of the debt or any preferred stock we issue may give the holders rights,
preferences and privileges senior to those of holders of our common stock, particularly in the event of liquidation. If we raise funds through the issuance of additional
equity, your ownership in us would be diluted. If we are unable to raise additional capital when needed, our financial condition, and thus your investment in us, could be
materially and adversely affected.

Being a standalone public company requires significant resources and management attention. As a standalone public company, we are subject to thereporting

and other obligations under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and the rules of the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”). As a
public company with listed securities, we are required to, among other things:

• prepare and distribute periodic reports, proxy statements and other share owner communications in compliance with the U.S. federal securities laws and NYSE

rules;
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• have our own board of directors and committees thereof, which comply with the applicable U.S. federal securities laws and NYSE rules;

• maintain an internal audit function;

• institute our own financial reporting and disclosure compliance functions, including the full implementation of a new enterprise risk management system;

• establish an investor relations function;

• establish internal policies, including those relating to trading in our securities and disclosure controls and procedures; and

• comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the Dodd-Frank Act, and the rules and regulations implemented by the SEC thereunder.

These reporting and other obligations have placed, and will continue to place, significant demands on our management and our administrative and operational
resources, including accounting resources, and we expect to face increased legal, accounting, administrative and other costs and expenses relating to these obligations
that our business did not incur when it was a part of Kellanova. Our investment in compliance with existing and evolving regulatory requirements has resulted, and is
expected to continue to result, in increased administrative expenses and a diversion of management’s time and attention from revenue-generating activities to
compliance activities, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

If we fail to maintain effective internal controls, we may not be able to report our financial results accurately or timely or to prevent or detect fraud, which
could have a material adverse effect on our business or the market price of our securities. In accordance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, our
management is required to conduct an annual assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting and include a report on these internal
controls in our future annual reports on Form 10-K. Our 10-K and our independent registered public accounting firm will not be is required to formally attest to the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting until our second annual report required to be filed with the SEC (i.e., our annual report on Form 10-K for our
2024 fiscal year). This process requires significant documentation of policies, procedures and systems, review of that documentation by our internal auditing and
accounting staff and our outside independent registered public accounting firm, and testing of our internal controls over financial reporting by our internal auditing and
accounting staff and our outside independent registered public accounting firm. reporting. This process involves considerable time and attention and may strain our
internal resources, and will increase our operating costs. resources. We may experience also incurred higher than anticipated operating expenses and outside auditor
fees during the implementation of these changes during our 2024 fiscal year and thereafter. may experience higher than anticipated operating expenses in the future. If
management or our independent registered public accounting firm determines that our internal control over financial reporting is not effective, investors may lose
confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports, the market price of our common stock could be negatively affected, and we could become subject
to investigations by the NYSE, New York

Stock Exchange ("NYSE"), the SEC or other regulatory authorities, which could require additional financial and management resources. In addition, if our controls are
not effective, our ability to accurately and timely report our financial position could be impaired, which could result in late filings of our annual and quarterly reports under
the Exchange Act, restatements of our financial statements, a decline in our stock price, failure to comply with the NYSE’s continued listing requirements, which could
result in the suspension or delisting of our common stock from the NYSE, and could in turn have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.
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We are subject to risks generally associated with companies that operate in certain international markets. We manufacture our products in United States,
Canada and Mexico and have operations in the United States, Canada, Mexico and the Caribbean. Accordingly, we are subject to risks inherent in multinational
operations. Those risks include (i) compliance with U.S. laws affecting operations outside of the United States,(ii) compliance with anti-corruption laws, (iii) compliance
with antitrust and competition laws, data privacy laws, and a variety of other local, national and multi-national regulations and laws in multiple regimes, (iv) changes in tax
laws, interpretation of tax laws and tax audit outcomes, (v) fluctuations or devaluations in currency values, especially in emerging markets, (vi) changes in capital
controls, including currency exchange controls, or other limits on our ability to import raw
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materials or finished product, (vii) changes in local regulations and laws, the lack of well-established, reliable and/or impartial legal systems in certain countries in which
we operate and the uncertainty of enforcement of remedies in such jurisdictions, (viii) laws relating to information security, privacy, cashless payments, and consumer
protection, (ix) discriminatory or conflicting fiscal policies, (x) challenges associated with cross-border product distribution, (xi) increased sovereign risk, (xii) varying
abilities to enforce intellectual property, contractual, and other legal rights, (xiii) loss of ability to manage our operations in certain markets which could result in the
deconsolidation of such businesses, (xiv) design and implementation of effective control environment processes across our diverse operations and employee base, (xv)
imposition of more or new tariffs, quotas, trade barriers, price controls, and similar restrictions in the countries in which we or our suppliers or manufacturers operate or
regulations, taxes or policies that might negatively affect our sales, and (xvi) changes in trade policies and trade relations.

In addition, political and economic changes or volatility, geopolitical regional conflicts, terrorist activity, political unrest and government shutdowns, civil strife, acts of war,
public corruption, expropriation and other economic or political or social uncertainties could interrupt and negatively affect our business operations or customer demand.
The slowdown in economic growth or high unemployment in some emerging markets could constrain consumer spending, and declining consumer purchasing power
could adversely impact our profitability. Continued instability in the dynamics associated with the federal and state debt and budget challenges in the United States could
adversely affect us. All of these factors could result in increased costs or decreased revenues, and could materially and adversely affect our product sales, financial
condition and results of operations.

There may be uncertainty as a result of key global events during 2023 2024 that are expected to continue throughout 2024. 2025 or thereafter. For example,
rising heightened interest rates and persistent levels of inflation, recessionary pressures, geopolitical uncertainty, including wars (such as the conflicts in Ukraine and the
Middle East), fiscal and monetary policy uncertainty, international trade disputes, as well as ongoing terrorist activity, may adversely impact global stock markets
(including the NYSE, on which our common shares are traded) and general global economic conditions. All of these factors are outside of our control but may
nonetheless cause us to adjust our operating strategy in certain international markets in order to manage our cost of goods sold and to compete effectively in certain
international markets. effectively.

Our performance is affected by general economic, political and social conditions and taxation policies. Customer and consumer demand for our products may
be impacted by the negative  macroeconomic conditions, impacts caused by pandemics and public health crises, recession, financial and credit market disruptions,
government shutdowns or recession or other economic downturns in the United States or other nations. the global economy. Our results in the past have been, and in
the future may continue to be, materially affected by changes in general economic, political and social conditions in the United States and other countries, including the
interest rate environment in which we conduct business, the financial markets through which we access capital and currency, trade policy, political and social unrest and
terrorist acts in the United States or other countries in which we carry on business.

Deteriorating economic Negative macroeconomic conditions, such as inflation, economic slowdowns or recessions, increased unemployment, decreases in disposable
income or declines in consumer confidence could result in reductions in sales of our products, reduced acceptance of innovations, and increased price competition. Such
deterioration in any of the countries in which we do business could also cause slower collections on accounts receivable which may adversely impact our liquidity and
financial condition.

Financial institutions may be negatively impacted by economic conditions, including rising heightened or persistent levels of inflation and higher interest rates, and may
consolidate or cease to do business which could result in a tightening in the credit markets, a low level lower levels of liquidity in many financial markets, and increased
volatility in fixed income, credit, currency and equity markets. Adverse In the past, adverse macroeconomic conditions and fiscal and monetary policy decisions made in
an attempt to mitigate such adverse conditions, have increased volatility and pricing in the capital markets and as a result, we may not have access to preferred sources
of liquidity when needed or on terms we find acceptable, causing our borrowing costs to increase. An economic recession or credit crisis could impair credit availability
and our ability to raise capital if or when needed. A disruption in the financial markets may have a negative effect on our derivative counterparties and could impair our
banking or other business partners, on whom we rely for access to capital and as counterparties to our derivative contracts. Any of these events would likely harm our
business, results of operations and financial condition.

Potential liabilities and costs from litigation could adversely affect our business. There is no guarantee that we will be successful in defending WK Kellogg Co in
civil, criminal or regulatory actions (inclusive of class action lawsuits and foreign litigation), including under general, commercial, employment, environmental, data
privacy or security, intellectual property, food quality and safety, anti-trust and trade, and advertising claims, and environmental laws and regulations, or in asserting our
rights under various laws. For example, our marketing or claims could face allegations of false or deceptive advertising or other criticisms which could end up in litigation
and result in potential
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liabilities or costs. We could incur substantial costs and fees in defending ourselves, in asserting our rights in these actions or in meeting new regulatory or legal
requirements. The costs and other effects of potential and pending litigation and administrative actions against us, and new legal requirements, cannot be determined
with certainty and may differ from expectations. In addition, we may be impacted by litigation trends, including class action lawsuits involving consumers, employees, and
share owners, which could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, the market price of our common stock, results of operations and financial condition.

There can be no assurance that our insurance is will be adequate to offset costs associated with certain events. We have insurance policies in place that cover

certain, but not all, hazards that could arise from our operations. We can provide no assurance that such coverage will be adequate to protect us from costs incurred with
certain events. The occurrence of an event that is not insured or not fully insured could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition
and cash flows in the future.

Our operations face foreign currency exchange rate exposure, which could negatively impact our operating results. We hold assets and incur liabilities, earn
revenue and pay expenses in a variety of currencies other than the U.S. dollar, including the Canadian dollar and the Mexican peso. Because our financial statements
are presented in U.S. dollars, we must translate our assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses into U.S. dollars at then-applicable exchange rates and face exposure to
adverse movements in foreign currency exchange rates. Consequently, changes in the value of the U.S. dollar may unpredictably and negatively affect the value of
these items in our financial statements, even if their value has not changed in their original currency.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 1C. CYBERSECURITY

Risk Management and Strategy. The Company manages cybersecurity risk as part of our overall enterprise risk management strategy, overseen by the Audit
Committee and the Board of Directors. The Company has developed an information security program to address material risks from cybersecurity threats. The program
includes processes identifying how security measures and controls are developed, implemented, and maintained.

Our cybersecurity processes align with the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST CSF) Framework. The company Company conducts regular risk
assessments on systems and applications to help detect potential risks, threats, and vulnerabilities. Additionally, annual assessments are conducted to evaluate the
effectiveness of controls. Risk assessment, risk-based analysis, and judgment are used to select security controls to address risks. During this process, the following
factors, among others, are considered: likelihood and severity of risk, impact on the Company and others if a risk materializes, feasibility and cost of controls, and impact
of controls on operations and others. Several controls are employed to differing extents, encompassing but not restricted to endpoint threat detection and response
(EDR), identity and access management (IAM), privileged access management (PAM), logging and monitoring utilizing security information and event management
(SIEM), multi-factor authentication (MFA), firewalls, intrusion detection, and prevention, as well as vulnerability and patch management.

Third-party security firms are used in different capacities to provide or operate some of these controls and technology systems. For example, third parties conduct
assessments, such as vulnerability scans, penetration testing, and overall risk assessments, and third-party tools are utilized to identify potential vulnerabilities. The
Company employs a variety of processes to address cybersecurity threats related to third-party technology and services, including privacy, solution and vendor risk
assessments, imposition of contractual obligations, and performance monitoring. The Company also currently relies on services provided by Kellanova, a third-party
entity, through a under the Transition Service Agreement (TSA). This agreement ensures the seamless continuation of essential operations during transitional
phases. Agreement.

To support our preparedness, the Company has a written incident response preparedness plan that we update as business needs and the security landscape change. In
the event of a cybersecurity incident, our incident response team refers to the plan, and the Company conducts tabletop exercises to enhance incident response
preparedness. The plan sets out clear response procedures on how to define roles, categorize incidents, determine materiality, record responses, comply with regulatory
standards, assist in public disclosure, and lessen defines the process for assessing impact on stakeholders. for materiality purposes. It is designed to enable a prompt,
uniform, and efficient strategy to reduce the financial, operational, legal, and reputational risks associated with cybersecurity incidents. Business continuity and disaster
recovery plans are used
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to prepare for the potential disruption of technology we rely on. The Company has implemented a user awareness program to enhance cybersecurity measures. These
include phishing, malware, data handling, device security, cybersecurity education, password security, internet browsing and defenses to physical threats. As part of our
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overall risk mitigation strategy, the Company also maintains cyber insurance coverage; however, such insurance may not be sufficient in type or amount to cover us
against claims related to security breaches, cyberattacks and other related breaches.

The Company (or third parties it relies on) may not be able to fully, continuously, and effectively implement security controls as intended. As described above, we utilize a
risk-based approach and judgment to determine the security controls to implement, and it is possible we may not implement appropriate controls if we do not recognize
or underestimate a particular risk. In addition, security controls, no matter how well designed or implemented, may only mitigate and not fully eliminate risks and events,
when detected by security tools or third parties, may not always be immediately understood or acted upon. For further discussion of these risks, see “Risk Factors—
Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property and Technology—Technology failures, cyber-attacks, privacy breaches or data breaches could disrupt our operations or
reputation and negatively impact our business.”

Governance The Company has a Governance, Risk, and Compliance (GRC) IT function to address enterprise risks; cybersecurity is a category handled by that
function. Cybersecurity is a vital pillar within a comprehensive risk management framework, fostering cross-functional collaboration to fortify organizational resilience
against digital threats. The Company has a privacy and security governance committee. The company operates a privacy and security governance committee and a
cybersecurity team led by a Chief Information Security Officer. With extensive cybersecurity experience across IT services, Telecom, and Manufacturing sectors, the
Chief Information Security Officer spearheads cybersecurity risk and strategy and directly reports to the Chief Information Officer. Additionally, as part of our overall
enterprise risk management strategy, our Audit Committee, which consists solely of independent directors, oversees cybersecurity and receives updates from the Chief
Information Security Officer on a periodic basis on cybersecurity matters, which include a review of potential digital threats and vulnerabilities, cybersecurity priorities,
and our cybersecurity framework.

As of December 30, 2023 February 25, 2025, we are not aware of any material cybersecurity incidents that impacted the Company or are reasonably likely to impact the
Company materially. However, we There have been instances of unauthorized access to company assets, including both those managed directly by the target of cyber
attacks Company and expect them those managed by vendors or stored in vendor systems containing company information. These systems have also been, and will
likely continue to continue be, vulnerable to threats such as cybersecurity threats rapidly evolve in sophistication and become more prevalent in the industry. We face
risks of incidents, whether through cyberattacks or cyber intrusions through the Cloud, the Internet, phishing attempts, ransomware and other forms of malware,
computer viruses, email attachments, extortion, malware, malicious code, social engineering attacks, unauthorized access attempts, password theft, physical breaches,
employee errors, misconduct, and other scams. cyber or phishing attacks. For a more detailed discussion of our cybersecurity risks, see "Risks Related to Our
Intellectual Property and Technology - Technology failures, cyber-attacks, privacy breaches or data breaches could disrupt our operations or reputation and negatively
impact our business.”

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our corporate headquarters and principal research and development facilities are located in Battle Creek, Michigan.

We As of February 25, 2025, we operated as of March 8, 2024, offices, manufacturing plants and distribution and warehousing facilities in the United States, Mexico and
Canada. Our plants have been designed and constructed to meet our specific production requirements, and we periodically invest money for capital and technological
improvements. At the time of its selection, each location was considered to be favorable, based on the location of markets, sources of raw materials, availability of
suitable labor, transportation facilities, location of our other plants producing similar products, and other factors. Our manufacturing facilities are located in Battle Creek,
Michigan; Belleville, Ontario; Lancaster, Pennsylvania; Memphis, Tennessee; Mexicali, Mexico; and Omaha, Nebraska. We believe our facilities are generally in good
operating condition and adequate to support the current operations of the business.

In connection with the Spin-Off, we entered into a Separation and Distribution Agreement with Kellanova that governs the allocation, transfer and leasing of real estate
between us and Kellanova. Kellanova's former corporate headquarters located in Battle Creek, Michigan and manufacturing plants related to our businesses were
transferred to WK Kellogg Co. Leased distribution centers are occupied by both WK Kellogg Co and Kellanova employees following the Spin-Off pursuant to the
Transition Services Agreement, and after the termination of the Transition Services Agreement, will be fully or partially subleased from Kellanova to WK Kellogg Co.

We generally own our principal properties, including our corporate headquarters. Distribution facilities (including related warehousing facilities) and offices of non-plant
locations typically are leased. In general, we consider our facilities, taken as a whole, to be suitable, adequate, and of sufficient capacity for our current operations.
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time we are subject to various legal proceedings, claims, and governmental inspections, audits or investigations arising out of our business which cover
matters such as general commercial, governmental regulations, antitrust and trade regulations, product liability, environmental, intellectual property, employment and
other actions. We currently are not involved in any legal proceedings that we believe will result, individually or in the aggregate, in a material adverse effect upon our
financial condition or results of operations.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

The principal market for trading shares of our common stock (ticker symbol: KLG) is the NYSE. At February 28, 2024 February 14, 2025 there were approximately
18,516 16,728 share owners of record.

In November record of 2023, the Board of Directors declared a dividend of $0.16 per our common share, payable on December 15, 2023 to shareholders of record at the
close of business on December 1, 2023. stock.

During the fiscal year ended December 28, 2024, cash dividends of approximately $55 million were paid to our share owners. The timing, declaration, amount and
payment of any future dividends to shareholders will fall within the discretion of our Board. Our Board’s decisions regarding the payment of future dividends will depend
on many factors, including our financial condition, earnings, capital requirements and debt service obligations, as well as legal requirements, regulatory constraints,
industry practice and other factors that our Board deems relevant. In addition, the terms of the agreements governing our existing debt or debt that we may incur in the
future may limit or prohibit the payment of dividends.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer
During the thirteen week period ended December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024, we did not repurchase any shares of our common stock.

Stock Performance Graph
The following graph compares the cumulative total return of WK Kellogg Co's common stock with the cumulative total return of the Russell 2000 Index and the Russell
2000 Index Food Products Subsector. The graph below tracks the performance of a $100 investment in our common stock and in each index from October 2, 2023, the
date our stock commenced regular-way trading on the NYSE, to December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024. The performance shows in this graph is neither necessarily
indicative of, or intended to suggest, future common stock performance.

1655
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ITEM 6. [RESERVED]

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations ("MD&A") is intended to help the reader understand WK Kellogg
Co, our operations and our present business environment. MD&A is provided as a supplement to, and should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial
Statements and the accompanying notes thereto contained in Part II, Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, of this Annual Report on this Form 10-K
("Annual Report"). Report. Our MD&A references consumption and net sales in discussing our sales trends for certain categories and brands. We record net sales upon
delivery of shipments to our customers. Consumption refers to consumer purchases of our products from our customers.

Business Overview
WK Kellogg Co is an iconic North American cereal company with a differentiated portfolio of brands that have delighted our consumers for over a century. As a leading
manufacturer, marketer and distributor of branded ready-to-eat cereal, we endeavor to provide consumers with high-quality products while promoting consumer health
and well-being. Our products are manufactured by us in the United States, Mexico, and Canada and marketed in the United States, Canada, and the Caribbean.

We believe our business' long-standing success is attributable to the strength of our brands,, our category expertise, and over a century of institutional knowledge,, all of
which has created a diverse portfolio of cereals that are intended to enhance the lives of our consumers. Our product offerings are well diversified across the cereal sub-
categories of taste, wellness and balance, with strong consumer appeal across the spectrum of ages and demographics. Iconic brands used in our business include
Frosted Flakes, Special K, Froot Loops, Raisin Bran, Frosted Mini- Wheats Mini-Wheats, Rice Krispies, Kashi, Corn Flakes and Apple Jacks, among many others.

Our products are manufactured through our production platform consisting of six primary facilities and are sold through a variety of channels such as grocery stores,
mass merchandisers, club stores, and drugstores.

Separation from Kellanova
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On October 2, 2023 (the “Distribution Date”), Kellanova (formerly known as Kellogg Company) completed the Spin-Off (the "Spin-Off") of its North American cereal
business through the distribution of all of the shares of WK Kellogg Co’s common stock to Kellanova’s share owners at a ratio of one share of WK Kellogg Co’s common
stock for every four shares of Kellanova’s common stock (the “Distribution”). Prior to the Spin-Off, WK Kellogg Co underwent an internal reorganization that resulted in it
becoming the holder, directly or through its subsidiaries, of the North American cereal business held by Kellanova. Prior to the Distribution Date, WK Kellogg Co was a
wholly owned subsidiary of Kellanova.

In connection with the Spin-Off, WK Kellogg Co entered into several agreements with Kellanova that govern the relationship of the parties following the Spin-Off and
allocate between WK Kellogg Co and Kellanova various assets, liabilities, and obligations, including, among other things, employee benefits, intellectual property, and
tax related assets and liabilities. The agreements included a Separation and Distribution Agreement, Employee Matters Agreement, Supply Agreement, Master
Ownership and License Agreements regarding Patents, Trademarks and Certain Related Intellectual Property, Tax Matters Agreement and Transition Services
Agreement.

Basis of Presentation
The accompanying financial statements are presented on a consolidated basis as the Company is a standalone public company. PriorFor periods prior
to the Spin-Off, the Company operated as part of Kellanova. Certain information prior to the Spin-Off was accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements were derived
from the consolidated financial statements and accounting records of Kellanova. These financial statements reflect the historical results of operations, financial position
and cash flows of the Company prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”).

For all periods prior subsequent to the Spin-Off, the Consolidated Financial Statements are presented based on actual results as if a standalone company. Further
information surrounding the Company had been carved out of Kellanova, Spin-Off and included the attribution of certain assets and liabilities that had been held at
Kellanova but which are specifically identifiable or attributable to our business. They include expense allocations for: (1) co-
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manufacturing, product warehousing and distribution; (2) a combined sales force and management; (3) certain support functions that were provided on a centralized
basis within Kellanova, including, but not limited to executive oversight, treasury, finance, internal audit, legal, information technology, human resources,
communications, facilities, and compliance; and (4) employee benefits and compensation, including stock-based compensation. These expenses were allocated to the
Company on the basis of direct usage where identifiable, with the remainder allocated on a basis of gross sales value, production pounds, headcount or other applicable
measures. Management believes the assumptions underlying these Consolidated Financial Statements, including the assumptions regarding allocated expenses,
reasonably reflect the utilization of services provided to or the benefit received by the Company during the periods presented. Nevertheless, the presentation utilized for
periods prior to the Spin-Off that are is included within Note 1 of the Consolidated Financial Statements may not reflect the results of operations, financial position and
cash flows had the Company been a standalone company during the periods presented. Actual costs that the Company may have incurred had it been a standalone
company would depend on a number of factors, including its organizational structure, whether functions were outsourced or performed by our employees and strategic
decisions made in areas such as manufacturing, selling and marketing, research and development, information technology and infrastructure.

The allocation of expenses from Kellanova to the Company was reflected as follows in the Consolidated Financial Statements for the first nine months ended September
30, 2023 and the years ended December 31, 2022 and January 1, 2022:

(millions) 2023 2022 2021

Cost of goods sold $ 128  $ 172  $ 169 

Selling, general and administrative 233  308  256 

Other (income) expense, net (43) 106  (176)

Total $ 318  $ 586  $ 249 

Statements.

The Consolidated Financial Statements also include $102 million, $26 million Our MD&A references consumption and $0 million net sales in discussing our sales trends
for certain brands. We record net sales upon delivery of separation costs related shipments to the Spin-Off our customers. Consumption refers to consumer purchases of
our products from Kellanova for the years-ended December 30, 2023, December 31, 2022 and January 1, 2022 respectively, that were allocated on a pro rata basis to
the Company in the manner described above. These were primarily related to legal and consulting costs. The Company was allocated a pro rata portion of those costs,
that they received a benefit from, based on either specific identification, where possible, or a proportional cost method based on gross sales value.

Prior to the Spin-Off, Kellanova used a centralized approach to cash management and financing of operations. The majority of the Company's businesses were part of
Kellanova’s cash pooling arrangements to maximize Kellanova’s availability of cash for general operating and investing purposes. Under these cash pooling
arrangements, cash balances were swept regularly from the Company's accounts. Cash transfers to and from Kellanova’s cash concentration accounts and the resulting
balances at the end of each reporting period prior to the Spin-Off are reflected in net parent company investment in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Debt obligations and related financing costs of Kellanova have not been allocated to the Company in the Consolidated Financial Statements because the Company was
not a party to the obligations between Kellanova and the debt holders. The debt obligations and related financing costs of the Company have been described in Note 7
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"Debt". our customers.

For periods prior to the Spin-Off, our employees participated in Kellanova's benefit and stock-based compensation plans. A portion of the cost of those plans related to
our employees is included in these Consolidated Financial Statements. However, the Consolidated Balance Sheet does not include any equity issued related to stock-
based compensation plans or any net benefit plan obligations unless the benefit plan covers only our dedicated employees or where the entire legal obligation
associated with the benefit plan transferred to the Company following the Spin-Off. During the third quarter of 2023, in connection with the Spin-Off, certain pension and
nonpension postretirement plans that were previously sponsored by Kellanova were divided such that the plans became dedicated to our employees and sponsored by
the Company. See Note 9 "Pension and Postretirement Benefits" for further details on the assumption of pension and postretirement assets and liabilities and related
costs.
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Prior to the Spin-Off, the Company's operations historically were included in the consolidated U.S. federal, certain state and local tax returns filed by Kellanova. The
Company also filed certain separate U.S. state and local and foreign income tax returns. The Company calculated its provision for income taxes using a separate return
method as if the Company was a separate group of companies under common ownership. Under this method, the Company is assumed to file hypothetical separate
returns with the tax authorities, thereby reporting its taxable income or loss and paying the applicable tax to or receiving the appropriate refund from Kellanova. Current
income tax liabilities were assumed to be immediately settled with Kellanova against net parent investment. The Company reports deferred taxes on its temporary
differences and on any carryforwards that it could claim on its hypothetical returns. Cash tax payments, current and deferred tax balances and unremitted foreign
earnings may not be reflective of the Company’s actual tax balances prior to or subsequent to the distribution.

Key Factors Affecting Our Business
We believe key industry and economic factors that are currently impacting our business, and which in the near term are expected to continue to impact, include the
following:

Trade relations. The global trade environment is uncertain and rapidly evolving. On February 1, 2025, the current U.S. presidential administration issued executive
orders directing the U.S. to impose new or increased tariffs on imports from Canada, Mexico and China and empowering the U.S. President to raise the tariffs further
should any country choose to retaliate. On February 3, 2025, the prospective tariffs on Canada and Mexico were deferred for 30 days; however, the implementation of
these tariffs following the current short-term reprieve remains a possibility, and there is no guarantee that they will not be implemented before such date. Given our
manufacturing presence in Canada and Mexico, we are closely monitoring these actions. The degree to which any new tariffs would affect our business and results of
operations will depend on their timing, duration and magnitude, Any retaliatory tariffs or restrictive actions imposed by other governments in response to these tariffs
could exacerbate this impact.

Supply chain challenges. Macroeconomic conditions. We have experienced supply chain disruptions In recent years, geopolitical instability, including economy-wide
bottlenecks wars and shortages of materials, labor, and freight that have led to increasing prices of raw materials and labor conflicts, as well as limitations on shipping
capacity. We have worked to offset these challenges through productivity and revenue growth management initiatives. Additionally, we were adversely impacted by a fire
at one of our facilities in late July, 2021, followed by an unrelated strike of approximately 1,400 employees at our four U.S. plants which began in early October 2021 and
ended in late December of the same year. Both of these impacts from other global events, resulted in operational and financial certain negative impacts that extended
into to the first quarter of 2022.

Inflationary pressures. Negative macroeconomic conditions that were initially caused by the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic, but have continued to exist following the
pandemics recovery, have resulted in credit and capital global economy, including market disruptions, monetary and volatility, fiscal policy uncertainty, supply chain
challenges, relatively low levels of unemployment, high interest rates and inflationary pressures and increased interest rates. Like the rest of the consumer packaged
goods industry and economy, the Company experienced a sharp increase in input costs beginning in 2021, ranging from ingredients and packaging pressures.
Throughout that period, we were able to energy, freight, and labor. The increase in input costs has persisted throughout 2022 and 2023. The Company mostly offset the
dollar impact of this input-cost inflation through the execution of productivity initiatives and the implementation of revenue growth management actions to realize price. In
addition Additionally, from time to input-cost inflation, time, we utilize a combination of fixed price contracts with suppliers and commodity derivative instruments to
manage the industry and economy also experienced widespread bottlenecks and shortages impact of labor and materials, creating substantial inefficiencies and
incremental costs. For the Company, these inefficiencies and costs had a significant impact on profit margins volatility in the first half price of 2021. In raw materials.
During the second half fiscal year ended December 28, 2024, we experienced increased supply chain stability and some level of 2021, the bottlenecks and shortages
were supplanted by a significant Company-specific interruption in production, first because of a fire that temporarily shut down one of our U.S. plants, and then by a
three-month labor strike in all four of our U.S. plants. The fire and strike combined commodity cost moderation, although other input costs continued to negatively impact
results through depleted inventory, lost net sales, lost fixed-cost absorption, and incremental costs during the second half of 2021 and into the first quarter of 2022,
though such negative impacts were partially offset by curbed commercial investment and reduced overhead. be inflated.
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The war in Ukraine and the related sanctions, along with the conflict in the Middle East, have increased global economic and geopolitical uncertainty. WK Kellogg Co The
Company is a North American-focused company with no direct exposure to Russia, Ukraine or the Middle East. However, sanctions imposed by the United States on
Russian oil and gas imports, as well as disruption to Ukraine’s wheat and other agricultural supply due to the ongoing military conflict, is causing could cause further
inflation of our commodity costs. More recently, actual and potential shifts in U.S. and foreign trade, economic and other policies, including the imposition (or threatened
imposition) of tariffs, as discussed above, may lead to additional macroeconomic uncertainty.

Highly competitive environment. Our business is concentrated primarily in a single product category that faces intense competition. The principal aspects of our
business where we experience competition include brand recognition, taste, nutritional value, price, promotion, innovation, shelf space and customer service. We have
competition from both branded and private label product offerings. Our ability to successfully compete in the marketplace is dependent on our strategic execution on the
items above.

Challenging retail environment. Our business is largely concentrated in the traditional retail grocery trade with a significant percentage of our sales coming from a
small group of large U.S. retail customers. The U.S. retail environment continues to face further consolidation. We must leverage our marketing expertise, product
innovation and category leadership position to respond to our customers and provide high service levels.
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These factors contribute to a market environment of intense competition, constant product innovation and continuing cost pressure that creates a challenging
commercial and economic environment. We continually evaluate these factors as we develop and execute our strategies.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

The non-GAAP financial measures in this Annual Report are supplemental measures of our performance. These measures that we provide to management and
investors exclude certain items that we do not consider part of on-going operations. Our management team utilizes a combination of GAAP and non-GAAP financial
measures to evaluate business results, to make decisions regarding the future direction of our business, and for resource allocation decisions, including incentive
compensation. As a result, we believe the presentation of both GAAP and non-GAAP financial measures provides investors with increased transparency into financial
measures used by our management team and improves investors’ understanding of our underlying operating performance and analysis of ongoing operating trends. All
historical non-GAAP financial measures have been reconciled from the most directly comparable U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) financial
measures.

Because As non-GAAP financial measures are not standardized, they may not be comparable to financial measures used by other companies or to non-GAAP financial
measures having the same or similar names. In order to compensate for such limitations of non-GAAP measures, readers should review the reconciliations and should
not consider these measures in isolation from, or as alternatives to, the comparable financial measures determined in accordance with GAAP. 

• Adjusted EBITDA: net income: We adjust the GAAP net income (loss) for: mark-to-market impacts from commodity, foreign currency and pension contracts
(service cost, interest cost, expected return on plan assets, and other net periodic pension costs are not excluded), separation costs related to the Spin-Off,
business portfolio realignment and restructuring costs and the tax impacts of these noted items. Management believes that this non-GAAP financial metric
provide investors an additional basis to assess results over time.

• Adjusted diluted earnings per share ("EPS"): We adjust the GAAP EPS for the per share affect of: mark-to-market impacts from commodity, foreign currency and
pension contracts (service cost, interest cost, expected return on plan assets, and other net periodic pension costs are not excluded), pre-tax separation costs
related to the Spin-off, business portfolio realignment and restructuring costs and the tax impacts of these noted items. Management believes that these metrics
provide investors an additional basis to assess results over time.

• Adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization ("EBITDA"): We adjust the GAAP net income (loss) for: interest expense, income tax
expense (benefit), depreciation and amortization expense, mark-to-market impacts from commodity and foreign currency contracts, other
income/expenses, income (expense), net, separation costs related to the Spin-Off and business, and portfolio realignment  and restructuring costs. Management
believes that these metrics provide investors an additional basis to assess results over time. this provides a measure of operating profitability that assists in
understanding baseline and historical information.

• Adjusted gross profit and adjusted gross margin: We adjust GAAP gross profit and gross margin to exclude the effect of business, and portfolio realignment  and
restructuring costs, separation costs related to the Spin-Off and mark-to-market impacts from commodity and foreign currency contracts. We excluded items
which we believe may obscure trends in our underlying profitability. By providing these non-GAAP profitability measures, management believes that investors
are provided with a more meaningful, consistent comparison of the Company's profitability measures for the periods presented. Management uses these non-
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GAAP financial measures to evaluate the effectiveness of initiatives intended to improve profitability, as well as to evaluate the impacts of inflationary pressures
and decisions to invest in new initiatives.

Significant items impacting comparability

Mark-to-market on foreign exchange, and commodity hedges  and pension
We recognize The Company recognizes mark-to-market adjustments for pension and postretirement benefit plans, commodity contracts, and certain foreign currency
contracts as incurred. Actuarial gains/losses for pension plans are recognized in the year they occur. Changes between contract and market prices for commodity
contracts and certain foreign currency contracts result in gains/losses that are recognized in the quarter they occur in cost of goods sold. We occur. The Company
recorded a pre-tax mark-to-market gain on commodity and foreign currency contracts of $1 million in 2024, loss of $3 million in 2023 and loss of $9 million in 2022
and 2022. The Company recorded a mark-to-market loss related to pension plans of $11 million in 2021. 2024, a gain of $33 million in 2023 and a loss of $182 million in
2022.

Separation costs
The Company incurred pre-tax charges related to the Spin-Off, primarily related to transition and Spin- Off related employee costs under the Transition Services
Agreement of $29 million in 2024. The Company recorded separation costs, primarily related to legal and consulting costs, of $102 million in 2023 and $26 million in
2022. Prior to the Spin-Off, the Company received an allocation of separation costs from Kellanova of $89 million and $26 million during 2023 and 2022, respectively,
which are included in the aforementioned amounts.

Business and portfolio realignment  and restructuring costs
The Company incurred one-time restructuring and non-restructuring costs related primarily to a reconfiguration of our supply chain network, designed to drive increased
productivity, resulting in pre-tax charges related to reorganizations of $63 million in 2024, which includes $3 million of curtailment expense included in other income
(expense), net ("OIE"). The Company incurred pre-tax costs in connection with its business and portfolio realignment of $4 million in 2023 $6 million in 2022 and $6
million in 2021. 2022.

Other income (expense), net
The Company excludes the impact of all non-operating items from their Adjusted EBITDA calculation, which primarily consists of income or expense related to pension
and postretirement benefits and financing fees. As a result, other income of $5 million, income of $63 million,  and expense of $101 million and income of $177 million
was excluded for 2024, 2023 2022 and 2021, 2022, respectively.
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Net income and diluted earnings per share
The following tables provide a reconciliation an analysis of net income (loss) to Adjusted EBITDA and EPS performance for the years-ended December 30,
2023 December 28, 2024, December 31, 2022 December 30, 2023 and January 1, 2022 December 31, 2022:

(millions) 2023 2022 2021

Reported net income (loss) $ 110  $ (25) $ 162 

Interest expense 10  —  — 

Income tax expense (benefit) 35  (1) 52 

Depreciation and amortization expense 66  68  68 

EBITDA $ 221  $ 42  $ 282 

Loss on mark-to-market on foreign exchange and commodity hedges 3  9  11 

Other (income) expense (63) 101  (177)

Separation costs 102  26  — 

Business and portfolio realignment costs 4  6  6 

Adjusted EBITDA $ 267  $ 184  $ 122 

(millions) 2024 2023 2022

Reported net income (loss) $ 72  $ 110  $ (25)

(Gain) loss on mark-to-market 10  (29) 191 

Separation costs 29  102  26 

Business portfolio realignment and restructuring costs (a) 63  4  6 

Income tax impact applicable to adjustments, net* $ (25) (16) $ (58)

Adjusted net income $ 149  $ 171  $ 141 
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(millions) 2024 2023 2022

Reported net income (loss) $ 72  $ 110  $ (25)

Interest expense 30  10  — 

Income tax expense (benefit) 13  35  (1)

Depreciation and amortization expense 78  66  68 

EBITDA $ 193  $ 221  $ 42 

(Gain) Loss on mark-to-market on foreign exchange and commodity hedges (1) 3  9 

Other (income) expense (b) (5) (63) 101 

Separation costs 29  102  26 

Business portfolio realignment and restructuring costs (a) 60  4  6 

Adjusted EBITDA $ 275  $ 267  $ 184 

  2024 2023 2022 (c)

Reported diluted EPS $ 0.82  $ 1.28  $ (0.29)

(Gain) loss on mark-to-market 0.11  (0.34) 2.23 

Separation costs 0.33  1.19  0.30 

Business portfolio realignment and restructuring costs 0.73  0.05  0.07 

Income tax impact applicable to adjustments, net* (0.29) (0.19) (0.67)

Adjusted diluted EPS $ 1.70  $ 1.99  $ 1.64 

Note: Tables may not foot due to rounding.
(a) Business, portfolio realignment and restructuring costs include approximately $53 million of restructuring costs for the year-ended, December 28, 2024, respectively. See Note 5 for further information on
restructuring costs.
(b) Other (income) expense includes a $3 million pension curtailment loss driven by restructuring activities during the year-ended, December 28, 2024
(c) On October 2, 2023, Kellanova, the former parent company of WK Kellogg Co, distributed 85,631,304 shares of WK Kellogg Co common stock to Kellanova's share owners in connection with its Spin-Off of
WK Kellogg Co. Basic and diluted EPS were retrospectively recast for the number of shares of WK Kellogg Co common stock outstanding immediately following the Spin-Off for the year-ended December 31,
2022.
*Represents the estimated income tax effect on the reconciling items, using weighted-average statutory tax rates, depending upon the applicable jurisdiction.

Net Reported net income and reported dilutive EPS decreased approximately 35% for the year ended December 28, 2024 primarily driven by an increase in interest
expense of $20 million, an unfavorable change in pension income of $39 million and increase of restructuring costs of $56 million related to our supply chain
modernization initiatives, mitigated by a decrease in separation costs of $73 million. After excluding the impacts of interest expense, income tax expense and
depreciation, our EBITDA decreased 13% compared to the prior year. Adjusted EBITDA, which excludes the impacts of mark-to-market, other (income) expense and
restructuring and separation costs, increased 3%, primarily driven by increased operational effectiveness within our supply chain network. Adjusted net income and
adjusted diluted EPS decreased 13% and 15%, respectively, from prior year primarily driven by an increase in interest expense of $20 million when compared to prior
year.

Reported net income and reported dilutive EPS for the year ended December 30, 2023 increased approximately 540% from the prior year primarily driven by a favorable
change in pension income of $167 million compared to the prior year. After excluding the impacts of income tax expense and depreciation, our earnings before interest,
taxes, depreciation and amortization ("EBITDA") EBITDA increased 426% compared to the prior year. Adjusted EBITDA, which excludes the impacts of mark-to-market,
other (income) expense and restructuring and separation costs, increased 45%, primarily driven by the impact of productivity and revenue growth management
initiatives.

Net  Adjusted net income for the year ended December 31, 2022 decreased approximately 115% and adjusted diluted EPS increased 136% from the prior year, as a
result of an unfavorable change in pension income of $272 million, partially offset by favorable tax expense impact of $53 million and a decrease in advertising and
promotion expense of $43 million. After excluding the impacts of income tax expense and depreciation, our EBITDA decreased 85% compared to the prior year.
Adjusted EBITDA, increased 51%, primarily driven by the impact of productivity and revenue growth management initiatives.

Margin performance
Our gross profit and gross profit margin performance for the years-ended December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024 and December 31, 2022 December 30, 2023 is as
follows:

2023 2022 GM change vs. prior


year (pts.)2024 2023

(dollars in millions)

(dollars in

millions)

Gross

Profit (a)
GM

change vs. prior


year (pts.)

Gross

Margin (b)

Gross

Profit (a)

Gross

Margin (b)

(dollars in

millions)

Gross

Profit (a)
GM

change vs. prior


year (pts.)

Gross

Margin (b)

Gross

Profit (a)

Gross

Margin (b)

Reported

Mark-to-market
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(Gain) Loss on mark-to-market on foreign exchange

and commodity hedges

Separation costs

Business and portfolio realignment

Business and portfolio realignment

Business and portfolio realignment

Business portfolio realignment and restructuring costs

Business portfolio realignment and restructuring costs

Business portfolio realignment and restructuring costs

Adjusted

Adjusted

Adjusted

Note: Tables may not foot due to rounding.
(a) Gross profit is equal to net sales less cost of goods sold.
(b) Gross profit as a percentage of net sales.

Reported gross margin for the year increased 200 basis points due primarily to increased operational effectiveness within our supply chain network and a decrease of
$13 million in separation costs when compared to the prior year. Adjusted gross margin increased 150 basis points after excluding mark-to-market impacts on
commodity and exchange rate hedges, separation costs and restructuring charges.

Our gross profit and gross profit margin performance for the years-ended December 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 is as follows:

2023 2022
GM

change vs. prior


year (pts.)(dollars in millions) Gross Profit (a) Gross Margin (b) Gross Profit (a) Gross Margin (b)

Reported $ 754  27.3 % $ 631  23.4 % 3.9 

(Gain) Loss on mark-to-market on foreign exchange

and commodity hedges 3  0.1 % 9  0.3 % (0.2)

Separation costs 21  0.8 % 3  0.2 % 0.6 

Business portfolio realignment and restructuring costs 4  0.1 % 8  0.3 % (0.2)

Adjusted $ 783  28.3 % 651  24.2 % 4.1 

Note: Tables may not foot due to rounding.
(a) Gross profit is equal to net sales less cost of goods sold.
(b) Gross profit as a percentage of net sales.

Reported gross margin for the year ended December 30, 2023 increased 390 basis points versus the prior year due primarily to the impact of productivity and revenue
growth management initiatives. Adjusted gross margin increased 410 basis points after excluding $6 million of unfavorable comparative mark-to-market impacts on
commodity and exchange rate hedges, and an incremental $14 million of separation and restructuring charges.

Our gross profit and gross profit margin performance for the years-ended December 31, 2022 and January 1, 2022 is as follows:
41

2022 2021
GM

change vs. prior


year (pts.)(dollars in millions) Gross Profit (a) Gross Margin (b) Gross Profit (a) Gross Margin (b)

Reported $ 631  23.4 % $ 576  23.4 % — 

Mark-to-market 9  0.3 % 11  0.5 % (0.2)

Separation costs 3  0.2 % —  — % 0.2 

Business and portfolio realignment 8  0.3 % 5  0.2 % 0.1 

Adjusted $ 651  24.2 % 592  24.2 % — 

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2025 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

41/137

Note: Tables may not foot due to rounding.
(a) Gross profit is equal to net sales less cost of goods sold.
(b) Gross profit as a percentage of net sales.

Reported gross margin for the year ended December 31, 2022, was flat compared to the prior year as the impact of revenue growth management initiatives were offset
by input cost inflation and the residual impact of the prior year’s fire and strike. Gross profit increased from the prior year due to the impact of net sales resulting from
favorable price increases and product mix.

Net sales

Our net sales performance for the years-ended December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024, December 31, 2022 December 30, 2023 and January 1, 2022 December 31,
2022 is as follows:

(millions)

(millions)

(millions) 2023 2022 2022 2021 2024 2023 2023 2022

Net sales

% change:

% change:

% change:

Net sales increase (decrease)

Net sales increase (decrease)

Net sales increase (decrease)

Volume (tonnage)

Volume (tonnage)

Volume (tonnage)

Pricing/mix

Pricing/mix

Pricing/mix

Net sales for the year-ended December 28, 2024 decreased approximately 2% from the prior year. Volume declined approximately 6% compared to the prior year,
reflecting price elasticity. This decline was mitigated by revenue growth management initiatives designed to cover rising input-cost inflation, resulting in favorable
price/mix of approximately 4%.

Net sales for the year-ended December 30, 2023 increased approximately 3% from the prior year. Volume declined approximately 10% compared to the prior year,
reflecting price elasticity. This decline was mitigated by revenue growth management initiatives designed to cover rising input-cost inflation, resulting in favorable
price/mix of approximately 12%.

Reported net sales for the year-ended December 31, 2022 increased approximately 10% from the prior year due to revenue growth management initiatives designed to
cover rising input-cost inflation resulting in favorable price/mix of approximately 10%. Volume was flat compared to the prior year.

42

Selling, general & administrative expense

(millions)

(millions)

(millions) 2023 2022 2022 2021 2024 2023 2023 2022

Selling, general & administrative expense

% change:

% change:

% change:
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Selling, general & administrative expense increase (decrease)

Selling, general & administrative expense increase (decrease)

Selling, general & administrative expense increase (decrease)

Selling, general, and administrative expense for the year-ended December 28, 2024 decreased to $631 million in 2024 compared to $662 million in 2023. Expense for
2024 and 2023 was 23% and 24% of net sales, respectively. The decrease was due primarily to a $60 million reduction in separation costs, as the Spin-Off was
completed in 2023. This was slightly mitigated by an increase in overall overhead costs as the Company continues to right-fit as a standalone organization.

Selling, general, and administrative expense for the year-ended December 30, 2023 increased to $662 million in 2023 compared to $556 million in 2022. Expense for
2023 and 2022 was 24% and 21% of net sales, respectively. The increase was due primarily to $59 million of incremental separation costs incurred during 2023 and $32
million of incremental advertising and promotion expense due to the reduced levels of commercial activities in the first half of 2022, following a fire at one of our
manufacturing facilities and labor strike in late 2021.

Selling, general, and administrative expense for the year-ended December 31, 2022 increased to $556 million in 2022, compared to $539 million in 2021. Selling,
general and administrative expense for 2022 and 2021 was 21% and 22% of net sales, respectively. The increase was due primarily to a $60 million increase in
allocated corporate overhead and research and development costs, including $26 million in separation costs. These increases were partially offset by a $43 million
decrease in advertising and promotion expense due to the slow ramp up of commercial activities following the 2021 fire and strike.

Prior to the Spin-Off, selling, general, and administrative expense included expense allocations for product distribution; a combined sales force and management; certain
support functions that were provided on a centralized basis within Kellanova, including, but not limited to executive oversight, treasury, finance, internal audit, legal,
information technology, human resources, communications, facilities, and compliance; and employee benefits and compensation, including stock based compensation.

Foreign currency translation Restructuring programs
On July 31, 2024, the Board of Directors of the Company approved a reorganization plan in connection with the Company's strategic priority to modernize its supply
chain. Under this reorganization plan, herein referred to as the restructuring plan, the Company will consolidate its manufacturing network by closing its Omaha,
Nebraska plant, with a phased reduction in production beginning in late 2025 and full closure targeted by the end of 2026, and scaling back production (which includes a
reduction in the number of manufacturing platforms) at its Memphis, Tennessee facility, commencing in late 2025. The reporting currency restructuring plan was
communicated to impacted employees on August 6, 2024 and remains subject to the satisfaction of certain collective bargaining obligations. The actions under the
restructuring plan are expected to be substantially completed by the end of fiscal year 2026.

These actions are expected to result in cumulative restructuring pretax charges between $230 million and $270 million, including between $30 million and $40 million in
cash costs for our financial statements is the U.S.  dollar. Certain severance and other termination benefits and between $30 million and $40 million in other cash
restructuring costs related to equipment dismantlement and other transition costs. The Company estimates between $170 million and $190 million in non-cash charges
related primarily to accelerated depreciation and asset write-offs. These charges are expected to be incurred through 2027. The amounts expected to be incurred as a
result of our assets, liabilities, expenses and revenues are denominated in currencies other than the U.S.  dollar, these actions, including the Canadian dollar timing
thereof, are estimates only and subject to a number of assumptions. Actual results may differ materially from the Mexican peso. To prepare our consolidated financial
statements, we must translate those assets, liabilities, expenses and revenues into U.S. dollars at the applicable exchange rates. As Company's current expectations.
The Company may also incur additional charges or other cash expenditures not currently contemplated due to unanticipated events that may occur as a result
increases of, or associated with, these actions.

For the year-ended December 28, 2024, the Company recorded total restructuring charges of $56 million. These charges are comprised of $53 million recorded to
restructuring expense and decreases in the value$3 million to OIE. These charges consisted of the U.S.  dollar against these asset related costs which include
accelerated depreciation and asset write-off and impairment charges, employee severance and other currencies will affect the amount of these items in our consolidated
financial statements, even if their value has not changed in their original currency. This could have significant impact on our results if such increase or decrease in the
value of the U.S. dollar is substantial. termination benefits, pension curtailment loss, and legal and consulting fees.

Interest expense
Interest expense was $30 million, $10 million, $0 million and $0 million for the years-ended December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024, December 31, 2022 December 30,
2023 and January 1, 2022 December 31, 2022, respectively. The increase in interest expense is a result of borrowings under the Credit Facility made in the third quarter
of 2023 that were specifically attributable to the Company. Prior to the Spin-Off, debt obligations and related financing costs of Kellanova had not been allocated to the
Company in the Consolidated Financial Statements, because the Company was not a party to the obligations between Kellanova and the debt holders.

Other income (expense)
Other income (expense) consists primarily of allocated pension and postretirement benefit plan related mark-to-market, interest cost, and expected return on plan
assets. assets, and interest costs.

For the year-ended December 28, 2024, other income (expense) decreased to income of $6 million compared to income of $63 million in 2023. The decrease was due
primarily to pension and postretirement plan losses resulting from a lower-than-expected return on plan assets in the current year. Pension and postretirement benefit
plan-related mark-to-market losses were $11 million for the year ended December 28, 2024 compared to income of $33 million in 2023. Total pension and postretirement
benefit plan income (expense), including mark-to-market, was income of $33 million and $72 million for the years-ended December 28, 2024 and December 30, 2023,
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respectively. Additionally, the Company incurred an additional $12 million in financial fees during 2024 when compared to 2023, primarily driven by a full year of
executing the monetization program and a full year of incurring various financial fees operating as a standalone company.

For the year-ended December 30, 2023, other income (expense) increased to income of $63 million compared to expense of $101 million in 2022. The increase was due
primarily to postretirement plan remeasurement gains resulting from a higher-than-expected return on plan assets in the current year.2023. Pension and postretirement
benefit plan-related mark-to-market income was $33 million for the year ended December 30, 2023December 30, 2023 compared to expense of $182 million in 2022.
Total pension and postretirement benefit plan income (expense), including mark-to-market, was income of $72 million and expense of $94 million for the years-ended
December 30, 2023December 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022December 31, 2022, respectively.

43

For the year-ended December 31, 2022, other income (expense) decreased to expense of $101 million compared to income of $177 million in 2021. The decrease was
due to higher mark-to-market pension expense driven by the impact of lower than expected returns on plan assets partially mitigated by higher discount rates. Pension
and postretirement benefit plan-related mark-to-market expense was $183 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to income of $77 million in 2021.
Total pension and postretirement benefit plan income (expense), including mark-to-market, was expense of $94 million and income of $178 million for the years-ended
December 31, 2022 and January 1, 2022, respectively.

Income Tax Expense
WK Kellogg Co’s combined consolidated effective tax rate for the years-ended December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024, December 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022
was 15.3%, 24.4% and January 1, 2022 was 24.4%, 5.7% and 24.4%, respectively. The effective tax rate for 2024 was impacted by non-recurring benefits in state and
local income taxes and associated with the differential revaluation of the Company's foreign statutory our deferred tax rates from the U.S. federal statutory tax
rate. liabilities. The effective tax rate for 2022 decreased 2023 increased as compared to the prior year as a result of a change in the jurisdictional mix of pre-tax
earnings, most notably a decrease an increase in U.S. pre-tax earnings earnings.

Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates could also impact the expected effective income tax rate in the future as it is dependent upon U.S. dollar earnings of
foreign subsidiaries doing business in various countries with differing statutory rates. Additionally, the rate could be further impacted in the future by changes in tax
legislation and changes in the profitability of our business in certain jurisdictions, which could require adjustments to deferred tax assets.

Foreign currency translation
The reporting currency for our financial statements is the U.S. dollar. Certain of our assets, liabilities, expenses and revenues are denominated in currencies other than
the U.S.  dollar, including the Canadian dollar and the Mexican peso. To prepare our consolidated financial statements, we must translate those assets, liabilities,
expenses and revenues into U.S. dollars at the applicable exchange rates. As a result, increases and decreases in the value of the U.S. dollar against these other
currencies will affect the amount of these items in our consolidated financial statements, even if their value has not changed in their original currency. This could have
significant impact on our results if such increase or decrease in the value of the U.S. dollar is substantial.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

In connection with the Spin-Off, the Company entered into a Credit Agreement, consisting of a $500 million term loan (the "Term Loan"), $250 million delayed draw term
loan, and $350 million equivalent multicurrency revolving credit facility (collectively, the “Credit Facility”). As of December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024, outstanding
borrowings under the Credit Facility were $500 million $536  million, comprised of the $500 $488  million term loan and $48 million revolving credit facility, of which
$9 $73 million was recognized as the current portion, less upfront fees paid during debt issuance. As of December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024, there was an additional
$600 million $552 million available for use under the Credit Facility.

WK Kellogg Co distributed $663 million of cash to Kellanova as a dividend payment in connection with the Spin-Off on September 29, 2023. During 2024, the Company
distributed $55 million to shareholders in the form of stock dividends. Additionally, in February of 2024 2025 the Board of Directors declared a dividend of $0.16 $0.165
per common share, payable on March 15, 2024 March 14, 2025 to share owners of record at the close of business on March 1, 2024 February 28, 2025.

Our ability to fund our operating needs will depend on our future ability to continue to generate positive cash flow from operations, and on our ability to obtain debt
financing on acceptable terms. Management believes that our cash balances and funds provided by operating activities, along with borrowing capacity under the Credit
Facility and access to capital markets, taken as a whole, provide (i) adequate liquidity to meet all of our current and long-term obligations when due, including third-party
debt that was incurred in connection with the Spin-Off, (ii) adequate liquidity to fund capital expenditures primarily utilized in manufacturing our products and, and (iii)
flexibility to meet investment opportunities that may arise. However, our access to, and the availability of, financing on acceptable terms and conditions in the future will
be impacted by many factors, including (1) our credit ratings, including the lowering of any of our credit ratings, or absence of a credit rating, (2) the liquidity of the overall
capital markets and (3) the future state of the U.S. and global economy and, accordingly, there can be no assurances that we will be able to obtain additional debt or
equity financing on acceptable terms in the future, or at all. The cash flows presented in our Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows  prior to the Spin-Off may not be
indicative of the cash flows we would have recognized had we operated as a standalone publicly traded company for the periods presented.

We believe our operating cash flow, together with borrowings currently available under our Credit Facility, will be adequate to meet our operating, investing and financing
needs in the foreseeable future, and at a minimum for the next 12 months. We plan to utilize such flexibility to drive an investment philosophy that balances capital
investments in areas such as supply chain optimization, cost-saving projects and new capabilities, with the ability to further increase share owner value through a
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combination of debt reduction, return of capital to our share owners in the form of dividends as well as potential acquisitions. In the near term we may increase our
indebtedness to fund important capital projects. Thereafter, however, we anticipate being able to reduce indebtedness as a way to increase our financial flexibility for
enhancing share owner value.
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The following table sets forth a summary of our cash flows:

(dollars in millions) 2023 2022

Net cash provided by (used in):

Operating activities (a) $ 422  $ 53 

Investing activities (146) (71)

Financing activities (a) (188) 18 

Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents 1  — 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents $ 89  $ — 

(a) Subsequent to issuing the Press Release announcing the Company’s financial results for the quarterly period and year ended December 30, 2023, the Company discovered a presentation error in the

unaudited Statement of Cash Flows contained therein. The error was driven by an adjustment in the presentation of certain Spin-Off settlement transactions with Kellanova. The correction (reflected

herein) increased cash inflows from operating activities by $63 million related to a change in Accounts Payable and increased cash outflows from financing activities by $63 million related to All other

transfers (to) from Kellanova.

(dollars in millions) 2024 2023

Net cash provided by (used in):

Operating activities $ 100  $ 422 

Investing activities (129) (146)

Financing activities (16) (188)

Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents (4) 1 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents $ (49) $ 89 

Operating activities
Cash flow from operating activities for the year ended December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024, increased decreased to $422 million $100 million, compared to $53
million $422 million in the prior year. The increase This decrease is primarily due to lapping $153 million in cash flow changes to working capital (accounts receivable,
inventories and accounts payable) as the replenishment Company had not yet reached a mature level of inventory working capital post-spin in the prior year due year.
Additionally there were spin-related items that were settled during 2024, including $39 million of transition payable reimbursements to Kellanova for various item paid on
our behalf prior to Spin-Off and $45 million of payments related to the resumption of normal business activity following the labor strike Transition Services Agreement.
The Company also contributed an additional $24 million to their defined benefit pension plans in the fourth quarter of 2021, as well as an increase in net sales. 2024.

Investing activities
Cash flow used in investing activities consists primarily of capital expenditures, which increased decreased from $71 million in the year ended December 31, 2022 to
$146 million $150 million in the year ended December 30, 2023 to $129 million in the year ended December 28, 2024 due to the resumption timing of capital projects
after the labor strike. improvements.

Financing activities
Cash flow used in financing activities increased decreased to $188 million $16 million in the year-to-date period ended December 30, 2023. December 28, 2024,
compared to $188 million in the prior year. This increase decrease was primarily driven by repayment of borrowings under lower repayments on the Credit
Agreement Facility of $164 million $151 million, slightly offset by an increase in dividends paid to share owners of $14 million $41 million as a result of a full year of
operations as a stand-alone company and a net increase in notes payable borrowings of $47 million.

Monetization and Supplier Finance Programs
Following the Spin-Off, the Company entered into a factoring agreement with an unaffiliated financial institution specifically designed to factor trade receivables with
certain customers that have extended terms. Under this factoring arrangement, from time to time, the Company sells these certain customers’ trade receivables at a
discount on a non-recourse basis. A portion of the cash proceeds is subject to certain restrictions. Transfers under these agreements are accounted for as sales of
receivables resulting in the receivables being de-recognized from the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The factoring program provides for the continuing sale of certain
receivables on a revolving basis until terminated by either party; however, the maximum receivables that may be sold at any time is approximately $350 million. Prior For
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all periods prior to the Spin-Off, the Company participated in Kellanova's factoring monetization program which was structured similarly but resulted in a higher level and
received an allocation of the recorded net loss on sale of receivables, allowed to be sold when compared to based on the current program in place. During the fourth
quarter proportion of 2023, the Company amended the previous factoring agreements to increase the maximum receivables sold limit from $250 million to
$350 million. monetized receivables.

The Company has no retained interest in the receivables sold; however, the Company does have collection and administrative responsibilities for the sold receivables.
The Company has not recorded any servicing assets or liabilities as of December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024 and December 31, 2022 December 30, 2023 for these
agreements as the fair value of these servicing arrangements as well as the fees earned were not material to the financial statements. Accounts receivable sold of $266
million $307 million and $256 million $266 million remained outstanding under these arrangements as of December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024 and December 31,
2022 December 30, 2023, respectively. The proceeds from these sales of receivables are included in cash from operating activities in the Consolidated Statement of
Cash Flows. The recorded net loss on sale of receivables was $13 million $18 million, $7 million $13 million and $2 million $7 million for the years-ended December 30,
2023 December 28, 2024, December 31, 2022 December 30, 2023 and January 1, 2022 December 31, 2022, respectively. The recorded loss is included in other income
(expense).

The Company also has agreements with third parties to provide accounts payable tracking systems which facilitate participating suppliers’ ability to monitor and, if
elected, sell payment obligations from the Company to designated third-party financial institutions. Participating suppliers may, at their sole discretion, make offers to sell
one or more payment obligations of the Company prior to their scheduled due dates at a discounted price to participating financial institutions. The Company’s goal is to
capture overall supplier savings, in the form of payment terms or
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vendor funding, and the agreements facilitate the suppliers’ ability to sell payment obligations, while providing them with greater working capital flexibility. The Company
has no economic interest in the sale of these suppliers’

receivables and no direct financial relationship with the financial institutions concerning these services. The Company’s obligations to its suppliers, including amounts
due and scheduled payment dates, are not impacted by suppliers’ decisions to sell amounts under the arrangements. However, the Company’s right to offset balances
due from suppliers against payment obligations is restricted by the agreements for those payment obligations that have been sold by suppliers.

The payment of these obligations by the Company is included in cash used in operating activities in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. As of December 28,
2024, $132 million of the Company’s outstanding payment obligations had been placed in the accounts payable tracking system. As of December 30, 2023, $142 million
of the Company’s outstanding payment obligations had been placed in the accounts payable tracking system. Prior to the Spin-Off, the Company participated in
Kellanova's supplier financing program, resulting in $138 million of the Company’s outstanding payment obligations placed in the accounts payable tracking system as of
December 31, 2022.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

We have material contractual obligations that arise in the normal course of business. In addition to principal and interest payments on our outstanding long-term debt
and notes payable balances, our contractual obligations primarily consist of lease payments, income taxes, employee severance obligations, pension and postretirement
benefits and unconditional purchase obligations.

Estimated severance payments as of December 28, 2024, which related to our supply chain modernization project, can be found in Note 5 "Restructuring" to the
Consolidated Financial Statements contained in this Annual Report.

A summary of our operating and finance lease obligations as of December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024 can be found in Note 6 7 “Leases and Other Commitments” to
the Consolidated Financial Statements contained in this Annual Report.

A summary of principal payments for long-term debt as of December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024 can be found in Note 7 8 “Debt” to the Consolidated Financial
Statements contained in this report.

Interest payments are estimated to be approximately $42 million per year from 2024 through $62 million in 2025, $44 million in 2026, $41 million in 2027 and
approximately $38 million $28 million in total from 2028 through the last debt maturity date in September of 2028.

A summary of our pension and postretirement benefit obligations as of December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024 can be found in Note 9 10 “Pension and Postretirement
Benefits” and Note 10 11 "Postemployment Benefits” to the Consolidated Financial Statements contained in this Annual Report.

See Note 11 “Income Taxes” to the Consolidated Financial Statements contained in this Annual Report for discussion of our uncertain tax positions.

Our unconditional purchase obligations consist primarily of fixed commitments for raw materials to be utilized in the normal course of business and for marketing,
advertising and other services. As of December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024, unconditional purchase obligations totaled approximately $807 million $500 million.
Approximately $604 million $432 million of these unconditional purchase obligations will be settled in the ordinary course of business in the next 12 months.

As of December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024, we did not have any material off-balance sheet arrangements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Promotional expenditures
Our promotional activities are conducted either through the retail trade or directly with consumers and include activities such as in-store displays and events, feature
price discounts, consumer coupons, contests and loyalty programs. The costs of these activities are generally recognized at the time the related revenue is recorded,
which normally precedes the actual cash expenditure. The recognition of these costs therefore requires management judgment regarding the volume of promotional
offers that will be redeemed by either the retail trade or consumer. These estimates are made using various techniques including historical data on performance of
similar promotional programs. Differences between estimated expense and actual redemptions are normally immaterial and recognized as a change in management
estimate in a subsequent period. However, the Company’s total promotional expenditures (including amounts classified as a revenue reduction) are significant, so it is
likely our results would be materially different if different assumptions or conditions were to prevail.
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Retirement benefits
Prior to the Spin-Off, some of our employees participated in certain retirements plans sponsored by Kellanova, which include participants of Kellanova’s other
businesses. As a result, such plans were accounted for as multiemployer plans and no asset or liability was recorded by the Company to recognize the funded status of
these plans. In connection with the Spin-Off, certain pension and nonpension postretirement plans (collectively, the "Plans") that were previously sponsored by Kellanova
were divided such that the plans became dedicated to our employees and sponsored by the Company. As such, the Company was required to assume certain pension
and postretirement assets and liabilities, along with associated deferred costs, in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). Additionally, the Company also
assumed certain postemployment liabilities related to its employees following a division of the postemployment plan that were previously sponsored by Kellanova to
create standalone plans that were sponsored by the Company and dedicated to our employees.

Plan funding strategies are influenced by tax regulations and asset return performance. A majority of plan assets are invested in a diversified portfolio of debt and equity
securities with smaller holdings of other investments. We recognize the cost of benefits provided during retirement over the employees’ active working life to determine
the obligations and expense related to our retiree benefit plans. Inherent in this concept is the requirement to use various actuarial assumptions to predict and measure
costs and obligations many years prior to the settlement date. Major actuarial assumptions that require significant management judgment and have a material impact on
the measurement of our consolidated benefits expense and accumulated obligation include the long-term rates of return on plan assets, the health care cost trend rates,
the mortality table and improvement scale, and the interest rates used to discount the obligations for our major plans, which primarily cover employees in the United
States and Canada.

Our expense recognition policy for pension and nonpension postretirement benefits is to immediately recognize actuarial gains and losses in our results in the year in
which they occur. Actuarial gains and losses are recognized annually as of our measurement date, which is our fiscal year-end, or when remeasurement is otherwise
required under generally accepted accounting principles.

Changes in certain assumptions could significantly affect pension and nonpension postretirement benefits and obligations, particularly the estimated long-term rate of
return on plan assets, health care trend rates, and discount rates used to calculate such obligations.

• Long-term rate of return on plan assets: The expected long-term rate of return is evaluated on an annual basis. We consider several factors when setting
assumptions with respect to the long-term rate of return, including current and expected asset allocation and historical and expected returns on the plan asset
categories. Actual asset allocations are regularly reviewed and periodically rebalanced to the targeted allocations when considered appropriate. Investment
gains or losses represent the difference between the expected return estimated using the long-term rate of return and the actual return realized.

• Health care trend rates: Our initial health care cost trend rate is reviewed annually and adjusted as necessary to remain consistent with our expectations
regarding short-term future trends. Our initial trend rate for 2024 2025 of 6.50% reflects the recognition of increased short-term inflation and the health care
provisions of the Inflation Reduction Act. Our initial rate remains flat through 2025 before trending The assumption trends downward by 0.25% per year, until the
ultimate trend rate of 4.5% is reached. The ultimate trend rate is adjusted annually, as necessary, to approximate the current economic view on the rate of long-
term inflation plus an appropriate health care cost premium. Any arising health care claims cost-related experience gain or loss is recognized in the year in which
they occur.

• Discount rate: We utilize a full yield curve approach in the estimation of service and interest costs by applying the specific spot rates along the yield curve used
in the determination of the benefit obligation to the relevant projected cash flows. The spot rates used in this process are derived from a yield curve created from
yields on the 40th to 90th percentile of U.S. high quality bonds. This spot rate approach provides a more precise measurement of service and interest costs by
improving the correlation between the projected cash flows to the corresponding spot rates along the yield curve.

Despite the previously-described policies for selecting major actuarial assumptions, we periodically experience material actuarial gains or losses due to differences
between assumed and actual experience and due to changing economic conditions.
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Income taxes
Prior to the Spin-Off, our operations have historically been included in the consolidated U.S. federal, certain foreign tax returns, and certain state and local tax returns
filed by Kellanova. Prior to the Spin-Off, the income tax provision was computed using a separate return method as if the Company was a separate group of companies
under common ownership. As a result, items such as cash tax payments, current and deferred tax balances, net operating losses, income taxes payable and liabilities
for uncertain tax positions presented in these financial statements may not be reflective of the results that the Company expects to generate in the future.

Subsequent to the Spin-Off, these items are reported based on the tax filings of the Company’s legal entities. Indemnification assets and liabilities have been would be
reported for amounts payable to or recoverable from Kellanova in accordance with the Tax Matters Agreement. Generally, Kellanova is responsible for all income taxes,
certain non-income taxes attributable to our business, and liabilities for taxes that were incurred as a result of restructuring activities, prior to the Spin-Off. The Company
is generally liable for all other taxes attributable to our business.

Subsequent to the Spin-Off, our consolidated effective income tax rate is influenced by tax planning opportunities available to us in the various jurisdictions in which we
operate. The calculation of our income tax provision and deferred income tax assets and liabilities is complex and requires the use of estimates and judgment.

We recognize tax benefits associated with uncertain tax positions when, in our judgment, it is more likely than not that the positions will be sustained upon examination
by a taxing authority. For tax positions that meet the more likely than not recognition threshold, we initially and subsequently measure the tax benefits as the largest
amount that we judge to have a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement.

Management monitors the Company’s ability to utilize certain future tax deductions, operating losses and tax credit carryforwards, prior to expiration as well as the
reinvestment assertion regarding our undistributed foreign earnings. Changes resulting from management’s assessment will result in impacts to deferred tax assets and
the corresponding impacts on the effective income tax rate. Valuation allowances are recorded to reduce deferred tax assets to an amount that will, more likely than not,
be realized in the future.

Income tax effects are released from accumulated other comprehensive loss using the specific-identification method.

The Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) has a framework to implement a global minimum corporate tax of 15% for companies with global
revenues and profits above certain thresholds (referred to as Pillar 2), with certain aspects of Pillar 2 effective January 1, 2024 and other aspects effective January 1,
2025. We do not expect Pillar 2 to have a material impact on our financial statements.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Our company is exposed to certain market risks, which exist as a part of our ongoing business operations. We use derivative financial and commodity instruments,
where appropriate, to manage these risks. As a matter of policy, we do not engage in trading or speculative transactions. Refer to Note 12 13 "Derivative Instruments and
Fair Value Measurements" within Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further information on our derivative financial and commodity instruments.

Foreign exchange risk
Our company is exposed to fluctuations in foreign currency cash flows related primarily to third-party purchases and intercompany transactions.

Additionally, volatile market conditions arising from geopolitical events may result in significant changes in foreign exchange rates, and in particular a weakening of
foreign currencies relative to the U.S. dollar may negatively affect the translation of foreign currency denominated earnings to U.S. dollars. Primary exposures include
the U.S. dollar versus the Canadian dollar and Mexican peso.

We assess foreign currency risk based on transactional cash flows and translational volatility and may enter into forward contracts, options, and currency swaps to
reduce fluctuations in long or short currency positions. Forward contracts and options are generally less than 18 months duration. Currency swap agreements may be
established in conjunction with the term of underlying debt issuances.

The total notional amount of foreign currency derivative instruments at year-end 2023 was immaterial to the financial statements.
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as of December 28, 2024 are disclosed in Note 13.

Interest rate risk
We are exposed to interest rate volatility with regard to our Credit Facility, which bears interest as a variable rate. Interest on the loans under the Credit Agreement are
calculated by reference to the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) or an alternative base rate, plus an interest rate margin equal to in the case of SOFR loans,
1.75% and in the case of alternate base rate loans, 0.75%, each with related step-ups and step-downs based on WK Kellogg Co’s consolidated net leverage ratio as
defined by the Credit Agreement. Agreement We also entered into floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps on our Credit Facility with a total notional value of $250 million to
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hedge the variability of interest payment cash flows on a portion of our future debt obligations. A hypothetical 125 basis point change in interest rates affecting our
borrowings under the financing arrangements would impact our pre-tax income by less than $1 million for the year-ended 2023.December 28, 2024.

Price risk
We are exposed to price fluctuations primarily as a result of anticipated purchases of raw and packaging materials, fuel, and energy. Primary exposures include corn,
wheat, vegetable oils, sugar, cocoa, fruit, nuts, carton board, natural gas, and diesel fuel. We use a combination of long-term contracts with suppliers, and exchange-
traded futures and option contracts to reduce price fluctuations in a desired percentage of forecasted raw material purchases over a duration of generally less than
18 months.

The total notional amount of commodity derivative instruments at year-end 2023 was immaterial to the financial statements. as of December 28, 2024 is disclosed in
Note 13.

Credit risk
Management believes concentrations of credit risk with respect to customer accounts receivable is limited due to the generally high credit quality of our major customers,
as well as the large number and geographic dispersion of smaller customers. However, we conduct a disproportionate amount of business with a small number of large
grocery retailers. The five largest accounts represent approximately 47% 52% of consolidated net sales for the year ended December 30, 2023 28, 2024 and less than
57% 58% of combined consolidated trade receivables at December 30, 2023 28, 2024.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of WK Kellogg Co

Opinion Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of WK Kellogg Co and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024
and December 31, 2022 December 30, 2023, and the related consolidated statements of income (loss), comprehensive income (loss), equity, and cash flows for each of
the three years in the period ended December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial
statements”). We also have audited the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 28, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control -
Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 30,
2023 December 28, 2024 and December 31, 2022 December 30, 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 28, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control -
Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the COSO.

Basis for Opinion Opinions

These The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, are the responsibility for maintaining effective internal control over
financial reporting, and for its assessment of the Company’s management. effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in Management’s Annual
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express an opinion opinions on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements and on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or
fraud. fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the
amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. opinions.
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Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness
to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that was communicated or
required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (i) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (ii)
involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the
consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit
matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Revenue Recognition – Trade Promotions

As described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company offers various forms of trade promotions and the methodologies for determining these
provisions are dependent on local customer pricing and promotional practices, which range from contractually fixed percentage price reductions to provisions based on
actual occurrence or performance. Where applicable, future provisions are estimated by management based on a combination of historical patterns and future
expectations regarding specific in-market product performance. The costs of the promotional these activities are generally recognized at the time the related revenue is
recorded, which normally precedes the actual cash expenditure. Management classifies promotional expenditures, which include trade promotions, to its customers in
net sales, which was approximately $2,763 million $2,708 million for the year ended December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024. The liability associated with these trade
promotions makes up a significant portion of accrued advertising and promotion, which was $121 million $98 million as of December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to revenue recognition – trade promotions is a critical audit matter are a high
degree of auditor effort in performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence related to the trade promotions and accrued trade promotion transactions.
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Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to the revenue recognition process, including the recognition of costs of promotional
activities at the time the related revenue is recorded. These procedures also included, among others, evaluating testing a sample of trade promotions and accrued trade
promotion transactions by obtaining and inspecting source documents, including subsequent cash receipts from customers, such as sales contracts, invoices, and
invoice credits,  and customer payments related to promotional programs, and customer arrangements, or and promotional practices, where applicable. practices.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Detroit, Michigan
March 8, 2024 February 25, 2025

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2022.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
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WK Kellogg Co

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (LOSS)
(millions, except per share data) (millions, except per share data) 2023 2022 2021 (millions, except per share data) 2024 2023 2022

Net sales

Cost of goods sold

Selling, general and administrative expense

Restructuring costs

Operating profit

Interest expense

Other income (expense), net

Income (loss) before income taxes

Income taxes

Net income (loss)

Net income (loss)

Net income (loss)

Per share amounts(a):

Per share amounts(a):

Per share amounts(a):

Basic and diluted earnings

Basic and diluted earnings

Basic and diluted earnings

Diluted

(a) On October 2, 2023, Kellanova, the former parent company of WK Kellogg Co, distributed 85,631,304 shares of WK Kellogg Co common stock to Kellanova's share owners in connection with its Spin-

Off of WK Kellogg Co (the "Spin-Off"). Co. See Note 1 "Description of the Company and Basis of Presentation" to the Consolidated Financial Statements for more information. Basic and diluted earnings

per share ("EPS") were retrospectively recast for the number of shares of WK Kellogg Co common stock outstanding immediately following the Spin-Off for the years-ended year-ended December 31,

2022 and January 1, 2022.

Refer to Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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WK Kellogg Co

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
2023 2022 2021 2024 2023 2022

(millions) (millions)

Pre-tax


amount

Tax


(expense)


benefit

After-

tax


amount

Pre-tax


amount

Tax


(expense)


benefit

After-

tax


amount

Pre-tax


amount

Tax


(expense)


benefit

After-

tax


amount (millions)

Pre-tax


amount

Tax


(expense)


benefit

After-

tax


amount

Pre-tax


amount

Tax


(expense)


benefit

After-

tax


amount

Pre-tax


amount

Tax


(expense)


benefit

After-

tax


amount

Net income (loss)

Other comprehensive income:

Foreign currency translation adjustments:

Foreign currency translation adjustments:

Foreign currency translation adjustments:

Foreign currency translation adjustments during

period

Foreign currency translation adjustments during

period
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Foreign currency translation adjustments during

period

Cash flow hedges:

Net deferred gain (loss)

Net deferred gain (loss)

Net deferred gain (loss)

Postretirement and postemployment

benefits:

Amounts arising during the period:

Amounts arising during the period:

Amounts arising during the period:

Net experience loss (gain)

Net experience loss (gain)

Net experience loss (gain)

Prior service cost (credit)

Reclassification to net income:

Prior service cost (credit)

Prior service cost (credit)

Reclassification to net income:

Reclassification to net income:

Prior service credit (cost)

Prior service credit (cost)

Prior service credit (cost)

Prior service cost (credit)

Comprehensive income (loss)

Refer to Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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WK Kellogg Co

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(millions, except share data) (millions, except share data) 2023 2022 (millions, except share data) 2024 2023

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable, net

Inventories

Other current assets

Total current assets

Property, net

Goodwill

Goodwill

Operating lease right-of-use assets

Goodwill

Other intangibles
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Postretirement plan assets

Postretirement plan assets

Postretirement plan assets

Other assets

Total assets

Current liabilities

Current maturities of long-term debt

Current maturities of long-term debt

Current maturities of long-term debt

Notes payable

Accounts payable

Accrued advertising and promotion

Accrued advertising and promotion

Accrued advertising and promotion

Accrued salaries and wages

Other current liabilities

Total current liabilities

Long-term debt

Deferred income taxes

Deferred income taxes

Operating lease liabilities

Deferred income taxes

Pension liability

Other liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (Note 13)

Commitments and contingencies (Note 14)

Equity

Common stock, $0.0001 par value, 1,000,000,000 shares authorized
Issued: 85,812,883 shares in 2023 and 0 shares in 2022

Common stock, $0.0001 par value, 1,000,000,000 shares authorized
Issued: 85,812,883 shares in 2023 and 0 shares in 2022

Common stock, $0.0001 par value, 1,000,000,000 shares authorized
Issued: 85,812,883 shares in 2023 and 0 shares in 2022

Net parent investment

Common stock, $0.0001 par value, 1,000,000,000 shares authorized
Issued: 86,101,154 shares in 2024 and 85,812,883 shares in 2023

Common stock, $0.0001 par value, 1,000,000,000 shares authorized
Issued: 86,101,154 shares in 2024 and 85,812,883 shares in 2023

Common stock, $0.0001 par value, 1,000,000,000 shares authorized
Issued: 86,101,154 shares in 2024 and 85,812,883 shares in 2023

Capital in excess of par value

Capital in excess of par value

Capital in excess of par value

Retained earnings

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

Total equity

Total equity

Total equity

Total liabilities and equity
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Refer to Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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WK Kellogg Co

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY
(millions)

(millions) (millions)

Common


stock

Net parent

investment

Capital in

excess of par

value

Retained


earnings

Accumulated


other


comprehensive


income (loss)

Total


equity (millions)

Common


stock

Net parent

investment

Capital in

excess of

par value

Retained


earnings

Accumulated


other


comprehensive


income (loss)

Total


equity

Balance, January 2, 2021

Balance, January 2, 2021

Balance, January 2, 2021

Net income (loss)

Net transfer (to)/from Kellanova

Other comprehensive income (loss)

Other comprehensive income (loss)

Other comprehensive income (loss)

Balance, January 1, 2022

Balance, January 1, 2022

Balance, January 1, 2022

Net income (loss)

Net income (loss)

Net income (loss)

Net transfer (to)/from Kellanova

Other comprehensive income (loss)

Other comprehensive income (loss)

Other comprehensive income (loss)

Balance, December 31, 2022

Balance, December 31, 2022

Balance, December 31, 2022

Net income (loss)

Dividend paid to Kellanova

Dividend paid to Kellanova

Dividend paid to Kellanova

Net transaction with Kellanova, including separation

adjustment

Reclassification of net parent investment to

Common stock and capital in excess of par value

Dividends declared ($0.16 per share)

Other comprehensive income (loss)

Stock compensation

Share issuances

Balance, December 30, 2023

Net income (loss)

Spin-Off related adjustments

Spin-Off related adjustments

Spin-Off related adjustments

Dividends declared ($0.64 per share)

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2025 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

54/137

Dividends declared ($0.64 per share)

Dividends declared ($0.64 per share)

Other comprehensive income (loss)

Stock compensation

Share issuances

Balance, December 28, 2024

Refer to Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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WK Kellogg Co

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(millions) 2023 2022 2021

Operating activities

Net income (loss) $ 110  $ (25) $ 162 

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to operating cash flows:

Depreciation and amortization 66  68  68 

(Gain) / loss on retirement of equipment 14  —  — 

Pension and postretirement benefit plan expense (benefit) (60) 112  (157)

Insurance recoveries (4) —  — 

Deferred income taxes (4) (15) 13 

Stock compensation 8  3  2 

Other —  1  — 

Postretirement benefit plan contributions —  (1) (1)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:

Trade receivables (85) (74) 61 

Inventories 86  (102) (50)

Accounts payable 167  77  (53)

Income taxes payable 7  —  — 

Accrued advertising and promotion 79  23  (40)

Accrued salaries and wages 25  7  (4)

All other current assets and liabilities 13  (21) 6 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ 422  $ 53  $ 7 

Investing activities

Additions to properties (150) (71) (75)

Property damage recoveries from insurance proceeds 4  —  — 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities $ (146) $ (71) $ (75)

Financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings under the Credit Agreement 664  —  — 

Repayment of borrowings under the Credit Agreement (164) —  — 

Payment of financing fees (7) —  — 

Issuances of notes payable, with maturities less than 90 days 4  —  — 

Dividend to Kellanova (663) —  — 

All other net transfers (to) from Kellanova (8) 18  68 

Dividends paid (14) —  — 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities $ (188) $ 18  $ 68 
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Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 1  —  — 

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents $ 89  $ —  $ — 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period —  —  — 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 89  $ —  $ — 

Supplemental cash flow disclosures:

   Interest paid $ 10  $ —  $ — 

   Income taxes paid $ 2  $ —  $ — 

Supplemental cash flow disclosures of non-cash investing activities:

   Additions to properties included in accounts payable $ 12  $ 38  $ 13 

Supplemental cash flow disclosures of non-cash financing activities:

  Contribution of certain assets and liabilities to WK Kellogg Co by Kellanova $ 190  $ —  $ — 

(millions) 2024 2023 2022

Operating activities

Net income (loss) $ 72  $ 110  $ (25)

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to operating cash flows:

Depreciation and amortization 78  66  68 

(Gain) / loss on retirement of equipment 4  14  — 

Pension and postretirement benefit plan expense (benefit) (21) (60) 112 

Insurance recoveries —  (4) — 

Deferred income taxes (18) (4) (15)

Stock compensation 16  8  3 

Restructuring costs 52  —  — 

Other 1  —  1 

Pension plan contributions (24) —  (1)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:

Trade receivables 55  (85) (74)

Inventories (12) 86  (102)

Accounts payable (67) 167  77 

Obligations under Transition Services Agreement (44) 52  — 

Income taxes payable 7  7  — 

Accrued advertising and promotion (21) 79  23 

Accrued salaries and wages 5  25  7 

All other current assets and liabilities 4  (24) (21)

All other noncurrent assets and liabilities 13  (15) — 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ 100  $ 422  $ 53 

Investing activities

Additions to properties (129) (150) (71)

Property damage recoveries from insurance proceeds —  4  — 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities $ (129) $ (146) $ (71)

Financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings under the Credit Agreement —  664  — 

Repayment of borrowings under the Credit Agreement (13) (164) — 

Payment of financing fees —  (7) — 

Issuances of notes payable, with maturities greater than 90 days 77  —  — 

Reductions of notes payable, with maturities greater than 90 days (29) —  — 

Net increase (reduction) of notes payable, with maturities less than or equal to 90 days (1) 4  — 

Dividend to Kellanova —  (663) — 

All other net transfers (to) from Kellanova —  (8) 18 

Net issuances of common stock 5  —  — 
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Dividends paid (55) (14) — 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities $ (16) $ (188) $ 18 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (4) 1  — 

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents $ (49) $ 89  $ — 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 89  —  — 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 40  $ 89  $ — 

Supplemental cash flow disclosures:

  Interest paid $ 35  $ 10  $ — 

  Income taxes paid $ 26  $ 2  $ — 

Supplemental cash flow disclosures of non-cash investing activities:

  Additions to properties included in accounts payable $ 55  $ 12  $ 38 

Supplemental cash flow disclosures of non-cash financing activities:

  Operating lease liabilities arising from obtaining right of use assets $ 106  $ 19  $ — 

  Contribution of certain assets and liabilities to WK Kellogg Co by Kellanova $ —  $ 190  $ — 

Refer to Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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WK Kellogg Co

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

NOTE 1
DESCRIPTION OF THE COMPANY AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Description of the Company
On June 21, 2022, Kellanova (formerly known as Kellogg Company) announced its intent to separate its North American Cereal Business (“Cereal Business”) via a tax-
free Spin-Off, resulting in the creation of a new independent public company, WK Kellogg Co. The Cereal Business consists of the business and operations conducted
by Kellanova until October 2, 2023. WK Kellogg Co's products are manufactured by us in the United States, Mexico and Canada and marketed in the United States,
Canada and the Caribbean.

On September 11, 2023, the Board of Directors of Kellanova approved the Spin-Off (the “Spin-Off”) of the Cereal Business through the distribution of shares of WK
Kellogg Co common stock to Kellanova share owners (the “Distribution”). In connection with the Distribution, WK Kellogg Co underwent an internal reorganization
following which it became the holder, directly or through its subsidiaries, of the Cereal Business. On October 2, 2023, the Spin-Off was achieved through Kellanova's
distribution of one share of WK Kellogg Co’s common stock for every four shares of Kellanova common stock to Kellanova’s share owners as of the close of business on
the record date of September 21, 2023. On October 2, 2023, WK Kellogg Co began trading as an independent publicly traded company under the stock symbol "KLG"
on the New Your Stock Exchange. Prior to October 2, 2023, WK Kellogg Co was wholly owned by Kellanova.

In connection with the Spin-Off, the Company entered into several agreements with Kellanova that govern the relationship of the parties following the Spin-Off and
allocate between WK Kellogg Co and Kellanova various assets, liabilities, and obligations, including, among other things, employee benefits, intellectual property, and
tax related assets and liabilities. The agreements included a Separation and Distribution Agreement, Employee Matters Agreement, Supply Agreement, Master
Ownership and License Agreement regarding Patents, Trademarks and Certain Related Intellectual Property, Tax Matters Agreement and Transition Services
Agreement.

Basis of presentation
The accompanying financial statements are presented on a consolidated basis as the Company is a standalone public company. Prior to the Spin-Off, the Company
historically operated as part of Kellanova. Certain information from prior to the Spin-Off was derived from the consolidated financial statements and accounting records of
Kellanova. These statements reflect the historical results of operations, financial position and cash flows of the Company prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”).

For periods prior to the Spin-Off, the Consolidated Financial Statements are presented as if the Company had been carved out of Kellanova, and included the attribution
of certain assets and liabilities that had been held at Kellanova but which are specifically identifiable or attributable to our Business. They include expense allocations for:
(1) co-manufacturing, product warehousing and distribution; (2) a combined sales force and management; (3) certain support functions that were provided on a
centralized basis within Kellanova, including, but not limited to executive oversight, treasury, finance, internal audit, legal, information technology, human resources,
communications, facilities, and compliance; and (4) employee benefits and compensation, including stock based compensation. These expenses were allocated to the
Company on the basis of direct usage where identifiable, with the remainder allocated on a basis of gross sales value, production pounds, headcount or other applicable
measures. Management believes the assumptions underlying these Consolidated Financial Statements, including the assumptions regarding allocated expenses,
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reasonably reflect the utilization of services provided to or the benefit received by the Company during the periods presented. Nevertheless, the periods prior to the Spin-
Off that are included within the Consolidated Financial Statements may not reflect the results of operations, financial position and cash flows had the Company been a
standalone company during the periods presented. Actual costs that the Company may have incurred had it been a standalone company would depend on a number of
factors, including its organizational structure, whether functions were outsourced or performed by our employees and strategic decisions made in areas such as
manufacturing, selling and marketing, research and development, information technology and infrastructure.
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The allocation of expenses from Kellanova to WK Kellogg Co was reflected as follows in the Consolidated Financial Statements for the years-ended December 30, 2023,
and December 31, 2022 and January 1, 2022:

(millions)

(millions)

(millions) (millions) 2023 2022 2021 2023 2022

Cost of goods sold

Selling, general and administrative

Other (income) expense, net

Total

The Consolidated Financial Statements also inc alslude o include $29 million, $102 million and $26 million $26 million of separation costs related to the separation from
Kellanova for the years-ended December 28, 2024, December 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, December 31, 2022, respectively. These were primarily related to legal
and consulting costs. costs and transition and Spin-Off related employee costs under the Transition Services Agreement. Prior to the Spin-Off, the Company was
allocated a pro rata portion of costs incurred by Kellanova to evaluate, plan and execute the Spin-Off. These charges were primarily related to legal and consulting costs.
The Company was allocated a pro rata portion of those costs, that they received a benefit from, based on either specific identification, where possible, or a proportional
cost method based on gross sales value.  Certain separation charges are expected to continue to be incurred through the first half of 2026.

Prior to the Spin-Off, Kellanova used a centralized approach to cash management and financing of operations. The majority of WK Kellogg Co’s businesses were part of
Kellanova’s cash pooling arrangements to maximize Kellanova’s availability of cash for general operating and investing purposes. Under these cash pooling
arrangements, cash balances were swept regularly from WK Kellogg Co’s accounts. Cash transfers to and from Kellanova’s cash concentration accounts and the
resulting balances at the end of each reporting period prior to the Spin-Off are reflected in net parent company investment in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Additionally, prior to the Spin-Off we participated in Kellanova's hedging program which historically used a combination of long-term contracts with suppliers and
exchange-traded futures and option contracts to reduce price fluctuations in a desired percentage of forecasted raw material purchases over a duration of generally less
than 18 months. The Consolidated Statement of Income reflects a reasonable allocation of the impacts of our participation in Kellanova’s hedging program.

Debt obligations and related financing costs of Kellanova have not been included in the Consolidated Financial Statements of WK Kellogg Co for all periods prior to the
Spin-Off, because WK Kellogg Co is not a party to the obligations between Kellanova and the debt holders. The debt obligations and related financing costs of WK
Kellogg Co have been described in Note 7 8 "Debt".

For periods prior to the Spin-Off, our employees participated in Kellanova benefit and stock-based compensation plans. A portion of the cost of those plans related to our
employees is included in our Consolidated Financial Statements. However, the Consolidated Balance Sheet does not include any equity issued related to stock-based
compensation plans or any net benefit plan obligations unless the benefit plan covers only our dedicated employees or where the entire legal obligation associated with
the benefit plan transferred to WK Kellogg Co post-spin. During the third quarter of 2023, in connection with the Spin-Off, certain pension and nonpension postretirement
plans that were previously sponsored by Kellanova were divided such that the plans became dedicated to our employees and sponsored by WK Kellogg Co. See Note
9 10 "Pension and Postretirement Benefits" for further details on the assumption of pension and postretirement assets and liabilities and related costs.

Prior to the Spin-Off, the Company's operations have historically been included in the consolidated U.S. federal, certain state and local tax returns filed by Kellanova. We
also filed certain separate U.S. state and local and foreign income tax returns. The Company has calculated its provision for income taxes using a separate return
method as if the Company was a separate group of companies under common ownership. Under this method, the Company is assumed to file hypothetical separate
returns with the tax authorities, thereby reporting its taxable income or loss and paying the applicable tax to or receiving the appropriate refund from Kellanova. The
Company reports deferred taxes on its temporary differences and on any carryforwards that it could claim on its hypothetical returns. Cash tax payments, current and
deferred tax balances and unremitted foreign earnings may not be reflective of the Company’s actual tax balances prior to or subsequent to the distribution.
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The Company manages its business and reports its operations in one operating and reportable segment, engaged in the manufacturing, marketing and sales of cereal
products in North America. Consistent with our operational structure, our Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”), makes resource allocation and business decisions
on a consolidated basis. Our CODM also uses consolidated single-segment financial information for the purpose of evaluating financial performance, allocating
resources, setting incentive compensation targets, as well as forecasting future period financial results.

The Company’s fiscal year normally ends on the Saturday closest to December 31 and as a result, a 53rd week is added approximately every sixth year. The Company’s
2024, 2023 2022 and 2021 2022 fiscal years each contained 52 weeks and ended on December 30, 2023, 28, 2024, December 30, 2023, and December 31, 2022, and
January 1, 2022, respectively. Certain prior period amounts have been updated to conform to the current period presentation.

During the second quarter of 2023, the Company identified certain immaterial errors in its unaudited historical Combined Financial Statements as of
and for the three month period ended April 1, 2023, related primarily to certain information technology, inventory and operational costs recorded by
Kellanova which should have been recorded by WK Kellogg Co in its previously issued Unaudited Combined Statement of Cash Flows for the three
month period ended April 1, 2023. Although management has determined that such errors did not materially misstate such prior financial statements,
the Company has revised its Unaudited Combined Statement of Cash Flows to increase Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities by
$6 million and decrease Net cash provided by operating activities by $5 million resulting in a net Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
associated with a cash infusion from Kellanova of $1  million. This revision has no impact on our Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
December 30, 2023 as presented in this Form 10-K.

The financial information included in the Consolidated Financial Statements reflects all adjustments, all of which are of a normal and recurring nature, that management
believes are necessary for a fair statement of the results of operations, comprehensive income (loss), financial position, equity and cash flows for the periods
presented.Certain prior period amounts have been updated to conform to the current period presentation.

NOTE 2
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the periods reported. The Company's critical estimates include those related to promotional expenditures, retirement
benefits, and income taxes. Actual results could differ from those estimates and could be impacted from macroeconomic conditions.

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Highly liquid investments with remaining stated maturities of three months or less when purchased are considered cash equivalents and recorded at cost. A portion of
cash received related to the accounts receivable factoring program is restricted as part of the collateralization agreement. As of December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024
and December 31, 2022 December 30, 2023, the amount of restricted cash was $13 $15  million and $0 $13  million, respectively, and is included in cash and cash
equivalents in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Accounts receivable
Accounts receivable consists principally of trade receivables, which are recorded at the invoiced amount, net of allowances for expected credit losses and prompt
payment discounts. Trade receivables do not bear interest. The allowance for expected credit losses represents management’s estimate of the amount of probable credit
losses in existing accounts receivable, as determined from a review of past due balances, historical loss information, and an evaluation of customer accounts for
potential future losses. Account balances are written off against the allowance when management determines the receivable is uncollectible. The allowance for expected
credit losses, additions charged to expense and expected credit losses charged to the reserve were immaterial for all periods presented. For the fiscal years-ended
2023 2024 and 2022 2023 the Company did not have off-balance sheet credit exposure related to its customers. Please refer to Note 3 "Sale of Accounts Receivable" for
information on sales of accounts receivable.

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost is determined on an average cost basis.
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Property
The Company’s property consists mainly of plants and equipment used for manufacturing activities. These assets are recorded at cost and depreciated over estimated
useful lives using straight-line methods for financial reporting and accelerated methods, where permitted, for tax reporting. Major property categories are depreciated
over various periods as follows (in years): buildings 10-50; manufacturing machinery and equipment 15-30; vehicles 4-7; office furniture and fixtures 5.

Plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when conditions indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Such conditions include an extended period
of idleness or a plan of disposal. Assets to be disposed of at a future date are depreciated over the remaining period of use. Assets to be sold are written down to
realizable value at the time the assets are being actively marketed for sale and a sale is expected to occur within one year. There were no material assets held for sale
as of December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024 or December 31, 2022 December 30, 2023.
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Cloud computing arrangements
The Company defers costs incurred with the implementation of a cloud computing arrangement (“CCA”), consistent with guidance for software developed or obtained for
internal use. The deferred implementation costs of cloud computing arrangements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the cloud computing
arrangement, ranging from three to five years, in the same line item in the Consolidated Statement of Income as the associated hosting fees. Implementation costs
include activities such as integrating, configuring and customizing the related software. Capitalized implementation costs, which are recorded as a component of other
assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets, was $18 million as of December 28, 2024 and December 30, 2023, and the related accumulated amortization was $5 million
and $2 million, respectively.

Goodwill and other intangible assets
Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangibles are not amortized, but are evaluated for impairment as part of the Company's annual business planning cycle in the fourth
quarter of each year, or when impairment indicators are present. In preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company's goodwill and indefinite-life
intangible assets were evaluated for potential impairment on a standalone basis.

For goodwill and indefinite lived intangibles, we consider qualitative factors to assess if it is more likely than not that the fair value of these assets is below the carrying
value. We may also elect to bypass the qualitative assessment and perform a quantitative assessment.

For qualitative assessments, the Company analyzes a variety of factors that may influence the fair value of the asset, including but not limited to macroeconomic
conditions, cost factors, industry and market conditions, holistic financial performance, share price and other relevant factors.

Goodwill
We review our operating segment and reporting unit structure annually or as significant changes in the organization occur and assess goodwill impairment risk
throughout the year by performing a qualitative review of entity-specific, industry, market and general economic factors affecting our reporting units with goodwill.
Annually during the fourth quarter, in conjunction with our annual budgeting process, we may perform qualitative testing, or depending on factors such as prior-year test
results, current year developments, current risk evaluations and other practical considerations, we may instead perform a quantitative impairment test.

In our quantitative testing, we compare a reporting unit’s estimated fair value with its carrying value with a reporting unit’s fair value being estimated using market
multiples. This approach employs market multiples based on either sales or earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization for companies that are
comparable to our reporting units.In ours. In the event the fair value determined using the market multiple approach is close to carrying value, we may supplement the
fair value determination using discounted cash flows that incorporates assumptions surrounding planned growth rates, market-based discount rates and estimates of
residual value. The assumptions used for the impairment test are consistent with those utilized by a market participant performing similar valuations for our reporting
units. unit. These estimates are made using various inputs including historical data, current and anticipated market conditions, management plans, and market
comparables. If the carrying value of our reporting unit exceeds its fair value, we consider the reporting unit impaired and reduce its carrying value of goodwill such that
the reporting unit’s new carrying value is the estimated fair value.

Intangible Assets
The Company assesses indefinite-life intangible assets impairment risk throughout the year by performing a qualitative review and assessing events and circumstances
that could affect the fair value or carrying value of these intangible assets. In the event a quantitative test is performed, the Company compares an intangible asset’s
estimated fair value, determined using a relief from royalty approach, with its carrying value, with the intangible asset’s fair value being determined using estimates of
future cash flows to be generated from that asset based on estimates of future sales, as well as assumptions surrounding earnings growth rates, royalty rates and
discount rates consistent with rates used by market participants. These estimates are made using various inputs including historical data, current and anticipated market
conditions, management plans, and market comparables. If the carrying value of the asset exceeds its fair value, we consider the asset impaired and reduce its carrying
value to the estimated fair value. The Company does not have any definite-life intangible assets.
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Supplier Financing Programs
The Company has agreements with third parties to provide accounts payable tracking systems which facilitate participating suppliers’ ability to monitor and, if elected,
sell payment obligations from the Company to designated third-party financial institutions. Participating suppliers may, at their sole discretion, make offers to sell one or
more payment obligations of the Company prior to their scheduled due dates at a discounted price to participating financial institutions. The Company’s goal is to capture
overall supplier savings, in the form of payment terms or vendor funding, and the agreements facilitate the suppliers’ ability to sell payment obligations, while providing
them with greater working capital flexibility. The Company has no economic interest in the sale of these suppliers’ receivables and no direct financial relationship with the
financial institutions concerning these services. The Company’s obligations to its suppliers, including amounts due and scheduled payment dates, are not impacted by
suppliers’ decisions to sell amounts under the arrangements.  However, the Company’s right to offset balances due from suppliers against payment obligations is
restricted by the agreements for those payment obligations that have been sold by suppliers.

The payment of these obligations by the Company is included in cash used in operating activities in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. As of December 28,
2024, $132 million of the Company’s outstanding payment obligations had been placed in the accounts payable tracking system. As of December 30, 2023, $142 million
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of the Company’s outstanding payment obligations had been placed in the accounts payable tracking system. Prior to

The following table presents the Spin-Off, change in the Company participated in Kellanova's supplier financing program, resulting in $138 million of the Company’s
outstanding payment obligations placed in the accounts payable tracking system as of December 31, 2022. obligations:

(millions) 2024

Confirmed obligations outstanding at the beginning of the period $ 142

Invoices confirmed during the period 542

Confirmed invoices paid during the period (550)

Foreign currency impact (2)

Confirmed obligations outstanding at the end of the period $ 132

Revenue recognition
The Company recognizes sales upon delivery of its products to customers. Revenue, which includes shipping and handling charges billed to the customer, is reported
net of applicable discounts, returns, allowances, and various government withholding taxes. Methodologies for determining these provisions are dependent on local
customer pricing and promotional practices, which range from contractually fixed percentage price reductions to reimbursement based on actual occurrence or
performance. Where applicable, future reimbursements are estimated based on a combination of historical patterns and future expectations regarding specific in-market
product performance.

The Company recognizes revenue from the sale of food products which are sold to retailers through direct sales forces, broker and distributor arrangements. The
Company also recognizes revenue from the license of our trademarks granted to third parties who use these trademarks on their merchandise. Revenue from these
licenses is not material to the Company.

Contract balances recognized in the current period that are not the result of current period performance are not material to the Company. The Company also does not
incur costs to obtain or fulfill contracts.

The Company does not adjust the promised amount of consideration for the effects of significant financing components as the Company expects, at contract inception,
that the period between the transfer of a promised good or service to a customer and when the customer pays for that good or service will be one year or less.

The Company accounts for shipping and handling activities that occur before the customer has obtained control of a good as fulfillment activities recorded in cost of
goods sold ("COGS") rather than as a promised service.

The Company excludes from the measurement of transaction price all taxes assessed by a governmental authority that are both imposed on and concurrent with a
specific revenue-producing transaction and collected by the Company from a customer for sales taxes.

Performance obligations

The Company recognizes revenue when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied by transferring control of the goods to customers. Control is transferred upon
delivery of the goods to the customer. The customer is invoiced with payment terms which are commensurate with the customer’s credit profile. Shipping and/or handling
costs that occur before the customer obtains control of the goods are deemed to be fulfillment activities and are accounted for as fulfillment costs.

The Company assesses the goods and services promised in its customers’ purchase orders and identifies a performance obligation for each promise to transfer a good
or service (or bundle of goods or services) that is distinct. To identify the performance obligations, the Company considers all the goods or services promised, whether
explicitly stated or implied based on customary business practices. For a purchase order that has more
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than one performance obligation, the Company allocates the total consideration to each distinct performance obligation on a relative standalone selling price basis.

Significant Judgments

The Company offers various forms of trade promotions and the methodologies for determining these provisions are dependent on local customer pricing and promotional
practices, which range from contractually fixed percentage price reductions to provisions based on actual occurrence or performance. Where applicable, future
provisions are estimated based on a combination of historical patterns and future expectations regarding specific in-market product performance.

The Company's promotional activities are conducted either through the retail trade or directly with consumers and include activities such as in-store displays and events,
feature price discounts, consumer coupons, contests and loyalty programs. The costs of these activities are generally recognized at the time the related revenue is
recorded, which normally precedes the actual cash expenditure. The recognition of these costs therefore requires management judgment regarding the volume of
promotional offers that will be redeemed by either the retail trade or consumer. These estimates are made using various techniques including historical data on
performance of similar promotional programs. Differences between estimated expense and actual redemptions are normally immaterial in relation to net sales and
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recognized as a change in management estimate in a subsequent period. The liability associated with these promotions was recorded in accrued advertising and
promotion which amounted to $121 million $98 million and $103 $121 million as of December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024 and December 31, 2022 December 30, 2023,
respectively.

The Company classifies promotional expenditures to its customers, the cost of consumer coupons, and other cash redemption offers in net sales.

Advertising and promotion
The Company expenses production costs of advertising the first time the advertising takes place. Advertising expense is classified in selling, general and administrative
("SGA") expense.

The Company also classifies consumer promotional expenditures in SGA expense. These promotional expenses are estimated using various techniques including
historical cash expenditure and redemption experience and patterns. Differences between estimated expense and actual redemptions are normally immaterial and
recognized as a change in management estimate in a subsequent period. The liability associated with these advertising and promotional activities is recorded in accrued
advertising and promotion.

The cost of promotional package inserts is recorded in COGS.

Research and development
The costs of research and development ("R&D") are expensed as incurred and are classified in SGA expense. R&D includes expenditures for new product and process
innovation, as well as significant technological improvements to existing processes. The Company’s R&D expenditures primarily consist of internal salaries, wages,
consulting, and supplies attributable to time spent on R&D activities. Other costs include depreciation and maintenance of research facilities and equipment, including
assets at manufacturing locations that are temporarily engaged in pilot plant activities.

Stock-based compensation
The Company uses stock-based compensation, including restricted stock, restricted stock units, and executive performance shares, stock units, to provide long-term
performance incentives for its workforce.

The Company classifies pre-tax stock compensation expense in SGA expense and COGS within its corporate operations. Expense attributable to awards of equity
instruments is recorded in capital in excess of par value in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Certain of the Company’s stock-based compensation plans contain provisions that prorate vesting of awards upon retirement, disability, or death of eligible employees
and directors. A stock-based award is considered vested for expense attribution purposes when the employee’s retention of the award is no longer contingent on
providing subsequent service. Accordingly, the Company recognizes compensation cost immediately for awards granted to retirement-eligible individuals or over the
period from the grant date to the date retirement eligibility is achieved, if less than the stated vesting period. Any forfeitures for non-retirement eligible individuals are
recognized when incurred.
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Income taxes
The Company recognizes uncertain tax positions based on a benefit recognition model. Provided that the tax position is deemed more likely than not of being sustained,
the Company recognizes the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than 50 percent likely of being ultimately realized upon settlement. The tax position is
derecognized when it is no longer more likely than not of being sustained. The Company recognizes taxes due under the Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income (GILTI)
provision as current period expense and income tax-related interest and penalties as interest expense and SGA expense, respectively, on the Consolidated Statements
of Income. The current portion of the Company’s unrecognized tax benefits is presented in the Consolidated Balance Sheets in other current assets and other current
liabilities, and the amounts expected to be settled after one year are recorded in other assets and other liabilities.

Management monitors the Company’s ability to utilize certain future tax deductions, operating losses and tax credit carryforwards, prior to expiration as well as the
reinvestment assertion regarding our undistributed foreign earnings. Changes resulting from management’s assessment will result in impacts to deferred tax assets and
the corresponding impacts on the effective income tax rate. Valuation allowances were recorded to reduce deferred tax assets to an amount that will, more likely than
not, be realized in the future.

Derivative Instruments
The Company uses financial instruments in the management of foreign currency and commodity price risks that are inherent to its business operations. Such
instruments are not held or issued for trading purposes.

The Company is exposed to fluctuations in foreign currency cash flows related primarily to third-party purchases and intercompany transactions. Additionally, the
Company is exposed to volatility in the translation of foreign currency denominated earnings to U.S. dollars. The Company assesses foreign currency risk based on
transactional cash flows and translational volatility and may enter into forward contracts, options, and currency swaps to reduce fluctuations in long or short currency
positions. Forward contracts and options are generally less than 18 months in duration.
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Gains and losses representing either hedge ineffectiveness, hedge components excluded from the assessment of effectiveness, or hedges of translational exposure are
recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Income on the same line as the underlying hedged transaction.

Derivative instruments are classified on the Consolidated Balance Sheets based on the contractual maturity of the instrument or the timing of the underlying cash flows
of the instrument for derivatives with contractual maturities beyond one year. Any collateral associated with derivative instruments is classified as other assets or other
current liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets depending on whether the counterparty collateral is in an asset or liability position. Margin deposits related to
exchange-traded commodities are recorded in accounts receivable, net on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. On the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, cash flows
associated with derivative instruments are classified according to the nature of the underlying hedged item. Cash flows associated with collateral and margin deposits on
exchange-traded commodities are classified as investing cash flows when the collateral account is in an asset position and as financing cash flows when the collateral
account is in a liability position.

Qualifying derivatives are accounted for as cash flow hedges when the hedged item is a forecasted transaction. Gains and losses on these instruments are recorded in
other comprehensive income until the underlying transaction is recorded in earnings. When the hedged item is realized, gains or losses are reclassified from
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) ("AOCI") to the Consolidated Statements of Income on the same line item as the underlying hedged transaction.

Qualifying derivatives are accounted for as fair value hedges when the hedged item is a recognized asset, liability, or firm commitment. Gains and losses on these
instruments are recorded in earnings, offsetting gains and losses on the hedged item.

Pension benefits, nonpension postretirement and postemployment benefits
The Company sponsors a number of U.S., Canadian and Mexican plans to provide pension, health care, and other welfare benefits to retired employees, as well as
salary continuance, severance, and long-term disability to former or inactive employees.

The recognition of benefit expense is based on actuarial assumptions, such as discount rate, long-term rate of compensation increase, and long-term rate of return on
plan assets and health care cost trend rate. Service cost is
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reported in COGS and SGA expense on the Consolidated Statements of Income. All other components of net periodic pension cost are included in other income
(expense) ("OIE").

Pension and nonpension postretirement benefits.  The Company recognizes actuarial gains and losses in operating results in the year in which they occur. Experience
gains and losses are recognized annually as of the measurement date, which is the Company’s fiscal year-end, or when remeasurement is otherwise required under
generally accepted accounting principles. The Company uses the fair value of plan assets to calculate the expected return on plan assets.

Postemployment benefits.  The Company recognizes an obligation for postemployment benefit plans that vest or accumulate with service. Obligations associated with
the Company’s postemployment benefit plans, which are unfunded, are included in other current liabilities and other liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. All
gains and losses are recognized over the average remaining service period of active plan participants. Postemployment benefits that do not vest or accumulate with
service or benefits to employees in excess of those specified in the respective plans are expensed as incurred.

Management reviews the Company’s expected long-term rates of return annually; however, the benefit trust investment performance for one particular year does not, by
itself, significantly influence this evaluation. The expected rates of return are generally not revised provided these rates fall between the 25th and 75th percentile of
expected long-term returns, as determined by the Company’s modeling process.

For defined benefit pension and postretirement plans, the Company records the net overfunded or underfunded position as a pension asset or pension liability on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Leases
The Company leases certain warehouses, equipment, vehicles, and office space primarily through operating lease agreements. Finance lease obligations and activity
are not material to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Lease obligations are primarily for real estate assets, with the remainder related to manufacturing and
distribution related equipment and vehicles. Leases with an initial term of 12 months or less are not recorded on the balance sheet.

A portion of the Company's real estate leases include future variable rental payments that include inflationary adjustment factors. The future variability of these
adjustments is unknown and therefore not included in the minimum lease payments. The Company's lease agreements do not contain any material residual value
guarantees or material restrictive covenants.

The leases have remaining terms which range from less than 1 year to 9 years and the majority of leases provide the Company with the option to exercise one or more
renewal terms. The length of the lease term used in recording lease assets and lease liabilities is based on the contractually required lease term adjusted for any options
to renew or early terminate the lease that are reasonably certain of being executed.

The Company combines lease and non-lease components together in determining the minimum lease payments for the majority of leases. The Company has elected to
not combine lease and non-lease components for assets controlled indirectly through third party service-related agreements that include significant production related
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costs. The Company has closely analyzed these agreements to ensure any embedded costs related to the securing of the leased asset is properly segregated and
accounted for in measuring the lease assets and liabilities.

The majority of the leases do not include a stated interest rate, and therefore the Company's periodic incremental borrowing rate is used to determine the present value
of lease payments. This rate is calculated based on a collateralized rate for the specific currencies used in leasing activities and the borrowing ability of the applicable
Company legal entity.

Foreign currency translation
Our operations outside of the United States (U.S.) are recorded in the functional currency of each foreign entity which is determined by a review of the environment
where each foreign entity primarily generates and expends cash. The results of operations for our foreign entities are translated from functional currencies into U.S.
dollars using the weighted average currency rate for the period. Assets and liabilities are translated using the period end exchange rates. The U.S. dollar effects that
arise from translating the net assets of these foreign entities are recorded in Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income.
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Accounting standards adopted during the period

Supplier Finance Programs: Disclosure of Supplier Finance Program Obligations:Disclosure of Supplier Finance Program Obligations. In September 2022, the Financial
Accounting Standards Board issued an Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") to improve the disclosures of supplier finance programs. Specifically, the ASU requires
disclosure of key terms of the supplier finance programs and a rollforward of the related obligations. The amendments in this ASU do not affect the recognition,
measurement, or financial statement presentation of obligations covered by supplier finance programs. The ASU is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within
those years, beginning after December 15, 2022, except for the amendment on rollforward information, which is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2023. Early adoption is permitted. The Company adopted the ASU in the first quarter of 2023.

Accounting standards adopted in future periods

Segment Reporting: Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures: The amendments in this update improve reportable segment disclosure requirements, primarily
through enhanced disclosures about significant segment expenses. The amendments apply to all public entities that are required to report segment information in
accordance with Topic 280. All public entities will be required to report segment information in accordance with the new guidance starting in annual periods beginning
after December 15, 2023. The Company is currently assessing the impact of adopted this ASU for the year-ended December 28, 2024, and it did not have a material
impact on its disclosures. our consolidated financial statements.

Accounting standards to be adopted in future periods

Income Taxes: Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures: The amendments in this update require that public business entities on an annual basis (1) disclose specific
categories in the rate reconciliation and (2) provide additional information for reconciling items that meet a quantitative threshold (if the effect of those reconciling items is
equal to or greater than 5 percent of the amount computed by multiplying pretax income or loss by the applicable statutory income tax rate). The amendments in this
Update are effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024. The Company is currently assessing evaluating the impact the adoption of this standard will
have on its disclosures.

Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses:In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03, Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses (“DISE”). This
standard requires all public entities to provide additional disclosure about the nature of the expenses included in the income statement. The DISE will require disclosure
about specific types of expenses included within the expense caption presented on the face of the income statement, as well as, additional disclosure about selling
expenses. This standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2026 and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2027, with
early adoption permitted. The Company intends to adopt the updated standard for the fiscal year ending January 1, 2028. The Company is currently evaluating the
impact the adoption of this standard will have on its disclosures.

NOTE 3
SALE OF ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

The Company has a program in which a discrete group of customers are allowed to extend their payment terms in exchange for the elimination of early payment
discounts (Extended Terms Program).

Following the Spin-Off, the Company entered into a factoring monetization agreement with an unaffiliated financial institution specifically designed to factor trade
receivables with certain customers that have extended terms. participate in the Extended Terms Program. Under this factoring arrangement, from time to time, the
Company sells these certain customers’ trade receivables at a discount on a non-recourse basis. A portion of the cash proceeds is subject to certain restrictions.
Transfers under these agreements are accounted for as sales of receivables resulting in the receivables being de-recognized from the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
The factoring program provides for the continuing sale of certain receivables on a revolving basis until terminated by either party; however, the maximum receivables that
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may be sold at any time is approximately $350 million. During the fourth quarter of 2023, the Company amended the previous factoring agreements to increase the
maximum receivables sold limit from $250 million to $350 million.

For all periods prior to the Spin-Off, the Company participated in Kellanova's monetization program and received an allocation of the recorded net loss on sale of
receivables, based on the proportion of monetized receivable. Kellanova's program allowed for maximum receivables sold at one time of $1.1 billion.

The Company has no retained interest in the receivables sold, however the Company does have collection and administrative responsibilities for the sold receivables.
The Company has not recorded any servicing assets or liabilities as of December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024 and December 31, 2022 December 30, 2023 for these
agreements as the fair value of these servicing arrangements as well as the fees earned were not material to the financial statements. Accounts receivable sold of $266
million $307 million and $256 million $266 million remained outstanding under these arrangements as of December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024 and December 31,
2022 December 30, 2023, respectively. The proceeds from these sales of receivables are included in cash from operating activities in the Consolidated Statement of
Cash Flows. The recorded net loss on sale of receivables was $13 million $18 million, $7 million $13 million and $2 million $7 million for the years-ended December 30,
2023 December 28, 2024, December 31, 2022 December 30, 2023 and January 1, 2022 December 31, 2022, respectively. The recorded loss is included in Other income
(expense).
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A portion of cash received related to the accounts receivable factoring program is restricted as part of the Extended Terms Program collateralization agreement. As of
December 28, 2024and December 30, 2023, the amount of restricted cash was $15 million and $13 million, respectively, and is included in Cash and cash equivalents in
the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

NOTE 4
GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The carrying amount of Goodwill and Other intangible assets are presented in the following tables:

(millions) (millions) 2023 2022 (millions) 2024 2023

Goodwill

Other intangible assets - trademarks

The Other intangible assets are indefinite in nature and are related to the Kashi and Bear Naked trademarks.

Annual impairment testing
Goodwill and intangible assets deemed to have an indefinite life are not amortized, but reviewed annually for impairment of value or when indicators of a potential
impairment are present. In preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements, our goodwill and other intangible assets were re-evaluated for potential impairment. The
Company's annual impairment testing performed during the fourth quarter of 20232024 consisted of qualitative testing for all goodwill. Intangible assets were evaluated
using quantitative testing, in which fair value was determined using a relief from royalty valuation method that includes estimates and significant assumptions of future
cash flows to be generated from that asset based on estimates of future sales, royalty rates and discount rates consistent with rates used by market participants. The
Company determined the fair value of both goodwill and the intangible assets exceeds its carrying value and no heightened risk of impairment of individual intangible
assets or reporting units was identified as it relates to goodwill and other intangible assets.

NOTE 5
RESTRUCTURING

On July 31, 2024, the Board of Directors of the Company approved a reorganization plan in connection with the Company's strategic priority to modernize its supply
chain. Under this reorganization plan, herein referred to as the restructuring plan, the Company will consolidate its manufacturing network by closing its Omaha,
Nebraska plant, with a phased reduction in production beginning in late 2025 and full closure targeted by the end of 2026, and scaling back production (which includes a
reduction in the number of manufacturing platforms) at its Memphis, Tennessee facility, commencing in late 2025. The restructuring plan was communicated to impacted
employees on August 6, 2024 and remains subject to the satisfaction of certain collective bargaining obligations. The actions under the restructuring plan are expected
to be completed by the end of fiscal year 2026.

These actions are expected to result in cumulative restructuring pretax charges of between $230 million and $270 million, including between $30 million and $40 million
in cash costs for severance and other termination benefits and between $30 million and $40 million in other cash restructuring costs related to equipment dismantlement
and other transition costs. The Company estimates between $170 million and $190 million in non-cash charges related primarily to accelerated depreciation and asset
write-offs. These charges are expected to be incurred through 2027. The amounts expected to be incurred as a result of these actions, including the timing thereof, are
estimates only and subject to a number of assumptions. Actual results may differ materially from the Company's current expectations. The Company may also incur
additional charges or other cash expenditures not currently contemplated due to unanticipated events that may occur as a result of, or associated with, these actions.

For the year-to-date period ended December 28, 2024, the Company recorded total restructuring charges of $56 million. These charges comprised of $53 million
recorded to Restructuring Costs and $3 million to Other income (expense). There were no restructuring charges recorded for the periods ended December 30, 2023 and
December 31, 2022.
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The table below provides the details for the charges incurred during the years-ended December 28, 2024, December 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, and project
costs to date for all projects currently active as of December 28, 2024:

Project costs to date

(millions) 2024 2023 2022 December 28, 2024

Employee related costs $ 20  $ —  $ —  $ 20 

Pension curtailment (gain) loss, net 3  —  —  3 

Asset related costs 31  —  —  31 

Other costs 2  —  —  2 

Total $ 56  $ —  $ —  $ 56 

Employee related costs consist of severance and other termination benefits. Pension curtailment (gain) loss consists of a curtailment loss that resulted from restructuring
plan initiatives. Asset related costs consisted primarily of accelerated depreciation of $21 million and asset write-offs and impairments of $10 million. Other costs incurred
consist primarily of legal and consulting fees.

At December 28, 2024 total project reserves were $21 million, related to severance payments and other costs, of which a substantial portion will be paid in 2026.
Employee related cost accruals are recorded to other current liabilities and other liabilities within the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Other cost accruals are recorded to
accounts payable and other current liabilities within the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The following table provides details for exit cost reserves:

(millions)

Employee


Related


Costs

Pension curtailment

(gain) loss, net

Asset Related


Costs

Other


Costs Total

Liability as of December 30, 2023 $ —  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ — 

2024 restructuring charge 20  3  31  2  56 

Cash payments —  —  —  (1) (1)

Non-cash charges and other —  (3) (31) —  (34)

Liability as of December 28, 2024 $ 20  $ —  $ —  $ 1  $ 21 

NOTE 6
EQUITY

Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share EPS is determined by dividing net income by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the year. Diluted
earnings per share EPS is similarly determined, except that the denominator is increased to include the number of additional common shares that would have been
outstanding if all dilutive potential common shares had been issued. Dilutive potential common shares consist principally of unvested restricted stock units.

On October 2, 2023, Kellanova distributed 85,631,304 shares of the Company's common stock to Kellanova's share owners in connection with the Spin-Off. For
comparative purposes, weighted average shares outstanding for the years-ended year-ended December 31, 2022 and January 1, 2022 have been retroactively recast to
reflect the effects of the changes in equity structure resulting from the Spin-Off and assume the same basic weighted average shares. For years-ended the year-ended
prior to the Spin-Off, it is assumed that there are no dilutive securities as there were no stock-based awards of WK Kellogg Co outstanding. Additionally, the

The Company has the authority to issue up to 50,000,000 shares of preferred stock, of which zero shares were issued and outstanding as of December 28, 2024 and
December 30, 2023.

Stock transactions
The Company issues shares-based awards to its directors, officers and employees under its long-term incentive plan, as further discussed in Note 8, 9, "Stock
Compensation".

Comprehensive income
Comprehensive income includes net income and all other changes in equity during a period except those resulting from investments by or distributions to share owners.
Other comprehensive income consists of foreign currency translation adjustments, fair value adjustments associated with cash flow hedges, which are recorded in
interest expense within the Consolidated Statement of Income upon reclassification from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (AOCI), and adjustments for net
experience gains (losses),  and prior service credit (costs) related to employee benefit plans, which are recorded in other income (expense) within the statement of
income, upon reclassification from AOCI. The related tax effects of these items are recorded in income tax expense within the statement of income, upon reclassification
from AOCI.
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Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) as of December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024 and December 31, 2022 December 30, 2023 consisted of the following:

(millions) (millions) December 30, 2023 December 31, 2022 (millions) December 28, 2024 December 30, 2023

Foreign currency translation adjustments

Cash flow hedges — net deferred gain (loss)

Cash flow hedges — net deferred gain (loss)

Cash flow hedges — net deferred gain (loss)

Postretirement and postemployment benefits:

Postretirement and postemployment benefits:

Postretirement and postemployment benefits:

Prior service credit (cost)

Prior service credit (cost)

Net experience gain (loss)

Net experience gain (loss)

Net experience gain (loss)

Prior service credit (cost)

Total accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

Total accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

Total accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

NOTE 6 7
LEASES AND OTHER COMMITMENTS

The Company leases certain warehouses, equipment, vehicles, and office space primarily through operating lease agreements. The Company recorded lease costs of
$18 million for the year ended December 28, 2024. Operating lease costs for all periods presented the year-to-date period ended December 30, 2023 and December 31,
2022 were immaterial to the consolidated financial statements. Right-of-use assets and liabilities are classified in other assets and other liabilities, respectfully, on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

(millions)

Year ended December 30,

2023

Year ended December 31,

2022 Year ended January 1, 2022

Other information

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:

Operating cash flows from operating leases $ —  $ —  $ — 

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for operating lease liabilities

New leases $ 19  $ —  $ — 

Modified leases $ —  $ —  $ — 

Weighted-average remaining lease term - operating leases 3 years n/a n/a

Weighted-average discount rate - operating leases 6.7% — —

(millions)

Year ended December 28,

2024

Year ended December 30,

2023

Year ended December 31,

2022

Other information

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:

Operating cash flows from operating leases $ 15  $ —  $ — 

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for operating lease liabilities

New leases $ 106  $ 19  $ — 

Modified leases $ —  $ —  $ — 

Weighted-average remaining lease term - operating leases 5 years 3 years n/a
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Weighted-average discount rate - operating leases 6.0% 6.7% —

At December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024 future maturities of operating leases were as follows:

(millions)

(millions)

(millions)

2024

2024

2024

2025

2025

2025

2026

2026

2026

2027

2027

2027

2028

2028

2028

2028 and beyond

2028 and beyond

2028 and beyond

2029

2029

2029

2030 and beyond

2030 and beyond

2030 and beyond

Total minimum payments

Total minimum payments

Total minimum payments

Less interest

Less interest

Less interest

Present value of lease liabilities

Present value of lease liabilities

Present value of lease liabilities

There were no operating leases Operating lease payments presented in the table above exclude $5 million of minimum lease payments for a real-estate lease signed but
not yet commenced as of December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024. The lease is expected to commence in 2025.

During the year ended December 28, 2024, the Company entered into lease agreements with unrelated third parties for distribution centers previously leased by
Kellanova. The leases were either transferred to the Company or subleased directly from Kellanova as outlined in the Separation and Distribution Agreement. Payments
for these leases are made on a monthly basis. Prior to the execution of these leases, use of the distribution centers was managed under the Transition Services
Agreement. The new sublease agreements executed during 2024 resulted in an increase to operating lease assets and liabilities of $99 million.

In connection with the Spin-Off, the Company executed an agreement with Kellanova, in which Kellanova leases a portion of the Company's headquarters office building
in Battle Creek, Michigan. The lease is scheduled to expire in 2035, with two optional extensions of five years each. A base rent amount, plus additional general
operating expenses are to be paid to the Company on a monthly basis. The income received during 2023 2024 related to this agreement was immaterial to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.
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NOTE 7 8
DEBT

Prior to the Spin-Off, Kellanova's third-party debt and the related interest expense was not allocated to the Company for any periods, because the Company was not a
party to the obligations between Kellanova and the debt holders.

In connection with the Spin-Off, the Company entered into a Credit Agreement (the “Credit Agreement”), consisting of a $500  million term loan (the "Term Loan"),
$250  million delayed draw term loan, and $350  million equivalent multicurrency revolving credit facility (collectively, the “Credit Facility”). Prior to the Spin-Off, the
Company distributed $663 million of the Credit Facility proceeds to Kellanova in the form of a dividend.

The Credit Facility has an initial term of five years and matures on September 12, 2028. Interest on the loans under the Credit Agreement are calculated by reference to
the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) or an alternative base rate, plus an interest rate margin equal to in the case of SOFR loans, 1.75%, and in the case of
alternate base rate loans, 0.75%, each with related step-ups and step-downs based on the Company's consolidated net leverage ratio as defined in the Credit
Agreement. Interest expense for the year years ended December 28, 2024 and December 30, 2023was $30 million and $10 million. million, respectively.

Under the Credit Facility, the Company has the right at any time, subject to customary conditions, to request incremental term loans or an increase to the revolving credit
facility in an aggregate principal amount of up to the greater of $250 million and 100% of Consolidated EBITDA, as defined in the Credit Agreement, for the preceding
four fiscal quarters of WK Kellogg Co. Any such addition of or increase in loans will be subject to certain customary conditions precedent and other provisions.

The Credit Facility also contains customary mandatory prepayments, including with respect to asset sale proceeds and proceeds from certain occurrences of
indebtedness. The Company may voluntarily repay outstanding loans under the Credit Facility at any time without premium or penalty.

The Term Loan amortizes in equal quarterly installments in an aggregate annual amount equal to (i) 2.50% in year one, (ii) 5.00% in years two and three, (iii) 7.50% in
year four and (iv) 10.00% in year five, of the original principal amount thereon, with the balance being payable on the date that is five years after the closing of the Credit
Facility.

Our obligations under the Credit Facility (collectively, “Credit Facility Obligations”) are guaranteed (the “Credit Facility Guarantees”) by our existing and future direct and
indirect subsidiaries of the Company (in such capacity, the “Credit Facility Guarantors”). The Credit Facility Obligations are expected to be secured by first priority liens
on substantially all assets, subject to customary exceptions, of the Company and the Credit Facility Guarantors. The Credit Facility Guarantees and security interest of a
Credit Facility Guarantor may be released where such Credit Facility Guarantor ceases to be a consolidated subsidiary of us pursuant to a transaction permitted under
the Credit Facility. The Credit Facility contains various covenants, including, for example, those that restrict our ability and the ability of our consolidated subsidiaries to
incur certain types of indebtedness or to grant certain liens on their respective property or assets. The Company was in compliance with all financial covenants contained
in these agreements as of December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024.

In connection with the Credit Facility issuance, the Company incurred $7 million of debt issuance costs, of which $5 million is related to the term loan and is reflected as
a reduction in long-term debt and current maturities of long-term debt, and $2 million is related to the revolving credit facility and is reflected in other assets. Amortization
of debt issuance costs for the year-ended December 28, 2024 was $2  million. Amortization of debt issuance costs for the year-ended December 30, 2023 was
immaterial.

As of December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024, outstanding borrowings under the Credit Facility were $500 $536 million, comprised of a $500 the $488 million term loan
and $48 million revolving credit facility, of which $9 $73 million was recognized as the current portion. As of December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024, there was an
additional $600 $552 million available for future borrowing under the Credit Facility.

Scheduled principal repayments on long-term debt the Term Loan are (in millions): 2024 - $9; 2025 - $28; $25; 2026 - $25; 2027 - $38; and 2028 - $400.
68

NOTE 8 9
STOCK COMPENSATION

The Company uses various equity-based compensation programs to provide long-term performance incentives for its officers and certain employees. Currently, these
incentives consist principally of restricted stock units and performance stock units. The Company also sponsors an employee discounted stock purchase plan in the
United States. States and Canada. Additionally, the Company awards shares of common restricted stock to its outside directors as part of their compensation for serving
on the Board.

Prior to the Spin-Off, certain Company employees participated in Kellanova's restricted stock unit and performance incentive plan. In connection with the Spin-Off, the
Company's Board of Directors approved the 2023 Long-Term Incentive Plan (“2023 Plan”). The 2023 Plan provides for a grant consisting of incentive performance units,
restricted stock or restricted stock units, and stock appreciation rights.
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Under the Company’s 2023 Plan, 5.1 10.1 million shares have been authorized to be granted to employees and officers. As of December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024,
there were 3.0 6.7 million remaining authorized, but unissued shares under the 2023 Plan.

Also, in connection with the Spin-Off, the Company's Board of Directors approved the WK Kellogg Co 2023 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”). The plan is a tax-
qualified employee stock purchase plan made available to substantially all U.S. employees, which allows participants to acquire WK Kellogg Co stock at a discounted
price. The purpose of the plan is to encourage employees at all levels to purchase stock and become share owners.

Spin-Off Impacts
Under the terms of the Employee Matters Agreement between the Company and Kellanova, in connection with the Spin-Off, performance stock unit awards granted to
Company employees under the Kellanova's Plan were converted to performance stock units under the Company's 2023 Plan. Adjustments to the underlying shares and
terms of performance units were made to preserve the intrinsic value of the awards immediately before the Spin-Off. The adjustment of the underlying shares and
exercise prices, as applicable, was determined using a conversion ratio of 4.44 based on the relative values of the Kellanova's pre-Spin-Off stock price and the
Company's post-Spin-Off stock price. The outstanding awards continue to vest over their original vesting periods and otherwise remain subject to the same terms and
conditions that applied prior to the Spin-Off.

In addition, Company employees who have been granted performance stock share unit awards and restricted stock unit awards prior to 2023 under the previous
Kellanova Long Term Incentive Plan, will receive these awards in the form of Kellanova stock under existing terms and conditions of vesting and settlement. The
associated compensation expense of these awards will be recognized by the Company in accordance with the Employee Matters Agreement.

For the periods prior to the Spin-Off, stock compensation expense related to employees have been allocated to the Company and recorded in cost of goods sold
("COGS") and selling general and administrative ("SGA") expense in the Combined Consolidated Statement of Income. The non-cash stock compensation expense
allocated to the Consolidated Financial Statements prior to the Spin-Off was related to the Company's dedicated employees that were specifically identified based on
awards received under Kellanova’s plans. Stock compensation expense for corporate or shared employees was allocated to WK Kellogg Co primarily based on gross
sales value.

Income Statement Impact
Compensation expense for all types of equity-based programs and the related income tax benefit recognized were as follows:

(millions) (millions) 2023 2022 2021 (millions) 2024 2023 2022

Pre-tax compensation expense - direct

Pre-tax compensation expense - allocated

Pre-tax compensation expense - direct and allocated

Related income tax benefit

As of December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024, total stock-based compensation cost related to non-vested awards not yet recognized was $25 million $27 million and the
weighted-average period over which this amount is expected to be recognized was 2.28 2 years.

69

Shares used to satisfy stock-based awards are issued out of authorized shares to the extent permitted by the respective plan provision. Refer to Note 5, "Equity" for
information on shares issued during the periods presented to employees

Restricted Stock Units and directors under the long-term incentive plan.

Restricted Performance Stock Units
During the periods presented, stock-based awards consisted principally of restricted stock units and performance stock units granted under the 2023 Plan.

In connection with the Spin-Off, the Company converted previously granted performance shares stock units to restricted stock units which entitle these employees to
receive a specified number of shares of the Company's common stock upon vesting, as well as dividend equivalent shares. The number of shares at conversion was
100% of the target amount. The associated dividend equivalents accrue and vest in accordance with the underlying award. Modification charges related to the
conversion of awards were immaterial.

In the first quarter of 2024, the Company granted performance stock units to eligible employees, which entitle these employees to receive a specified number of shares
of the Company's common stock upon vesting, as well as, dividend equivalent shares. The number of share earned could range between 0% and 200% of the target
amount depending upon performance achieved over the three year performance period. The performance conditions of the award include net sales growth and cash
flow related targets. Dividend equivalent shares accrue and vest in accordance with the underlying award. The 2024 target performance share unit currently corresponds
with approximate 637,000 shares, with a grant-date fair value of $15 per share.
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Based on the market price of the Company's common stock at year-end 2024, the maximum future values that could be awarded on the vesting date was $22 million for
the 2024 award.

Restricted stock units typically have a three-year cliff vesting earning dividend equivalent units for awards granted beginning in 2023. Dividend equivalents accrue and
vest in accordance with the underlying award. Management estimates the fair value of restricted stock grants based on the market price of the underlying stock on the
date of grant.

A summary of restricted stock unit activity, including the converted performance shares, for the year ended December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024, is presented in the
following table:

Employee restricted stock

units

Employee restricted stock

units

Shares

(thousands)

Weighted-average grant-date fair

value

Employee restricted stock

units

Shares

(thousands)

Weighted-average grant-date fair

value

Non-vested, beginning of year

Granted

Vested

Forfeited

Non-vested, end of year

Additionally, restricted stock unit activity for 2023, including the converted performance stock units, is presented in the following table:

Employee restricted stock units 2023

Shares (in thousands):

Non-vested, beginning of year — 

Granted 2,007 

Vested — 

Forfeited (10)

Non-vested, end of year 1,997 

Weighted-average exercise price:

Non-vested, beginning of year $ — 

Granted 13 

Vested — 

Forfeited 11 

Non-vested, end of year $

No

The total value of the restricted stock units vesting occurred in the periods presented. presented was (in millions) : 2024 - $1 ; 2023 - $0.

NOTE 9 10
PENSION AND POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Company sponsors a pension plan in the United States and several plans in the United States and Canada that provide health care and other welfare benefits to
retired employees, who have met certain age and service requirements. The majority of these plans are funded or unfunded defined benefit plans or defined contribution
plans for certain employee groups. Defined benefits for salaried employees are generally based on salary and years of service, while union employee benefits are
generally a negotiated amount for each year of service. The Company contributes to voluntary employee benefits association ("VEBA") trusts to fund certain U.S. retiree
health and welfare benefit obligations. The Company uses a December 31 measurement date for these plans and, when necessary, adjusts for plan contributions and
significant events between December 31 and its fiscal year-end.

Spin-Off Impacts
Prior to the Spin-Off, our employees participated in certain plans sponsored by Kellanova, which include participants of Kellanova’s other businesses. As a result, such
plans were accounted for as multiemployer plans and no asset or liability was recorded by the Company to recognize the funded status of these plans. In connection
with the Spin-Off, certain pension and nonpension postretirement plans (collectively, the "Plans") that were previously sponsored by Kellanova were divided such that the
plans became dedicated to our employees and sponsored by WK Kellogg Co. As such, the Company was required to assume certain pension and postretirement assets
and liabilities, along with associated deferred costs, in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). Kellanova incurred remeasurement gains upon separation of the
Plans, of which $32 million was allocated to WK Kellogg Co. The remeasurement recognized by Kellanova was primarily due to the amendment of the Plans to split them
in anticipation of the Spin-Off. Remeasurement losses were recognized on the pension plans due to a lower-than-expected return on plan assets and were offset by
remeasurement gains on the postretirement plans due to a higher-than-expected return on plan assets. The Company did not make any contributions to these plans in
2023.
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Expense
The following table summarizes the allocated expenses that were allocated to the company's Plans prior to the Spin-Off:

Type of plan

Type of plan

Type of plan Type of plan 2023 2022 2021 2023 2022

Pension plans:

Direct plan

Direct plan

Direct plan

Shared plans (multiemployer)

Shared plans (multiemployer)

Nonpension postretirement plans:

Direct plan

Direct plan

Direct plan

Shared plans (multiemployer)

Shared plans (multiemployer)

Total pension and nonpension postretirement (income)/expense

The components of pension expense are presented in the following table for all plans directly attributable to the Company after the Spin-Off occurred. Service cost is
recorded in COGS and SGA expense. All other components of net periodic benefit cost expense (income) are included in OIE.

Pension Benefits Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits

(millions) (millions) 2023 2022 2021 2023 2022 2021 (millions) 2024 2023 2022 2024 2023 2022

Service cost

Interest cost

Expected return on plan assets

Amortization of unrecognized prior service cost

Recognized net (gain) loss

Recognized net (gain) loss

Recognized net (gain) loss

Recognized (gain) loss, net

Curtailment (gain) loss, net

Curtailment (gain) loss, net

Curtailment (gain) loss, net

Net periodic benefit expense (income)

The Company, and Kellanova prior to the Spin-Off, sponsor 401(k) or similar defined contribution savings plans for active employees. Expense related to these plans
was $18 million in 2024, $6 million in 2023 and immaterial in all prior periods. 2022. Company contributions to these savings plans approximate annual expense.

Obligations and funded status
The aggregate change in projected benefit obligation, plan assets, and funded status is presented in the following tables:

Pension Benefits Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits

(millions) (millions) 2023 2022 2023 2022 (millions) 2024 2023 2024 2023

Change in projected benefit obligation

Beginning of year
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Beginning of year

Beginning of year

Service cost

Interest cost

Actuarial (gain)loss

Actuarial (gain)loss

Actuarial (gain)loss

Benefits paid

Benefits paid, net of reimbursements (a)

Spin-Off impacts

Foreign currency adjustments

Foreign currency adjustments

End of year

Foreign currency adjustments

End of year

End of year

Change in plan assets

Fair value beginning of year

Fair value beginning of year

Fair value beginning of year

Actual return on plan assets

Employer contributions

Benefits paid

Benefits paid

Benefits paid

Spin-Off impacts

Fair value end of year

Fair value end of year

Fair value end of year

Funded (unfunded) status
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(a) Benefits paid for postretirement plans include rebates and other anticipated subsidies from plan vendors.

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheet consist of:

Pension Benefits Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits

(millions) (millions) 2023 2022 2023 2022 (millions) 2024 2023 2024 2023

Postretirement plan assets

Other current liabilities

Pension liability

Non-pension postretirement liability

Pension liability

Pension liability

Other liabilities

Net amount recognized
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Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income consist of:

Pension Benefits Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits

(millions) (millions) 2023 2022 2023 2022 (millions) 2024 2023 2024 2023

Prior service cost

Net amount recognized

The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit pension plans was $605 $572  million  at December 28, 2024 and $605 million at December 30, 2023.
Information for pension and postretirement plans with accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets were:

Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits

(millions) 2023 2022 2023 2022

Projected benefit obligation $ 605  $ —  n/a $ — 

Accumulated benefit obligation $ 605  $ —  n/a $ 16 

Fair value of plan assets $ 470  $ —  n/a $ — 

Information for pension plans with and projected benefit obligations in excess of plan assets were:

Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits

(millions) (millions) 2023 2022 (millions) 2024 2023 2024 2023

Projected benefit obligation Projected benefit obligation $ 572  $ $ 605  n/a n/a n/a

Accumulated benefit obligation Accumulated benefit obligation $ 572  $ $ 605  n/a n/a n/a

Fair value of plan assets Fair value of plan assets $ 448  $ $ 470  n/a n/a n/a

Assumptions
The weighted-average actuarial assumptions used to determine benefit obligations were:

Pension Benefits Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits

Pension

Benefits

Postretirement

Benefits

2023 2022 2021 2023 2022 2021

2024 2023 2022 2024 2023 2022

Discount rate Discount rate 5.2 % — % — % 5.2 % — % 5.2 % 2.9 % Discount rate 5.7  % 5.2 % —  % 5.6 % 5.2 % 5.2 %

Long-term rate of compensation

increase

Long-term rate of compensation

increase 6.0 % — % — % n/a n/a

Long-term rate of

compensation increase 6.0  % 6.0 % —  % n/a n/a

The weighted-average actuarial assumptions used to determine annual net periodic benefit cost were:

Pension Benefits Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits

2023 2022 2021 2023 2022 2021

2024 2023 2022 2024 2023 2022

Discount rate Discount rate 5.6 % — % — % 5.4 % 2.9 % 2.5 %

Discount

rate 5.2 % 5.6 % — % 5.1 % 5.4 % 2.9 %

Discount rate

- interest

Discount rate

- interest 5.6 % — % — % 5.4 % — % — %

Discount

rate -

interest 5.1 % 5.6 % — % 5.0 % 5.4 % — %

Long-term

rate of

compensation

increase

Long-term

rate of

compensation

increase 6.0 % — % — % n/a n/a

Long-term

rate of

compensation

increase 6.0  % 6.0 % — % n/a n/a

Long-term

rate of return

on plan

assets

Long-term

rate of return

on plan

assets 7.8 % n/a 8.0 % — % — %

Long-term

rate of return

on plan

assets 7.8  % 7.8 % n/a 8.0 % 8.0 % — %
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Long-term rate of return on plan assets: The expected long-term rate of return is evaluated on an annual basis. The Company considers several factors when setting
assumptions with respect to the long-term rate of return, including current and expected asset allocation and historical and expected returns on the plan asset
categories. Actual asset allocations are regularly reviewed and periodically rebalanced to the targeted allocations when considered appropriate. Investment gains or
losses represent the difference between the expected return estimated using the long-term rate of return and the actual return realized. Based on consolidated benefit
plan assets at December 31, 2023 December 28, 2024, a 100 basis point increase or decrease in the assumed rate of return would correspondingly decrease or
increase 2024 2025 benefits expense by approximately $12 million. For the year ended December 31, 2023 December 28, 2024, our actual return on plan assets was
greater less than the recognized assumed return by $29 $54 million.

Health care trend rates: The Company's initial health care cost trend rate is reviewed annually and adjusted as necessary to remain consistent with our expectations
regarding short-term future trends. The initial trend rate for 2024 2025 of 6.50% reflects the recognition of increased short-term inflation and the health care provisions of
the Inflation Reduction Act. Our initial rate remains flat through 2025 before trending The assumption trends downward by 0.25% per year, until the ultimate trend rate of
4.5% is reached. The ultimate trend rate is adjusted annually, as necessary, to approximate the current economic view on the rate of long-term inflation plus an
appropriate health care cost premium. Any arising health care claims cost-related experience gain or loss is recognized in the year in which they occur. The experience
gain arising during 2023 2024 from recognition of claims experience was approximately $19 $21 million.

Discount rate: The Company utilizes a full yield curve approach in the estimation of service and interest costs by applying the specific spot rates along the yield curve
used in the determination of the benefit obligation to the relevant projected cash flows. The spot rates used in this process are derived from a yield curve created from
yields on the 40th to 90th percentile of U.S. high quality bonds. This spot rate approach provides a more precise measurement of service and interest costs by improving
the correlation between the projected cash flows to the corresponding spot rates along the yield curve. Based on consolidated obligations at December 31,
2023 December 28, 2024, a 25 basis point decline in the yield curve used for benefit plan measurement purposes would decrease 2024 2025 benefits expense by
approximately $1  million and would result in an immediate loss recognition of $25 $22  million. All obligation-related actuarial gains and losses are recognized
immediately in the year in which they occur.

Despite the previously-described policies for selecting major actuarial assumptions, we periodically experience material actuarial gains or losses due to differences
between assumed and actual experience and due to changing economic conditions. During 2023 (since company inception), 2024, we recognized a net actuarial
gain loss of approximately $2 $11 million. The total net gain loss recognized in 2023 2024 was driven by a loss of approximately $54 million from less than expected asset
returns, partially offset by a gain of approximately $29 million from greater than expected asset returns and a loss of approximately $27 $43 million from plan experience,
including assumption changes.

Plan assets
The Company categorized Plan assets within a three level fair value hierarchy described as follows:

Investments stated at fair value as determined by quoted market prices (Level 1) include:

Cash and cash equivalents:  Value based on cost, which approximates fair value.

Corporate stock, common:  Value based on the last sales price on the primary exchange.

Investments stated at estimated fair value using significant observable inputs (Level 2) include:

Cash and cash equivalents:  Institutional short-term investment vehicles valued daily.

Mutual funds:  Valued at exit prices quoted in active or non-active markets or based on observable inputs.

Collective trusts:  Valued at exit prices quoted in active or non-active markets or based on observable inputs.

Bonds:  Value based on matrices or models from pricing vendors.

Equity options: Value is based on exit prices quoted in active or non-active markets.

The Company’s practice regarding the timing of transfers between levels is to measure transfers in at the beginning of the month and transfers out at the end of the
month. For the year ended December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024, the Company had no transfers between Levels 1 and 2.
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The fair value of Plan assets as of December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024 and December 31, 2022 December 30, 2023 within the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

Pension Benefits

Pension Benefits

Pension Benefits

(millions)

(millions)

(millions)

Cash and cash equivalents (a)

Cash and cash equivalents (a)

Cash and cash equivalents (a)

Corporate stock, common

Corporate stock, common

Corporate stock, common

Bonds, corporate

Bonds, corporate

Bonds, corporate

Bonds, government

Bonds, government

Bonds, government

Bonds, other

Bonds, other

Bonds, other

Sub-total

Sub-total

Sub-total

Investments measured at net asset value (NAV) practical expedient (b)

Investments measured at net asset value (NAV) practical expedient (b)

Investments measured at net asset value (NAV) practical expedient (b)

Total plan assets

Total plan assets

Total plan assets

(a) Cash and cash equivalents related to pension and postretirement benefits are all classified as Level 2 assets in 2024. Cash and cash equivalents related to pension benefits includes Level 1 assets of $(1) million and Level 2 assets of $61
million $61 million for 2023. Cash and cash equivalents related to postretirement benefits includes Level 1 assets of $0 million and Level 2 assets of $120 million for 2023.
(b) Certain assets that are measured at fair value using the NAV per share (or its equivalent) practical expedient have not been classified in the fair value hierarchy.

There were no unfunded commitments to purchase investments at December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024 or December 31, 2022 December 30, 2023.

The Company’s investment strategy for its defined benefit plans is to maintain a diversified portfolio of asset classes with the primary goal of meeting long-term cash
requirements as they become due. Assets are invested in a prudent manner to maintain the security of funds while maximizing returns within the Plan’s investment
policy. The investment policy specifies the type of investment vehicles appropriate for the Plan, asset allocation guidelines, criteria for the selection of investment
managers, procedures to monitor overall investment performance as well as investment manager performance. Derivatives, including swaps, forward and futures
contracts, may be used as asset class substitutes or for hedging or other risk management purposes. It also provides guidelines enabling Plan fiduciaries to fulfill their
responsibilities.

The current weighted-average target asset allocation reflected by this strategy is:

Pension Benefits Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits

Equity securities Equity securities 41  % 40  % Equity securities 43  % 44  %

Debt securities Debt securities 53  % 56  % Debt securities 43  % 42  %

Real estate and other Real estate and other 6  % 4  % Real estate and other 14  % 14  %

Plan funding strategies are influenced by tax regulations and funding requirements. The Company currently does not expect expects to make contributions of $19 million
to its defined benefit pension plans and during 2025. The Company does not expect to make any contributions to its VEBA trusts during 2024. 2025.
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Benefit payments
The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid:

(millions) (millions) Pension Postretirement (millions) Pension Postretirement

2024

2025

2026

2027

2028

2029-2032

2029

2030-2034

NOTE 10 11
POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

Under certain conditions, the Company provides benefits to former or inactive employees, including salary continuance, severance, and long-term disability, in the United
States and Canada. The Company’s postemployment benefit plans are unfunded. Actuarial assumptions used are generally consistent with those presented for pension
and postretirement benefits in Note 9 10 "Pension and Postretirement Benefits".
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Prior to the Spin-Off, Kellanova provided benefits to former or inactive employees and a reasonable allocation of costs was made to the Consolidated Financial
Statements. As the postemployment benefits prior to the Spin-Off were settled by Kellanova, the offset to allocated expense was recognized through net parent
investment on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Pursuant to the Employee Matters Agreement, the Company assumed certain postemployment liabilities related to its
employees following a division of the postemployment plan that were previously sponsored by Kellanova and created standalone plans that were sponsored by the
Company and dedicated to our employees.

The aggregate change in accumulated postemployment benefit obligation and the net amount recognized were:

(millions) (millions) 2023 2022 (millions) 2024 2023

Change in accumulated benefit obligation

Beginning of year

Beginning of year

Beginning of year

Spin-Off impacts Spin-Off impacts 9 

Service cost

Interest cost

Actuarial (gain)loss

Benefits paid

End of year

End of year

End of year

End of year

Funded status

Amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheet consist of

Amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheet consist of

Amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheet consist of

Other current liabilities
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Other current liabilities

Other current liabilities

Other liabilities

Net amount recognized

Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income consist of

Net experience gain

Net experience gain

Net experience gain

Net amount recognized

The components of postemployment benefit expense was immaterial for all periods presented. Service cost is recorded in COGS and SGA expense. All other
components of net periodic benefit cost are included in OIE.

Benefit payments
The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid:

(millions)

2024

2024

2024

2025

2025

2025

2026

2027

2028

2029-2032

2029

2030-2034
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NOTE 11 12
INCOME TAXES

Prior to the Spin-Off, Our our operations have historically been included in the consolidated U.S. federal, certain foreign tax returns, certain state and local tax returns
filed by Kellanova. Refer to Note 1 "Description of the Company and Basis of Presentation" for additional information.

The components of income before income taxes and the provision for income taxes were as follows:

(millions) (millions) 2023 2022 2021 (millions) 2024 2023 2022

Income before income taxes

United States

United States

United States

Foreign

145

85

Income taxes

Currently payable
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Currently payable

Currently payable

Federal

Federal

Federal

State

Foreign

39

31

Deferred

Federal

Federal

Federal

State

Foreign

(4)

(18)

Total income taxes

The difference between the U.S. federal statutory tax rate and the Company’s effective income tax rate was:

2023 2022 2021

2024 2023 2022

U.S. statutory income tax rate U.S. statutory income tax rate 21.0  % 21.0  % 21.0  % U.S. statutory income tax rate 21.0  % 21.0  % 21.0  %

Foreign rates varying from U.S. statutory rate

State income taxes, net of federal benefit (1)

State income taxes, net of federal benefit (1)

State income taxes, net of federal benefit (1)

Nondeductible Permanent Items

Nondeductible spin costs

Inventory Donations (Sec. 170 (A))

Inventory Donations (Sec. 170 (A))

Inventory Donations (Sec. 170 (A))

Stock Options - Excess Benefit / Shortfall

Stock Options - Excess Benefit / Shortfall

Stock Options - Excess Benefit / Shortfall

Credits

APB 23

APB 23

APB 23

Other, net

Other, net

Other, net

Effective income tax rate Effective income tax rate 24.4  % 5.7  % 24.4  % Effective income tax rate 15.3  % 24.4  % 5.7  %

(1) During 2024 we recognized a $9.1 million reduction to certain deferred tax liabilities as result of changes to our legal and operational structure.

As presented in the preceding table, the Company’s 2023 2024 consolidated effective tax rate was 24.4% 15.3%, as compared to 24.4% in 2023 and 5.7% in 2022 and
24.4% in 2021.
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The effective tax rate for 2023 2024, 2022 2023 and 2021 2022 was impacted by state and local income taxes and the differential of WK Kellogg Co’s foreign statutory
tax rates from the U.S. federal statutory tax rate. The effective tax rate for 2022 decreased as compared to the prior year as a result of a change in the jurisdictional mix
of pre-tax earnings, most notably a decrease in U.S. pre-tax earnings.

The Company had unremitted foreign earnings of approximately $61 million $29 million as of December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024 which it asserted to be
permanently reinvested, primarily related to its Canadian subsidiary. The unrecognized deferred tax liability for these earnings is estimated to be immaterial. However,
this estimate could change based on the manner in which the outside basis difference associated with these earnings reverses. Taxes will be provided on these earnings
in the periods in which they are no longer considered reinvested.

Management monitors the Company’s ability to utilize certain future tax deductions, operating losses and tax credit carryforwards, prior to expiration. Changes resulting
from management’s assessment will result in impacts to deferred tax assets and the corresponding impacts on the effective income tax rate.
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The following table provides an analysis of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities as of year-end 2023 2024 and 2022: 2023:

Deferred tax


assets

Deferred tax


liabilities

(millions) 2023 2022 2023 2022

Advertising and promotion-related 4  2  —  — 

Wages and payroll taxes 8  5  —  — 

Inventory valuation 7  5  —  — 

Employee benefits —  —  36  — 

Operating loss, credit and other carryforwards —  14  —  — 

Hedging transactions —  —  —  1 

Depreciation and asset disposals —  —  64  80 

Operating lease right-of-use assets —  —  4  2 

Operating lease liabilities 4  2  —  — 

Trademarks and other intangibles —  —  24  21 

Research and development capitalization 2  7  —  — 

Stock options 5  6  —  — 

Other 5  —  —  — 

35  41  128  104 

Less valuation allowance —  —  —  — 

Total deferred taxes $ 35  $ 41  $ 128  $ 104 

Net deferred tax asset (liability) $ (93) $ (63)

Classified in balance sheet as:

Other assets $ 13  $ — 

Other liabilities (106) (63)

Net deferred tax asset (liability) $ (93) $ (63)

The Company recognized deferred tax assets in its 2022 tax provision related to operating loss carryforwards on a separate return basis. Upon separation, these losses
were retained by the U.S. consolidated group of Kellanova and no tax attributes were transferred to the Company.

Deferred tax


assets

Deferred tax


liabilities

(millions) 2024 2023 2024 2023

Advertising and promotion-related 1  4  —  — 

Wages and payroll taxes 14  8  —  — 

Inventory valuation 6  7  —  — 

Employee benefits —  —  36  36 

Operating loss, credit and other carryforwards —  —  —  — 
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Hedging transactions —  —  2  — 

Depreciation and asset disposals —  —  52  64 

Operating lease right-of-use assets —  —  28  4 

Operating lease liabilities 27  4  —  — 

Trademarks and other intangibles —  —  21  24 

Research and development capitalization 6  2  —  — 

Stock awards 5  5  —  — 

Other 4  5  —  — 

63  35  139  128 

Less valuation allowance —  —  —  — 

Total deferred taxes $ 63  $ 35  $ 139  $ 128 

Net deferred tax asset (liability) $ (76) $ (93)

Classified in balance sheet as:

Other assets $ 7  $ 13 

Other liabilities (83) (106)

Net deferred tax asset (liability) $ (76) $ (93)

Following is a reconciliation of the Company’s total gross unrecognized tax benefits as of the years-ended December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024,  December 31,
2022 December 30, 2023 and January 1, 2022 December 31, 2022.

(millions) (millions) 2023 2022 2021 (millions) 2024 2023 2022

Balance at beginning of year

Tax positions related to current year:

Additions

Additions

Additions

Tax positions related to prior years:

Additions

Additions

Additions

Dispositions/Acquisitions

Settlements

Lapses in statutes of limitation

Balance at end of year

During the year ended December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024, December 31, 2022 December 30, 2023 and January 1, 2022 December 31, 2022, the Company
recognized an immaterial amount of tax-related interest on unrecognized tax benefits.

The Company will file its first filed U.S. federal, U.S. state and foreign income tax returns for the tax year ended December 30, 2023. These returns will remain open and
subject to adjustment for 3 years from examination by the date of filing for our U.S. and Canadian businesses. tax authorities in each respective jurisdiction.
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NOTE 12 13
DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Company is exposed to certain market risks such as changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates, and commodity prices, which exist as a part of its
ongoing business operations. Management uses derivative and nonderivative financial and commodity instruments to manage these risks. Instruments used as hedges
must be effective at reducing the risk associated with the exposure being hedged. As a matter of policy, the Company does not engage in trading or speculative hedging
transactions.
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Prior to the Spin-Off, the company Company participated in Kellanova's hedging program, which uses derivative and nonderivative financial and commodity instruments,
including futures, options, and swaps, where appropriate, to manage risks. Since these derivative instruments were entered into and settled by Kellanova for both WK
Kellogg Co and Kellanova's other businesses, no asset or liability was recorded on the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets prior to the Spin-Off. However, an
appropriate allocation of the gains/losses and fees associated with entering into derivative instruments has been included in the Company's Consolidated Statements of
Income for each of the periods presented prior to Spin-Off. The fair value of derivative instruments executed subsequent to

After the Spin-Off, which the Company has entered into its own derivative instruments. Derivative instruments are included within classified on the Consolidated Balance
Sheet based on the contractual maturity of the instrument or the timing of the underlying cash flows of the instrument for derivatives with contractual maturities beyond
one year. Any collateral associated with derivative instruments is classified as Other assets or Other current liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheet depending on
whether the counterparty collateral is in an asset or liability position. Margin deposits related to exchange-traded commodities are recorded in accounts receivable, net
on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. On the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, cash flows associated with derivative instruments are classified according to the
nature of the underlying hedged item. Cash flows associated with collateral and margin deposits on exchange-traded commodities are classified as investing cash flows
when the collateral account is in an asset position and as financing cash flows when the collateral account is in a liability position.

Total notional amounts of the Company’s derivative instruments as of December 28, 2024 and December 30, 2023 were as follows:

(millions)

December 28,


2024

December 30,


2023

Foreign currency exchange contracts $ 284  $ 35 

Commodity contracts 14  3 

Interest rate contracts 250  — 

Total $ 548  $ 38 

Following is a description of each category in the fair value hierarchy and the financial assets and liabilities of the Company that were included in each category at
December 28, 2024 and December 30, 2023, was immaterial. measured on a recurring basis.

Level 1 – Financial assets and liabilities whose values are based on unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in an active market. For the Company,
level 1 financial assets and liabilities consist primarily of exchange-traded commodity derivative contracts.

Level 2 – Financial assets and liabilities whose values are based on quoted prices in markets that are not active or model inputs that are observable either directly or
indirectly for substantially the full term of the asset or liability. For the Company, level 2 financial assets and liabilities consist of interest rate swaps, over-the-counter
commodity and currency contracts.

The Company's calculation of the fair value of the interest rate swaps is derived from a discounted cash flow analysis based on the terms of the contract and interest rate
curve. Over-the-counter commodity derivatives are

valued using an income approach based on the commodity index prices less the contract rate multiplied by the notional amount. Foreign currency contracts are valued
using an income approach based on forward rates less the contract rate multiplied by the notional amount. The Company’s calculation of the fair value of level 2 financial
assets and liabilities takes into consideration the risk of nonperformance, including counterparty credit risk.

The following table presents assets and liabilities that were measured at fair value in the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheet on a recurring basis as of December
28, 2024 and December 30, 2023:

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments

December 28, 2024 December 30, 2023

(millions) Level 1 Level 2 Total Level 1 Level 2 Total

Assets:

Interest rate contracts:

Other current assets $ —  $ 2  $ 2  $ —  $ —  $ — 

Other assets —  3  3  —  —  — 

Total assets $ —  $ 5  $ 5  $ —  $ —  $ — 

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments

December 28, 2024 December 30, 2023

(millions) Level 1 Level 2 Total Level 1 Level 2 Total

Assets:

Foreign currency exchange contracts:
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Other current assets $ —  $ 4  $ 4  $ —  $ —  $ — 

Other assets —  1  1  —  —  — 

Total assets $ —  $ 5  $ 5  $ —  $ —  $ — 

Liabilities:

Foreign currency exchange contracts:

Other current liabilities $ —  $ 3  $ 3  $ —  $ —  $ — 

Total liabilities $ —  $ 3  $ 3  $ —  $ —  $ — 

The effect of derivative instruments on the Company's Consolidated Statement of Income and Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year-to-date
periods ended December 28, 2024, December 30, 2023, and December 31, 2022 were as follows:

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments

Gain (loss) recognized in AOCI Gain (loss) excluded from assessment of hedge effectiveness

Location of gain (loss) in income

of excluded component

(millions) December 28, 2024 December 30, 2023 December 31, 2022 December 28, 2024 December 30, 2023 December 31, 2022

Interest rate contracts $ 5  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ —  Interest expense

Year-to-date period ended

December 28,


2024

December 30,


2023

December 31,


2022

(millions) Interest Expense Interest Expense Interest Expense

Interest rate contracts: $ — $ —  $ — 

     Amount of gain (loss) reclassified from AOCI into income $ — $ —  $ — 

During the year-ended December 28, 2024, the Company entered into an interest rate swap contract with an initial notional amount of $250 million to manage the
variability of cash flows associated with our variable rate debt. The contract matures on December 27, 2027 and requires periodic interest rate settlements. These
derivatives are accounted for as cash flow hedges and the related net gain or loss is recorded in AOCI and will be amortized to interest expense over the term of the
contract. These derivatives are used to hedge the variability of interest payment cash flows on a portion of our future debt obligations.

During the next 12 months, the Company expects approximately $2  million of net deferred gains reported in accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI) at
December 28, 2024, to be reclassified to interest expense.

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments

The effect of allocated and direct impacts to derivative instruments on the Company's Consolidated Statements Statement of Income for the years-ended December 28,
2024, December 30, 2023, December 31, 2022 and January 1, 2022 December 31, 2022 were as follows:

Gain (loss) recognized in COGS Gain (loss) recognized in other income (expense), net

(millions) 2023 2022 2021 2023 2022 2021

Commodity Contracts $ (13) $ 15  $ 18  $ —  $ —  $ — 

Foreign Currency derivatives $ (2) $ 12  $ (1) $ —  $ —  $ (1)

Gain (loss) recognized in cost of goods sold

(millions) December 28, 2024 December 30, 2023 December 31, 2022

Commodity contracts $ (2) $ (13) $ 15 

Foreign currency derivatives $ (2) $ (2) $ 12 

Counterparty credit risk concentration and collateral requirements

The Company could incur losses in the event of nonperformance by counterparties to over-the-counter ("OTC") financial and commodity derivatives contracts.
Management believes risk of loss with respect to derivative contracts is limited due to the use of master netting agreements with credit-ratings based collateralization
requirements for OTC derivatives and the use of exchange-traded commodity contracts. As of December 28, 2024, the Company was not in a material net asset position
with any OTC derivatives counterparties.
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NOTE 13 14
CONTINGENCIES

The Company is subject to various legal proceedings, claims, and governmental inspections or investigations in the ordinary course of business covering matters such
as general commercial, governmental regulations, antitrust and trade regulations, product liability, environmental, intellectual property, workers’ compensation,
employment and other actions. These matters are subject to uncertainty and the outcome is not predictable with assurance. The Company uses a combination of
insurance and self-insurance for a number of risks, including workers’ compensation, general liability, automobile liability and product liability.

The Company has established accruals for certain matters where losses are deemed probable and reasonably estimable. There are other claims and legal proceedings
pending against the Company for which accruals have not been established. It is reasonably possible that some of these matters could result in an unfavorable judgment
against the Company and could require payment of claims in amounts that cannot be estimated at December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024. Based upon current
information, management does not expect any of the claims or legal proceedings pending against the Company to have a material impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

In 2021, there was a fire at one of the Company's manufacturing facilities, the damages of which have been recovered via from insurance policies. For the year ended
December 30, 2023 the Company recognized insurance recoveries of $4 million in other income (expense), net related to recoveries for property damage. Accordingly,
this amount has been reflected within net cash (used in) investing activities in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. Additionally, for the year ended December 30,
2023, the Company recognized insurance recoveries of $16 million in COGS to offset the incremental costs incurred due to the fire. The proceeds from these recoveries
were related to business interruption claims and have been reflected in net cash provided by operating activities in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. For the
year ended December 31, 2022, the Company recognized insurance recoveries of $16 million in COGS to offset the incremental costs incurred due to the fire. The
proceeds from the recoveries were related to business interruption claims and have been reflected in net cash provided by operating activities in the Consolidated
Statement of Cash Flows.
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NOTE 14 15
SEGMENT REPORTING

The Company manages its operations through one operating and reportable segment, engaged in the manufacturing, marketing and sales of cereal products in North
America. Consistent with our operational structure, our Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”), makes resource allocation and business decisions on a consolidated
basis. Our CODM also uses consolidated single-segment financial information for the purpose of evaluating financial performance, allocating resources, setting incentive
compensation targets, as well as forecasting future period financial results.

Our products include various brands of cereal which are marketed under the Kellogg’s, Kashi and Bear Naked trade names.

Consistent with our operational structure, our Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”) is our Chief Executive Officer, who makes resource allocation and business
decisions on a consolidated basis. Our CODM uses consolidated single-segment net income (reported on the Consolidated Statement of Income (Loss) as net income
(loss)) to evaluate financial performance, allocate resources, set incentive compensation targets, as well as forecasting future period financial results. The measure of
segment assets is reported on the Consolidated Balance Sheet as total consolidated assets.

The Company's largest customer, Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. and its affiliates, accounted for approximately 26% 29%, 28% 26% and 26% 28% of consolidated net sales for
the years-ended December 30, 2023, December 31, 2022 28, 2024, December 30, 2023 and January 1, December 31, 2022, respectively. These sales were primarily in
the United States.

Supplemental geographic information is provided below for net sales to external customers and long-lived assets:

(millions) (millions) 2023 2022 2021 (millions) 2024 2023 2022

Net sales

United States

United States

United States

Canada

Other

Consolidated

Long-lived assets

United States

United States

United States
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Canada

Other

Consolidated
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NOTE 15 16
SUPPLEMENTAL FINANCIAL STATEMENT DATA

Consolidated Statement of Income (Loss) (millions) Consolidated Statement of Income (Loss) (millions) 2023 2022 2021 Consolidated Statement of Income (Loss) (millions) 2024 2023 2022

Research and development expense

Advertising expense (a)

Consolidated Balance Sheet (millions) 2024 2023

Trade receivables $ 169  $ 225 

Allowance for expected credit losses (1) — 

Other receivables 31  19 

Accounts receivable, net $ 199  $ 244 

Raw Materials 49  49 

Manufacturing Supplies 53  53 

Materials in process 22  15 

Finished goods 229  228 

Inventories $ 353  $ 345 

Land 14  14 

Buildings 699  679 

Machinery and equipment 1,807  1,799 

Construction in progress 234  184 

Accumulated depreciation (1,968) (1,937)

Property, net $ 786  $ 739 

Other third party 513  502 

Kellanova (a) —  39 

Accounts Payable $ 513  $ 541 

Obligations under Transition Services Agreement 8  52 

Operating lease obligations 18  6 

Income taxes payable 14  7 

Other 54  40 

Other current liabilities $ 94  $ 105 

(a) Prior period amounts have been revised to correct the presentation of advertising expense for the years ended December 31, 2022 and January 1, 2022, as previously filed in our Form 10 preceding the

Spin-Off.

Consolidated Balance Sheet (millions) 2023 2022

Trade receivables $ 225  $ 213 

Allowance for expected credit losses —  — 

Other receivables 19  16 

Accounts receivable, net $ 244  $ 229 

Raw Materials $ 49  $ 43 

Manufacturing Supplies 53  70 
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Materials in process 15  20 

Finished goods 228  298 

Inventories $ 345  $ 431 

Land $ 14  $ 10 

Buildings 679  594 

Machinery and equipment 1,799  1,784 

Construction in progress 184  125 

Accumulated depreciation (1,937) (1,868)

Property, net $ 739  $ 645 

Deferred income taxes 13  — 

Cloud computing technology 17  — 

Other 21  11 

Other assets $ 51  $ 11 

Other third party 502  473 

Kellanova (b) 39  11 

Accounts Payable $ 541  $ 484 

Obligations under Transition Services Agreement 52  — 

Other 53  47 

Other current liabilities $ 105  $ 47 

(b) The $39 million payable to Kellanova represents various items Kellanova paid on our behalf, for which we owe reimbursement for amounts incurred related to the Spin-Off Spin-Off.
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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements and related notes. We believe that the consolidated financial
statements present the Company’s financial position and results of operations in conformity with accounting principles that are generally accepted in the United States,
using our best estimates and judgments as required.

The Board of Directors of the Company has an Audit Committee composed of four non-management Directors. The Committee meets regularly with management,
internal auditors, and the independent registered public accounting firm to review accounting, internal control, auditing and financial reporting matters.

Formal policies and procedures, including an active Ethics and Business Conduct program, support the internal controls and are designed to ensure employees adhere
to the highest standards of personal and professional integrity.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(a) Disclosure Controls and Procedures.

Management of the Company, with the participation of its Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), has evaluated the effectiveness of the
design and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, as of the period
ending December 30, 2023December 28, 2024. Based upon our evaluation, our CEO and our CFO have concluded that, as of the period ending December 30,
2023December 28, 2024, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective and provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in our
reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s applicable rules
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and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our CEO and CFO as appropriate, to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure. Disclosure controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, rather than absolute,
assurance of achieving the desired control objectives.

(b) Management's Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting.

This Annual Report does not include a report of management’s assessment regarding Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal
control over financial reporting, or as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Our internal control
over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

We conducted an attestation report evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness
to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate.

Based on our evaluation under the framework in Internal Control  — Integrated Framework (2013), management concluded that our internal control over financial
reporting was effective as of December 28, 2024.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 28, 2024 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered
public accounting firm, due to a transition period established by rules as stated in their report which appears in Item 8 of the SEC for non-accelerated filers. this Annual
Report.

(c) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting.

There were no changes during the fiscal quarter ended December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024, that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal controls over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Insider Trading Arrangements

During the fiscal quarter ended December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024, none of our directors or officers subject to Section 16 of the Exchange Act adopted or
terminated any contract, instruction or written plan for the purchase or sale of our securities intended to satisfy the affirmative defense conditions of Rule 10b5-1(c) under
the Exchange Act and/or any “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” (as defined in Item 408(c) of Regulation S-K).

ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

Not applicable.

PART III

 ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Directors — Refer to the information in our Proxy Statement to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission SEC for the Annual Meeting of Shareowners (the
“2024 “2025 Proxy Statement”), under the caption “Proposal 1 — Election of Directors,” which information is incorporated herein by reference.

Identification and Members of Audit Committee; Audit Committee Financial Expert  — Refer to the information in the 2024 2025 Proxy Statement under the caption
“Board and Committee Membership,” which information is incorporated herein by reference.

Executive Officers of the Registrant — Refer to “Information about our Executive Officers” under Item 1 "Business: of this Annual Report.
82

Code of Ethics for Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Controller —We have adopted a Code of Ethics, which applies to all employees of WK Kellogg Co
and its subsidiaries (including executives, corporate officers and members of the Board), and which can be found at www.wkkelloggco.com. We intend to post any
amendments to the Code of Ethics or waivers by the Board of its requirements for any of our Directors or executive officers, on our website at www.wkkelloggco.com to
the extent required by SEC and/or NYSE rules.
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Insider Trading Policies —Refer to the information in the 2025 Proxy Statement under the caption “Securities Trading Policy,” which information is incorporated herein by
reference.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Refer to the information under the captions “2023 “2024 Director Compensation and Benefits,” “Compensation Discussion and Analysis,” “Executive Compensation,”
“Retirement and Non-Qualified Defined Contribution and Deferred Compensation Plans,” and “Potential Post-Employment Payments,” of the 2024 2025 Proxy
Statement, which is incorporated herein by reference. Refer also to the information under the caption "Board and Committee Membership — Compensation and Talent
Management Committee — Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” and the caption “Compensation and Talent Management Committee Report”
of the 2024 2025 Proxy Statement, which information is incorporated herein by reference; however, such information is only “furnished” hereunder and not deemed “filed”
for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Refer to the information under the captions “Security Ownership — Five Percent Holders”, and “Security Ownership — Officer and Director Stock Ownership” and
"Proposal 5 - Approval of an Amendment to the WK Kellogg Co 2023 Long-Term Incentive Plan" of the 2024 Proxy Statement, , which information is incorporated herein
by reference.

The following table gives information, as of December 28, 2024, concerning shares of our common stock authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans.

Plan Category

Number of Securities to be
Issued Upon Exercise of

Outstanding

Options, Warrants


and Rights (a)


Weighted-Average Exercise
Price of Outstanding

Options, Warrants

and Rights


(b)

 

Number of Securities
Remaining Available for Future

Issuance Under Equity
Compensation Plans (Excluding

Securities Reflected in Column (a))
(c) (1)

Equity compensation plans approved by share owners 10.1  NA 8.8 (2)

Equity compensation plans not approved by share owners —  NA — 

Total 10.1 NA 8.8

(1) The total number of shares remaining available for issuance under the 2023 Long-Term Inventive Plan
(2) The total number of shares available remaining for issuance as of December 28, 2024 for each Equity Compensation Plan approved by share owners are as
follows:

a. The 2023 Long Term Incentive Plan - 6.7 million;
b. The WK Kellogg Co Employee Stock Purchase Plan (effective October 2, 2023) - 2.1 million

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Refer to the information under the captions “Corporate Governance — Director Independence” and “Corporate Governance — Related Person Transactions” of the
2024 2025 Proxy Statement, which information is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Refer to the information under the captions “Proposal 4 — Ratification of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as our Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm — Fees
Paid to Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” and “Proposal 4 — Ratification of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as our Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm — Preapproval Policies and Procedures” of the 2024 2025 Proxy Statement, which information is incorporated herein by reference.

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBIT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

The Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes, together with Management's Report on Internal Controls over Financial Reporting and the Report thereon of
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP dated March 8, 2024 February 25, 2025, are included herein in Part II, Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

1. Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) for the years-ended December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024,  December 31, 2022 December 30, 2023 and January 1,
2022 December 31, 2022.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the years-ended December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024, December 31, 2022 December 30, 2023 and
January 1, 2022 December 31, 2022.

Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024 and December 31, 2022 December 30, 2023.
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Consolidated Statements of Equity for the years-ended December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024,  December 31, 2022 December 30, 2023 and January 1,
2022 December 31, 2022.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years-ended December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024,  December 31, 2022 December 30, 2023 and January 1,
2022 December 31, 2022.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
83

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (PCAOB ID 238).

2. Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules

All financial statement schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is shown in the financial statements or the notes thereto.

3. Exhibits required to be filed by Item 601 of Regulation S-K

The information called for by this Item is incorporated herein by reference from the Exhibit Index included in this Annual Report.

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

Not applicable.
84

EXHIBIT INDEX
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Exhibit


No.    Description   

Electronic(E),


Paper(P) or


Incorp. By


Ref.(IBRF)

2.1

  

Separation and Distribution Agreement, dated as of September 29, 2023, between Kellanova and WK Kellogg Co
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 2,
2023)   

  IBRF

3.1
  

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of WK Kellogg Co (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to
the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 2, 2023).   

  IBRF

3.2
  

Amended and Restated By-Laws of WK Kellogg Co (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Current Report
on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 2, 2023).   

  IBRF

4.1 Description of Securities Registered under Section 12 of the Exchange Act (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
4.1 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 8, 2024).

E IBRF

10.1 Credit Facility by and among WK Kellogg Co and the lenders name therein, dated as of September 12, 2023
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 12,
2023).

IBRF

10.2

  

Employee Matters Agreement, dated as of September 29, 2023, between Kellanova and WK Kellogg Co
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 2,
2023).   

  IBRF

10.3
  

Supply Agreement, dated as of September 29, 2023, between Kellanova and WK Kellogg Co (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 2, 2023).   

  IBRF

10.4 Master Ownership and License Agreement Regarding Patents, Trade Secrets and Certain Related Intellectual
Property, dated as of September 29, 2023, between Kellanova and WK Kellogg Co (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 2, 2023).

IBRF

10.5 Master Ownership and License Agreement Regarding Trademarks and Certain Related Intellectual Property,
dated as of September 29, 2023, between Kellanova and WK Kellogg Co (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.4 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 2, 2023).

IBRF

10.6 Tax Matters Agreement, dated as of September 29, 2023, between Kellanova and WK Kellogg Co (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 2, 2023).

IBRF

10.7 Transition Services Agreement, dated as of September 29, 2023, between Kellanova and WK Kellogg Co
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 2,
2023).

IBRF

10.8 WK Kellogg Co Supplemental Savings and Investment Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 2, 2023).

IBRF

10.9 WK Kellogg Co 2023 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Company's
Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed with the SEC on September 20, 2023).

IBRF

10.10 Form of Restricted Share Unit Terms and Conditions (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to Amendment No.
1 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form 10 filed with the SEC on August 1, 2023).

IBRF

10.11 10.11 WK Kellogg Co Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Company's
Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed with the SEC on September 20, 2023).

IBRF

10.12 10.12 WK Kellogg Co Executive Severance Benefit Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 10.14 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 13, 2024).

IBRF

10.13 WK Kellogg Co Change of Control Severance Policy for Key Executives (incorporated (as amended, effective as
of February 8, 2024, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on February 13, 2024).

IBRF

Exhibit


No. Description

Electronic(E),


Paper(P) or


Incorp. By


Ref.(IBRF)

10.14 Retention Agreement and General Release with Doug VanDeVelde (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to
the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 2, 2023).

IBRF
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1959348/000119312524033687/d781118dex104.htm
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Exhibit


No. Description

Electronic(E),


Paper(P) or


Incorp. By


Ref.(IBRF)

10.15 Form of Recognition Award Agreement and General Release (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the
Company's Registration Statement on Form 10 filed with the SEC on July 24, 2023).

IBRF

10.16 WK Kellogg Co Executive Survivor Income Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the Current Report
on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 2, 2023).

IBRF

10.17 WK Kellogg Co Savings and Investment Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed with the SEC on September 29, 2023).

IBRF

10.18 Kellogg Company Bakery, Confectionery, Tobacco Workers and Grain Millers Savings and Investment Plan (as
amended and restated effective January 1, 2016) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed with the SEC on September 29, 2023).

IBRF

10.19 Amendment Number 1 to the Kellogg Company Bakery, Confectionery, Tobacco Workers and Grain Millers
Savings and Investment Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to the Company’s Registration Statement
on Form S-8 filed with the SEC on September 29, 2023).

IBRF

10.20 Amendment Number 2 to the Kellogg Company Bakery, Confectionery, Tobacco Workers and Grain Millers
Savings and Investment Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 to the Company’s Registration Statement
on Form S-8 filed with the SEC on September 29, 2023

IBRF

10.21 Amendment Number 3 to the Kellogg Company Bakery, Confectionery, Tobacco Workers and Grain Millers
Savings and Investment Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.7 to the Company’s Registration Statement
on Form S-8 filed with the SEC on September 29, 2023).

IBRF

10.22 Spin-Off Amendment to the Kellogg Company Bakery, Confectionery, Tobacco Workers and Grain Millers Savings
and Investment Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.8 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form
S-8 filed with the SEC on September 29, 2023).

IBRF

10.23 Restricted Share Unit Special Terms and Conditions (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 15, 2023).

IBRF

10.24 Form of Retention Agreement and General Release (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 15, 2023).

IBRF

10.25 WK Kellogg Co Annual Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-
K filed with the SEC on February 13, 2024).

IBRF

10.26 Form of Restricted Share Unit Terms and Conditions (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 13, 2024).

IBRF

10.27 Form of Performance Stock Unit Terms and Conditions (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 13, 2024).

IBRF

10.28 WK Kellogg Co Amended and Restated 2023 Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference
to Annex B to the Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed with the SEC on March 21, 2024).

IBRF

10.29 First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of June 26, 2024, by and among WK Kellogg Co, WK Kellogg
Canada Corp., the guarantors and lenders party thereto and Coöperatieve Rabobank U.A, as administrative
agent.

E
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Exhibit


No. Description

Electronic(E),


Paper(P) or


Incorp. By


Ref.(IBRF)

10.30 Second Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of December 17, 2024, by and among WK Kellogg Co, WK
Kellogg Canada Corp., the guarantors and lenders party thereto and Coöperatieve Rabobank U.A, as
administrative agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on December 23, 2024).

IBRF

19 WK Kellogg Co Insider Trading Policy adopted October 2, 2023 E

21.01 Domestic and Foreign Subsidiaries of WK Kellogg Co E

23.01 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm. E

24.01 Powers of Attorney authorizing Norma Barnes-Euresti Gordon Paulson to execute our Annual Report on Form 10-
K for the fiscal year ended December 30, 2023 December 28, 2024, on behalf of each member of the Board of
Directors.

E

31.1 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification by Gary Pilnick E

31.2 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification by David McKinstray E

32.1 Section 1350 Certification by Gary Pilnick E

32.2 Section 1350 Certification by David McKinstray E

97 WK Kellogg Clawback Policy adopted November 2, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 97 to the Annual
Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 8, 2024).

E IBRF

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document E

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document E

101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document E

86

Exhibit


No. Description

Electronic(E),


Paper(P) or


Incorp. By


Ref.(IBRF)

101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document E

101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document E

101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document E

104 Cover Page Interactive Data file (formatted as Inline XBLR and contained in exhibit 1010) E

We Certain exhibits and schedules have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(a)(5) of Regulation S-K and will furnish any of our Shareowners be furnished on a copy of
any of supplemental basis to the above Exhibits not included herein SEC upon the written request of such Shareowner and the payment to WK Kellogg Co of the
reasonable expenses incurred in furnishing such copy or copies. request.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, this 8th 25th day of March, 2024. February, 2025.
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WK KELLOGG CO

By:   /s/ Gary Pilnick

  Gary Pilnick

  Chief Executive Officer and Chair of the Board

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the
capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name    Capacity   Date

/s/    Gary Pilnick       

Gary Pilnick

   Chief Executive Officer and Chair of the Board and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

  March 8, 2024 February
25, 2025

/s/    David McKinstray     

David McKinstray

   Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)   March 8, 2024 February
25, 2025

/s/    Lisa Walter       

Lisa Walter

Chief Accounting Officer (Principal Accounting Officer) March 8, 2024 February
25, 2025

*

Wendy Arlin

   Director   March 8, 2024 February
25, 2025

*

R. David Banyard Jr.

   Director March 8, 2024 February
25, 2025

*

Michael Corbo

Director March 8, 2024 February
25, 2025

*

Zachary Gund

   Director   March 8, 2024 February
25, 2025

*

Ramón Murguía

   Director   March 8, 2024 February
25, 2025

*

Julio Nemeth

   Director   March 8, 2024 February
25, 2025

*

Mindy Sherwood

   Director   March 8, 2024 February
25, 2025

* By:
 

/s/    Norma Barnes-Euresti         Gordon Paulson

Norma Barnes-Euresti Gordon Paulson    

Attorney-in-fact
 

March 8, 2024 February
25, 2025

Exhibit 4.1AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT

DESCRIPTION OF OUR CAPITAL STOCK

General
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Our authorized capital stock consistsThis AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT dated as of 1,000,000,000 sharesJune 26, 2024 (this
“Amendment”), to that certain CREDIT AGREEMENT, dated as of common stock, $0.0001 par value,September 12, 2023, by and
50,000,000 sharesamong WK KELLOGG CO, a Delaware corporation (“WKKC”), WK KELLOGG CANADA CORP., a corporation
incorporated pursuant to the laws of preferred stock, $0.0001 par value. As of February 28, 2024Canada (“WKK Canada”, we had
85,817,581 shares of our common stock issued together with WKKC and outstanding. The issuedany Additional Borrower, each individually,
a “Borrower”, and outstanding shares of our common stock are fully paidcollectively, “Borrowers”), the Lenders from time to time party
thereto, and non-assessable.

The following summary describes certain provisions of ourCOÖPERATIEVE RABOBANK U.A., NEW YORK BRANCH, as administrative
agent (in such capacity, “Administrative Agent”) and each other party thereto (as amended, restated, amended and restated,
certificatesupplemented or otherwise modified and in effect prior to the date hereof, the “Existing Agreement”).

R E C I T A L S



WHEREAS, certain loans or other extensions of incorporationcredit under the Existing Agreement or other Existing Documents bear
or are permitted to bear interest, or incur or are permitted to incur fees, commissions or other amounts, based on CDOR in accordance with
the terms of the Existing Agreement or the other Existing Documents;

WHEREAS, a benchmark transition event (or other analogous or similar event) has occurred with respect to CDOR and CDOR has or
will be replaced with Adjusted Term CORRA as an alternative benchmark rate for purposes of the Existing Agreement and the other Existing
Documents for settings of benchmark rates that occur after the Transition Date (as defined in Exhibit A hereto) in accordance with the
benchmark replacement provisions set forth in any applicable Existing Document, and pursuant thereto Administrative Agent is exercising its
right to make certain benchmark replacement conforming changes in connection with the implementation of the applicable benchmark
replacement as set forth herein; and

WHEREAS, the amendments and modifications set forth in this Amendment constitute benchmark replacement conforming changes
(or other similar conforming changes) for purposes of the Existing Agreement and the other Existing Documents;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing premises and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and
sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the following shall be effective:

Article I.    Amendment. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Existing Agreement or in any other Existing Document,
the Existing Agreement and each other applicable Existing Document are each hereby amended and restated bylawsmodified to give effect
to the provisions set forth on Exhibit A hereto on and as of June 28, 2024 (the “Effective Date”).

Article II.    Notice. To the extent that Administrative Agent is required (including pursuant to Section 2.22(d) of the Existing Agreement, any
Existing Document or otherwise) to provide notice to Borrowers, any Lender or any other party party to the Existing Agreement of (i) a
benchmark transition event (or other analogous or similar event) with respect to CDOR, (ii) a benchmark replacement date (or other
analogous or similar date), (iii) the implementation of Adjusted Term CORRA as a benchmark replacement (or other analogous or similar
term) or (iv)

any benchmark replacement conforming changes (or other similar conforming changes) in connection with the adoption and implementation
of Adjusted Term CORRA or the use and administration thereof, this Amendment shall constitute such notice.

Article III.    Miscellaneous
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Section 3.01        Survival. Except as expressly provided in this Amendment, all of the terms, provisions, covenants, agreements,
representations and warranties and conditions of the Existing Agreement and the other Existing Documents shall be and remain in full force
and effect as written, unmodified hereby. In the event of any conflict between the terms, provisions, covenants, representations and
warranties and conditions of this Amendment, on the one hand, and the Existing Agreement or any other applicable Existing Document, on
the other hand, this Amendment shall control.

Section 3.02    Severability. Any term or provision of this Amendment that is invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, solely as
to that jurisdiction, be ineffective solely to the extent of such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability without rendering invalid, illegal or
unenforceable the remaining terms and provisions of this Amendment or affecting the validity, legality or enforceability of any of the terms or
provisions of this Amendment in any other jurisdiction. If any provision of this Amendment is so broad as to be unenforceable, the provision
shall be interpreted to be only so broad as would be enforceable.

Section 3.03       Governing Law. This Amendment and any claims, controversy, dispute or cause of action (whether in contract or tort or
otherwise) based upon, arising out of or relating to our capital stock. this Amendment and the transactions contemplated hereby shall be
governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the jurisdiction that governs the Existing Agreement in accordance with the
terms thereof.

Section 3.04        Entire Agreement; Capitalized Terms. This summary is qualified in its entiretyAmendment, the Existing Agreement (as
amended hereby) and the other applicable Existing Documents (as amended hereby) constitute the entire agreement among the parties to
the Existing Agreement and such other applicable Existing Document with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersede all other prior
agreements and understandings, both written and verbal, among such parties or any of them with respect to the subject matter hereof. Any
exhibits or annexes attached hereto (including, without limitation, Exhibit A) are hereby incorporated herein by reference and made a part
hereof. Capitalized terms used and not defined herein shall have the meanings assigned to oursuch terms in Exhibit A attached hereto.

Section 3.05 Binding Effect, Beneficiaries. This Amendment shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties to the Existing
Agreement and each other applicable Existing Document and their respective heirs, executors, administrators, successors, legal
representatives and assigns, and no other party shall derive any rights or benefits herefrom.

Section 3.06       Construction. This Amendment shall be construed without regard to any presumption or other rule requiring construction
against the party drafting this Amendment.

Section 3.07    Notices. All notices relating to this Amendment shall be delivered in the manner and subject to the provisions set forth in the
Existing Agreement.

Section 3.08    Electronic Execution. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page of this Amendment by facsimile or in electronic
(e.g., “pdf” or “tif”) format shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Amendment. The words “execution,”
“signed,” “signature,” and words of like import in this Amendment shall be deemed to include electronic signatures or electronic records,
each of which shall be of the same legal effect, validity or enforceability as a manually executed signature or the use of a paper-based
recordkeeping system, as the case may be, to the extent and as provided for in any applicable law, including the Federal Electronic
Signatures in Global and National Commerce Act, the New York State Electronic Signatures and Records Act, or any other similar state laws
based on the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act.

Section 3.09    Headings. Article and Section headings used herein are for convenience of reference only, are not part of this Amendment
and shall not affect the construction of, or be taken into consideration in interpreting, this Amendment.
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Section 3.10    Reference to and Effect on the Existing Agreement and the Other Existing Documents. On and after the Effective Date, each
reference in any Existing Document to such Existing Document and the use therein of “hereunder”, “herein” or words of like import referring
to such Existing Document, and each reference in the other Existing Documents to another Existing Document and the use therein of
“thereunder”, “thereof” or words of like import referring to such Existing Document, shall, in each case, mean and be a reference to such
Existing Document as amended by this Amendment. Except as specifically amended by this Amendment, the Existing Agreement and the
other Existing Documents shall remain in full force and effect (with the same priority, as applicable) and are hereby ratified and confirmed
and this Amendment shall not be considered a novation. The execution, delivery and performance of this Amendment shall not constitute a
waiver of any provision of, or operate as a waiver of any right, power or remedy of Administrative Agent or any Lender or any other party
under, the Amended Agreement, any of the other Amended Documents or otherwise. This Amendment shall be deemed to be a “Loan
Document” (or other analogous or similar defined term) for purposes of the Amended Agreement and the other Amended Documents.

[Signature Page Follows]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Administrative Agent has caused this Amendment to be duly executed by its respective authorized officer(s) as of
the day and year first above written.

COÖPERATIEVE RABOBANK U.A., NEW
YORK BRANCH, as Administrative Agent

By: __________________________________
Name:
Title:

By: ___________________________________
Name:
Title:

EXHIBIT A
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Existing Agreement or in any other Existing Document, the Existing Agreement and each other
applicable Existing Document are each hereby amended and restated certificatemodified to give effect to the provisions set forth on this Exhibit A.

Article IV. Definitions, Etc.

Section 4.01     Defined Terms.The following terms shall have the following meanings for purposes of incorporation this Amendment, including without
limitation, this Exhibit A, and the provisions contained herein:
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“Adjusted Term CORRA” means, for purposes of any calculation, the rate per annum equal to (a) Term CORRA for such calculation plus (b)
the Term CORRA Adjustment; provided that if Adjusted Term CORRA as so determined shall ever be less than the Floor, then Adjusted Term
CORRA shall be deemed to be the Floor.
“Adjusted Term CORRA” means, for purposes of any calculation, the rate per annum equal to (a) Term CORRA for such calculation plus (b)
the Term CORRA Adjustment; provided that if Adjusted Term CORRA as so determined shall ever be less than the Floor, then Adjusted Term
CORRA shall be deemed to be the Floor.
“Amended Agreement” means the Existing Agreement, as amended pursuant to this Amendment.

“Amended Documents” means the Existing Documents, as amended pursuant to this Amendment.

“Business Day” means any day that is not a Saturday, Sunday, or other day on which commercial banks in New York City are authorized or
required by law to remain closed; provided that, “Business Day” shall also exclude(a) when used in connection with Loans denominated in
Dollars, a day on which the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association recommends that the fixed income departments of its members
be closed for the entire day for purposes of trading in United States government securities, (b) when used in connection with Loans denominated
in EUR, any day that is not a TARGET Day, and (c) when used in connection with Loans denominated in CAD, any day on which banks are closed
for the settlement of payments and foreign exchange transactions in Toronto, Canada.

“CDOR Credit Extension” means a Credit Extension bearing interest or incurring fees, commissions or other amounts based on CDOR.

“CAD Dollars” refers to lawful money of Canada.

“CDOR” means, for any Interest Period for any Loan comprising part of the same Borrowing that is denominated in CAD Dollars, an interest rate
per annum equal to the Canadian Dollar Offered Rate quoted by Refinitiv Benchmarks Services (UK) Limited for the applicable period as at
approximately 10:20 a.m. (Toronto time) on such day, or if such day is not a Business Day, then on the immediately preceding Business Day.

“CDOR Related Definition” means any term defined in the Existing Agreement or any other Existing Document (or any partial definition
thereof) as in effect immediately prior to giving effect to the provisions of this Amendment on the Transition Date, however phrased, primarily
relating to the determination, administration or calculation of CDOR, including by way of example any instances of CDOR and other applicable
terms.

“Credit Extension” means any extension of credit of any type under the Existing Agreement, the Amended Agreement, any other Existing
Document or any other Amended Document, whether characterized as a loan, term loan, revolving loan, swingline loan, daylight overdraft loan,
bid loan, advance, borrowing, credit extension, letter of credit or other financial accommodation, and whether constituting a new extension of
credit, the renewal, extension of the expiry date or reinstatement or increase in the amount of an existing extension of credit or a conversion or
continuation of an existing extension of credit.

“Existing Documents” means the Existing Agreement, each “Loan Document” (or other analogous or similar defined term) and all other
agreements, documents and instruments executed and delivered in connection with the Existing Agreement and the Credit Extensions
thereunder, each as amended or otherwise modified immediately prior to giving effect to this Amendment, including without limitation any note,
guarantee, security document, mortgage, fee letter or certificate; provided that no derivative, swap agreement, hedge agreement or ISDA confirm
(or other analogous or similar document) shall constitute an Existing Document for purposes of this Amendment or the provisions contained in this
Amendment.

“Floor” means the benchmark rate floor, if any, provided in the Existing Agreement initially (as of the execution of the Existing Agreement, the
modification, amendment or renewal of the Existing Agreement or otherwise) with respect to CDOR and utilized for calculating any rate of interest,
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fees, commissions or other amounts with respect to CDOR Credit Extensions (the “Original Floor”).

“Interest Period” means “Interest Period” or any other analogous or similar term set forth in the Existing Agreement or any other applicable
Existing Document describing the period during which a Credit Extension bears interest with reference to a specific setting, calculation or
determination of a benchmark rate; provided that such term shall be modified on the Transition Date so that (a) the reference in such term to
Eurocurrency Borrowings shall refer to Adjusted Term CORRA in lieu of CDOR and (b) solely with respect to Term CORRA Credit Extensions, the
only tenors, periods or intervals available pursuant to such term shall be one or three months;

“Lender” means any lender, financing party, bank or other person serving any other analogous or similar role under the Existing Agreement or
any other applicable Existing Document.

“Term CORRA” means, for any calculation with respect to a Term CORRA Credit Extension, the Term CORRA Reference Rate for a tenor
comparable to the applicable Interest Period on the day (such day, the “Periodic Term CORRA Determination Day”) that is two (2) Business Days
prior to the first day of such Interest Period, as such rate is published by the Term CORRA Administrator; provided, however, that if as of 1:00 p.m.
(New York time) on any Periodic Term CORRA Determination Day the Term CORRA Reference Rate for the applicable tenor has not been
published by the Term CORRA Administrator and the Term CORRA Reference Rate has not been replaced as a benchmark rate pursuant to the
terms hereof, then Term CORRA will be the Term CORRA Reference Rate for such tenor as published by the Term CORRA Administrator on the
first preceding Business Day for which such Term CORRA Reference Rate for such tenor was published by the Term CORRA Administrator so
long as such first preceding Business Day is not more than three (3) Business Days prior to such Periodic Term CORRA Determination Day.

“Term CORRA Adjustment” means, for any calculation with respect to a Term CORRA Credit Extension, a percentage per annum as set forth
below for the applicable type of Credit Extension and (if applicable) Interest Period therefor:

Interest Period Percentage

One month 0.29547%

Three months 0.32138%

“Term CORRA Administrator” means Candeal Benchmark Administration Services Inc., TSX Inc., or any successor administrator.“Term
CORRA Administrator” means Candeal Benchmark Administration Services Inc., TSX Inc., or any successor administrator.

“Term CORRA Credit Extension” means any Credit Extension bearing interest or incurring fees, commissions or other amounts based upon
Adjusted Term CORRA.

“Term CORRA Reference Rate” means the forward-looking term rate based on CORRA.

“Transition Date” means the Effective Date.

Section 4.02    Definitions.The Existing Agreement and each other applicable Existing Document (if any) are each hereby amended and restated bylaws,
which are filed as Exhibits 3.1 and 3.2, respectively,modified to incorporate the definitions set forth in Section 1.01 of this Exhibit A, mutatis mutandis,
to the extent used in any such Existing Document, including as a result of the effectiveness of this Amendment.If the Existing Agreement or any other
Existing Document as in effect immediately prior to giving effect to the provisions of this Amendment already defines any term defined in Section 1.01 of
this Exhibit A, the definition in Section 1.01 of this Exhibit A shall supersede such definition in the Existing Agreement or such Existing Document, if
applicable, for the purpose and solely for the purpose of the definitions and provisions contained in this Amendment.
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Section 4.03    Rules of Construction.For the avoidance of doubt, if and to the extent that the Existing Agreement or any other Existing Document does
not, immediately prior to the effectiveness of this Amendment, include any provision or term that would be modified pursuant to any provision of Article II
or Article III of this Exhibit A, such provision of Article II or Article III of this Exhibit A shall be disregarded to such extent.

Section 4.04    Additional Conforming Changes. Nothing in this Amendment shall restrict or impact the ability or right of the Administrative Agent to
make any future modifications, supplements, amendments, technical, administrative or operational changes or other conforming changes that the
Administrative Agent decides may be appropriate to reflect the adoption and implementation of Adjusted Term CORRA and to permit the use and
administration thereof by the Administrative Agent to the extent permitted pursuant to the Amended Agreement and the other Amended Documents.

Article V. Discontinuance of CDOR.

Section 5.01       CDOR Credit Extensions.Notwithstanding any provision of the Existing Agreement or any other Existing Document to the contrary,
regardless of whether CDOR is operational, reported, published on a synthetic basis or otherwise available in the market as of the Transition Date,
subject to Article IV of this Exhibit A:(a) no CDOR Credit Extension shall be available, requested or made thereunder, (b) any request to convert an
existing Credit Extension to a CDOR Credit Extension shall be ineffective and (c) any request for a new CDOR Credit Extension, or to continue, renew,
extend, reinstate or increase an existing CDOR Credit Extension as a CDOR Credit Extension, shall be ineffective, in each case, to the extent that any
such CDOR Credit Extension would, but for the provisions of this Exhibit A, reference a setting of CDOR on or after the Transition Date.

Section 5.02       CDOR Related Definitions.Notwithstanding any provision of the Existing Agreement or any other Existing Document to the contrary,
subject to the provisions of Article IV of this Exhibit A, from and after the Transition Date, the CDOR Related Definitions shall be deemed deleted from
the Existing Agreement and each other applicable Existing Document and of no further force or effect.

Article VI. New Term CORRA Credit Extensions.

Section 6.01        Modification of CDOR Definitions and Provisions. Notwithstanding any provision of the Existing Agreement or any other
Existing Document to the contrary, subject to the provisions of Article IV of this Exhibit A, (a) from and after the Transition Date, any usage of
“CDOR” (other than as used in a CDOR Related Definition that has been deleted pursuant to the terms of this Exhibit A or a benchmark replacement
provision) in the Existing Agreement or any other Existing Document, as applicable, shall be deemed deleted and of no further force or effect and the
term “Adjusted Term CORRA” shall be inserted in lieu thereof, (b) to the extent that, immediately prior to giving effect to the provisions of this Exhibit A,
the Existing Agreement or any other Existing Document required or permitted the request, making and maintenance of any type of Credit Extension as a
CDOR Credit Extension, such type of Credit Extension shall be available, and may be requested, made and maintained, as a Term CORRA Credit
Extension from and after the Transition Date, subject to satisfaction of the applicable provisions (including conditions precedent to Credit Extensions) of
the Amended Agreement and any other applicable Amended Document, and (c) any term or provision of the Existing Agreement or any other Existing
Document (other than as used in a CDOR Related Definition that has been deleted pursuant to the terms of this Exhibit A) that refers or is applicable to
a CDOR Credit Extension immediately prior to giving effect to the provisions of this Amendment on the Transition Date shall be deemed to refer to and be
applicable to a Term CORRA Credit Extension from and after the Transition Date, unless, and to the extent that, such term or provision is superseded or
otherwise modified by this Amendment, in which case, such term or provision shall to such extent be construed as so superseded or otherwise modified
as set forth in this Amendment.

Section 6.02    Term CORRA Conventions and Provisions.Notwithstanding any provision of the Existing Agreement or any other Existing Document to
the contrary, subject to Article IV of this Exhibit A, the following provisions shall apply for purposes of the Amended Agreement and each other
applicable Amended Document, and the Existing Agreement and each other applicable Existing Document are each hereby amended and modified from
and after the Transition Date to incorporate such provisions therein:
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(a) Notice Periods.Any provision under the Existing Agreement or any other Existing Document that required, immediately prior to giving effect to
the provisions of Article II of this Exhibit A, the Borrowers to provide notice to the Administrative Agent of any borrowing, continuation, renewal,
extension, reinstatement, increase, conversion or prepayment of any CDOR Credit Extension shall be deemed, in each case, to require notice
thereof with respect to a Term CORRA Credit Extension in lieu of such CDOR Credit Extension.In addition to any other borrowing requirements
under the Amended Agreement or any other applicable Amended Document, each borrowing of any Term CORRA Credit Extension shall be
made upon written notice substantially in the form of, and specifying the matters set forth in, Schedule 3.02(a) hereto.

(b) Failure to ElectAfter giving effect to Section 3.02(a) and the other amendments contained herein, if the Borrowers, (x) are required to elect an
Interest Period pursuant to a notice of borrowing, continuation or conversion, (y) are required to provide notice to the Administrative Agent that the
Borrowers have elected to convert any Credit Extension that is not a Term CORRA Credit Extension into a Term CORRA Credit Extension, or
continue a Term CORRA

Credit Extension at the termination of the Interest Period therefor or (z) the Borrowers otherwise fail to deliver a timely and complete notice for
conversion or continuation of a Term CORRA Credit Extension prior to the end of the Interest Period therefor (and for purposes of Article IV, at the
end of the Interest

(c) Application of other CDOR Provisions.For avoidance of doubt, any provision in the Existing Agreement or any other Existing Document
that:

(i) constitutes a requirement for the Borrowers to compensate any Lender for any increased cost incurred as a result of a change of law, or
any interpretation thereof, or any other analogous or similar yield maintenance provision shall be modified mutatis mutandis to include, as
a cost or expense subject to such provisions, without limitation, any cost or expense incurred by such Lender with respect to its Credit
Extensions under the Amended Agreement and the other Amended Documents in compliance with regulations issued from time to time by
the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System of the United States for determining the maximum reserve requirement (including
any emergency, special, supplemental or other marginal reserve requirement) with respect to eurocurrency funding (currently referred to
as “Eurocurrency liabilities” in Regulation D of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System of the United States, as in effect
from time to time and all official rulings and interpretations thereunder or thereof).

(ii) requires the automatic repayment, prepayment or conversion to another benchmark rate of any CDOR Credit Extensions upon the
happening of certain specified events (including, without limitation, upon an inability to determine rates, Credit Extensions not reflecting the
cost to such Lender of funding, illegality, a default or an event of default) shall be modified and applied mutatis mutundis to Term CORRA
Credit Extensions.

(iii) requires compensation for certain specified losses of any Lender (including, without limitation, as a result of payment of principal other than
on the last day of an Interest Period or when interest is due, conversion of Credit Extensions other than on the last day of an Interest
Period, failure to borrow, convert, continue or prepay on a date specified in a notice delivered in accordance with the terms thereof or
assignment of a Credit Extension other than on the last day of an Interest Period) shall be modified and applied mutatis mutundis to Term
CORRA Credit Extensions.

(iv) applied a minimum aggregate amount or multiples thereof for borrowings or a minimum number of borrowings that may be outstanding at
any time shall be modified and applied mutatis mutundis to Term CORRA Credit Extensions.

Article VII.    Delayed Rate Switch for Prior Periodic CDOR Credit Extensions.

The provisions in the other Articles of this Exhibit A shall not apply with respect to any (a) CDOR Credit Extension requested, made or outstanding that
bears interest with reference to a CDOR rate that (i) is or was set on or prior to the Transition Date and (ii) is held constant for a specifically designated
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period and is not reset on a daily or substantially daily basis (disregarding day count, weekend or holiday conventions) and (b) any retroactive margin,
yield, fee or commission increases available to the Administrative Agent or the Lenders as a result of any inaccuracy in any financial statement or
compliance certificate that, if corrected, would have led to the application of a higher interest margin or yield with respect to any CDOR Credit Extension
or any higher fee or commission for any applicable

period, and in each case, the CDOR Related Definitions and provisions with respect thereto (as in effect immediately prior to giving effect to the
provisions of this Amendment on the Transition Date) shall continue in effect solely for such purpose; provided that, with respect to any such CDOR
Credit Extension described in clause (a) of this Article IV, such CDOR Credit Extension shall only continue in effect in accordance with its terms until the
then-current Interest Period for such CDOR Credit Extension has concluded.Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless the Borrowers elect otherwise in
accordance with the Amended Documents, at the end of the then-current Interest Period such outstanding CDOR Credit Extension shall be converted
and/or continued as a Term CORRA Credit Extension in accordance with the Amended Documents, and if no such election is made, a Term CORRA
Credit Extension shall be applied in accordance with the Amended Documents (including Section 3.02(b) hereof).

Exhibit 19

INSIDER TRADING POLICY WK KELLOGG CO

PURPOSE

This Insider Trading Policy (the “Policy”) provides guidelines with respect to transactions in the securities of WK Kellogg Co (the
“Company”) and the handling of confidential information about the Company and the companies with which the Company does business.
The Company’s Current ReportBoard of Directors (the “Board”) has adopted this Policy to promote compliance with federal, state and
foreign securities laws that prohibit certain persons who are aware of material nonpublic information about a company from: (i) trading in
securities of that company; or (ii) providing material nonpublic information to other persons who may trade on Form 8-K the basis of that
information. Regulators have adopted sophisticated surveillance techniques to identify insider trading transactions, and it is important to
the Company to avoid even the appearance of impropriety.

PERSONS SUBJECT TO THE POLICY

This Policy applies to all directors, officers and employees of the Company and its subsidiaries. The Company may also determine that
other persons should be subject to this Policy, such as contractors or consultants who have access to material nonpublic information. This
Policy also applies to family members, other members of a person’s household and entities controlled by a person covered by this Policy,
as described below.

TRANSACTIONS SUBJECT TO THE POLICY

This Policy applies to transactions in the Company’s securities (collectively referred to in this Policy as “Company Securities”), including the
Company’s common stock, options to purchase common stock, or any other type of securities that the Company may issue, including (but
not limited to) preferred stock, convertible debentures and warrants, as well as derivative securities that are not issued by the Company,
such as exchange-traded put or call options or swaps relating to Company Securities.

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2025 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

101/137

INDIVIDUAL RESPONSIBILITY

Persons subject to this Policy have ethical and legal obligations to maintain the confidentiality of information about the Company and to not
engage in transactions in Company Securities while in possession of material nonpublic information. Each individual is responsible for
making sure that he or she complies with this Policy, and that any family member, household member or entity whose transactions are
subject to this Policy, as discussed below, also comply with this Policy. In all cases, the responsibility for determining whether an individual
is in possession of material nonpublic information rests with that individual, and any action on the part of the Company, the Chief Legal
Officer or any other employee or director pursuant to this Policy (or otherwise) does not in any way constitute legal advice or insulate an
individual from liability under applicable securities laws. You could be subject to severe legal penalties and disciplinary action by the
Company for any conduct prohibited by this Policy or applicable securities laws, as described below in more detail under the heading
“Consequences of Violations.”

STATEMENT OF POLICY

It is the policy of the Company that no director, officer or other employee of the Company (or any other person designated by this Policy or
by the Chief Legal Officer as subject to this Policy) who is aware of

Exhibit 19

material nonpublic information relating to the Company may, directly, or indirectly through family members or other persons or entities:

1. Engage in transactions in Company Securities, except as otherwise specified in this Policy under the headings “Transactions
Under Company Plans,” “Transactions Not Involving a Purchase or Sale” and “Rule 10b5-1 Plans;”

2. Recommend the purchase or sale of any Company Securities;

3. Disclose material nonpublic information to persons within the Company whose jobs do not require them to have that information, or
outside of the Company to other persons, including, but not limited to, family, friends, business associates, investors and expert
consulting firms, unless any such disclosure is made in accordance with the Company’s policies regarding the protection or
authorized external disclosure of information regarding the Company; or

4. Assist anyone engaged in the above activities. In addition, it is the policy of the Company that no director, officer or other employee
of the Company (or any other person designated as subject to this Policy) who, in the course of working for the Company, learns of
material nonpublic information about a company with which the Company does business, including a customer or supplier of the
Company, may trade in that company’s securities until the information becomes public or is no longer material.

There are no exceptions to this Policy, except as specifically noted herein. Transactions that may be necessary or justifiable for
independent reasons (such as the need to raise money for an emergency expenditure), or small transactions, are not excepted from
this Policy. The securities laws do not recognize any mitigating circumstances, and, in any event, even the appearance of an
improper transaction must be avoided to preserve the Company’s reputation for adhering to the highest standards of conduct.

DEFINITION OF MATERIAL NONPUBLIC INFORMATION

Material Information: Information is considered “material” if a reasonable investor would consider that information important in making a
decision to buy, hold or sell securities. Any information that could be expected to affect a company’s stock price, whether it is positive or
negative, should be considered material. There is no bright-line standard for assessing materiality; rather, materiality is based on an
assessment of all of the facts and circumstances, and is often evaluated by enforcement authorities with the benefit of hindsight. While it is
not possible to define all categories of material information, some examples of information that ordinarily would be regarded as material are:

• Projections of future earnings or losses, or other earnings guidance;

• Changes to previously announced earnings guidance, or the decision to suspend earnings guidance;
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• A pending or proposed merger, acquisition or tender offer;

• A pending or proposed acquisition or disposition of a significant asset;

• A pending or proposed joint venture;

• A Company restructuring;

Exhibit 19

• Significant related party transactions;

• A change in dividend policy, the declaration of a stock split, or an offering of additional securities;

• Bank borrowings or other financing transactions out of the ordinary course;

• The establishment of a repurchase program for Company Securities;

• A change in the Company’s pricing or cost structure;

• Major marketing changes;

• A change in management;

• A change in auditors or notification that the auditor’s reports may no longer be relied upon;

• Development of a significant new product offering;

• Pending or threatened significant litigation, or the resolution of such litigation;

• Impending bankruptcy or the existence of severe liquidity problems;

• The gain or loss of a significant customer or supplier;

• Significant cybersecurity incidents; and

• The imposition of a ban on trading in Company Securities or the securities of another company.

If you are unsure whether information is material, you should either (i) consult the Chief Legal Officer before making any decision to
disclose such information (other than to persons who need to know it) or to trade in or recommend securities to which that information
relates or (ii) assume that the information is material.

When Information is Considered Public: Information that has not been disclosed to the public is generally considered to be nonpublic
information. In order to establish that the information has been disclosed to the public, it may be necessary to demonstrate that the
information has been widely disseminated. Information generally would be considered widely disseminated if it has been disclosed through
the Dow Jones “broad tape,” newswire services, a broadcast on widely available radio or television programs, publication in a widely
available newspaper, magazine or news website, or public disclosure documents filed with the SEC that are available on October 2,
2023. the SEC’s website. By contrast, information would likely not be considered widely disseminated if it is available only to the Company’s
employees, or if it is only available to a select group of analysts, brokers and institutional investors.

Once information is widely disseminated, it is still necessary to afford the investing public with sufficient time to absorb the information. As
a general rule, information should not be considered fully absorbed by the marketplace until after the secondbusiness day after the day on
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which the information is released. If, for example, the Company were to make an announcement on a Monday, you should not trade in
Company Securities until Thursday. Depending on the particular circumstances, the Company

Common Stock
Exhibit 19

Voting Rightsmay determine that a longer or shorter period should apply to the release of specific material nonpublic information.

Each shareholderTRANSACTIONS BY FAMILY MEMBERS AND OTHERS

This Policy applies to your family members who reside with you (including a spouse, a child, a child away at college, stepchildren,
grandchildren, parents, stepparents, grandparents, siblings and in-laws), anyone else who lives in your household, and any family
members who do not live in your household but whose transactions in Company Securities are entitleddirected by you or are subject to
one (1) vote for each share of our common stock held on all mattersyour influence or control, such as parents or children who consult with
you before they trade in Company Securities (collectively referred to be voted upon. Our amended and restated bylaws contain a majority
voting standardas “Family Members”). You are responsible for the transactions of these other persons and therefore should make them
aware of the need to confer with you before they trade in Company Securities, and you should treat all such transactions for the purposes
of this Policy and applicable securities laws as if the transactions were for your own account. This Policy does not, however, apply to
personal securities transactions of Family Members where the purchase or sale decision is made by a third party not controlled by,
influenced by or related to you or your Family Members.

TRANSACTIONS BY ENTITIES THAT YOU INFLUENCE OR CONTROL

This Policy applies to any entities that you influence or control, including any corporations, partnerships or trusts (collectively referred to as
“Controlled Entities”), and transactions by these Controlled Entities should be treated for the purposes of this Policy and applicable
securities laws as if they were for your own account.

TRANSACTIONS UNDER COMPANY PLANS

This Policy does not apply in the case of the following transactions, except as specifically noted:

1. Stock Option Exercises: This Policy does not apply to the exercise of an employee stock option acquired pursuant to the Company’s
plans, or to the exercise of a tax withholding right pursuant to which a person has elected to have the Company withhold shares
subject to an option to satisfy tax withholding requirements. This Policy does apply, however, to any sale of stock as part of a broker-
assisted cashless exercise of an option, or any other market sale for the purpose of generating the cash needed to pay the exercise
price of an option, and to the election to have the Company withhold

shares to satisfy tax withholding requirements.

2. Restricted Stock Awards: This Policy does not apply to the vesting of directors restricted stock, or the exercise of a tax withholding right
pursuant to which you elect to have the Company withhold shares of stock to satisfy tax withholding requirements upon the vesting of
any restricted stock. The Policy does apply, however, to any market sale of restricted stock and to the election to have the Company
withhold shares to satisfy tax withholding requirements.

3. 401(k) Plan: This Policy does not apply to purchases of Company Securities in an uncontested election (that is, the Company’s 401(k)
plan resulting from your periodic contribution of money to the plan pursuant to your payroll deduction election. This Policy does apply,
however, to certain elections you may make under the 401(k) plan, including: (a) an election where to increase or decrease the
numberpercentage of nominees is equalyour periodic contributions that will be allocated to the numberCompany stock fund; (b) an
election to make an intra-plan transfer of seats open). In an uncontested election, each nominee must be elected by the vote of a
majorityexisting account balance into or out of the votes cast. A “majorityCompany stock fund; (c) an election to borrow money
against your 401(k) plan account if the loan will result in a liquidation of some or all
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of your Company stock fund balance; and (d) an election to pre-pay a plan loan if the votes cast” meanspre-payment will result in
allocation of loan proceeds to the numberCompany stock fund.

4. Employee Stock Purchase Plan: This Policy does not apply to purchases of votes cast “for” a director’s election must
exceedCompany Securities in the numberemployee stock purchase plan resulting from your periodic or lump sum contribution of
votes cast “against” (excluding abstentions). However, if there are more nominees for election thanmoney to the number of
directorsplan pursuant to be elected, directors will be elected by a plurality of the votes cast on the election of directors at a
shareholder meeting at which a quorum is present.

Dividends

Subject to preferences that may apply to shares of preferred stock outstanding at that time, holders of outstanding shares of common stock
are entitled to receive dividends out of assets legally available at the times and in the amounts as our Board may determine from time to
time.

Preemptive Rights

Our common stock is not entitled to preemptive or other similar subscription rights to purchase any of our securities.

Conversion or Redemption Rights

Our common stock is neither convertible nor redeemable.

Liquidation Rights

Upon our liquidation, the holders of our common stock will be entitled to receive pro rata our assets that are legally available for distribution,
after payment of all debts and other liabilities and subject to the prior rights of any holders of preferred stock then outstanding.

Preferred Stock

Our Board may, without further action by our shareholders, from time to time, direct the issuance of shares of preferred stock in series and
may,you made at the time of issuance, determineyour enrollment in the designations, powers,plan. This Policy does apply, however, to
changes to your election to participate in the plan for any enrollment period and to your sales of Company Securities purchased pursuant to
the plan.

5. Dividend Reinvestment Plan: This Policy does not apply to purchases of Company Securities under the Company’s dividend
reinvestment plan resulting from your reinvestment of dividends paid on Company Securities. This Policy does apply, however, to
voluntary purchases of Company Securities resulting from additional contributions you choose to make to the dividend reinvestment
plan, and to your election to increase your level of participation in the plan. This Policy also applies to your sale of any Company
Securities purchased pursuant to the plan.

TRANSACTIONS NOT INVOLVING A PURCHASE OR SALE

Bona fide gift transactions are subject to this Policy, unless the person making the gift has reasonable assurance that the recipient will not
sell the Company Securities while the officer, employee or director is aware of material nonpublic information, or the person making the
gift is subject to the trading restrictions specified below under the heading “Pre-Clearance and Blackouts” and the sales by the recipient of
the Company Securities occur during a blackout period.

Further, transactions in mutual funds that are invested in Company Securities are not transactions subject to this Policy.

SPECIAL AND PROHIBITED TRANSACTIONS

The Company has determined that there is a heightened legal risk and/or the appearance of improper or inappropriate conduct if the
persons subject to this Policy engage in certain types of transactions. It therefore is the Company’s policy that any persons covered by this
Policy may not engage in any of the following transactions, or should otherwise consider the Company’s preferences privileges,as
described below:
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Short Sales: Short sales of Company Securities (i.e., the sale of a security that the seller does not own) may evidence an expectation on
the part of the seller that the securities will decline in value, and relative participating, optional therefore have the potential to signal to the
market that the seller lacks confidence in the Company’s prospects. In addition, short sales may reduce a seller’s incentive to seek to
improve the Company’s performance. For these reasons, short sales of Company Securities are prohibited. In addition, Section 16(c) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) prohibits officers and directors from engaging in short sales.
(Short sales arising from certain types of hedging transactions are governed by the paragraph below captioned “Hedging Transactions.”)

Publicly Traded Options: Given the relatively short term of publicly traded options, transactions in options may create the appearance that
a director, officer or special rightsemployee is trading based on material nonpublic information and focus a director’s, officer’s or other
employee’s attention on short-term performance at the expense of the Company’s long-term objectives. Accordingly, transactions in put
options, call options or other derivative securities, on an exchange or in any other organized market, are prohibited by this Policy. (Option
positions arising from certain types of hedging transactions are governed by the next paragraph below.)

Exhibit 19

Hedging Transactions: Hedging or monetization transactions can be accomplished through a number of possible mechanisms, including
through the use of financial instruments such as prepaid variable forwards, equity swaps, collars and exchange funds. Such hedging
transactions may permit a director, officer or employee to continue to own Company Securities obtained through employee benefit plans or
otherwise, but without the full risks and rewards of ownership. When that occurs, the director, officer or employee may no longer have the
same objectives as the Company’s other shareholders. Therefore, the Company prohibits you from engaging in such transactions.

Margin Accounts and Pledged Securities: Securities held in a margin account as collateral for a margin loan may be sold by the broker
without the customer’s consent if the customer fails to meet a margin call. Similarly, securities pledged (or hypothecated) as collateral for
a loan may be sold in foreclosure if the borrower defaults on the loan. Because a margin sale or foreclosure sale may occur at a time
when the pledger is aware of material nonpublic information or otherwise is not permitted to trade in Company Securities, directors,
officers and other employees are prohibited from holding Company Securities in a margin account or otherwise pledging Company
Securities as collateral for a loan, absent

(i) a showing of such director’s, officer’s or other employee’s financial ability to meet a margin call without selling Company Securities while
in possession of material nonpublic information and (ii) specific authorization of the Chief Legal Officer. (Pledges of Company Securities
arising from certain types of hedging transactions are governed by the paragraph above captioned “Hedging Transactions.”)

Standing and Limit Orders: Standing and limit orders (except standing and limit orders under approved Rule 10b5-1 Plans, as described
below) create heightened risks for insider trading violations similar to the use of margin accounts. There is no control over the timing of
purchases or sales that result from standing instructions to a broker, and as a result the broker could execute a transaction when a
director, officer or other employee is in possession of material nonpublic information. The Company therefore discourages placing standing
or limit orders on Company Securities. If a person subject to this Policy determines that they must use a standing order or limit order, the
order should be limited to short duration and should otherwise comply with the restrictions and procedures outlined below under the
heading “Pre-Clearance and Blackouts.”

PRE-CLEARANCE & BLACKOUTS

The Company has established additional procedures in order to assist the Company in the administration of this Policy, to facilitate
compliance with laws prohibiting insider trading while in possession of material nonpublic information, and to avoid the appearance of any
impropriety. These additional procedures are applicable only to those individuals described below.

Pre-Clearance Procedures: Directors, officers, accounting employees with the title of vice president or higher, investor relations employees
that assist with earnings releases, legal department employees that assist with preparing SEC filings, any employees on the Company’s
disclosure committee, and any persons designated by the Chief Legal Officer as being subject to these procedures, as well as the
qualifications, limitationsFamily Members and Controlled Entities of such persons (“Covered Senior Persons”), may not engage in any
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transaction in Company Securities without first obtaining pre-clearance of the transaction from the Chief Legal Officer. A request for pre-
clearance should be submitted to the Chief Legal Officer at least two business days in advance of the proposed transaction. The Chief
Legal Officer is under no obligation to approve a transaction submitted for pre-clearance, and may determine not to permit the transaction.
If a person seeks pre-clearance and permission to engage in the transaction is denied, then he or restrictions thereof, including dividend
rights, conversion rights, voting rights, termsshe should
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refrain from initiating any transaction in Company Securities, and should not inform any other person of redemption and liquidation
preferences, any the restriction.

When a request for pre-clearance is made, the requestor should carefully consider whether he or all of whichshe may be greateraware of
any material nonpublic information about the Company, and should describe fully those circumstances to the Chief Legal Officer. The
requestor should also indicate whether he or she has effected any non-exempt “opposite-way” transactions within the past six months, and
should be prepared to report the proposed transaction on an appropriate Form 4 or Form 5. The requestor should also be prepared to
comply with Rule 144 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and file Form 144, if necessary, at the time of any sale.

If a person seeks pre-clearance and permission to engage in the transaction is granted, then such trade must be effected within five
business days of receipt of pre-clearance unless an exception is granted. Such person must promptly notify the Chief Legal Officer
following the completion of the transaction. A person who has not effected a transaction within the time limit may not engage in such
transaction without again obtaining pre-clearance of the transaction from the Chief Legal Officer.

Quarterly Blackout Periods: Covered Senior Persons may not conduct any transactions involving Company Securities (other than as
specified by this Policy), during a “Blackout Period” beginning on the third month of each quarter and ending after the close of trading on
the second full trading day following the date of the public release of the Company’s earnings results for that quarter. In other words, these
persons may only conduct transactions in Company Securities during the “Window Period” beginning after the close of trading on the
second full trading day following the public release of the Company’s quarterly earnings and ending the last day of the second month of
each quarter.

Event-Specific Blackout Periods: From time to time, an event may occur that is material to the Company and is known by only a few
directors, officers and/or employees, such as a cybersecurity incident. So long as the event remains material and nonpublic, the persons
designated by the Chief Legal Officer may not trade Company Securities. In addition, the Company’s financial results may be sufficiently
material in a particular fiscal quarter that, in the judgment of the Chief Legal Officer, designated persons should refrain from trading in
Company Securities even sooner than the rights typical Blackout Period described above. In that situation, the Chief Legal Officer may
notify these persons that they should not trade in Company Securities, without disclosing the reason for the restriction. The existence of an
event- specific trading restriction period or extension of a Blackout Period will not be announced to the common stock.
SatisfactionCompany as a whole, and should not be communicated to any other person. Even if the Chief Legal Officer has not
designated you as a person who should not trade due to an event-specific restriction, you should not trade while aware of material
nonpublic information.

Exceptions. The quarterly trading restrictions and event-driven trading restrictions do not apply to those transactions to which this Policy
does not apply, as described above under the headings “Transactions Under Company Plans” and “Transactions Not Involving a
Purchase or Sale.” Further, the requirement for pre-clearance, the quarterly trading restrictions and event-driven trading restrictions do
not apply to transactions conducted pursuant to approved Rule 10b5-1 plans, described under the heading “Rule 10b5-1 Plans.

RULE 10B5-1 PLANS

Rule 10b5-1 under the Exchange Act provides an affirmative defense to insider trading allegations under federal law. In order to be eligible
to rely on this defense, a person subject to this Policy must enter into a Rule 10b5-1 plan for transactions in Company Securities that
meets certain conditions specified in the
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Rule (a “Rule 10b5-1 Plan”). If the plan meets the requirements of Rule 10b5-1, Company Securities may be purchased or sold without
regard to certain insider trading restrictions described in this Policy.

To comply with the Policy, a Rule 10b5-1 Plan must be approved by the Chief Legal Officer and meet the requirements of Rule 10b5-1,
including any dividend preferencesapplicable cooling off period requirements. In general, a Rule 10b5-1 Plan must be entered into at a
time when the person entering into the plan is not aware of outstanding shares of preferred stock would reducematerial nonpublic
information about the Company or Company Securities. Once the plan is adopted, the person must not exercise any influence over the
amount of funds availablesecurities to be traded, the price at which they are to be traded or the date of the trade. The plan must either
specify the amount, pricing and timing of transactions in advance or delegate discretion on these matters to an independent third party.

Any Rule 10b5-1 Plan must be submitted for the payment of dividends on shares of our common stock. Holders of shares of preferred
stock may be entitled to receive a preference payment in the event of our liquidation before any payment is madeapproval five days prior
to the holdersentry into the Rule 10b5-1 Plan. No further pre-approval of shares transactions conducted pursuant to the Rule 10b5-1 Plan
will be required.

POST-TERMINATION TRANSACTIONS

This Policy continues to apply to transactions in Company Securities even after termination of our common stock. Under certain
circumstances,service to the issuanceCompany. If an individual is in possession of sharesmaterial nonpublic information when such
individual’s service terminates, that individual may not trade in Company Securities until that information has become public or is no longer
material. The pre-clearance procedures specified under the heading “Pre- Clearance and Blackouts” above, however, will cease to apply
to transactions in Company Securities
upon the expiration of preferred stock may render more difficultany Blackout Period or tend to discourage a merger, tender offerother
Company-imposed trading restrictions applicable at the time of the termination of service.

CONSEQUENCES OF VIOLATIONS

The purchase or proxy contest, the assumptionsale of control by a holdersecurities while aware of a large block of our securitiesmaterial
nonpublic information, or the removaldisclosure of incumbent management. Uponmaterial nonpublic information to others who then trade in
Company Securities, is prohibited by federal and state laws. Insider trading violations are pursued vigorously by the affirmative voteSEC,
U.S. Attorneys and state enforcement authorities as well as the laws of foreign jurisdictions.

Punishment for insider trading violations is severe, and could include significant fines and imprisonment. While the regulatory authorities
concentrate their efforts on the individuals who trade, or who tip inside information to others who trade, the federal securities laws also
impose potential liability on companies and other “controlling persons” if they fail to take reasonable steps to prevent insider trading by
company personnel.

In addition, an individual’s failure to comply with this Policy may subject the individual to Company- imposed sanctions, including dismissal
for cause, whether or not the employee’s failure to comply results in a majorityviolation of law. Needless to say, a violation of law, or even
an SEC investigation that does not result in prosecution, can tarnish a person’s reputation and irreparably damage a career.

COMPANY ASSISTANCE

Any person who has a question about this Policy or its application to any proposed transaction may obtain additional guidance from the
total number of directors then in office, our Board, without shareholder approval, may issue shares of preferred stock with voting and
conversion rights which could adversely affect the holders of shares of our common stock and the market value of our common
stock.Chief Legal Officer, who can be reached by telephone at (269) 961- 3333 or by e-mail at norma.barnes-euresti@wkkellogg.com.
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WK KELLOGG CO SUBSIDIARIES
(COMMON STOCK OWNERSHIP)



WK Kellogg Co Subsidiaries State or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation

1906 Foreign Trading LLC Delaware

1906 GBS Mex Co, S de RL de CV Mexico

1906 Mexicali Co, S de RL de CV Mexico

BC Can Holding II LLC Delaware

BC Mex Holding I LLC Delaware

BC Mex Holding II LLC Delaware

BCHQ Real Estate LLC Delaware

Bear Naked LLC Delaware

Kashi LLC California

Kashi Sales, L.L.C. Delaware

Kellogg USA LLC Michigan

WK Kellogg Business Services LLC Delaware

WK Kellogg Canada Corp. Canada

WK Kellogg NA Holding Co Delaware

WK Kellogg North America LLC Delaware

WK Kellogg Puerto Rico LLC Puerto Rico

WK Kellogg Sales LLC Delaware

1

                                                Exhibit 23.01

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-274603, 333-274791 and 333-274791) 333-279220) of WK
Kellogg Co of our report dated March 8, 2024 February 25, 2025 relating to the financial statements, which appears in this Form 10-K.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Detroit, Michigan
March 8, 2024 February 25, 2025
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL BY THESE PRESENT, That I, the undersigned Director of WK Kellogg Co, a Delaware corporation, hereby appoint
Norma Barnes-Euresti,Gordon Paulson, Vice President, Chief Legal OfficerCorporate Counsel and Secretary of WK Kellogg Co, as my
lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, to act on my behalf, with full power of substitution, in executing and filing the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for fiscal year ended December 30, 2023December 28, 2024, and any exhibits, amendments and other documents related
thereto, with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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Whereupon, I grant unto said Norma Barnes-EurestGordon Paulson full power and authority to perform all necessary and appropriate
acts in connection therewith, and hereby ratify and confirm all that said attorney-in-fact and agent, or his substitute, may lawfully do, or
cause to be done, by virtue hereof.

/s/ Wendy Arlin     
Wendy Arlin

Dated: March 8, 2024February 25, 2025

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL BY THESE PRESENT, That I, the undersigned Director of WK Kellogg Co, a Delaware corporation, hereby appoint
Norma Barnes-Euresti,Gordon Paulson, Vice President, Chief Legal OfficerCorporate Counsel and Secretary of WK Kellogg Co, as my
lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, to act on my behalf, with full power of substitution, in executing and filing the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for fiscal year ended December 30, 2023December 28, 2024, and any exhibits, amendments and other documents related
thereto, with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Whereupon, I grant unto said Norma Barnes-EurestGordon Paulson full power and authority to perform all necessary and appropriate
acts in connection therewith, and hereby ratify and confirm all that said attorney-in-fact and agent, or his substitute, may lawfully do, or
cause to be done, by virtue hereof.

/s/ R. David Banyard Jr.         
R. David Banyard Jr.

Dated: March 8, 2024February 25, 2025










POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL BY THESE PRESENT, That I, the undersigned Director of WK Kellogg Co, a Delaware corporation, hereby appoint
Norma Barnes-Euresti,Gordon Paulson, Vice President, Chief Legal OfficerCorporate Counsel and Secretary of WK Kellogg Co, as my
lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, to act on my behalf, with full power of substitution, in executing and filing the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for fiscal year ended December 30, 2023December 28, 2024, and any exhibits, amendments and other documents related
thereto, with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Whereupon, I grant unto said Norma Barnes-EurestGordon Paulson full power and authority to perform all necessary and appropriate
acts in connection therewith, and hereby ratify and confirm all that said attorney-in-fact and agent, or his substitute, may lawfully do, or
cause to be done, by virtue hereof.

/s/ Michael Corbo

Michael CorboPURPOSE

This Insider Trading Policy (the “Policy”) provides guidelines with respect to transactions in the securities of WK Kellogg Co (the
“Company”) and the handling of confidential information about the Company and the companies with which the Company does business.
The Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) has adopted this Policy to promote compliance with federal, state and foreign securities
laws that prohibit certain persons who are aware of material nonpublic information about a company from: (i) trading in securities of that
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company; or (ii) providing material nonpublic information to other persons who may trade on the basis of that information. Regulators have
adopted sophisticated surveillance techniques to identify insider trading transactions, and it is important to the Company to avoid even the
appearance of impropriety.

PERSONS SUBJECT TO THE POLICY

This Policy applies to all directors, officers and employees of the Company and its subsidiaries. The Company may also determine that
other persons should be subject to this Policy, such as contractors or consultants who have access to material nonpublic information. This
Policy also applies to family members, other members of a person’s household and entities controlled by a person covered by this Policy,
as described below.

TRANSACTIONS SUBJECT TO THE POLICY

This Policy applies to transactions in the Company’s securities (collectively referred to in this Policy as “Company Securities”), including the
Company’s common stock, options to purchase common stock, or any other type of securities that the Company may issue, including (but
not limited to) preferred stock, convertible debentures and warrants, as well as derivative securities that are not issued by the Company,
such as exchange-traded put or call options or swaps relating to Company Securities.

INDIVIDUAL RESPONSIBILITY

Persons subject to this Policy have ethical and legal obligations to maintain the confidentiality of information about the Company and to not
engage in transactions in Company Securities while in possession of material nonpublic information. Each individual is responsible for
making sure that he or she complies with this Policy, and that any family member, household member or entity whose transactions are
subject to this Policy, as discussed below, also comply with this Policy. In all cases, the responsibility for determining whether an individual
is in possession of material nonpublic information rests with that individual, and any action on the part of the Company, the Chief Legal
Officer or any other employee or director pursuant to this Policy (or otherwise) does not in any way constitute legal advice or insulate an
individual from liability under applicable securities laws. You could be subject to severe legal penalties and disciplinary action by the
Company for any conduct prohibited by this Policy or applicable securities laws, as described below in more detail under the heading
“Consequences of Violations.”

STATEMENT OF POLICY

It is the policy of the Company that no director, officer or other employee of the Company (or any other person designated by this Policy or
by the Chief Legal Officer as subject to this Policy) who is aware of
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material nonpublic information relating to the Company may, directly, or indirectly through family members or other persons or entities:

1. Engage in transactions in Company Securities, except as otherwise specified in this Policy under the headings “Transactions
Under Company Plans,” “Transactions Not Involving a Purchase or Sale” and “Rule 10b5-1 Plans;”

2. Recommend the purchase or sale of any Company Securities;

3. Disclose material nonpublic information to persons within the Company whose jobs do not require them to have that information, or
outside of the Company to other persons, including, but not limited to, family, friends, business associates, investors and expert
consulting firms, unless any such disclosure is made in accordance with the Company’s policies regarding the protection or
authorized external disclosure of information regarding the Company; or

4. Assist anyone engaged in the above activities. In addition, it is the policy of the Company that no director, officer or other employee
of the Company (or any other person designated as subject to this Policy) who, in the course of working for the Company, learns of
material nonpublic information about a company with which the Company does business, including a customer or supplier of the
Company, may trade in that company’s securities until the information becomes public or is no longer material.
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There are no exceptions to this Policy, except as specifically noted herein. Transactions that may be necessary or justifiable for
independent reasons (such as the need to raise money for an emergency expenditure), or small transactions, are not excepted from
this Policy. The securities laws do not recognize any mitigating circumstances, and, in any event, even the appearance of an
improper transaction must be avoided to preserve the Company’s reputation for adhering to the highest standards of conduct.

DEFINITION OF MATERIAL NONPUBLIC INFORMATION

Material Information: Information is considered “material” if a reasonable investor would consider that information important in making a
decision to buy, hold or sell securities. Any information that could be expected to affect a company’s stock price, whether it is positive or
negative, should be considered material. There is no bright-line standard for assessing materiality; rather, materiality is based on an
assessment of all of the facts and circumstances, and is often evaluated by enforcement authorities with the benefit of hindsight. While it is
not possible to define all categories of material information, some examples of information that ordinarily would be regarded as material are:

• Projections of future earnings or losses, or other earnings guidance;

• Changes to previously announced earnings guidance, or the decision to suspend earnings guidance;

• A pending or proposed merger, acquisition or tender offer;

• A pending or proposed acquisition or disposition of a significant asset;

• A pending or proposed joint venture;

• A Company restructuring;
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• Significant related party transactions;

• A change in dividend policy, the declaration of a stock split, or an offering of additional securities;

• Bank borrowings or other financing transactions out of the ordinary course;

• The establishment of a repurchase program for Company Securities;

• A change in the Company’s pricing or cost structure;

• Major marketing changes;

• A change in management;

• A change in auditors or notification that the auditor’s reports may no longer be relied upon;

• Development of a significant new product offering;

• Pending or threatened significant litigation, or the resolution of such litigation;

• Impending bankruptcy or the existence of severe liquidity problems;

• The gain or loss of a significant customer or supplier;

• Significant cybersecurity incidents; and

• The imposition of a ban on trading in Company Securities or the securities of another company.
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If you are unsure whether information is material, you should either (i) consult the Chief Legal Officer before making any decision to
disclose such information (other than to persons who need to know it) or to trade in or recommend securities to which that information
relates or (ii) assume that the information is material.

When Information is Considered Public: Information that has not been disclosed to the public is generally considered to be nonpublic
information. In order to establish that the information has been disclosed to the public, it may be necessary to demonstrate that the
information has been widely disseminated. Information generally would be considered widely disseminated if it has been disclosed through
the Dow Jones “broad tape,” newswire services, a broadcast on widely available radio or television programs, publication in a widely
available newspaper, magazine or news website, or public disclosure documents filed with the SEC that are available on the SEC’s
website. By contrast, information would likely not be considered widely disseminated if it is available only to the Company’s employees, or if
it is only available to a select group of analysts, brokers and institutional investors.

Once information is widely disseminated, it is still necessary to afford the investing public with sufficient time to absorb the information. As
a general rule, information should not be considered fully absorbed by the marketplace until after the secondbusiness day after the day on
which the information is released. If, for example, the Company were to make an announcement on a Monday, you should not trade in
Company Securities until Thursday. Depending on the particular circumstances, the Company
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may determine that a longer or shorter period should apply to the release of specific material nonpublic information.

TRANSACTIONS BY FAMILY MEMBERS AND OTHERS

This Policy applies to your family members who reside with you (including a spouse, a child, a child away at college, stepchildren,
grandchildren, parents, stepparents, grandparents, siblings and in-laws), anyone else who lives in your household, and any family
members who do not live in your household but whose transactions in Company Securities are directed by you or are subject to your
influence or control, such as parents or children who consult with you before they trade in Company Securities (collectively referred to as
“Family Members”). You are responsible for the transactions of these other persons and therefore should make them aware of the need to
confer with you before they trade in Company Securities, and you should treat all such transactions for the purposes of this Policy and
applicable securities laws as if the transactions were for your own account. This Policy does not, however, apply to personal securities
transactions of Family Members where the purchase or sale decision is made by a third party not controlled by, influenced by or related to
you or your Family Members.

TRANSACTIONS BY ENTITIES THAT YOU INFLUENCE OR CONTROL

This Policy applies to any entities that you influence or control, including any corporations, partnerships or trusts (collectively referred to as
“Controlled Entities”), and transactions by these Controlled Entities should be treated for the purposes of this Policy and applicable
securities laws as if they were for your own account.

TRANSACTIONS UNDER COMPANY PLANS

This Policy does not apply in the case of the following transactions, except as specifically noted:

1. Stock Option Exercises: This Policy does not apply to the exercise of an employee stock option acquired pursuant to the Company’s
plans, or to the exercise of a tax withholding right pursuant to which a person has elected to have the Company withhold shares
subject to an option to satisfy tax withholding requirements. This Policy does apply, however, to any sale of stock as part of a broker-
assisted cashless exercise of an option, or any other market sale for the purpose of generating the cash needed to pay the exercise
price of an option, and to the election to have the Company withhold

shares to satisfy tax withholding requirements.
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2. Restricted Stock Awards: This Policy does not apply to the vesting of restricted stock, or the exercise of a tax withholding right
pursuant to which you elect to have the Company withhold shares of stock to satisfy tax withholding requirements upon the vesting of
any restricted stock. The Policy does apply, however, to any market sale of restricted stock and to the election to have the Company
withhold shares to satisfy tax withholding requirements.

3. 401(k) Plan: This Policy does not apply to purchases of Company Securities in the Company’s 401(k) plan resulting from your periodic
contribution of money to the plan pursuant to your payroll deduction election. This Policy does apply, however, to certain elections you
may make under the 401(k) plan, including: (a) an election to increase or decrease the percentage of your periodic contributions that
will be allocated to the Company stock fund; (b) an election to make an intra-plan transfer of an existing account balance into or out of
the Company stock fund; (c) an election to borrow money against your 401(k) plan account if the loan will result in a liquidation of
some or all
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of your Company stock fund balance; and (d) an election to pre-pay a plan loan if the pre-payment will result in allocation of loan
proceeds to the Company stock fund.

4. Employee Stock Purchase Plan: This Policy does not apply to purchases of Company Securities in the employee stock purchase plan
resulting from your periodic or lump sum contribution of money to the plan pursuant to the election you made at the time of your
enrollment in the plan. This Policy does apply, however, to changes to your election to participate in the plan for any enrollment period
and to your sales of Company Securities purchased pursuant to the plan.

5. Dividend Reinvestment Plan: This Policy does not apply to purchases of Company Securities under the Company’s dividend
reinvestment plan resulting from your reinvestment of dividends paid on Company Securities. This Policy does apply, however, to
voluntary purchases of Company Securities resulting from additional contributions you choose to make to the dividend reinvestment
plan, and to your election to increase your level of participation in the plan. This Policy also applies to your sale of any Company
Securities purchased pursuant to the plan.

TRANSACTIONS NOT INVOLVING A PURCHASE OR SALE

Bona fide gift transactions are subject to this Policy, unless the person making the gift has reasonable assurance that the recipient will not
sell the Company Securities while the officer, employee or director is aware of material nonpublic information, or the person making the
gift is subject to the trading restrictions specified below under the heading “Pre-Clearance and Blackouts” and the sales by the recipient of
the Company Securities occur during a blackout period.

Further, transactions in mutual funds that are invested in Company Securities are not transactions subject to this Policy.

SPECIAL AND PROHIBITED TRANSACTIONS

The Company has determined that there is a heightened legal risk and/or the appearance of improper or inappropriate conduct if the
persons subject to this Policy engage in certain types of transactions. It therefore is the Company’s policy that any persons covered by this
Policy may not engage in any of the following transactions, or should otherwise consider the Company’s preferences as described below:

Short Sales: Short sales of Company Securities (i.e., the sale of a security that the seller does not own) may evidence an expectation on
the part of the seller that the securities will decline in value, and therefore have the potential to signal to the market that the seller lacks
confidence in the Company’s prospects. In addition, short sales may reduce a seller’s incentive to seek to improve the Company’s
performance. For these reasons, short sales of Company Securities are prohibited. In addition, Section 16(c) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) prohibits officers and directors from engaging in short sales. (Short sales arising from
certain types of hedging transactions are governed by the paragraph below captioned “Hedging Transactions.”)

Publicly Traded Options: Given the relatively short term of publicly traded options, transactions in options may create the appearance that
a director, officer or employee is trading based on material nonpublic information and focus a director’s, officer’s or other employee’s
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attention on short-term performance at the expense of the Company’s long-term objectives. Accordingly, transactions in put options, call
options or other derivative securities, on an exchange or in any other organized market, are prohibited by this Policy. (Option positions
arising from certain types of hedging transactions are governed by the next paragraph below.)
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Hedging Transactions: Hedging or monetization transactions can be accomplished through a number of possible mechanisms, including
through the use of financial instruments such as prepaid variable forwards, equity swaps, collars and exchange funds. Such hedging
transactions may permit a director, officer or employee to continue to own Company Securities obtained through employee benefit plans or
otherwise, but without the full risks and rewards of ownership. When that occurs, the director, officer or employee may no longer have the
same objectives as the Company’s other shareholders. Therefore, the Company prohibits you from engaging in such transactions.

Margin Accounts and Pledged Securities: Securities held in a margin account as collateral for a margin loan may be sold by the broker
without the customer’s consent if the customer fails to meet a margin call. Similarly, securities pledged (or hypothecated) as collateral for
a loan may be sold in foreclosure if the borrower defaults on the loan. Because a margin sale or foreclosure sale may occur at a time
when the pledger is aware of material nonpublic information or otherwise is not permitted to trade in Company Securities, directors,
officers and other employees are prohibited from holding Company Securities in a margin account or otherwise pledging Company
Securities as collateral for a loan, absent

(i) a showing of such director’s, officer’s or other employee’s financial ability to meet a margin call without selling Company Securities while
in possession of material nonpublic information and (ii) specific authorization of the Chief Legal Officer. (Pledges of Company Securities
arising from certain types of hedging transactions are governed by the paragraph above captioned “Hedging Transactions.”)

Standing and Limit Orders: Standing and limit orders (except standing and limit orders under approved Rule 10b5-1 Plans, as described
below) create heightened risks for insider trading violations similar to the use of margin accounts. There is no control over the timing of
purchases or sales that result from standing instructions to a broker, and as a result the broker could execute a transaction when a
director, officer or other employee is in possession of material nonpublic information. The Company therefore discourages placing standing
or limit orders on Company Securities. If a person subject to this Policy determines that they must use a standing order or limit order, the
order should be limited to short duration and should otherwise comply with the restrictions and procedures outlined below under the
heading “Pre-Clearance and Blackouts.”

PRE-CLEARANCE & BLACKOUTS

The Company has established additional procedures in order to assist the Company in the administration of this Policy, to facilitate
compliance with laws prohibiting insider trading while in possession of material nonpublic information, and to avoid the appearance of any
impropriety. These additional procedures are applicable only to those individuals described below.

Pre-Clearance Procedures: Directors, officers, accounting employees with the title of vice president or higher, investor relations employees
that assist with earnings releases, legal department employees that assist with preparing SEC filings, any employees on the Company’s
disclosure committee, and any persons designated by the Chief Legal Officer as being subject to these procedures, as well as the Family
Members and Controlled Entities of such persons (“Covered Senior Persons”), may not engage in any transaction in Company Securities
without first obtaining pre-clearance of the transaction from the Chief Legal Officer. A request for pre-clearance should be submitted to the
Chief Legal Officer at least two business days in advance of the proposed transaction. The Chief Legal Officer is under no obligation to
approve a transaction submitted for pre-clearance, and may determine not to permit the transaction. If a person seeks pre-clearance and
permission to engage in the transaction is denied, then he or she should
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refrain from initiating any transaction in Company Securities, and should not inform any other person of the restriction.

When a request for pre-clearance is made, the requestor should carefully consider whether he or she may be aware of any material
nonpublic information about the Company, and should describe fully those circumstances to the Chief Legal Officer. The requestor should
also indicate whether he or she has effected any non-exempt “opposite-way” transactions within the past six months, and should be
prepared to report the proposed transaction on an appropriate Form 4 or Form 5. The requestor should also be prepared to comply with
Rule 144 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and file Form 144, if necessary, at the time of any sale.

If a person seeks pre-clearance and permission to engage in the transaction is granted, then such trade must be effected within five
business days of receipt of pre-clearance unless an exception is granted. Such person must promptly notify the Chief Legal Officer
following the completion of the transaction. A person who has not effected a transaction within the time limit may not engage in such
transaction without again obtaining pre-clearance of the transaction from the Chief Legal Officer.

Quarterly Blackout Periods: Covered Senior Persons may not conduct any transactions involving Company Securities (other than as
specified by this Policy), during a “Blackout Period” beginning on the third month of each quarter and ending after the close of trading on
the second full trading day following the date of the public release of the Company’s earnings results for that quarter. In other words, these
persons may only conduct transactions in Company Securities during the “Window Period” beginning after the close of trading on the
second full trading day following the public release of the Company’s quarterly earnings and ending the last day of the second month of
each quarter.

Event-Specific Blackout Periods: From time to time, an event may occur that is material to the Company and is known by only a few
directors, officers and/or employees, such as a cybersecurity incident. So long as the event remains material and nonpublic, the persons
designated by the Chief Legal Officer may not trade Company Securities. In addition, the Company’s financial results may be sufficiently
material in a particular fiscal quarter that, in the judgment of the Chief Legal Officer, designated persons should refrain from trading in
Company Securities even sooner than the typical Blackout Period described above. In that situation, the Chief Legal Officer may notify
these persons that they should not trade in Company Securities, without disclosing the reason for the restriction. The existence of an
event- specific trading restriction period or extension of a Blackout Period will not be announced to the Company as a whole, and should
not be communicated to any other person. Even if the Chief Legal Officer has not designated you as a person who should not trade due to
an event-specific restriction, you should not trade while aware of material nonpublic information.

Exceptions. The quarterly trading restrictions and event-driven trading restrictions do not apply to those transactions to which this Policy
does not apply, as described above under the headings “Transactions Under Company Plans” and “Transactions Not Involving a
Purchase or Sale.” Further, the requirement for pre-clearance, the quarterly trading restrictions and event-driven trading restrictions do
not apply to transactions conducted pursuant to approved Rule 10b5-1 plans, described under the heading “Rule 10b5-1 Plans.

RULE 10B5-1 PLANS

Rule 10b5-1 under the Exchange Act provides an affirmative defense to insider trading allegations under federal law. In order to be eligible
to rely on this defense, a person subject to this Policy must enter into a Rule 10b5-1 plan for transactions in Company Securities that
meets certain conditions specified in the
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Rule (a “Rule 10b5-1 Plan”). If the plan meets the requirements of Rule 10b5-1, Company Securities may be purchased or sold without
regard to certain insider trading restrictions described in this Policy.

To comply with the Policy, a Rule 10b5-1 Plan must be approved by the Chief Legal Officer and meet the requirements of Rule 10b5-1,
including any applicable cooling off period requirements. In general, a Rule 10b5-1 Plan must be entered into at a time when the person
entering into the plan is not aware of material nonpublic information about the Company or Company Securities. Once the plan is adopted,
the person must not exercise any influence over the amount of securities to be traded, the price at which they are to be traded or the date
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of the trade. The plan must either specify the amount, pricing and timing of transactions in advance or delegate discretion on these matters
to an independent third party.

Any Rule 10b5-1 Plan must be submitted for approval five days prior to the entry into the Rule 10b5-1 Plan. No further pre-approval of
transactions conducted pursuant to the Rule 10b5-1 Plan will be required.

POST-TERMINATION TRANSACTIONS

This Policy continues to apply to transactions in Company Securities even after termination of service to the Company. If an individual is in
possession of material nonpublic information when such individual’s service terminates, that individual may not trade in Company
Securities until that information has become public or is no longer material. The pre-clearance procedures specified under the heading
“Pre- Clearance and Blackouts” above, however, will cease to apply to transactions in Company Securities
upon the expiration of any Blackout Period or other Company-imposed trading restrictions applicable at the time of the termination of
service.

CONSEQUENCES OF VIOLATIONS

The purchase or sale of securities while aware of material nonpublic information, or the disclosure of material nonpublic information to
others who then trade in Company Securities, is prohibited by federal and state laws. Insider trading violations are pursued vigorously by
the SEC, U.S. Attorneys and state enforcement authorities as well as the laws of foreign jurisdictions.

Punishment for insider trading violations is severe, and could include significant fines and imprisonment. While the regulatory authorities
concentrate their efforts on the individuals who trade, or who tip inside information to others who trade, the federal securities laws also
impose potential liability on companies and other “controlling persons” if they fail to take reasonable steps to prevent insider trading by
company personnel.

In addition, an individual’s failure to comply with this Policy may subject the individual to Company- imposed sanctions, including dismissal
for cause, whether or not the employee’s failure to comply results in a violation of law. Needless to say, a violation of law, or even an SEC
investigation that does not result in prosecution, can tarnish a person’s reputation and irreparably damage a career.

COMPANY ASSISTANCE

Any person who has a question about this Policy or its application to any proposed transaction may obtain additional guidance from the
Chief Legal Officer, who can be reached by telephone at (269) 961- 3333 or by e-mail at norma.barnes-euresti@wkkellogg.com.
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WK KELLOGG CO SUBSIDIARIES
(COMMON STOCK OWNERSHIP)
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WK Kellogg Co Subsidiaries State or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation

1906 Foreign Trading LLC Delaware

1906 GBS Mex Co, S de RL de CV Mexico

1906 Mexicali Co, S de RL de CV Mexico

BC Can Holding II LLC Delaware

BC Mex Holding I LLC Delaware

BC Mex Holding II LLC Delaware

BCHQ Real Estate LLC Delaware

Bear Naked LLC Delaware

Kashi LLC California

Kashi Sales, L.L.C. Delaware

Kellogg USA LLC Michigan

WK Kellogg Business Services LLC Delaware

WK Kellogg Canada Corp. Canada

WK Kellogg NA Holding Co Delaware

WK Kellogg North America LLC Delaware

WK Kellogg Puerto Rico LLC Puerto Rico

WK Kellogg Sales LLC Delaware

1

Exhibit 23.01

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-274603, 333-274791 and 333-279220) of WK Kellogg Co of
our report dated February 25, 2025relating to the financial statements, which appears in this Form 10-K.

Dated: March 8, 2024 /s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Detroit, Michigan
February 25, 2025
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL BY THESE PRESENTS,PRESENT, That I, the undersigned Director of WK Kellogg Co, a Delaware corporation, hereby
appoint Norma Barnes-Euresti,Gordon Paulson, Vice President, Chief Legal OfficerCorporate Counsel and Secretary of WK Kellogg Co, as
my lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, to act on my behalf, with full power of substitution, in executing and filing the Company’s Annual Report
on Form 10-K for fiscal year ended December 30, 2023December 28, 2024, and any exhibits, amendments and other documents related
thereto, with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Whereupon, I grant unto said Norma Barnes-EurestGordon Paulson full power and authority to perform all necessary and appropriate
acts in connection therewith, and hereby ratify and confirm all that said attorney-in-fact and agent, or his substitute, may lawfully do, or
cause to be done, by virtue hereof.
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/s/ Zachary GundWendy Arlin     
Zachary GundWendy Arlin

Dated: March 8, 2024February 25, 2025







POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL BY THESE PRESENT, That I, the undersigned Director of WK Kellogg Co, a Delaware corporation, hereby appoint
Norma Barnes-Euresti,Gordon Paulson, Vice President, Chief Legal OfficerCorporate Counsel and Secretary of WK Kellogg Co, as my
lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, to act on my behalf, with full power of substitution, in executing and filing the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for fiscal year ended December 30, 2023December 28, 2024, and any exhibits, amendments and other documents related
thereto, with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Whereupon, I grant unto said Norma Barnes-EurestGordon Paulson full power and authority to perform all necessary and appropriate
acts in connection therewith, and hereby ratify and confirm all that said attorney-in-fact and agent, or his substitute, may lawfully do, or
cause to be done, by virtue hereof.

/s/ Ramón MurguíaR. David Banyard Jr.         
Ramón MurguíaR. David Banyard Jr.

Dated: March 8, 2024February 25, 2025










POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL BY THESE PRESENT, That I, the undersigned Director of WK Kellogg Co, a Delaware corporation, hereby appoint
Norma Barnes-Euresti,Gordon Paulson, Vice President, Chief Legal OfficerCorporate Counsel and Secretary of WK Kellogg Co, as my
lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, to act on my behalf, with full power of substitution, in executing and filing the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for fiscal year ended December 30, 2023December 28, 2024, and any exhibits, amendments and other documents related
thereto, with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Whereupon, I grant unto said Norma Barnes-EurestGordon Paulson full power and authority to perform all necessary and appropriate
acts in connection therewith, and hereby ratify and confirm all that said attorney-in-fact and agent, or his substitute, may lawfully do, or
cause to be done, by virtue hereof.

/s/ Julio Nemeth Michael Corbo
Julio Nemeth

Dated: March 8, 2024
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL BY THESE PRESENT, That I, the undersigned Director of WK Kellogg Co, a Delaware corporation, hereby appoint
Norma Barnes-Euresti, Chief Legal Officer of WK Kellogg Co, as my lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, to act on my behalf, with full power of
substitution, in executing and filing the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year ended December 30, 2023, and any exhibits,
amendments and other documents related thereto, with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Whereupon, I grant unto said Norma Barnes-Euresti full power and authority to perform all necessary and appropriate acts in
connection therewith, and hereby ratify and confirm all that said attorney-in-fact and agent, or his substitute, may lawfully do, or cause to be
done, by virtue hereof.

/s/ Melinda Sherwood
Melinda Sherwood

Dated: March 8, 2024
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CERTIFICATION

I, Gary Pilnick, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of WK Kellogg Co;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made,
in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
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b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial
reporting.

/s/ Gary Pilnick

Name: Gary Pilnick

Title: Chief Executive Officer and Chair of the Board

Date:March 8, 2024

Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, David McKinstray, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of WK Kellogg Co;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made,
in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial
reporting.

/s/ David McKinstray

Name: David McKinstray

Title: Chief Financial Officer

Date: March 8, 2024
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SECTION 1350 CERTIFICATION

I, Gary Pilnick, Chief Executive Officer and Chair of the Board, WK Kellogg Co, hereby certify, on the date hereof, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that

(1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of WK Kellogg Co for the period ended December 30, 2023 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section
13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of WK Kellogg Co.

/s/ Gary Pilnick

Name: Gary Pilnick

Title: Chief Executive Officer and Chair of the Board

A signed copy of this original statement required by Section 906 has been provided to WK Kellogg Co and will be retained by WK Kellogg Co and furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff on request.

Date: March 8, 2024

Exhibit 32.2

SECTION 1350 CERTIFICATION

I, David McKinstray, Chief Financial Officer, WK Kellogg Co, hereby certify, on the date hereof, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that

(1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of WK Kellogg Co for the period ended December 30, 2023 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section
13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of WK Kellogg Co.

/s/ David McKinstray

Name: David McKinstray

Title: Chief Financial Officer

A signed copy of this original statement required by Section 906 has been provided to WK Kellogg Co and will be retained by WK Kellogg Co and furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff on request.

Date: March 8, 2024

EX-97

WK KELLOGG CO
CLAWBACK POLICY

PURPOSE



This Insider Trading Policy (the “Policy”) provides guidelines with respect to transactions in the securities of WK Kellogg Co (the

“Company” (the “Company”) believes that it is inand the best interestshandling of confidential information about the Company and its
shareholders to create and maintain a culture that emphasizes integrity and accountability and that reinforces the Company’s pay-for-
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performance compensation philosophy.companies with which the Company does business. The Company’s Board of Directors (the
“ “Board”) has adopted this Policy to promote compliance with federal, state and foreign securities laws that prohibit certain persons who are
aware of material nonpublic information about a company from: (i) trading in securities of that company; or (ii) providing material nonpublic
information to other persons who may trade on the basis of that information. Regulators have adopted sophisticated surveillance techniques
to identify insider trading transactions, and it is important to the Company to avoid even the appearance of impropriety.

PERSONS SUBJECT TO THE POLICY

This Policy applies to all directors, officers and employees of the Company and its subsidiaries. The Company may also determine that
other persons should be subject to this Policy, such as contractors or consultants who have access to material nonpublic information. This
Policy also applies to family members, other members of a person’s household and entities controlled by a person covered by this Policy,
as described below.

TRANSACTIONS SUBJECT TO THE POLICY

This Policy applies to transactions in the Company’s securities (collectively referred to in this Policy as “Company SecuritieBoards”) has
therefore adopted this policy, which provides for , including the recoupmentCompany’s common stock, options to purchase common stock,
or any other type of certain executive compensation in the eventsecurities that the Company may issue, including (but not limited to)
preferred stock, convertible debentures and warrants, as well as derivative securities that are not issued by the Company, such as
exchange-traded put or call options or swaps relating to Company Securities.

INDIVIDUAL RESPONSIBILITY

Persons subject to this Policy have ethical and legal obligations to maintain the confidentiality of information about the Company and to not
engage in transactions in Company Securities while in possession of material nonpublic information. Each individual is
requiredresponsible for making sure that he or she complies with this Policy, and that any family member, household member or entity
whose transactions are subject to prepare this Policy, as discussed below, also comply with this Policy. In all cases, the responsibility for
determining whether an accounting restatement individual is in possession of its financial statements duematerial nonpublic information
rests with that individual, and any action on the part of the Company, the Chief Legal Officer or any other employee or director pursuant to
material noncompliance with this Policy (or otherwise) does not in any financial reporting requirementway constitute legal advice or
insulate an individual from liability under applicable securities laws. You could be subject to severe legal penalties and disciplinary action
by the Company for any conduct prohibited by this Policy or applicable securities laws, as described below in more detail under the
federalheading “Consequences of Violations.”

STATEMENT OF POLICY

It is the policy of the Company that no director, officer or other employee of the Company (or any other person designated by this Policy or
by the Chief Legal Officer as subject to this Policy) who is aware of
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material nonpublic information relating to the Company may, directly, or indirectly through family members or other persons or entities:

1. Engage in transactions in Company Securities, except as otherwise specified in this Policy under the headings “Transactions
Under Company Plans,” “Transactions Not Involving a Purchase or Sale” and “Rule 10b5-1 Plans;”

2. Recommend the purchase or sale of any Company Securities;

3. Disclose material nonpublic information to persons within the Company whose jobs do not require them to have that information, or
outside of the Company to other persons, including, but not limited to, family, friends, business associates, investors and expert
consulting firms, unless any such disclosure is made in accordance with the Company’s policies regarding the protection or
authorized external disclosure of information regarding the Company; or

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2025 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

123/137

4. Assist anyone engaged in the above activities. In addition, it is the policy of the Company that no director, officer or other employee
of the Company (or any other person designated as subject to this Policy) who, in the course of working for the Company, learns of
material nonpublic information about a company with which the Company does business, including a customer or supplier of the
Company, may trade in that company’s securities until the information becomes public or is no longer material.

There are no exceptions to this Policy, except as specifically noted herein. Transactions that may be necessary or justifiable for
independent reasons (such as the need to raise money for an emergency expenditure), or small transactions, are not excepted from
this Policy. The securities laws (this “do not recognize any mitigating circumstances, and, in any event, even the appearance of an
improper transaction must be avoided to preserve the Company’s reputation for adhering to the highest standards of conduct.

DEFINITION OF MATERIAL NONPUBLIC INFORMATION

Material InformationPolicy : Information is considered “material” if a reasonable investor would consider that information important in making
a decision to buy, hold or sell securities. Any information that could be expected to affect a company’s stock price, whether it is positive or
negative, should be considered material. There is no bright-line standard for assessing materiality; rather, materiality is based on an
assessment of all of the facts and circumstances, and is often evaluated by enforcement authorities with the benefit of hindsight. While it is
not possible to define all categories of material information, some examples of information that ordinarily would be regarded as material are:

• Projections of future earnings or losses, or other earnings guidance;

• Changes to previously announced earnings guidance, or the decision to suspend earnings guidance;

• A pending or proposed merger, acquisition or tender offer;

• A pending or proposed acquisition or disposition of a significant asset;

• A pending or proposed joint venture;

• A Company restructuring;
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• Significant related party transactions;

• A change in dividend policy, the declaration of a stock split, or an offering of additional securities;

• Bank borrowings or other financing transactions out of the ordinary course;

• The establishment of a repurchase program for Company Securities;

• A change in the Company’s pricing or cost structure;

• Major marketing changes;

• A change in management;

• A change in auditors or notification that the auditor’s reports may no longer be relied upon;

• Development of a significant new product offering;

• Pending or threatened significant litigation, or the resolution of such litigation;

• Impending bankruptcy or the existence of severe liquidity problems;

• The gain or loss of a significant customer or supplier;
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• Significant cybersecurity incidents; and

• The imposition of a ban on trading in Company Securities or the securities of another company.

If you are unsure whether information is material, you should either (i) consult the Chief Legal Officer before making any decision to
disclose such information (other than to persons who need to know it) or to trade in or recommend securities to which that information
relates or (ii) assume that the information is material.

When Information is Considered Public: Information that has not been disclosed to the public is generally considered to be nonpublic
information. In order to establish that the information has been disclosed to the public, it may be necessary to demonstrate that the
information has been widely disseminated. Information generally would be considered widely disseminated if it has been disclosed through
the Dow Jones “broad tape,”). newswire services, a broadcast on widely available radio or television programs, publication in a widely
available newspaper, magazine or news website, or public disclosure documents filed with the SEC that are available on the SEC’s
website. By contrast, information would likely not be considered widely disseminated if it is available only to the Company’s employees, or if
it is only available to a select group of analysts, brokers and institutional investors.

Once information is widely disseminated, it is still necessary to afford the investing public with sufficient time to absorb the information. As
a general rule, information should not be considered fully absorbed by the marketplace until after the secondbusiness day after the day on
which the information is released. If, for example, the Company were to make an announcement on a Monday, you should not trade in
Company Securities until Thursday. Depending on the particular circumstances, the Company
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may determine that a longer or shorter period should apply to the release of specific material nonpublic information.

TRANSACTIONS BY FAMILY MEMBERS AND OTHERS

This Policy applies to your family members who reside with you (including a spouse, a child, a child away at college, stepchildren,
grandchildren, parents, stepparents, grandparents, siblings and in-laws), anyone else who lives in your household, and any family
members who do not live in your household but whose transactions in Company Securities are directed by you or are subject to your
influence or control, such as parents or children who consult with you before they trade in Company Securities (collectively referred to as
“Family Members”). You are responsible for the transactions of these other persons and therefore should make them aware of the need to
confer with you before they trade in Company Securities, and you should treat all such transactions for the purposes of this Policy and
applicable securities laws as if the transactions were for your own account. This Policy does not, however, apply to personal securities
transactions of Family Members where the purchase or sale decision is designedmade by a third party not controlled by, influenced by or
related to comply withyou or your Family Members.

TRANSACTIONS BY ENTITIES THAT YOU INFLUENCE OR CONTROL

This Policy applies to any entities that you influence or control, including any corporations, partnerships or trusts (collectively referred to as
“Controlled Entities”), and transactions by these Controlled Entities should be treated for the purposes of this Policy and applicable
securities laws as if they were for your own account.

TRANSACTIONS UNDER COMPANY PLANS

This Policy does not apply in the case of the following transactions, except as specifically noted:

1. Stock Option Exercises: This Policy does not apply to the exercise of an employee stock option acquired pursuant to the Company’s
plans, or to the exercise of a tax withholding right pursuant to which a person has elected to have the Company withhold shares
subject to an option to satisfy tax withholding requirements. This Policy does apply, however, to any sale of stock as part of a broker-
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assisted cashless exercise of an option, or any other market sale for the purpose of generating the cash needed to pay the exercise
price of an option, and to the election to have the Company withhold

shares to satisfy tax withholding requirements.

2. Restricted Stock Awards: This Policy does not apply to the vesting of restricted stock, or the exercise of a tax withholding right
pursuant to which you elect to have the Company withhold shares of stock to satisfy tax withholding requirements upon the vesting of
any restricted stock. The Policy does apply, however, to any market sale of restricted stock and to the election to have the Company
withhold shares to satisfy tax withholding requirements.

3. 401(k) Plan: This Policy does not apply to purchases of Company Securities in the Company’s 401(k) plan resulting from your periodic
contribution of money to the plan pursuant to your payroll deduction election. This Policy does apply, however, to certain elections you
may make under the 401(k) plan, including: (a) an election to increase or decrease the percentage of your periodic contributions that
will be allocated to the Company stock fund; (b) an election to make an intra-plan transfer of an existing account balance into or out of
the Company stock fund; (c) an election to borrow money against your 401(k) plan account if the loan will result in a liquidation of
some or all
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of your Company stock fund balance; and (d) an election to pre-pay a plan loan if the pre-payment will result in allocation of loan
proceeds to the Company stock fund.

4. Employee Stock Purchase Plan: This Policy does not apply to purchases of Company Securities in the employee stock purchase plan
resulting from your periodic or lump sum contribution of money to the plan pursuant to the election you made at the time of your
enrollment in the plan. This Policy does apply, however, to changes to your election to participate in the plan for any enrollment period
and to your sales of Company Securities purchased pursuant to the plan.

5. Dividend Reinvestment Plan: This Policy does not apply to purchases of Company Securities under the Company’s dividend
reinvestment plan resulting from your reinvestment of dividends paid on Company Securities. This Policy does apply, however, to
voluntary purchases of Company Securities resulting from additional contributions you choose to make to the dividend reinvestment
plan, and to your election to increase your level of participation in the plan. This Policy also applies to your sale of any Company
Securities purchased pursuant to the plan.

TRANSACTIONS NOT INVOLVING A PURCHASE OR SALE

Bona fide gift transactions are subject to this Policy, unless the person making the gift has reasonable assurance that the recipient will not
sell the Company Securities while the officer, employee or director is aware of material nonpublic information, or the person making the
gift is subject to the trading restrictions specified below under the heading “Pre-Clearance and Blackouts” and the sales by the recipient of
the Company Securities occur during a blackout period.

Further, transactions in mutual funds that are invested in Company Securities are not transactions subject to this Policy.

SPECIAL AND PROHIBITED TRANSACTIONS

The Company has determined that there is a heightened legal risk and/or the appearance of improper or inappropriate conduct if the
persons subject to this Policy engage in certain types of transactions. It therefore is the Company’s policy that any persons covered by this
Policy may not engage in any of the following transactions, or should otherwise consider the Company’s preferences as described below:

Short Sales: Short sales of Company Securities (i.e., the sale of a security that the seller does not own) may evidence an expectation on
the part of the seller that the securities will decline in value, and therefore have the potential to signal to the market that the seller lacks
confidence in the Company’s prospects. In addition, short sales may reduce a seller’s incentive to seek to improve the Company’s
performance. For these reasons, short sales of Company Securities are prohibited. In addition, Section 10D16(c) of the Securities
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Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “ “Exchange Act”) prohibits officers and directors from engaging in short sales. (Short sales arising
from certain types of hedging transactions are governed by the paragraph below captioned “Hedging Transactions.”)

Publicly Traded OptionsExchange Act”), : Given the rules promulgated thereunder relatively short term of publicly traded options,
transactions in options may create the appearance that a director, officer or employee is trading based on material nonpublic information
and focus a director’s, officer’s or other employee’s attention on short-term performance at the listing standardsexpense of the New York
Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”).

ADMINISTRATION

This Policy shall be administeredCompany’s long-term objectives. Accordingly, transactions in put options, call options or other
derivative securities, on an exchange or in any other organized market, are prohibited by this Policy. (Option positions arising from certain
types of hedging transactions are governed by the Compensation and Talent Management Committee of the Board (the “Compensation and
Talent Management Committee”next paragraph below.). Any determinations made by the Compensation and Talent Management
Committee shall be final and binding on all affected individuals.

COVERED EXECUTIVES

This Policy applies to the Company’s current and former executive officers (as determined by the Compensation and Talent
Management Committee in accordance with Section 10D of the Exchange Act, the rules promulgated thereunder and the listing standards of
the NYSE) and such other senior executives or employees who may from time to time be deemed subject to this Policy by the
Compensation and Talent Management Committee (collectively, the “Covered Executives”). This Policy shall be binding and enforceable
against all Covered Executives.

RECOUPMENT; ACCOUNTING RESTATEMENT

In the event that the Company is required to prepare an accounting restatement of its financial statements due to the Company’s
material noncompliance with any financial reporting requirement under the securities laws, including any required accounting restatement (i)
to correct an error in previously issued financial statements that is material to the previously issued financial statements or (ii) that would
result in a material misstatement if the error were corrected in the current period or left uncorrected in the current period (each an
“AccountingRestatement”), the Compensation and Talent Management Committee will reasonably promptly require reimbursement or
forfeiture of the Overpayment (as defined below) received by any Covered Executive (x) after beginning service as a Covered Executive, (y)
who served as a Covered Executive at any time during the performance period for the applicable Incentive-Based
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Compensation (as defined below)Hedging Transactions: Hedging or monetization transactions can be accomplished through a number of
possible mechanisms, including through the use of financial instruments such as prepaid variable forwards, equity swaps, collars and (z)
duringexchange funds. Such hedging transactions may permit a director, officer or employee to continue to own Company Securities
obtained through employee benefit plans or otherwise, but without the three (3) completed fiscal years immediately preceding full risks and
rewards of ownership. When that occurs, the date on whichdirector, officer or employee may no longer have the same objectives as the
Company’s other shareholders. Therefore, the Company prohibits you from engaging in such transactions.

Margin Accounts and Pledged Securities: Securities held in a margin account as collateral for a margin loan may be sold by the broker
without the customer’s consent if the customer fails to meet a margin call. Similarly, securities pledged (or hypothecated) as collateral for
a loan may be sold in foreclosure if the borrower defaults on the loan. Because a margin sale or foreclosure sale may occur at a time
when the pledger is requiredaware of material nonpublic information or otherwise is not permitted to prepare an Accounting
Restatement trade in Company Securities, directors, officers and any transition period (that resultsother employees are prohibited from
holding Company Securities in a changemargin account or otherwise pledging Company Securities as collateral for a loan, absent
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(i) a showing of such director’s, officer’s or other employee’s financial ability to meet a margin call without selling Company Securities while
in possession of material nonpublic information and (ii) specific authorization of the Chief Legal Officer. (Pledges of Company Securities
arising from certain types of hedging transactions are governed by the paragraph above captioned “Hedging Transactions.”)

Standing and Limit Orders: Standing and limit orders (except standing and limit orders under approved Rule 10b5-1 Plans, as described
below) create heightened risks for insider trading violations similar to the use of margin accounts. There is no control over the timing of
purchases or sales that result from standing instructions to a broker, and as a result the broker could execute a transaction when a
director, officer or other employee is in possession of material nonpublic information. The Company therefore discourages placing standing
or limit orders on Company Securities. If a person subject to this Policy determines that they must use a standing order or limit order, the
order should be limited to short duration and should otherwise comply with the restrictions and procedures outlined below under the
heading “Pre-Clearance and Blackouts.”

PRE-CLEARANCE & BLACKOUTS

The Company has established additional procedures in order to assist the Company in the Company’s fiscal year) within or immediately
following those three (3) completed fiscal years.

INCENTIVE-BASED COMPENSATION

For purposesadministration of this Policy, “ to facilitate compliance with laws prohibiting insider trading while in possession of
material nonpublic information, and to avoid the appearance of any impropriety. These additional procedures are applicable only to those
individuals described below.

Pre-Clearance ProceduresIncentive-Based Compensation” means : Directors, officers, accounting employees with the title of vice president
or higher, investor relations employees that assist with earnings releases, legal department employees that assist with preparing SEC
filings, any compensation that is granted, earned or vested based wholly oremployees on the Company’s disclosure committee, and any
persons designated by the Chief Legal Officer as being subject to these procedures, as well as the Family Members and Controlled Entities
of such persons (“Covered Senior Persons”), may not engage in part upon the attainment of a financial reporting measure, including, but
not limited to: (i) non-equity incentive plan awards that are earned solely orany transaction in part by satisfying a financial reporting
measure performance goal; (ii) bonuses paid from a bonus pool, where the sizeCompany Securities without first obtaining pre-clearance of
the pool is determined solely or in part by satisfying a financial reporting measure performance goal; (iii) other cash awards based on
satisfaction of a financial reporting measure performance goal; (iv) restricted stock, restricted stock units, stock options, stock appreciation
rights and performance share units that are granted or vest solely or in part based on satisfaction of a financial reporting measure
performance goal; and (v) proceeds transaction from the saleChief Legal Officer. A request for pre-clearance should be submitted to the
Chief Legal Officer at least two business days in advance of shares acquired through an incentive plan that were granted the proposed
transaction. The Chief Legal Officer is under no obligation to approve a transaction submitted for pre-clearance, and may determine not to
permit the transaction. If a person seeks pre-clearance and permission to engage in the transaction is denied, then he or vested solely or in
part based on satisfaction of a financial reporting measure performance goal. she should

Compensation that would not be considered Incentive-Based Compensation includes, but is not limited to: (i) salaries; (ii) bonuses
paid solely based on satisfaction of subjective standards, such as demonstrating leadership and/or completion of a specified employment
period; (iii) non-equity incentive plan awards earned solely based on satisfaction of strategic or operational measures; (iv) wholly time-based
equity awards; and (v) discretionary bonuses or other compensation that is not paid from a bonus pool that is determined by satisfying a
financial reporting measure performance goal.

A financial reporting measure is: (i) any measure that is determined and presented in accordance with the accounting principles used
in preparing financial statements, or any measure derived wholly or in part from such measure, such as revenues, earnings before interest,
taxes, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”) or net income or (ii) stock price and total shareholder return. Financial reporting measures
include, but are not limited to: revenues; net income; operating income; profitability of one or more reportable segments; financial ratios (e.g.,
accounts receivable turnover and inventory turnover rates); net assets or net asset value per share; EBITDA; funds from operations and
adjusted funds from operations; liquidity measures (e.g., working capital, operating cash flow); return measures (e.g., return on invested
capital, return on assets); earnings measures (e.g., earnings per share); sales per square foot or same store sales, where sales is subject to
an accounting restatement; revenue per user, or average revenue per user, where revenue is subject to an accounting restatement; cost per
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employee, where cost is subject to an accounting restatement; any of such financial reporting measures relative to a peer group, where the
Company’s financial reporting measure is subject to an accounting restatement; and tax basis income.

OVERPAYMENT: AMOUNT SUBJECT TO RECOVERY

The amount to be recovered will be the amount of Incentive-Based Compensation received that exceeds the amount of Incentive-
Based Compensation that otherwise would have
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refrain from initiating any transaction in Company Securities, and should not inform any other person of the restriction.

When a request for pre-clearance is made, the requestor should carefully consider whether he or she may be aware of any material
nonpublic information about the Company, and should describe fully those circumstances to the Chief Legal Officer. The requestor should
also indicate whether he or she has effected any non-exempt “opposite-way” transactions within the past six months, and should be
prepared to report the proposed transaction on an appropriate Form 4 or Form 5. The requestor should also be prepared to comply with
Rule 144 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and file Form 144, if necessary, at the time of any sale.

If a person seeks pre-clearance and permission to engage in the transaction is granted, then such trade must be effected within five
business days of receipt of pre-clearance unless an exception is granted. Such person must promptly notify the Chief Legal Officer
following the completion of the transaction. A person who has not effected a transaction within the time limit may not engage in such
transaction without again obtaining pre-clearance of the transaction from the Chief Legal Officer.

been received had it been determined basedQuarterly Blackout Periods: Covered Senior Persons may not conduct any transactions
involving Company Securities (other than as specified by this Policy), during a “Blackout Period” beginning on the restated amounts, third
month of each quarter and ending after the close of trading on the second full trading day following the date of the public release of the
Company’s earnings results for that quarter. In other words, these persons may only conduct transactions in Company Securities during
the “Window Period” beginning after the close of trading on the second full trading day following the public release of the Company’s
quarterly earnings and ending the last day of the second month of each quarter.

Event-Specific Blackout Periods: From time to time, an event may occur that is material to the Company and is known by only a few
directors, officers and/or employees, such as a cybersecurity incident. So long as the event remains material and nonpublic, the persons
designated by the Chief Legal Officer may not trade Company Securities. In addition, the Company’s financial results may be sufficiently
material in a particular fiscal quarter that, in the judgment of the Chief Legal Officer, designated persons should refrain from trading in
Company Securities even sooner than the typical Blackout Period described above. In that situation, the Chief Legal Officer may notify
these persons that they should not trade in Company Securities, without disclosing the reason for the restriction. The existence of an
event- specific trading restriction period or extension of a Blackout Period will not be announced to the Company as a whole, and should
not be communicated to any other person. Even if the Chief Legal Officer has not designated you as a person who should not trade due to
an event-specific restriction, you should not trade while aware of material nonpublic information.

Exceptions. The quarterly trading restrictions and event-driven trading restrictions do not apply to those transactions to which this Policy
does not apply, as described above under the headings “Transactions Under Company Plans” and “Transactions Not Involving a
Purchase or Sale.” Further, the requirement for pre-clearance, the quarterly trading restrictions and event-driven trading restrictions do
not apply to transactions conducted pursuant to approved Rule 10b5-1 plans, described under the heading “Rule 10b5-1 Plans.

RULE 10B5-1 PLANS

Rule 10b5-1 under the Exchange Act provides an affirmative defense to insider trading allegations under federal law. In order to be eligible
to rely on this defense, a person subject to this Policy must enter into a Rule 10b5-1 plan for transactions in Company Securities that
meets certain conditions specified in the
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Exhibit 19

Rule (a “Rule 10b5-1 Plan”). If the plan meets the requirements of Rule 10b5-1, Company Securities may be computedpurchased or sold
without regard to certain insider trading restrictions described in this Policy.

To comply with the Policy, a Rule 10b5-1 Plan must be approved by the Chief Legal Officer and meet the requirements of Rule 10b5-1,
including any taxes paid (the “Overpayment”). Incentive-Based Compensationapplicable cooling off period requirements. In general, a
Rule 10b5-1 Plan must be entered into at a time when the person entering into the plan is deemed “received” innot aware of material
nonpublic information about the Company’s fiscal period during whichCompany or Company Securities. Once the financial reporting
measure specified inplan is adopted, the incentive-based compensation award is attained, even if the vesting, payment or grant of the
incentive-based compensation occurs after the end of that period.

For Incentive-Based Compensation based on stock price or total shareholder return, whereperson must not exercise any influence
over the amount of erroneously awarded compensationsecurities to be traded, the price at which they are to be traded or the date of the
trade. The plan must either specify the amount, pricing and timing of transactions in advance or delegate discretion on these matters to an
independent third party.

Any Rule 10b5-1 Plan must be submitted for approval five days prior to the entry into the Rule 10b5-1 Plan. No further pre-approval of
transactions conducted pursuant to the Rule 10b5-1 Plan will be required.

POST-TERMINATION TRANSACTIONS

This Policy continues to apply to transactions in Company Securities even after termination of service to the Company. If an individual is in
possession of material nonpublic information when such individual’s service terminates, that individual may not trade in Company
Securities until that information has become public or is no longer material. The pre-clearance procedures specified under the heading
“Pre- Clearance and Blackouts” above, however, will cease to apply to transactions in Company Securities
upon the expiration of any Blackout Period or other Company-imposed trading restrictions applicable at the time of the termination of
service.

CONSEQUENCES OF VIOLATIONS

The purchase or sale of securities while aware of material nonpublic information, or the disclosure of material nonpublic information to
others who then trade in Company Securities, is prohibited by federal and state laws. Insider trading violations are pursued vigorously by
the SEC, U.S. Attorneys and state enforcement authorities as well as the laws of foreign jurisdictions.

Punishment for insider trading violations is severe, and could include significant fines and imprisonment. While the regulatory authorities
concentrate their efforts on the individuals who trade, or who tip inside information to others who trade, the federal securities laws also
impose potential liability on companies and other “controlling persons” if they fail to take reasonable steps to prevent insider trading by
company personnel.

In addition, an individual’s failure to comply with this Policy may subject the individual to mathematical recalculation directlyCompany-
imposed sanctions, including dismissal for cause, whether or not the employee’s failure to comply results in a violation of law. Needless to
say, a violation of law, or even an SEC investigation that does not result in prosecution, can tarnish a person’s reputation and irreparably
damage a career.

COMPANY ASSISTANCE

Any person who has a question about this Policy or its application to any proposed transaction may obtain additional guidance from the
information in the Accounting Restatement, the amount mustChief Legal Officer, who can be based on a reasonable estimate of the effect
of the Accounting Restatement on the stock price reached by telephone at (269) 961- 3333 or total shareholder return upon which the
Incentive-Based Compensation was received, and the Company must maintain documentation of the determination of that reasonable
estimate and provide such documentation to the NYSE.by e-mail at norma.barnes-euresti@wkkellogg.com.
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Exhibit 21.01

METHOD OF RECOUPMENTWK KELLOGG CO SUBSIDIARIES
(COMMON STOCK OWNERSHIP)



The Compensation and Talent Management Committee will determine, in its sole discretion, the method or methods for recouping any Overpayment

hereunder which may include, without limitation:
WK Kellogg Co Subsidiaries State or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation

1906 Foreign Trading LLC Delaware

1906 GBS Mex Co, S de RL de CV Mexico

1906 Mexicali Co, S de RL de CV Mexico

BC Can Holding II LLC Delaware

BC Mex Holding I LLC Delaware

BC Mex Holding II LLC Delaware

BCHQ Real Estate LLC Delaware

Bear Naked LLC Delaware

Kashi LLC California

Kashi Sales, L.L.C. Delaware

Kellogg USA LLC Michigan

WK Kellogg Business Services LLC Delaware

WK Kellogg Canada Corp. Canada

WK Kellogg NA Holding Co Delaware

WK Kellogg North America LLC Delaware

WK Kellogg Puerto Rico LLC Puerto Rico

WK Kellogg Sales LLC Delaware

1

Exhibit 23.01

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

a. requiring reimbursement of cash Incentive-Based Compensation previously paid;
b. seeking recovery of any gain realized on the vesting, exercise, settlement, sale, transfer or other disposition of any equity-based

awards granted as Incentive-Based Compensation;
c. offsetting any or all of the Overpayment from any compensation otherwise owed by the CompanyWe hereby consent to the Covered

Executive;
d. cancelling outstanding vested or unvested equity awards; and/or
e. taking any other remedial or recovery action permitted incorporation by law, as determined by reference in the

CompensationRegistration Statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-274603, 333-274791 and Talent Management Committee.333-
279220) of WK Kellogg Co of our report dated February 25, 2025relating to the financial statements, which appears in this Form 10-K.

LIMITATION ON RECOVERY; NO ADDITIONAL PAYMENTS /s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Detroit, Michigan
February 25, 2025

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2025 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

131/137




Exhibit 24.01

The right


POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL BY THESE PRESENT, That I, the undersigned Director of WK Kellogg Co, a Delaware corporation, hereby appoint
Gordon Paulson, Vice President, Chief Corporate Counsel and Secretary of WK Kellogg Co, as my lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, to
recovery will be limited to Overpayments received duringact on my behalf, with full power of substitution, in executing and filing the three (3)
completedCompany’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal years prior to the date on which the Company is required to prepare an
Accounting Restatementyear ended December 28, 2024, and any transition period (that results fromexhibits, amendments and other
documents related thereto, with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Whereupon, I grant unto said Gordon Paulson full power and authority to perform all necessary and appropriate acts in connection
therewith, and hereby ratify and confirm all that said attorney-in-fact and agent, or his substitute, may lawfully do, or cause to be done, by
virtue hereof.

/s/ Wendy Arlin
Wendy Arlin

Dated: February 25, 2025

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL BY THESE PRESENT, That I, the undersigned Director of WK Kellogg Co, a changeDelaware corporation, hereby
appoint Gordon Paulson, Vice President, Chief Corporate Counsel and Secretary of WK Kellogg Co, as my lawful attorney-in-fact and agent,
to act on my behalf, with full power of substitution, in executing and filing the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year) within
or immediately following those three (3) completed fiscal years. In no event shall year ended December 28, 2024, and any exhibits,
amendments and other documents related thereto, with the Company be required to award Covered Executives an additional payment if the
restated or accurate financial results would have resulted in a higher Incentive-Based Compensation payment.Securities and Exchange
Commission.

NO INDEMNIFICATIONWhereupon, I grant unto said Gordon Paulson full power and authority to perform all necessary and
appropriate acts in connection therewith, and hereby ratify and confirm all that said attorney-in-fact and agent, or his substitute, may lawfully
do, or cause to be done, by virtue hereof.

The Company shall not indemnify any Covered Executives against the loss of any incorrectly awarded Incentive-Based Compensation.

/s/ R. David Banyard Jr.
R. David Banyard Jr.

INTERPRETATION

Dated: February 25, 2025




EX-97


The Compensation


POWER OF ATTORNEY
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KNOW ALL BY THESE PRESENT, That I, the undersigned Director of WK Kellogg Co, a Delaware corporation, hereby appoint
Gordon Paulson, Vice President, Chief Corporate Counsel and Talent Management Committee is authorizedSecretary of WK Kellogg Co, as
my lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, to interpretact on my behalf, with full power of substitution, in executing and construe filing the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year ended December 28, 2024, and any exhibits, amendments and other documents
related thereto, with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Whereupon, I grant unto said Gordon Paulson full power and authority to perform all necessary and appropriate acts in connection
therewith, and hereby ratify and confirm all that said attorney-in-fact and agent, or his substitute, may lawfully do, or cause to be done, by
virtue hereof.

/s/ Michael Corbo
Michael Corbo

Dated: February 25, 2025

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL BY THESE PRESENTS, That I, the undersigned Director of WK Kellogg Co, a Delaware corporation, hereby appoint
Gordon Paulson, Vice President, Chief Corporate Counsel and Secretary of WK Kellogg Co, as my lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, to act
on my behalf, with full power of substitution, in executing and filing the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year ended
December 28, 2024, and any exhibits, amendments and other documents related thereto, with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Whereupon, I grant unto said Gordon Paulson full power and authority to perform all necessary and appropriate acts in connection
therewith, and hereby ratify and confirm all that said attorney-in-fact and agent, or his substitute, may lawfully do, or cause to be done, by
virtue hereof.

/s/ Zachary Gund
Zachary Gund

Dated: February 25, 2025







POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL BY THESE PRESENT, That I, the undersigned Director of WK Kellogg Co, a Delaware corporation, hereby appoint
Gordon Paulson, Vice President, Chief Corporate Counsel and Secretary of WK Kellogg Co, as my lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, to act
on my behalf, with full power of substitution, in executing and filing the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year ended
December 28, 2024, and any exhibits, amendments and other documents related thereto, with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Whereupon, I grant unto said Gordon Paulson full power and authority to perform all necessary and appropriate acts in connection
therewith, and hereby ratify and confirm all that said attorney-in-fact and agent, or his substitute, may lawfully do, or cause to be done, by
virtue hereof.

/s/ Ramón Murguía
Ramón Murguía

Dated: February 25, 2025
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL BY THESE PRESENT, That I, the undersigned Director of WK Kellogg Co, a Delaware corporation, hereby appoint
Gordon Paulson, Vice President, Chief Corporate Counsel and Secretary of WK Kellogg Co, as my lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, to act
on my behalf, with full power of substitution, in executing and filing the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year ended
December 28, 2024, and any exhibits, amendments and other documents related thereto, with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Whereupon, I grant unto said Gordon Paulson full power and authority to perform all necessary and appropriate acts in connection
therewith, and hereby ratify and confirm all that said attorney-in-fact and agent, or his substitute, may lawfully do, or cause to be done, by
virtue hereof.

/s/ Julio Nemeth
Julio Nemeth

Dated: February 25, 2025










POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL BY THESE PRESENT, That I, the undersigned Director of WK Kellogg Co, a Delaware corporation, hereby appoint
Gordon Paulson, Vice President, Chief Corporate Counsel and Secretary of WK Kellogg Co, as my lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, to act
on my behalf, with full power of substitution, in executing and filing the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year ended
December 28, 2024, and any exhibits, amendments and other documents related thereto, with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Whereupon, I grant unto said Gordon Paulson full power and authority to perform all necessary and appropriate acts in connection
therewith, and hereby ratify and confirm all that said attorney-in-fact and agent, or his substitute, may lawfully do, or cause to be done, by
virtue hereof.

/s/ Melinda Sherwood
Melinda Sherwood

Dated: February 25, 2025




Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Gary Pilnick, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Policy and annual report on Form 10-K of WK Kellogg Co;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made,
in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
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3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all determinations necessary, appropriate or
advisable material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the administration periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this Policy. It report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is intended reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial
reporting.

/s/ Gary Pilnick

Name: Gary Pilnick

Title: Chief Executive Officer

Date:February 25, 2025

Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, David McKinstray, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Policy annual report on Form 10-K of WK Kellogg Co;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made,
in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be interpreted designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;
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c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a manner significant role in the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting.

/s/ David McKinstray

Name: David McKinstray

Title: Chief Financial Officer

Date: February 25, 2025

Exhibit 32.1

SECTION 1350 CERTIFICATION

I, Gary Pilnick, Chief Executive Officer of WK Kellogg Co, hereby certify, on the date hereof, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that is consistent

(1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of WK Kellogg Co for the period ended December 28, 2024 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section
10D 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and the applicable rules or standards adopted results
of operations of WK Kellogg Co.

/s/ Gary Pilnick

Name: Gary Pilnick

Title: Chief Executive Officer

A signed copy of this original statement required by Section 906 has been provided to WK Kellogg Co and will be retained by WK Kellogg Co and furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission or the NYSE. its staff on request.

EFFECTIVE DATE

This Policy shall be effective as of the date it is adopted by the Board (the “EffectiveDate”) and shall apply to Incentive-Based
Compensation (including Incentive-Based Compensation granted pursuant to arrangements existing prior to the Effective Date).
Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Policy shall only apply to Incentive-Based Compensation received (as determined pursuant to this Policy)
on or after the effective date of Section 303A.14 of the NYSE Listed Company Manual.

AMENDMENT; TERMINATION

The Board may amend this Policy from time to time in its discretion. The Board may terminate this Policy at any time.

OTHER RECOUPMENT RIGHTS
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The Board intends that this Policy will be applied to the fullest extent of the law. The Compensation and Talent Management
Committee may require that any employment or service agreement, cash-based bonus plan or program, equity award agreement or similar
agreement entered into on or after the adoption of this Policy shall, as a condition to the grant of any benefit thereunder, require a Covered
Executive to agree to abide by the terms of this Policy. Any right of recoupment under this Policy is in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other
remedies or rights of recoupment that may be available to the Company pursuant to the terms of any similar policy in any employment
agreement, equity award agreement, cash-based bonus plan or program or similar agreement and any other legal remedies available to the
Company.

IMPRACTICABILITY

The Compensation and Talent Management Committee shall recover any Overpayment in accordance with this Policy except to the
extent that the Compensation and Talent Management Committee determines such recovery would be impracticable because:

i. The direct expense paid to a third party to assist in enforcing this Policy would exceed the amount to be recovered;

i. Recovery would violate home country law of the Company where that law was adopted prior to November 28, 2022; or

i. Recovery would likely cause an otherwise tax-qualified retirement plan, under which benefits are broadly available to
employees of the Company, to fail to meet the requirements of 26 U.S.C. 401(a)(13) or 26 U.S.C. 411(a) and regulations
thereunder.Date: February 25, 2025

EX-97


Exhibit 32.2

SUCCESSORSSECTION 1350 CERTIFICATION

I, David McKinstray, Chief Financial Officer, WK Kellogg Co, hereby certify, on the date hereof, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that

This Policy shall(1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of WK Kellogg Co for the period ended December 28, 2024 (the “Report”) fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of WK Kellogg Co.

/s/ David McKinstray

Name: David McKinstray

Title: Chief Financial Officer

A signed copy of this original statement required by Section 906 has been provided to WK Kellogg Co and will be binding retained by WK Kellogg Co and enforceable
against all Covered Executives furnished to the Securities and their beneficiaries, heirs, executors, administrators Exchange Commission or other legal
representatives. its staff on request.

Date: February 25, 2025

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2025 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

137/137

DISCLAIMER

THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE REFINITIV
CORPORATE DISCLOSURES DELTA REPORT™ IS A COMPARISON OF
TWO FINANCIALS PERIODIC REPORTS. THERE MAY BE MATERIAL ERRORS, OMISSIONS, OR
INACCURACIES IN THE
REPORT INCLUDING THE TEXT AND THE COMPARISON DATA AND TABLES. IN NO WAY DOES REFINITIV OR THE
APPLICABLE COMPANY ASSUME
ANY RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY INVESTMENT OR OTHER DECISIONS MADE BASED UPON
THE INFORMATION PROVIDED IN THIS REPORT. USERS ARE ADVISED TO
REVIEW THE APPLICABLE COMPANY’S ACTUAL
SEC FILINGS BEFORE MAKING ANY INVESTMENT OR OTHER DECISIONS.
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